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				This is the sixth book I’ve prepared following one of my big adventures. I spend hours each night writing on the trail and then hours at home editing what was usually written while exhausted and barely keeping my eyes open. My fingers play a far from melodic symphony on my iPad keyboard late at night while fighting hypothermia in what feels like sub-freezing temperatures. You can imagine how difficult it can be to decipher some of the material when I’m sitting comfortably in a Starbucks in Las Vegas back at home. After the inital edit, I begin designing—re-reading the text for both context and a final round of what should be many more copy edits, selecting which of the thousands of pictures best illustrate the concepts I allude to in the manuscript, and creating page templates that allow those pictures to illuminate the prose. It’s quite a process; a process I’m quite familiar with at this point and an extremely time-intensive one at that. Nonetheless, I persist. These adventures and what I learn while undergoing the challenges they provide are the basis for who I am. I won’t be able to drag this body through this type of torture for many more years so I want to take advantage of my youth and vitality (yes, tongue-in-cheek) for much longer. And, without the books, I have already lost the memories into the recesses of my sadly traumat-ically-injured and fragmented mind.

				While my feet are doing the walking, I always have an incredible crew at home supporting my evey step. They provide encouragement especially on those days when I’m suffering, humor to keep my purpose in perspective (yes, Mike, that one’s for you), guidance when my decisions are questionable (thank you, #WomenWhoExplore ladies), faith when I need to rely on someone oth-er than myself to make the wise choice, comfort knowing there are people that care about me on the other side of the cliff, answers via the inReach when I can’t access the Internet and my world is falling apart, knowledge that home will continue to run smoothly in my absence, and financial support (thank you, Dad!). While my crew has grown over the years, it’s always been there and always supportive. Thank you, Crew, for answering the Facebook call to be my eyes and ears in the first world while I delve into the unknown. Let’s face it—I’m usually embarking without structure due to my own lack of planning and unwillingness to shell out the cash to hire someone to plan for me. (Thank you, Shawna and Sarah, for often helping with the legwork and Brent for finding Jeevan). Everyone on my team is a godsend and truly appreciated.

				I hope you enjoy reading about and viewing anecdotes from my adventures and that it will inspire you to push out of your comfort zone. I hope you will say “Yes!” to the next big thing that pops into your mind. Next time you think: “I wish I could” or “Someday I will...” choose to get off your phone and go. Explore. Be adventurous. Create a memory that will motivate others to say “yes” to their dreams, too.
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				Facebook Post upon Return

				√ 2024 Goals 5, 6, and 7 Done: “Trek the Annapurna Circuit,” “Trek to Annapurna Basecamp,” and “Trek to Everest Basecamp”

				Once again, March was incredible. For the third year in a row, I took advantage of the time Mike is busy at work to do something epic. This year was trekking the Himalayas. 

				I spent 16 days in the Annapurna Himalaya first hiking the Annapurna Circuit, a trail that circumnavigates the Annapurna Range, and then trekking to Annapurna Basecamp. Challenging, rewarding, grand… all words describing the experience. The Circuit is extremely difficult mostly because of two geographical features—Tilicho Lake at 16,138‘ and Thorong La Pass at 17.764‘. Both require strenuous days in the midst of an extraordinarily difficult journey. I thought I would be climbing for days then descending for days. This was not the case at all. These are GRAND mountains with constant ups and downs. Stairs are unending. I ascended and descended the distance and height of the Grand Canyon every two days, eight times in a row without a break. Poon Hill alone is said to have somewhere between 1,500 and 4,000 stairs. I counted 2,303. That was one morning. 

				I loved the Circuit with its small villages and traditional people. Around every corner we’d see another of the Annapurna peaks, two of them above 26,000’ and two above 24,000’ with Annapurna 1 being the tenth tallest and previously most deadly peak in the world. And, yes… it was quite dangerous with avalanches, rockfalls, and mudslides everywhere. We missed one by two hours that took out the trail completely. I learned to pick up my pace depending on what I saw uphill.

				The hike to Annapurna Basecamp (ABC) is said to be a beginner’s trek. It was much easier than both the Circuit and Everest Basecamp (EBC), but is by no means the equivalent of a “let’s go hike Lone Mountain five times today” kind-of-hike. It is much more difficult and the day-after-day challenge never stops with unrelenting stairs and rocks. 

				Leaving the Circuit and heading to ABC is a bit of a culture shock. You leave remoteness and embark with a caravan of other hikers. It sits in a sacred home to Hindu gods called the Annapurna Sanctuary and is beautiful, but I missed the serenity of the Circuit. The day I reached ABC was the most fun of the entire trip. I saw the “oval” (the most sacred part of the Annapurna Range) and slid down some of the trail on my bottom, giggling nonstop and toppling over at the end.

				EBC was a different beast. The climbers had made the trip a few weeks earlier, but there were still multitudes of us who were doing the puny hike to the base. There were so many towns that you could stop every few miles if you chose. The hike wasn’t easy at all with intense daily ascents and descents, but probably because there were fewer stairs it didn’t seem as bad as the Circuit. Most people take 7-11 days to reach EBC. I did it in 5 and broke my guide in the process. The morning I was to make the final ascent to EBC, he awoke with a 49 pulse ox and a helicopter evac over the most beautiful peaks in the world. I trudged through rocks and snow to see a bunch of tents and ice and end my day covered in snow. I think I won the “I had a better day” award.
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				Annapurna Stages

			

		

		
			
				
					Stage

				

				
					Date

				

				
					Location/Title

				

				
					Miles Covered

				

				
					Ascent in Feet

				

				
					Descent in Feet

				

				
					Hours Hiked

				

				
					Highest Elevation

				

				
					Lowest Elevation

				

				
					Sleeping Elevation

				

				
					Teahouse/Hotel

				

				
					Totals

				

				
					123.9

				

				
					43,750

				

				
					35,937

				

				
					148:11

				

				
					17,529

				

				
					4,110

				

				
					Averages

				

				
					9

				

				
					3,125

				

				
					1,742

				

				
					9:51

				

				
					12,090

				

				
					9,491

				

				
					10,681

				

				
					1

				

				
					3/6

				

				
					Dharapani to Chame—Chicks and the Farm

				

				
					13.4

				

				
					3655

				

				
					1036

				

				
					9:04

				

				
					8545

				

				
					5839

				

				
					8891

				

				
					Happy Home

				

				
					2

				

				
					3/7

				

				
					Chame to Upper Pisang—Rock Slides and 

					Avalanches

				

				
					10

				

				
					3003

				

				
					822

				

				
					7:49

				

				
					10875

				

				
					8507

				

				
					10669

				

				
					Hotel Royal Mountain

				

				
					3

				

				
					3/8

				

				
					Upper Pisang to Manang—Annapurna II, IV, and III 

				

				
					12.5

				

				
					2690

				

				
					1925

				

				
					10:56

				

				
					12248

				

				
					10568

				

				
					11424

				

				
					Hotel Himalayan Singi

				

				
					4

				

				
					3/9

				

				
					Manang (Gurkhapurna)—The Lake that Destroyed the Valley

				

				
					12156

				

				
					11252

				

				
					11424

				

				
					Hotel Himalayan Singi

				

				
					5

				

				
					3/10

				

				
					Manang to Tilicho Base Camp—Danger, Danger, Will Robinson!

				

				
					8.5

				

				
					3377

				

				
					1218

				

				
					10:09

				

				
					13948

				

				
					11587

				

				
					13486

				

				
					Hotel Basecamp Inn

				

				
					6

				

				
					3/11

				

				
					Tilicho Basecamp via Tilicho Lake and Back—Tears and Success

				

				
					5.3

				

				
					2807

				

				
					2807

				

				
					10:55

				

				
					15138

				

				
					13333

				

				
					13486

				

				
					Hotel Basecamp Inn

				

				
					7

				

				
					3/12

				

				
					Tilicho Basecamp to Yak Kharka— Up, Down, Up, Down in the Snow and Mud

				

				
					10

				

				
					2460

				

				
					2644

				

				
					11:11

				

				
					13911

				

				
					12608

				

				
					13332

				

				
					Hotel Gangapurna

				

				
					8

				

				
					3/13

				

				
					Yak Kharka to Thorong High Camp—Hitting 

					Altitude

				

				
					4.4

				

				
					2736

				

				
					144

				

				
					6:26

				

				
					15695

				

				
					13706

				

				
					16012

				

				
					Thorong High Camp View Hotel

				

				
					9

				

				
					3/14

				

				
					Thorong La High Camp to Muktinath—Nailed It!

				

				
					5.9

				

				
					1658

				

				
					5499

				

				
					12:50

				

				
					17529

				

				
					12007

				

				
					12052

				

				
					Eureka Inn

				

				
					10

				

				
					3/15

				

				
					Muktinath to Tatopani— Hindu Ritual and Warm Weather

				

				
					11974

				

				
					11665

				

				
					4110

				

				
					Dhaulagiri Lodge

				

				
					11

				

				
					3/16

				

				
					Tatopani to Ghorepani—Up, Up, and Up

				

				
					9.2

				

				
					5926

				

				
					627

				

				
					9:14

				

				
					9382

				

				
					4110

				

				
					9530

				

				
					Super View

				

				
					12

				

				
					3/17

				

				
					Ghorepani to Chuile—Poon Hill and the Jungle

				

				
					9.2

				

				
					2860

				

				
					4851

				

				
					10:54

				

				
					10488

				

				
					7490

				

				
					7439

				

				
					Hotel Rainbow

				

				
					13

				

				
					3/18

				

				
					Chuile to Sinewa—Villages

				

				
					6.2

				

				
					3030

				

				
					2780

				

				
					8:13

				

				
					7722

				

				
					6251

				

				
					7680

				

				
					Hilltop Lodge

				

				
					14

				

				
					3/19

				

				
					Sinewa to Deurali—Waterfalls

				

				
					8.5

				

				
					3881

				

				
					1092

				

				
					8:23

				

				
					10337

				

				
					7434

				

				
					10337

				

				
					New Panorama

				

				
					15

				

				
					3/20

				

				
					Deurali to Deurali via Annapurna Basecamp—So Much Fun!

				

				
					9

				

				
					3375

				

				
					3395

				

				
					11:04

				

				
					13294

				

				
					10258

				

				
					10337

				

				
					New Panorama

				

				
					16

				

				
					3/21

				

				
					Deurali to Jhinu Dada—Annapurna Circuit: Check!

				

				
					11.8

				

				
					2292

				

				
					7097

				

				
					10:56

				

				
					10196

				

				
					5248

				

				
					Elegant Hotel

				

			

		

	
		
			
				
					Stage

				

				
					Date

				

				
					Location/Title

				

				
					Miles Covered

				

				
					Ascent in Feet

				

				
					Descent in Feet

				

				
					Hours Hiked

				

				
					Highest Elevation

				

				
					Lowest Elevation

				

				
					Sleeping Elevation

				

				
					Teahouse/Hotel

				

				
					Totals

				

				
					71

				

				
					17,483

				

				
					18,003

				

				
					78:12

				

				
					17.598

				

				
					9,170

				

				
					Averages

				

				
					9

				

				
					2,185

				

				
					1,974

				

				
					 9:46

				

				
					14,364

				

				
					12,341

				

				
					13,297

				

				
					1

				

				
					3/30

				

				
					Lukla to Namche Bazaar—Score!

				

				
					12.6

				

				
					4195

				

				
					2233

				

				
					10:52

				

				
					11,172

				

				
					9383

				

				
					11286

				

				
					Holiday Inn Namche

				

				
					2

				

				
					3/31

				

				
					Namche Bazaar to Pangboche via Everest View Hotel—Everest Sighting!

				

				
					8.4

				

				
					3500

				

				
					2339

				

				
					10:21

				

				
					12768

				

				
					11172

				

				
					12768

				

				
					Namaste Lodge

				

				
					3

				

				
					4/1

				

				
					Pangboche to Thukla—Altitude Hits

				

				
					6.2

				

				
					2358

				

				
					265

				

				
					8:54

				

				
					15180

				

				
					12808

				

				
					15180

				

				
					Kalapathar

				

				
					4

				

				
					4/2

				

				
					Thukla to Ghorakshep—Everest Memorial

				

				
					4.7

				

				
					2075

				

				
					242

				

				
					7:23

				

				
					16960

				

				
					15180

				

				
					16960

				

				
					Buddha

				

				
					5

				

				
					4/3

				

				
					Ghorakshep via EBC—I Broke My Guide/EBC

				

				
					4.7

				

				
					780

				

				
					780

				

				
					8:16

				

				
					17598

				

				
					16960

				

				
					16960

				

				
					Buddha

				

				
					6

				

				
					4/4

				

				
					Ghorakshep to Pangboche—A New “Guide”

				

				
					11.4

				

				
					419

				

				
					4327

				

				
					10:24

				

				
					16960

				

				
					12768

				

				
					12768

				

				
					Om Kailash Lodge

				

				
					7

				

				
					4/5

				

				
					Pangboche to Namche Bazaar—Heading toward Home

				

				
					9.9

				

				
					1912

				

				
					3634

				

				
					10:25

				

				
					12937

				

				
					11286

				

				
					11286

				

				
					Holiday Inn Namche

				

				
					8

				

				
					4/6

				

				
					Namche Bazaar to Lukla—Success

				

				
					13.1

				

				
					2244

				

				
					4183

				

				
					11:38

				

				
					11340

				

				
					9170

				

				
					9170

				

				
					Numbur Hotel
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				Heading toward the end of my Camino trek... where will I venture next?
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				Before the Big Adventure

				The Impetus

				My Motivation

				For several years, I’d been taking long trips in March because that’s when Mike (my husband) was busy at work as a financial planner because of tax season. He was not a fan of endurance sports so when he was busy with work, I didn’t feel terribly guilty about leaving home for a month-and-a-half to frolic in a pain cave. 

				I had a bucket list of amazing distance hiking trails, but snow usually negated the possibility of trekking them in early spring. Also, the whole “carry-your-house-on-your-back” thing of tent camping became less appealing each year. I wanted a place that would provide me a hut-to-hut experience so I could pack lighter. I wanted a place where I could find a world renown distance hiking trail (150+ miles) perfect in March. Plus, it had to be cheap because I was really cheap. I’d already hiked several major distance trails throughout the world, and since there were so many incredible places in the world that I hadn’t seen, I never wanted to repeat any trail twice. All these stipulations narrowed the options.

				My brother-in-law, Brent (a member of my Facebook Messenger Crew —hereafter, “the Crew”—those who would follow my travel virtually), had been in Nepal several years previously and spoke longingly of it. He’d hiked in the Annapurna Region and fallen in love with the country and her people. Strangely and despite my love of exploring, I had never had much of an interest in visiting Asia. It sounded far-too humid and buggy. Then, 

			

		

		
			
				John Garner Pass (Patagonia)

			

		

		
			
				On top of Africa
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				of course, there are the frightfully cold mountains. I didn’t do well in cold. Nonetheless, Asia seemed to be the right fit for my many requirements. The Himalayas are cold… very cold… all of the time... so if I ever wanted to hike in the area, timing wouldn’t make much of a difference. I’d just have to avoid monsoon and heavy snow seasons. Monsoons would make the cold even more miserable and deep-snow-covered peaks would mean I wouldn’t be able to complete the trek. I’d been snowed out on the John Muir Trail in the past and definitely wanted to avoid it again.

				Distance hikers always seemed to have Everest Base Camp (EBC) on their to-do lists, but it just sounded like a boring out-and-back trek culminating in a tent camp harboring lots of trash at the bottom of a huge icefall. But, Annapurna was different. Touted because of its stunningly beautiful scenery and kind people, it was an idea I was willing to entertain. Plus, the 100+ mile Annapurna Circuit was growing in popularity every year.

				But, wait… there was more! Another option was the new-to-me buzz about trekking to Annapurna Basecamp (ABC). It was a full trip in itself with adventure travel websites regularly posting trips to just Annapurna Basecamp. Hmmmm… [insert lightbulb hovering above my head]. I could do the full Circuit and end where famous Arlene Blum started the first female-only climb to the summit of Annapurna I—one of the world’s two most deadly mountains in terms of the fatality-to-summit ratio. Now we were talking; the Annapurna Circuit and Annapurna Basecamp was sounding like an adventure waiting to happen. 

				But, how could I go all the way to Nepal and not hike to Everest Basecamp? That just didn’t seem right. I’d say: “I was hiking in Nepal” and people would respond: “You went to Everest?” and I’d respond: “No, too lazy for that.” So, my big dilemma was whether to do the Annapurna Circuit and Annapurna Basecamp or Everest Basecamp. It was a no-brainer, Annapurna definitely, until I ran across the final piece of the puzzle—I saw a website that offered a 30-day option including all three treks. Now, we were really talking! The mileage was right, the timing was right. I contacted a friend who’d hiked to EBC and she told me she believed I could do it and even encouraged me by saying that because I would be acclimatized from the Annapurna Himalayas, EBC probably wouldn’t be all that difficult. I had a plan…a GRAND plan for an epic adventure.
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				Before the Big Adventure

				Prepping

				A Monkey Wrench

				As with most of my adventures, planning began about a year in advance with increased flurry the closer my departure loomed. The first thing was to procure air travel. This was key because as soon as I booked the flight, I would be committed—no take-backs, no “I can’t do this” mind games. I watched the Hopper app religiously for months until finally receiving an alert that it was time to book for the best price. I paid the bill and the the trip became real.

				Logistics were next. As with my hike of el Camino de Santiago, I didn’t worry much about where I would stay. I knew I could find cheap AirB&Bs in Kathmandu and because I would be trekking in the early season, there would likely be plenty of room in teahouses (i.e., hostels) along the trail. I could just walk between towns each day deciding to stop when I felt like it and choosing a teahouse wherever I was. 

				My bigger concern was transportation between Kathmandu and Pokhara (what I thought was the start of the Circuit) and Kathmandu and Lukla (the start of the EBC). I put off the chore for a long time partially because I knew I wouldn’t need reservations months in advance, but mostly because I knew it would be a nightmare to coordinate. The flight to Lukla would be fairly easy to book (I wrongly assumed), but getting to Annapurna was another matter entirely. The trip required several busses. Not your sit-in-a-fancy bus, but what Central Americans call a “chicken bus.” The Central American busses earned their name because locals use them for transporting themselves and their goods, including chickens. They were 

			

		

		
			
				Rock and Roll 1/2: Just a training run

			

		

		
			
				Cape Solitude checking out gear
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				standing room only (including for the chickens and goats) with the luggage on top resembling a Shel Silverstein poem. I was resigned to (hopefully) sitting on a bus over horrendous roads for eight consecutive hours. My master plan was to buy Depends diapers and diaper rash cream to make the trip possible. If all went well, the trip to and from Pokhara would be the only miserable part.

				Then, about three weeks before departure, Brent (my brother-in-law and one of my Crew members) informed me there’d been a change in the law requiring all foreign trekkers to have a Nepalese guide. This led to a new flurry of action. I had just days to find a guide. I knew I could hire one once I was on the trek, but that was a sketchy plan so I contacted both Brent and the friend who’d been to EBC. They both had excellent references. Many last-minute Facebook messages culminated in my decision to use Brent’s former guide, Jeevan, the owner of the trekking company Lhasso Adventures. It raised my trip price significantly, US$3,300, but, came with a lot of benefits. First, I wouldn’t have to arrange any of the housing and transportation and, blessedly, I’d be on a private bus to the Annapurna Region. I wouldn’t have to deal with any permits and I wouldn’t have to worry about way-finding if there were trail closures. And, the biggest bonus was that my guide would also serve as a porter. Given all the gear I would need to keep warm, this was particularly appealing. I’d be able to hike with the twenty pounds I did on several of my previous hikes instead of the extra ten pounds my -10° sleeping bag and warmer clothes required. Jeevan assured me the guides he would assign would permit me the solitary experience I sought; I would be the only person in their care. My plan was to make it as easy as possible for them while still ensuring I was in compliance with the law.

				Speaking of cold weather gear…

				Anxiety during my year of planning was almost exclusively related to my fear of cold weather. I spent months finding, purchasing, testing, and returning gear to REI. I went through three coats to find the right one and several sets of base layers. I was happy with and confident about my final choices, but poorer by about US$700. I justified the expense knowing that I would be wearing these clothes for decades of adventures to come.

				Physically, I honestly didn’t prepare much. As a triathlete, I trained year-round so my base fitness was quite strong. I tended to take off the months surrounding Christmas (meaning I didn’t spend spend my average thirteen hours per week swimming, biking, and running), but kept active and was always able to get back into training shape when the new year rolled around. To train for the March trip, I hiked to Cape Solitude in the Grand Canyon in December with a good friend, Shawna (also in my Crew). I had no problems with the 30+ pound pack, but was in terrible ankle pain afterward. I later learned the pain was the result of a snorkeling injury in Jamaica the month before. I’d bruised the heel seriously enough that I was on crutches a few days and unable to run even very short distances before leaving for Nepal. 

			

		

		
			
				Reaching the Colorado River
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				That would be something I’d need to watch.

				Also in regard to training, I swam a 100 X 100 (10km/6.2 mi all at once) event in January so spent quite a bit of time in the pool in December. Then, every February, I hiked the Grand Canyon. To increase the difficulty in preparation for Nepal, I did it as an overnight as opposed to my typical down-and-up in a day. This increased my pack weight and I was able to significantly increase my distance and ascent/descent. I hiked down the Canyon on the South Kaibab Trail to Phantom Ranch and then up the North Kaibab Trail to Cottonwood Campground. I tried sleeping there, but was freezing (not a good omen for the Himalayas) so turned around and retraced my steps. The trek was 31 miles in 30 hours… slow for everyone else in the world, perfect for me. The trip assured me I was in the right gear (I hadn’t carried the sleeping pad and bag planned for Nepal) and that I was in decent shape to touch down in Nepal. I also always participated in the Las Vegas Rock ‘n Roll half marathon every February. I walked it just five days before heading to Asia. I wasn’t in Ironman shape, but if the heel didn’t get worse and I didn’t get injured, I believed I was trek-ready.
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				Everything that came with me to Nepal except gifts (see appendix for detailed list)
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				Before the Big Adventure

				Making it Spiritual

				Continuing a Tradition

				I hiked el Camino de Santiago as a religious pilgrimage two years prior. The rituals I practiced on the trail added immensely to my overall experience so I wanted to do something similar. I considered how to make this trip into a spiritual pilgrimage and came up short. As the time to leave approached, I started teaching myself about the geographical area. This was how I learned that it is not possible to talk about the Himalayan region without talking about eastern religions. Hinduism and Buddhism are part of these mountains in every way. Confucius, Lao Tzu, and Siddhartha were born there (coincidentally, they were nearly contemporaries) and their spirits as well as the gods the people of the area worship reside in these mountains. I needed to learn more about eastern religions and philosophy.

				As a religion major in college, I studied and loved learning about world religions. I was always more fascinated by 19th century American-born religions like Latter-day Saints/Mormons, Christian Scientists, and Seventh-day Adventists, but also enjoyed learning that all religions tended to have one thing in common—love. All faiths profess the importance of compassion among human beings. This was also true with many of the eastern faiths. My lack of knowledge in these faiths, then, became my focal point. I would spend time on the trail each day reading works of these great leaders and I would learn about their philosophies. I downloaded audiobooks about world religions in general, Hinduism and Buddhism in specific, and classic texts including the Upanishads, the Analects, and Tao Te Ching. I also 

			

		

		
			
				Preparing my heart
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				wanted something I could ponder each day as I had pondered Bible verses on the Camino. I considered the Dhammapada, but it seemed too esoteric for me and the passages were long so hard to read while walking. I then found a website listing 47 famous Confucian sayings. They seemed perfect for daily reflection so I printed them and cut them into small fortune cookie strips (very apropos). My plan was to ponder one saying each day as I walked.

				Sayings of Confucius

				“Everything has beauty, but not everyone sees it.”

				“They must often change who would be constant in happiness or wisdom.”

				“What the superior man seeks is in himself; what the small man seeks is in others.”

				“In a country well governed, poverty is something to be ashamed of. In a country badly governed, wealth is something to be ashamed of.”

				“It does not matter how slowly you go so long as you do not stop.”

				“When anger rises, think of the consequences.”

				“When it is obvious that the goals cannot be reached, don’t adjust the goals; adjust the action steps.”

				“Faced with what is right, to leave it undone shows a lack of courage.”

				“To be able under all circumstances to practice five things constitutes perfect virtue; these five things are gravity, generosity of soul, sincerity, earnestness, and kindness.”

				“To see what is right, and not to do it, is want of courage or of principle.”

				“Fine words and an insinuating appearance are seldom associated with true virtue.”

				“Before you embark on a journey of revenge, dig two graves.”

				“Success depends upon previous preparation, and without such preparation, there is sure to be failure.”

				“Do not impose on others what you yourself do not desire.”

				“Men’s natures are alike, it is their habits that carry them far apart.”

				“Our greatest glory is not in never falling, but in rising every time we fall.”

				“Real knowledge is to know the extent of one’s ignorance.”

				“Hold faithfulness and sincerity as first principles.”

				“I hear and I forget. I see and I remember. I do and I understand.”

				“Respect yourself and others will respect you.”

				“Silence is a true friend who never betrays.”

				“The superior man, when resting in safety, does not forget that danger may come. When in a state of security he does not forget the possibility of ruin. When all is orderly, he does not forget that disorder may come. Thus his person is not endangered, and his States and all their clans are preserved.”

				“The will to win, the desire to succeed, the urge to reach your full potential... these are the keys that will unlock the door to personal excellence.”

				“Better a diamond with a flaw than a pebble without.”

				“Study the past if you would define the future.”

				“Wheresoever you go, go with all your heart.”

				“Wisdom, compassion, and courage are the three universally recognized moral 

				qualities of men.”

				“Forget injuries, never forget kindnesses.”

				“Have no friends not equal to yourself.”

				“He who exercises government by means of his virtue may be compared to the north polar star, which keeps its place and all the stars turn towards it.”

				“He who learns but does not think is lost! He who thinks but does not learn is in great danger.”

				“He who speaks without modesty will find it difficult to make his words good.”

				“Life is really simple, but we insist on making it complicated.”

				“A superior man is modest in his speech but exceeds in his actions.”

				“Be not ashamed of mistakes and thus make them crimes.”

				“The more man meditates upon good thoughts, the better will be his world and the world at large.”

				“The superior man understands what is right; the inferior man understands what will sell.”

				“By nature, men are nearly alike; by practice, they get to be wide apart.”

				“He who will not economize will have to agonize.”

				“When we see men of a contrary character, we should turn inwards and examine ourselves.”

				“He with whom neither slander that gradually soaks into the mind, nor statements that startle like a wound in the flesh, are successful may be called intelligent indeed.”

				“If I am walking with two other men, each of them will serve as my teacher. I will pick out the good points of the one and imitate them, and the bad points of the other and correct them in myself.”

				“Choose a job you love, and you will never have to work a day in your life.” 

				“If you look into your own heart, and you find nothing wrong there, what is there to worry about? What is there to fear?”

				“Ignorance is the night of the mind, but a night without moon and star.”

				“It is easy to hate and it is difficult to love. This is how the whole scheme of things works. All good things are difficult to achieve, and bad things are very easy to get.”

				“Without feelings of respect, what is there to distinguish men from beasts?”
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				Before the Big Adventure

				Getting There

				An Airport is Just an Airport

				The week before departure was absolutely crazy. Mike and I returned from a week-long vacation in Cancun on Saturday night, I walked the Rock ‘n Roll half marathon on Sunday night, I had an MRI on my ankle Monday morning (it showed there was still liquid in the area from a bruised bone), a surgery on Tuesday (an endoscopy to determine if I was a candidate for an Inspire device to alleviate my sleep apnea), and an untold additional number of appointments too hectic to remember. I had doctor’s appointments for me and the dog, lunch with a friend, a haircut (something I always do before big treks since I know I’ll have few opportunities to shower), allergy shots, and more. Most importantly, Mike, Ryan (my son), and I were able to sit down for dinner together a few times. I made them brownies and chocolate chip cookies and they (with ur tripod dog named Hop-along Cassidy in tow) ferried me to the airport for good bye kisses. The adventure had begun.

				I had a few minutes in a Priority Club in the Las Vegas airport before catching my late-afternoon flight. All was going well until I arrived in San Francisco. Being on different airlines for the first leg and next two legs on the trip meant I had to leave the SFO domestic terminal, take a tram to the international terminal, find the Air India check-in area, procure paper tickets for my foreign flights, go back through TSA, and find my gate. This all seemed realistic when I booked the 1 hour 45 minute layover, but was far from it. I had been in the back of the plane from Vegas meaning I had only one-and-a-half hours before take-off to complete everything. I ran [picture me knocking over small children, jumping over 

			

		

		
			
				Before and after
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				rolling suitcases, and yelling out questions to airport employees here]. I made it to the Air India check-in and, fortunately, was first in line. The agent assured me I would make my flight. No problem, I had Clear so would rush right through that TSA line. This was a blessing because the TSA pre-check line was terribly long and moving very slowly. I was ushered quickly through the first TSA checkpoint. And… then… STOP! There were only about ten of us waiting to have our baggage scanned, but the process for some unknown reason took about ten minutes. When I finally reached the gate and found they were still boarding, relief flooded me.

				My seat-mate, a programmer from San Jose, was kind, talkative, and on his way to India for work. We chatted then I put on my PJs/old sweatpants and slept. The flight was 16 hours, but felt like much less given my time sleeping, talking, eating, learning about Nepal, and journaling.

				We arrived in Delhi at about 3 AM (afternoon in Vegas). After moving through India’s version of TSA (a bit frazzled, for sure, and definitely frustrated because they’d confiscated my blameless Swiss Army knife), I rested in a Priority Club until my Kathmandu flight four hours later. There, I tried everything on the completely foreign menu: pav dosa, bhaji, idli, coconut chutney, peanut chutney, sambhar, jaggery lapsi, masala chai, and upma. I also indulged in some chicken sausage to up my protein intake since I knew it would be limited during my time in Nepal. 

				The airport looked like any other international airport with stores like The Coffee Bean and Michael Kors though there were a few distinguishing fast food joints like Wrapafella. Even the people looked familiar. I was definitely in the minority with my white skin and I noticed a lot fewer skin colors suggesting African and northern Asian people. I also noticed there were a lot more men than women. 

				As I was brushing teeth and taking a wet wipe shower in the bathroom, I met a woman with brown, intricately henna tattooed hands. I thought, but wasn’t completely sure, that this meant she was a newly married woman. She’d been married ten days with a new red dot in the middle of her forehead and was on her way to Europe for her honeymoon. I took advantage of her youth and friendliness to ask a sensitive question. There were what looked like handheld bidet sprayers next to the toilet. She assured me that was what they were. Also, there was a stall that had only a floor toilet. I was already learning a lot. 

			

		

		
			
				Leaving Las Vegas
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				On my way to the gate, I passed a yoga room with a meditation suite. My back was out of sorts after 16 hours trying to sleep in an airplane so I took advantage of the space to do my physical therapy. I was the only one doing anything remotely resembling yoga; everyone else was sleeping. I would have, too, if I’d had time.

				The flight from Delhi to Kathmandu was less than two hours. I was assigned an aisle seat, but by divine intervention, one of my seat mates was sitting there leaving the window seat vacant. I was overjoyed; I’d be able to see the Himalayan Range from above.

				My total travel time was 26 hours and 20 minutes not including travel to and from the starting and finishing airports.This sure beat the 40 hours Shawna and I endured on our way home from Patagonia the previous year.

			

		

		
			
				On the Plane—it’s definitely real
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				Tasting everything on the menu in the airport
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				Kathmandu from Swayambhunath Temple
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				Kathmandu
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				Prayer Wheels at Swayambhunath Temple
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				Kathmandu (3/3/24): Day 1

				Arrival

				Off to a Good Start

				Hotel: Apsara Boutique Hotel

				Maneuvering through the Kathmandu airport was a bit confusing at first. Jeevan instructed me to register for a Nepal visa before arriving. I did so, but the website said I had to wait to pay until I reached the country. When showing my printed proof of application at the airport, however, I was informed that the visa application I had wasn’t enough. I needed an airport visa so they ushered me to a kiosk where I filled out the exact form I’d completed online and was given the exact same results. At least I had what I needed. I took it to a desk and after my $125 payment was accepted was ready to officially enter Nepal. A little snafu resulted from that same visa when I was with a customs officer. He informed me I’d put an “8” instead of “6” as one of my passport numbers. This meant he had to take extra time. I supposed I should have just handed him my original printed Nepal visa.

				I finally made it through customs, picked up my duffle bag filled with gifts, trekking poles, umbrella, and sleeping pad and headed to the exit. Along the way, I stopped at an ATM for my first taste of Nepal rupees. My first card didn’t work so I resorted to a second card; of course, the one with the 10% exchange rate (as opposed the one with no charges) was more cooperative. I’d finished my pre-entry chores and met Jeevan after passing the security gates.

				He recognized me immediately because I told him what I was wearing and he even had a sign for me. He said “Namaste” and I gave him a hug. Then, he blessed me with a beautiful yellow prayer sash, a traditional Nepali greeting. He drove us to my hotel, Aspara, after a 
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				giggle because I’d tried to get into the passenger side on an American instead of Nepali car. He checked me in and sent me to my room to “freshen up.” When I returned, he took me for coffee and to talk logistics. I was happy to hand off the 33 one hundred dollar bills I’d been carrying since I hadn’t figured out how to send him money electronically while still in the States. I had to bring the US$3300 (the guide fee plus a 10% tip) in my money belt and, having so much cash on my person, worried the entire time. I also gave him the gifts I brought for the guides and schools.

				He next walked with me to buy a SIM card that, after purchasing it, we learned wouldn’t work with my phone. He dropped me back to the hotel with directions to visit the Narayanhiti Palace Museum and Garden of Dreams. As I walked the about one mile, a man started walking with me. He said he attended an art school and wanted to show me his paintings. Yes, a red flag, but sometimes these encounters lead to good things so I proceeded cautiously, but proceeded nonetheless. He walked me all the way to the palace and said he’d wait outside while I took a self-tour.

				I had to leave my pack and phone in a hold area. It was a good thing I used the bathroom before dropping them off because that’s when I learned not to count on toilet paper. The pee rag I’d bought just days before to replace the one that ripped as I was packing was already proving worth its cost.

				The Palace was home to Nepali royal families from 1775 until a coup by a lesser royal in 2001 that resulted in the deaths of the reigning royal family. The massacre resulted in the king’s brother (the coup’s instigator) becoming the new king. The new regime didn’t last long. Within three years, the people of Nepal had him relegated to solely a figurehead by replacing the monarchy with a democratic republic. They are very proud of having a political system they designed and established.

				The Palace reminded me of the White House (as one would expect) with its mass of rooms for welcoming dignitaries, work, dining, meeting with political leaders from other nations, paper-signing, sleeping, applying makeup, and sitting after dinner. Walls were adorned with paintings and trinkets from around the world, but mostly Hindu religious symbols. Everything was spectacular and obviously adored by the Nepali people so I was surprised to no≥tice its disrepair. Paint peeled from walls, ceilings had evidence of water damage, everything was dusty, and many of the exhibits had their descriptions pinned directly to them [think: an artifact with a placard taped or stapled to it].
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				One of the features I really liked at the museum was the animals. I’m very anti-trophy hunting, but it was neat to see the diversity of animals from the region. The king was a game hunter so there were bear- and cheetah-skinned rugs, wall-mounted racks from untold numbers of deer types, and gigantic (what I think were) white tigers preserved with taxidermy who visually growled at passersby. I believe the huge rug at the entrance was the skin and fur of the critically endangered Asian brown bear. I wished the animals would have had placards with their species stapled to them so I’d know what they were.

				A truly strange experience was how people interacted with me. They kept staring at me. I was wearing shorts and a tank top so figured it was because I was so immodestly dressed. It was hot, but almost all the visitors looked Nepali and, short of wearing burkas, they still all covered almost neck-to-toe. I even threw on my jacket to lessen the visual insult. Still, people kept looking. A young girl, maybe ten years old, came up to be with a huge smile and shook my hand. We smiled back and forth through several rooms and I finally decided to ask her. Out of the mouths of babes… right? I shyly asked her why everyone was looking at me. She coyly smiled and said; “You’re so beautiful.” I immediately decided to relocate to this place!!! I asked if I looked like a prostitute because my skin was showing. She said that no, I just looked “modern.” Hmmm… not sure what that meant. She and her sister kept trying to get close to me. 

				I left the Palace and looked very briefly for the man who had been my self-assigned guide through the city. When I didn’t see him, I started walking. Within a few minutes, he was back at my side as I approached the Garden of Dreams. I asked him, too, why everyone kept looking at me and if it might be because shorts were unacceptable. He, like Jeevan before I left the hotel, assured me they were fine, but recommended I wear pants when visiting shrines and temples. We kept walking.

				I noticed there was another charge to enter the Garden of Dreams and I was interested in the artwork my man was touting so I entertained the idea of visiting his studio. He assured me it was on my way to my hotel and that he just wanted to show me his work and that of his master/guru; I wouldn’t need to buy anything. I was up front… I wouldn’t buy anything. No one ever seemed to believe me when I said that. For future reference, take me at my word—I’m cheap. I live by a code introduced by my father-in-law: “I don’t want anything I have to dust.”

				When he turned down an alley, I was a bit nervous, but the shop in the back was clearly an art gallery with other employees in attendance. I just had to avoid any chloroform and doors being locked behind me. As hoped, it was a great experience. I learned that a common painting technique requires use of brushes having only one yak hair. The detail was amazing and the pigments were vibrant. Gold leaf was also prominent. The guru master did most of the talking, showing of works, and explaining the role of art in Buddhist culture. I learned there were two main religious paths for Buddhists: they could become monks or artists. Buddha was an artist and originally painted many of the mandalas replicated today. One of the mandalas the guru painted was a replica of a sand “painting” 
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				mandala made by the Dalai Lama that took untold hours to create. He let it blow away once finished. Certainly, this was a different culture than mine where “if it’s not on Facebook, it didn’t happen.”

				I learned that to be permitted to sign your name on the front of your artwork, you must be a master and have at least 20 years experience. My guide was just about to finish his 10th year, the rite of passage for being permitted to write your name his the back of one of his works. 

				All this education came at a price as they showed me painting after painting trying to get me to buy one. The art was truly lovely, but surely there was not one more thing I need for my walls at home. I eventually excused myself, giving the poor downtrodden and nearly in tears student a measly NPR1000 (US$7.50) to thank his for his time.

				I made my way back to the hotel for a shower and to unpack, then met Jeevan and Bishwo (my guide for the Annapurna section of my trek) for dinner and a logistics discussion. Together, we discussed expectations for all parties involved over the next month. Bishwo was pleased with my packing list, but insisted I buy sunglasses. I assured him I would buy them, but wouldn’t guarantee I’d use them. The two of them helped me order a traditional Nepali meal. Normally called dal baht, it went by its Indian name in the hotel restaurant—thali. They chose the mutton thali for me. The food was nice, but the companionship was better. Jeevan was surprised when I said everyone was looking at me. He supposed it was because I was a visitor in the early season. Then, I mentioned the Palace and he knew right away. He said it was very uncommon for travelers to visit the Palace; it’s usually only seen by locals. He said they were surely astounded there was a visitor in this very Nepali (as opposed to touristy) place, especially this early in the season. I was so relieved I hadn’t been patrolling for my hooker business all this time.

				We all went our own ways around 8:30 PM. I wrote in my journal, falling asleep on my iPad keyboard.

			

		

		
			
				Mandala with its guru master

			

		

		
			
				A single yak hair paintbrush

			

		

		
			
				My first dal bhat dinner
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				Dinner with Bishow and Jeevan

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 21 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				 • 21 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Kathmandu (3/4/24): Day 2

				A Day in the City 

				UNESCO World Heritage Site Tour 

				Hotel: Apsara Boutique Hotel

				I slept well when I was sleeping in the night, but awoke several times. Once, I talked with Mike about trying to get cash without having to pay my bank’s exceptionally high fee for international withdrawals. He worked hard to organize things on his end so my next attempts would be more fruitful. Another time, I downloaded several hiking apps trying to find one that would allow me to see ascents for each day of my trek. All I had were the highest and lowest altitudes for each day, not the total accumulated ascents. I tried about four different apps and had no luck. Maybe it was good I wouldn’t know. 

				I began the day with the included hotel breakfast and finishing my journal entry from the night before. My guide for the Kathmandu tour, Sushant, arrived so I asked him to join me for breakfast while I typed. Afterward, he introduced me to our driver, Hari. Hari didn’t speak much English and only ferried us between city sites. Of the four current UNESCO World Heritage Sites in Nepal, one of these was Kathmandu Valley. Instead of being a fairly small single location like Santiago de Compestella or a large area like the Grand Canyon, Kathmandu Valley is a collection of seven cultural wonders spread throughout the city. To see Kathmandu Valley’s UNESCO site means driving between these seven locations. We only saw three of the seven parts: Swayambhunath, Pashupatinath, and Boudhanath.

			

		

		
			
				Breakfast at the hotel

			

		

		
			
				Hindu symbolism
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				UNESCO World Heritage Sites

				In 2024, Nepal had four designated UNESCO World Her-itage Sites with fifteen additional sites awaiting approval. Of the four, two were natural sites and two were cultural sites.

				Natural Sites

				Sagarmatha National Park in the Everest Himalaya: 307,000 acres with 20 villages and 6000 Sherpas who have lived in region for four centuries. Mount Everest is contained within the Park.

				Chitwan National Park: Last home to the few remain-ing Indian rhinoceros and Bengal tigers. It was historical-ly used by big game hunters.

				Cultural Sites

				Kathmandu Valley: Designated because of substantial cultural loss mainly due to earthquakes and human en-croachment. It included seven parts—Bhaktapur Durbar Square, Boudhanath, Changu Narayan Temple (dating to the fourth century, it is the oldest Hindu temple in Nepal), Kathmandu Durbar Square, Pashupatinath Tem-ple (the oldest temple complex in Nepal), Patan Durbar Square, and Swayambhunath (home to the oldest Bud-dhist temple in Nepal)

				Lumbini: The birthplace (623 BCE) of Gautama Bud-dha, the fifth Buddha and founder of Buddhism. One of the holiest places for Buddhist pilgrimages since the third century BCE.

			

		

		
			
				Chitwan National Park.jpeg

			

		

		
			
				Boudhanath

			

		

		
			
				Sagarmatha National Park

			

		

		
			
				Pashupatinath

			

		

		
			
				Swayambhunath
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				Swayambhunath 

				Our first stop was Swayambhunath, home to the oldest monument in Kathmandu Valley. Also called the “Monkey Temple,” it was an important site for both Hindus and Buddhists as it was critical to both origin stories.

				Hindu “mythology” (Sushant’s word, not mine) believes Kathmandu to be an “auspicious” (again, his word and used often on this day) locale. It dates to before 525 BCE when the Valley was said to be covered by a lake. It was a holy lake limited to visits by only sages or those with special powers. Being one of these, the first Buddha (the only Buddha I knew existed before this was the fifth incarnation who I thought was the only incarnation) swam in its sacred water. As he swam, seeds of lotus flowers dropped into the lake. These grew into a gigantic lotus flower rising high from the middle of the lake. That flower created a self-perpetuating light. Word of this light eventually reached people from long distances away. One man who found the story fascinating came to witness it for himself and deemed that Kathmandu Valley was too special to be limited to only qualified men. He wanted everyone to see the light that was Kathmandu. So, he drained all the water from the lake to create the city. Scientifically, this loss of lake water was probably due to natural global warming, but legend places the blame on him. 

				After doing this, his two wives cut his hair. That hair became the trees surrounding Swayambhunath and his lice (yes, lice) became the regional moneys (hence, the name “Monkey Temple”). It’s a fitting name because darling monkeys ran, played, and fought all over the site’s grounds. There were also tons of stray dogs and I even saw a dying pigeon.

				Sushant told me many stories like this. Through them, he taught me about the history of the Hindu and Buddhist faiths and the connection and similarities between the two. He showed me a religious building that covered one of the access points for caves under the city. Only highly evolved Hindu people were permitted to approach these caves since the surrounding landscape was regularly rocked by earthquakes. The caves were deemed too dangerous for measley peons. Now, only one priest is admitted to the cave each year.

			

		

		
			
				Glossary

				Prayer Wheels: These are used by Buddhists for, well, praying. They are of all sizes with very large wheels standing alone. For these, people walk around the wheel spinning it while saying prayers. Smaller wheels often exist in a long series, sometimes circumnavigating buildings. People walk around these buildings three times (an auspicious number), spinning the wheels as they walk and pray. 

				Stupa: A dome-shaped building serving as a Buddhist shrine. These can be huge or very small. They can be huge or very small and are found in temple areas as well as along hiking paths throughout the Himalayas.

			

		

		
			
				Why it’s called the “Monkey Temple”
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				As we walked, we passed small tombs for individuals like what westerners might see in a cemetery. Each was built to commemorate the life of an individual and often at least some of that person’s ashes resided inside the structure. In Swayambhunath, there were many of these, but no more were permitted to be built so as to preserve the Heritage site.

				Our next stop introduced me to my first prayer wheels. They surrounded a large stupa as a line of prayer wheels separated by Buddhist statues. In one of these insets, there were people burning incense inside and visitors were leaving money. I guessed this was because they were given blessings from the portal. Some people prayed to one or each of the statues while others just prayed while spinning the wheels. Sushant had me walk around the stupa the traditional three times. As I did this, I prayed. I thought it would be easy, but I ran out of prayers after the first three-to-five minutes. I experienced how this repetitive pattern offered a strong meditative opportunity and how it would affect one’s inner spiritual being and outer behaviors if practiced regularly. It was a reminder of how to act, a prayer that you would behave in a manner that aligns with your faith. Doing this regularly would certainly contribute to a sense of both self and others. When I visited the largest stupa in the world later in the day, I asked Sushant how long it takes to walk around its perimeter three times. His answer was about five minutes to walk and twenty to pray. It took me about ten minutes with this smaller stupa.

				In the same section within Swayambhunath, Sushant introduced me to the three most common Nepalese architectural styles. The first is the stupa. The second was the pagoda, a surprise because I always thought the style originated in China. The final structure was shikhara style. Shikhara means “a mountain peak” and is typically a common Northern Indian Hindu structure with a spire [think: a fat Washington Monument]. 

				Buddha statues were ubiquitous with the main dude either sitting, standing, or laying down. While all depictions of the Buddha in this and all other locations are unique resulting from artistic license, all must contain 31 distinguishing features. 

			

		

		
			
				Nearly every Hindu temple has a Buddhist shrine within it to sym-bolize unity between 

				the faiths.
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				For example, he always has elongated ears with the bottom section looking as if he once wore gauges in them. He is also often shown with a bowl in his lap. While it seems there are variations of what it holds, one of the bowls is generally wealth and abundance so this statue is often displayed in homes. People might place these in an area of their homes known for money (perhaps where they pay bills) to attract wealth energy. When standing, Buddha is usually posing his hands. Each of the poses means something different (e.g., displaying the “okay” fingers is reminiscent of his first sermon; when elbows are pointed down with palms outstretched and facing up, it means he’s giving a blessing or accepting charity).

				In addition to the statues, symbols abounded. For example, a golden statue stood over a door of a holy place with the center in the shape of a teardrop. This represented how the fifth Buddha abandoned all his worldly possessions to live in poverty while pondering the causes of the world’s troubles. Flanking the teardrop on both sides were deer. Mythology stated that the Buddha was in a forest for six years during which time he pondered what came to be know as the four noble truths. After gaining revelations that answered his questions, he began preaching what he was learning. First, he taught a male and female deer. They were entranced and so moved by the message that they told all the other forest animals who then told people of the Buddha. Deer serve as the first disciples of the faith.

				We’d seen most of Swayambhunath and I’d exhausted Sushant with my far-too-many questions so we started to leave. As we did this, I realized the site sat on a hill and the city of Kathmandu radiated from it. I had to take a picture and was curious when I saw a bunch of ladies stirring what looked like incense in pots. As if that scene wasn’t enough, a monkey jumped right in for my final view.

				I needed a bathroom stop so Sushant guided me to the restrooms. As I was walking in, an old lady yelled to me and said I was going in the wrong bath-room. This bathroom had floor toilets. She ushered me out and to a locked door with a sign that said “Visitor’s Toilets.” These were traditional western toilets and even had toilet paper. I was told not to tip women who were servicing the 

			

		

		
			
				Four Noble Truths

				When Siddhartha Buddha left his palace home and went into self-imposed exile, he identified four noble truths:

				The truth of suffering

				The truth of the cause of suffering

				The truth of the end of suffering

				The truth of the path that leads to the end of suffering
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				bathrooms, but people were obviously doing so so I asked Sushant about it. He said that Nepalese people pay; visitors are guests so do not pay. I asked him why we had a different bathroom and he said that visitors treated restrooms 

				better and Nepal wanted visitors to have a positive experience. This was so awkward to me as an American where people tend to hoard the best and leave the remnants for others. Throughout the day, I was reminded about the kindness of the Nepalese people. Their motto of unity and acceptance of diversity was truly put into practice from the individual to nation-al level.

				Leaving the site was reminiscent of walking down streets near my hotel with vendors hawking their wares everywhere. Just as in other tourist hotspots, the salespeople were quite aggressive doing everything in their power to get my attention. Sushant regularly reminded me to equally-aggressively ignore them. This was one thing about Nepal that I did not like. I was also told by both Sushant and Jeevan to ignore beggars in the streets. There were shelters and services available for the homeless and, I was told, those who beg are not taking advantage of the resources while putting drivers and beggars in dangerous positions in the streets. There were so many people begging, most of whom were old men and women, women with children, and those with visible disabilities such as missing limbs. It reminded me a lot of the mission trips Mike and I take to Mexico each year.

				Hari then drove us to Pashupatinath. It’d become hot and the sun was out so I asked where I could change my clothes. Sushant said it was fine to change in the car—I liked this place!

				Pashupatinath

				Pashupatinath is a pilgrimage mecca for Hindus and the mass of people were evidence. Being the oldest Hindu complex in Nepal, Hindus visit from all over the world to receive blessings from priests. Only those born into Hinduism are allowed inside and all must have bare feet. Many just arrived without shoes and socks walking barefoot everywhere in the complex. 

				Outside the complex, there were many vendors who, instead of focusing on trinkets for tourists, sold items pilgrims could purchase to give as gifts to their gods. Pilgrims would carry small red baskets full of items 
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				Upkeeping the monuments

			

		

		
			
				A prayer flag for Mom
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				A marriage ceremony
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				to take inside the temple or to include on a funeral pyre. Examples of offerings included incense (used to improve homes therefore shooing out evil spirits), coconuts (all imported), and flowers. The vendors reminded me of Jesus overturning the temple tables so I asked Sushant about it. The Nepalese have a very different perspective. They are grateful for the vendors so they can purchase gifts for the deities and, in return, vendors traditionally donate some of their profits back to the temple. Pilgrims came in large families and as newlyweds; many were dressed in beautiful garb.

				When approaching the temple, there were priests everywhere offering blessings. They were all dressed in red and orange robes and many had ornate face paintings. Most were old men, some with long hair and beards. Some were clearly dressed for the tourist, highly unlikely they were the spiritual individuals they were claiming to be. You would approach one who would then give you a blessing and place a red dot (usually from sandalwood) on your forehead. In exchange, you would give them a tip to support their ministry. Sushant said it was okay to take pictures of them, but they clearly did not want that. As soon as I did, they all starting yelling at me to give them money. It made me feel as if they were charlatans who did not really believe in and practice the love they were espousing. Sushant, who practices Hinduism, said he only accepts blessings from inside the temple because priests must have special training to be permitted to bless inside the temple. I would have loved to receive a blessing, but did not want to support those taking advantage of a holy situation.

				After the temple, we moved to the area where funerals were performed. There was a hospice in the complex immediately adjacent to the cremation platforms where individuals who had chosen to be cremated would go in preparation for their final time on earth. Some bodies were delivered by ambulance following autopsies if the death was of anything other than natural causes. Any Hindu could elect to engage in the funeral ritual and there were platforms for about 100 cremations per day (each burning takes four-to-six hours). The purpose of the ritual is to remove the spirit from the cycle of rebirth, ending reincarnation. 

			

		

		
			
				Who’s in Charge

				Buddhists are monks and Hin-dus are priests. Sages are the highest Hindu priests.

			

		

		
			
				Offerings to the gods

			

		

		
			
				Ghandhi Strolls in Pashupatinath

			

		

		
			
				Hindu priests in Pashupatinath
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				The process was quite ritualistic. Family members of the deceased would begin by offering “water” to the deities to clean the body. The “water” was usually in the form of cow’s milk, buffalo milk, or coconut water. Though coconuts weren’t endemic, they were quite popular because they provided both food and water for the gods. The “water” would be placed on top of a large, multi-storied building and would trickle down to the ground floor and beyond where family members collected it in a bowl. This liquid was then used for ritualistic cleaning. 

				Before arriving at the river, they were wrapped in white linens. Sons (women were not traditionally allowed to participate, but the practice is slowly changing) would carry the body on a slab to the base of the river. They respectfully removed the cloth from the feet, hands, and faces of the deceased and used the bowl of spiritual water to clean these areas. Upon finishing, they covered the body in an orange linen (orange is an auspicious color in the religion) and moved it to a cremation slab.

				To enact the ritual, families scheduled and paid in advance for the right. This fee, in addition to supporting the temple, paid for all materials needed in the ceremony. Wooden beams were erected on stone slabs. Families waited for their priests (usually a family member) to inform them when it was time to begin the ritual. This reminded me of a Catholic priest delivering last rites. There were specific conditions that must align before lighting began. Then, the bodies were placed on these beams along with any offerings and covered with a huge mound of what looks like sticks and hay. This is as much of the process I witnessed. I was able to see that after the burning, the ashes of the person and wood were swept into the river and the slabs washed in preparation for the next funeral. In some cases, the human ashes were saved so families could spread them elsewhere. This ceremony was said to have happened to the fifth Buddha whose ashes are now dispersed throughout Asia. Before arriving in Nepal, I’d heard about pollution concerns from the deposits into the water; Sushant knew nothing about that.

			

		

		
			
				Prepping a body for the funeral pyre

			

		

		
			
				“I see dead people.”

			

		

		
			
				Burning man

			

		

	
		
			
				Each year after the burning, family members return to the complex and go to the opposite side of the river so they are overlooking the pyres. There, those trained in astrology meet with the descendants to memorialize the death.

				Because of my non-stop questions, we were limited on time so were unable to see the area commonly used for weddings. Couples are married there by their family priests.

				Boudhanath

				Our third stop was at the largest temple in world (though some argue Angkor Wat is bigger), a temple with quite an interesting origin. Around 500 BCE, a widow wanted to build a temple to honor her dead husband. She wanted it to be huge and the community surrounding her chosen spot were not willing to let her build it. So, she took her idea to the king. He told her she could build it, but it could only be as large as a single buffalo skin. She left, procured a buffalo skin, and cut it into an unknown number of tiny pieces. She then set the pieces in the originally outlined design and made sure every section was covered with a piece of the skin. She returned to the king and had him come to the site to witness what she’d done. He was so impressed with her ingenuity that he told her she could build it. 

				The people in the community were so impressed with her ability to get the king to mistakenly approve the plan that it was called the “Accidental Temple” and people from the surrounding areas came to help her build it. It was also said that pack animals arrived at the site on their own carrying needed materials. For the clay, people dug directly from the area surrounding the build site. The digging resulted in a big hole that filled with water following rains. The resulting lake is now a central and protected feature of the site and is surrounded by a garden park. Only the base was finished before she died so her four sons took up the charge to erect the cupola and completed the structure.

				Another story about Boudhanath involved the businesses that grew up around it. The businesses form a circular design around the structure mimicking its outer perimeter. There was once a mean shop owner who became so angered at a dog after it peed on the man’s doorstep that he chased it all the way around the temple three times. The process made him re-consider his life choices and he became a 

			

		

		
			
				Hinduism vs. Buddhism

				One difference between Hinduism and Bud-dhism is animal sacrifices. The practice, ac-cording to Wikipedia, was intended to appease the “anger of fierce deities and malevolent spirits.” It is being banned in many areas and Sushant told me some temples where these sacrifices occur are closed to the public during the ritual because it is so gruesome. Worship-pers receive red dots of actual blood on their foreheads after these sacrifices. In one 2009 case, 250,000 animals were sacrificed during a three-day festival at the Gadhimai Temple in Bariyapur, Nepal. 
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				positive member of the community thereafter. He preached about his transformation and now people walk around the stupa times remembering how it transformed him.

				As with much of Kathmandu, the the 2015 earthquake damaged the building. The entire cupola fell down and over one side. It had since been fixed.

				Sushant and I took a lunch break to eat, read, talk, and admire the view. He helped me order so I tried lassi and buffalo curry and we shared momo. Afterward, we walked around the area a bit more. There was one spot brilliantly sectioned off for pigeons. People were encouraged to feed them within this single concentrated area. There were tons of pigeons, but because they were concentrated in one place, they were not much of a problem for the entire complex.

				Our final treat for the day was visiting one of the Tibetan Buddhist monasteries surrounding the temple. As China was overtaking Tibet in 1985, many Tibetans escaped to Nepal where they were granted welcome refuge. With support from the World Bank, the country of Nepal, and other peaceful entities, refugee camps were established in the area surrounding Pashupatinath. Those refugees erected about four monasteries in the area so it became a hotbed for Tibetan Buddhist practice.

				I was so fortunate that he took me to one of the monasteries. Beautifully intricate artwork adorned the walls and ceiling. We spoke of mandalas and he introduced me to what the different sections of Buddha’s Circle of Life mandala meant. He told of the three animals in the center, the second concentric circle of a virtually movable good and evil wheel, and the third tier illustrating six versions of heaven and hell. Between the previous day’s encounter at the art gallery and this refresher, I was starting to gain a bit more understanding of and appreciation for mandala art. 

				On the second floor, there were practicing monks with an inner sanctum open to the public. When Sushant asked if I was interested in entering, I couldn’t 

			

		

		
			
				Lunchtime

			

		

		
			
				Common Symbols

				There were times I felt I was walking around Nazi Germany because of all the swastikas and six-pointed stars. Given my knowledge of contemporary history and lack of knowledge of ancient history, the symbols I saw were recent as opposed to millennia-old. It was dis-turbing to know such peaceful symbols were bastardized for use in such cruel ways.

				Swastika: Buddhists use a left-facing swas-tika to symbolize Buddha’s footprints or the dharma wheel, the path to enlightenment.

				Star of David: A symbol of nature, peace, harmony, nirvana, a perfect state of balance between man and god, or sacred marriage in the Buddhist faith. 

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 31 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				respond with my unequivocal “YES” quickly enough! The boots were off, the phone stowed (no cameras allowed), and I was through that door in as much of a flash as my old bones made possible. 

				It was a small room. On one side, a monk was sitting alone, presumably praying, but also watching the door. On the other side, about six monks were sculpting pottery from clay stored in a large bag. Recessed in the walls and covered by glass were about four deities. Each were a bit… well.. shall I say… disturbing. I walked down the middle, flanked by long, short tables on each side. Two monks sat behind each of the tables. One told me to kneel in front of the second. He took my right hand and started coiling string around my wrist to make a bracelet. As he did, he said his blessing. At the end, he broke off the string and tied a knot into the bracelet. Next, he picked up what made me think of the soft block on which I lay my wrists at my manicurist’s office and kept blessing me (I hoped it was a blessing because I couldn’t understand anything he said) while tapping it on each of my shoulders and my head. 

				After the blessing, the other priest pulled out a spiral notebook and handed me a pen. He told me to write my first and last name and then indicated I should write an amount that I would be donating. He’d changed the page before handing me the notebook and there were two names above mine with NPR3000/US$22.50 and NPR5000/US$37.50 (or something similar) written next to them. I presumed this was the amount he was recommending I donate so I wrote a number and handed him some bills, a very generous NPR2000/US$15 that I never 

			

		

		
			
				Entering the holy room

			

		

		
			
				The Wheel of Life

			

		

		
			
				Where I received my first blessing
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				In the garden

			

		

		
			
				In the garden
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				would have donated without the tricky prompting. I wondered if, instead of everyone signing sequentially, he turned to different pages based on the person being blessed. 

				Sushant dropped me back at the hotel around 4:30 PM at which point Jeevan arrived. Jeevan and I tried to get the SIM card that I’d purchased the day before to work on an old Android phone he’d not been using in hopes I could use the SIM card as a hotspot from his phone. It did’t work so I gave the card to him to pass to another client. We also tried to figure out how to find daily ascents in several apps including map.me and Gaia. Again, no luck. Each day was going to offer me a new surprise.

				Jeevan left about 5:30 PM and I set out with two chores. First, I had to buy sunglasses per Bishwo’s request. I found some nice ones for only NPR1000/US$7.50. Next, I needed cash and based on my experiences in Spain while on the Camino, I knew it might be a problem. Mike graciously talked with me in the middle of the Las Vegas night and after several trips to the ATM and back to the hotel for wifi, I finally decided to give up my attempt to save myself from the high conversion fee of my bank card (as opposed to credit card) and just get my darn rupees. I put in the US Bank card with plans to get NPR88000/US$660 (the amount Jeevan recommended) and was told, rudely, by the machine that my limit was NPR44000/US$330. Well… I showed that machine. I did it twice and left as a happy camper. The only problem was that NPR88000 comes in NPR1000 bills. That meant my US$660, a simple six bills at home, translated to 88 bills, another 6-12 ounces to carry on my trek. Arghhh.

				I returned to my hotel room, packed for the trek, prepared a bag to leave at the hotel, and journaled until I fell asleep.

			

		

		
			
				Crew Post 

				I spent the day with a one-on-one guide in Kathmandu Valley, a UNESCO World Heritage Site. It has seven sections, we visited three. The first was where the first Buddhist stupa was said to be spontaneously created from a primordial lake. The second was a pilgrimage site for Hindus. They receive blessings in the temple (only Hindus are allowed inside), they are often married at the site, and there is a section for cremations. I was able to see the latter. Our final stop was at the world’s largest Buddhist stupa (a building with a cupola). 

				Highlights of the day…

				1. Circumnavigating the stupa where a lotus flower and light grew from a lake. I did this three times while praying with prayer wheels. 2. Leaving a prayer flag for Mom. 3. Witnessing cremations. 4. Getting a blessing from a Buddhist priest.

			

		

	
		
			
				Annapurna Circuit
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				Offerings to the gods (Swayambhunath)

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 35 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				 • 35 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Annapurna Circuit (3/5/24)

				Kathmandu to Dharapani 

				The Long Drive

				It was an amazing accomplishment—I was ready and downstairs before the required 5:30 AM pick-up time. Bishwo, my guide for the Annapurna Circuit and Annapurna Base Camp sections of the trek, greeted me warmly and helped place my bags into our private car driven by Dorzee. I knew the trip would take about eight hours and had seen the distance of 244 km, but hadn’t done the math. That was 150 miles… in eight hours… 20 mph! Whaaaaat? By the end of the day, it made perfect sense.

				We first exited Kathmandu. Not bad. Plenty of traffic even at 6 AM, but it was a city with a population of five million. Dorzee expertly weaved around cars and motorbikes. Then, we left the city and things got weird. I felt like I’d passed to the Mexican side of the border. We traveled up and down huge hills, still weaving, with huge valleys in between. The valleys were mostly bare and, at times, littered with what looked like household garbage. It also had this “Road to Hana” flare with a bit fewer twists-and-turns, more ups-and-downs, and was… wait for it… unpaved about 50% of the time. It wasn’t just unpaved, it was rough—and we were barely out of the city. We weren’t bouncing around like pop rocks, but my husband certainly wouldn’t want to drive his Camaro on it. This continued for five hours including our stops. Our breakfast stop was brief. I had a latte and they both had a main course. My bill for the three of us was NPR1000/US$7.50. I liked this place! When we stopped for lunch, we had chicken macaroni and cheese, dal baht for two, lassi, and tea. NPR1000/US$15 for lunch for three. WOWZA!

			

		

		
			
			

		

		
			
			

		

		
			
				Weighing the gear Bishwo carried for me

			

		

		
			
				Weighing the gear that I carried
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				Lunch was in Besi Sahar, the Circuit’s official starting point… not Pokhara like I’d thought when I was sure I could manage the trek on my own without a guide. Since the Nepalese (with Chinese help) started converting the trail to a road, it became miserable to walk. Few people started in Besi Sahar anymore. Instead, they started covering the 20-miles-as-the-crow-flies section by jeep. Our jeep and new driver, Tez, bounced us the 20 additional miles for 4 hours on the…not road. We passed several checkpoints including those where Bishwo purchased our passes for the Annapurna Region and Annapurna Sanctuary and checkpoints where guards checked those permits.

				We stopped once for Bishwo to show me a newly built, Chinese constructed, dam. Bishwo said the Nepalese were grateful for the gift because they could not have afforded to build it themselves and it was bringing electricity and roads to mountain communities, but they were aware that they were in bed with a selfish political giant, a giant that had already invaded their neighbor’s land and stolen Tibetan freedom.

				We arrived at our teahouse, Kangaroo, with time for me to unpack, take a shower (I wanted to have one last shower before hitting the trail because I knew I’d be cold and tired every night over the next few weeks). Afterward in the teahouse dining room, I was so cold. And, it became colder as the night progressed. How was I ever going to survive the higher elevations?

				He ordered hot chocolate and a vegetarian pizza for me because I wanted to eat quickly and head to bed. The pizza took a long time and it tasted good on its own, but it was covered in ketchup (apparently the national condiment). It tasted as if you took a really good pizza and then poured ketchup all over it. I ate what I could, scraped off as much ketchup as possible, and brought the rest back to my room. It was time for journaling and, ultimately, falling into a deep sleep by 7:30 PM.

			

		

		
			
				Dahl bat, of course

			

		

		
			
				Breakfast

			

		

		
			
				Lunch in Besi Sahar

			

		

		
			
				Chicken mac ‘n cheese... okay
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				Crew Post

				After yesterday’s excitement, an eight hour drive was okay for the day. I spent most of the morning napping and writing in my journal. We stopped a few times for breakfast and lunch. In the afternoon, we had a four hour jeep ride. This section of the Annapurna Circuit was repurposed into a jeep road for about 30 miles so now no one wants to hike on it. It’s just a bumpy dirt road with jeeps leaving dust in their wakes. So, we skipped walking all of those miles and will start tomorrow in the next section. Let’s just say Nepalese roads aren’t quite up to American standards.

			

		

		
			
				The Chinese power plant

			

		

		
			
				The dammed river for power
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				Entering the holy room

			

		

		
			
				In the garden

			

		

		
			
				In the garden
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/6/24): Stage 1

				Dharapani to Chame 

				Chicks and the Farm

				Confucius Says: “The superior man, when resting in safety, does not forget that danger may come. When in a state of security he does not forget the possibility of ruin. When all is orderly, he does not forget that disorder may come. Thus his person is not endangered, and his States and all their clans are preserved.”

				My alarm awakened me at 6 AM, ten hours after I went to sleep. I’d been up several times in the night, but felt fully rested. I was finally in the right time zone. And, a special bonus was I learned something new overnight. If I coordinated my bathroom breaks with hot flashes, I could get out of my sleeping bag, do the duty, and be back in my sleeping bag before my body temperature plummeted. It was brilliant! It worked well and kept me warm all night.

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 13.4 (including off-trail walks)

				Time: 9:04

				Ascent/Descent: 3,655’/-1.036’

				Highest/Lowest Elevations: 8,545’/5,839’

				Teahouse: Happy Homes 

			

		

		
			
				I helped warm chicks

			

		

		
			
				Dal baht for dinner
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				Bishwo was clearly not excited about my intended 7 AM early morning start, but agreed to it. I told him I let him know when I was about ready so he could sleep later. That way if I chose to sleep longer, he could extend his beauty rest. He didn’t get the memo about waiting for me to knock on his door and came knocking at mine just before 6:20. I was up, but not ready. I met him in the main room downstairs where I paid my $11.25 bill (including an unexpected tip because I didn’t want smaller bills). I couldn’t believe it. I’d had dinner, hot chocolate, a shower, wifi, and a room for the night. If it weren’t for the fierce cold, I’d move to Nepal! 

				We were on the trail just before 7 AM. It was almost 9 AM when we saw the first sign of other trekkers as we passed a teahouse. They hadn’t even left, yet. And, yes, they passed me around lunchtime. The trail continued on the newly built road for an additional three miles before we finally met the new trail. Nepalis were building a parallel hiking trail since much of the original was on the road; that the road was replacing the trail was having a negative effect trekking tourism. The new trail was beautiful with rock stairs, two metal suspension bridges, and forested hills dotted with waterfalls. We passed towns about every mile and returned to the road after some time. 

			

		

		
			
				Forest beauty

			

		

		
			
				A local car

			

		

		
			
				Glacial deposits prop up 

				incredible waterfalls

			

		

		
			
				Walking across a town bridge

			

		

		
			
				Walking along the road

			

		

		
			
				Typical town

			

		

		
			
				Towns catered to trekkers

			

		

		
			
				Natural waterfall
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				The towns looked as if they were under constant construction. Buildings were destroyed by the earthquake, avalanches, and floods. There had been a break in a natural dam resulting in flooding that devastated all the down-river towns. There were so many bricks of stone for repairing and building homes, so much building of retention walls. We were privileged to watch a man demonstrate how they made the bricks. He would insert several metal spikes into a boulder and then slam them with a sledgehammer. It looked like so much work!

				We stopped for coffee in Mountain View teahouse in the village of Koto at 1:30 PM and reviewed Bishwo’s maps. I’d hoped to go longer than our planned stopping point of Chame, but because of acclimatization and the elevation increase and distance to the first teahouse after Chame, it really didn’t make sense. Our break was in the perfect place. There was an indoor stove so it was much warmer than outside. It had been cold outside, but not horrible and though I was wearing my rain jacket, I didn’t need my fleece nor down coat. 

			

		

		
			
				More landslides

			

		

		
			
				Ubiquitous landslides

			

		

		
			
				How to cut bricks from rock

			

		

		
			
				Cut stones to move

			

		

		
			
				Rebuilding

			

		

		
			
				Construction underway

			

		

		
			
				Cut stairsteps

			

		

		
			
				Making the stairs worthwhile
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				The sun in Koto, I was told, usually shone making the area a bit warmer, something the poor chicks who called this place home would normally appreciate. Not on this day—they were freezing… literally. The owner brought in two boxes containing about 75 chicks. A man added wood to the fire and they each held the chicks one-by-one to warm them. Of course, I couldn’t just watch so I picked up my first and started blowing to help warm its feet. They were so cold! The three of us switched out chicks as they warmed, always finding more needing attention. Two were really bad. We held them and she gave them water. We brought them closer to the fire. One didn’t make it. It was sad watching another chick pecking him just before it died, trying to get him to move and wake up. We knew all was better when the remaining chicks started running around—they were warm enough to play. I could’ve stayed another hour loving them, but Bishwo noticed rain clouds forming and suggested we try to reach Chame before the deluge hit.

				The walk was uneventful from that point forward with one exception. I saw two women in a small hut selling interesting-looking breads. I asked Bishwo what some of the breads were—samosas (I didn’t know those were also popular in Nepal) and chapati (like a donut or Navajo frybread). I splurged and spent NPR100/US$0.75 to buy the chapati, then tore it in half and shared it with Bishwo. Delicious!

				We walked another mile or so to Chame, our home for the night, and chose to stay in Happy Home Teahouse because they had a room that would allow me to (1) not go downstairs in the outdoors to go to the bathroom at night and, even better, (2) let me have a bathroom in my own room in a new addition to the teahouse. As if that wasn’t enough, the oldest son of the owner was an absolutely amazing host while Mom and Dad were in Kathmandu visiting their second oldest son, a monk. 

				I invited myself to join Shyrap (the son) as he took his cows back to their shelter for the night. He graciously welcomed me and told me all about the family’s organic farm as we shuffled the cows up lots of stairs and into their stable. Shyrap fed them grass and then we bid them farewell. He showed me the apple orchard he hoped to plant within the month. He was just waiting for the trees (a government subsidy) to arrive. Unfortunately, that meant he 

			

		

		
			
				Watching over the chick situation

			

		

		
			
				Our first of many suspension bridges

			

		

		
			
				Turn from the road to the new trail
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				was dependent on the government’s delivery calendar as opposed to the seasonal planting schedule. He also showed me their potato storage area where there were lots of very small potatoes (as compared to America’s Idaho-sized equivalent). He explained that he’d recently started a new business in which he purchased potatoes from other Chame farmers and employed Chame citizens to slice them and make potato chips. They would then sell the chips around the local region with plans to eventually expand distribution to Kathmandu. Finally, Shyrap showed me where they made brandy in their home-still. Bishwo and I tried some with dinner.

				After the farm chores and tour, Bishwo and I joined Shyrap to worship in the Buddhist temple adjacent to the property. The temple sat for 300 years about a ten minute walk up the hill from the main town. Shyrap’s father, with the blessings of and assistance from the community, moved it closer to town. Because they worshipped twice a day, closer was better. After completing the temple’s construction, they moved the statues from the old to the new building. This new temple was a spectacular sacred place that llamas visited about six times a year. The Happy Home family invited community members from surrounding villages to meet with and receive blessings from these holy men in the temple.

				Bishwo and Shyrap, together, taught me how to pray the Buddhist way. First, I lit a candle representing the light that came from the lotus flower seeded by Buddha. Next, I lit an incense stick, blew it out, and put it near my forehead as I prayed. The final ritual was to back away from the altar and do an exercise in which you place your praying hands in front of your head, heart, and stomach then kneel down and place your forehead to the ground. Basically, slow burpees repeated three times.

				Following worship, I unpacked my gear and switched to my PJs (Omniheat tights, a 32° Heat shirt, and insulated socks). I added the dead coyote fur bomber hat my dad gave me before I left for Nepal, my new yak hair gloves, fleece pants and jacket, and my down coat. The room was 49° F and night was still to come. 

			

		

		
			
				In the kitchen prepping for dinner

			

		

		
			
				Taking the cows to bed
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				Worshipping in the temple
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				With the fire, it was much warmer in the kitchen/dining room. In addition to the physical heat, the ambiance was warm. 67-year-old auntie joined Bishwo, Shyrap, and me for an incredible meal of fresh vegetables from their garden that were cooked to perfection. The main course was kidney bean soup made with beans grown on their farm. Homemade brandy rounded out the meal.

				We sat on the floor around the fire, eating and talking. Auntie and Shyrap ate with their hands, a cultural trait I wasn’t expecting. Everything seemed so traditional. I felt fortunate to be experiencing true Nepali culture. I excused myself knowing I had lots of journaling to do after such a full day, returned to the cold room, got ready for bed, and jumped in my -10° sleeping bag covered with a thick comforter. It was time to write. Just before bed, I checked my watch thermometer: 44°F in my room—at least I was inside.

				Crew Post 

				We officially started on the Annapurna Circuit a few miles after leaving our overnight teahouse. It was lots of up today: +3,655’ over 13.4 miles. Devastation from the 2015 earthquake and a more recent flood (a natural dam broke emptying all the water from an uphill lake) is pronounced; I witness people working to rebuild in every town. Today’s highlights: (1) warming about 75 chicks by a teahouse stove while drinking coffee and journaling (unfortunately, one chick died from the cold), and (2) a tour at an organic farm (I helped put the cows to bed) followed by learning how to and then actually praying in a Buddhist temple.
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				Chame farming tools
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/7/24): Stage 2

				Chame to Upper Pisang

				Rock Slides and Avalanches

				Confucius Says

				“To be able under all circumstances to practice five things constitutes perfect virtue; these five things are gravity, generosity of soul, sincerity, earnestness, and kindness.”

				I was up early again so took advantage of the opportunity to talk with Mike, Ryan, and Winter via wifi. The indoor 44°F temperature when I went to bed lowered to 39° in the morning. The bathroom was equally cold because most of Nepal’s bathrooms have no glass in their windows. They do this because there are no fans. An overnight bonus was that the hot flash/bathroom plan worked again. Bishwo and I left at 7:15 AM after paying for dinner, wifi, electricity, two brandies, and a room with an attached toilet equalling NPR3000/US$22.50 including a tip. The NPR500/US$3.75 surcharge for having an in-room bathroom was well worth it!

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 10

				Time: 7:49

				Ascent/Descent: +3,003’/-822’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 10,875’/8,891’/10,669’

				Teahouse: Hotel Royal Mountain

			

		

		
			
				Town worship area

			

		

		
			
				My first yak
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				We spent another day walking along the Marsyangdi River, the same river that flooded several years before. Throughout the day I was mesmerized by two things: evidence of avalanches and rock slides. They were massive and everywhere. In one case, an avalanche had covered the river. The river melted the snow above making it possible to see how deep the snow of the avalanche was. From base to top was probably 15-20 feet high. 

				Bishwo told me he’d never witnessed an avalanche as it was happening. This really surprised me because there were so many of them. I noticed that avalanches often occurred over-and-over in the same place. This created gigantic flumes at the bottoms of mountains. Old avalanches looked like rock slides instead of snow slides because the debris they carried combined with the debris that continued to fall over time. This combined mess made up the top of the snow. Bishwo assured me the rock piles still covered solid ice under those flumes. He was able to look at the amount of dirt on top of a flume and know how long it had been since the last avalanche. He pointed out several that had occurred within the last week. Rock slides (as opposed to avalanches) were also intense and ubiquitous. Every wall-face had huge rock debris at its base and flumes of rock and dirt were rampant. Bishwo had seen a rockfall, but was not terribly close to it. 

				If we were to see or hear an avalanche or rock fall near our path, our plan was to immediately race uphill, downhill, forward, or backward depending on its direction. We were to avoid hiding under a rock overcropping if there was any way we could cross the distance before the fall hit. Bishwo told me about a time one of his colleagues experienced 
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				River in the valley

			

		

		
			
				Three landslides and a boulder

			

		

		
			
				Flooded valley
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				a rockfall. Fortunately, no one was hurt, but the guide was carrying his phone on top of his pack and the phone was destroyed by a falling rock. That said, the most likely outcome was most certainly death.

				A highlight of the day was seeing Annapurna II. We were only able to see the very tip, but saw it was beautifully pointy and covered in snow. We saw several other famous mountains as well that I would have definitely missed without a guide. Bishwo would remind me to turn around every other now-and-then. It was always an amazing surprise.

				We walked along both the road and trail, but mostly the road which was much less troublesome than we’d experienced the day before. The higher we climbed and more remote we became so there was a significant decrease in cars and motorcycles. I wasn’t hating the road because it was definitively easier than the bits of trail we traversed. But, the trail was always in a beautifully forested area complemented with challenging, but fun rock stairs. I felt trekkers would benefit from waiting five-to-ten years before making this trip so they could experience the entirely rebuilt Circuit without having to spend much time on the road. 

			

		

		
			
				Crossing the town river

			

		

		
			
				Me posing

			

		

		
			
				Bishwo posing

			

		

		
			
				Walking along the road

			

		

		
			
				Another random teahouse

			

		

		
			
				A random teahouse

			

		

		
			
				Starting the climb to Pisang

			

		

		
			
				Kitchens: expressions of pride
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				We started seeing our first cyclists on huge mountain bikes nd a lot more trekkers. I asked Bishwo if cyclists ride to Manang, hike to Thorong La, then hike back to Manang and cycle to their starting point. He said that no, cyclists weren’t doing an out-and-back. They would haul their bikes over the pass. Whoa! I think I’d definitely want a porter that day! We also saw our first mountain climbers—obvious from their ice axes and visually supported by their pants and boots. Two female climbers followed a porter who was hauling a ton of gear. 

				We stopped when I needed water and a snack. The water fountains were just like those on the Camino, water spouting from a wall, usually as part of a decorative fountain. My gravity filter worked great. I asked several hikers if they wanted to use it, too, and they responded they were using tablets to clean their water instead. Bishwo confirmed that this was the most common method trekkers used to filter water in the Himalayas. I saw one woman looking like she was planning to drink water directly from the fountain so asked about Giardia. Bishwo said he always told guests they should filter their water, but he knew several clients who did not and procured Giardia and similar stomach and diarrhea ailments. One man came down with such a severe case just three days into his trek that he had to be evacuated by jeep. Apparently, ignoring guides’ directions was not uncommon and trekkers regularly faced consequences of those poor decisions.

				We shared an apple turnover. I was never sure what was safe to eat and drink, but figured the apples were peeled and given the pastry was fried, any bad guys living inside were surely dead. I also bought a roll of cookies because I no longer had any food in my pack. I wanted to have something just in case. Back on the road/trail, there was a lot of up and some down. I took it slow as always.

				We were traveling to Upper Pisang The Circuit also goes through Lower Pisang so trekkers have a choice. Jeevan and Bishwo preferred the upper route because of the view and it positioned groups to use the upper trail from Pisang. It also put us at a higher elevation overnight to help with acclimatization. I liked that going to Upper Pisang would put us farther uphill for the next day’s start, a day with a very steep incline at the beginning. 

			

		

		
			
				After a grueling climb.jpg

			

		

		
			
				Overlooking lower Pisang

			

		

		
			
				Seeing Lower Pisang from above
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				We arrived right at 2 PM and Bishwo found us a teahouse that, again, offered me a toilet in my room.

				I dropped my pack and walked an additional 200’ (60 m) uphill to the town’s Buddhist temple. Bishwo offered to join me because he was planning to visit it anyway, but I said I’d be fine and he should enjoy his afternoon without my intervention. He was worried I wouldn’t be able to find my way back; I assured him I’d be fine. 

				Sadly, the temple was locked after I’d climbed the mass of stairs, but there was a separate building surrounded with prayer wheels plus a gargantuan prayer wheel inside. I prayed over both before heading back down. On the way down, I had to be very careful because there was a lot of ice and snow on the extremely steep path. It wasn’t pretty for stability, but I didn’t actually fall. 

			

		

		
			
				Temple plaza

			

		

		
			
				My saviours

			

		

		
			
				Finally found my teahouse

			

		

		
			
				Teahouse dining and warming room
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				On the way down, I found another area with a long wall of prayer wheels you could turn from both sides. I took advantage of this one, too. After all, I had a lot of needs for prayer, mostly for Ryan and Winter. I should have prayed for myself; I was lost and it was cold and snowing lightly. There were so many homes and teahouses separated by steep dirt and snow stairs and paths. 

				I hadn’t brought my poles so was having to hold onto stone walls of homes so I wouldn’t slip. Paths were everywhere and going in every direction. I found three children who were cute as buttons, but they didn’t speak any English so I just kept walking until I finally and blessedly made it home. It was pretty lucky because I didn’t know the name of my teahouse nor had I given it a good look before I left. I knew it was two stories and there was glass in the corner of the dining room. That corner was my saving grace. 

				I gave myself a wet wipe bath and switched into my night clothes, a fleece jacket, down coat, buff, fleece pants, and gloves. It was cold. I knew there was a fire in the main dining room so made my way there. I ordered hot chocolate and dinner at 4 PM (I doubt anyone had done that before) and worked on my journal for hours. It was snowing quite hard outside. It’d been snowing in the upper altitudes for three days already so our chances of being able to reach Tilicho Lake and go over Thorong La Pass were waning. We would have to wait until we reached Manang for Bishwo to give us the final go or no-go. I was worried as the snow fell just outside the window; I really wanted to make those ascents.

				I headed to bed very early because I knew I would be warm in my sleeping bag. It was just after 6 PM.

				Crew Post

				It was another day about climbing. I started Diamox last night; we hit 10,875’ today. Not bad unless you’re climbing 3,000’ over 10 miles. Highlights included seeing Annapurna II and my first yak. Annapurna I is the tenth highest peak in the world with the second highest summit-to-fatality ratio after K2. Mostly, though, I was humbled by being where two tectonic plates rub together as evidenced everywhere by avalanches and rock slides.
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/8/24): Stage 3

				Upper Pisang to Manang

				Annapurna II, IV, and III

				Confucius Says

				“The superior man understands what is right; the inferior man undstands what will sell.”

				You know you’re in the mountain region of Nepal when you wake up and find: (1) the toilet won’t flush and the water won’t work because it’s frozen, (2) your electronics didn’t charge because there was no electricity overnight since it’s solar powered, and (3) your watch reads 33° inside the room. Fortunately, my sleeping bag kept me comfortably warm. Snow glistened outside and the mountain peaks shone magically in the rising sun.

				I took my time getting ready after my ten hours of rest, then moved to the dining area where I promptly ordered hot chocolate (for my hands, not my stomach), sat by the very small, not warm-enough fire, and wrote a bit more in my journal. Bishwo arrived shortly after, but we’d decided to leave a bit later (8 AM) so there was no rush. Leaving, though, was a good idea because it would warm me. The cold didn’t seem to bother Bishwo. He was from Kathmandu, and spent enough time in the mountains to not be bothered.

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 12.5

				Time: 10:56

				Ascent/Descent: +2,690’/-1,925’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 12,248’/10,669’/11,424’

				Teahouse: Hotel Himalayan Singi

			

		

		
			
				More yaks

			

		

		
			
				Sunset
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				My total teahouse bill for the night included my room, amenities, and all food. It came to NPR2200/US$16.50. In retrospect, I wouldn’t have paid even that much in the USA for a shared room without a heater and in-room bathroom boasting neither electricity nor water in the night and an extra charge for wifi. But, the remoteness made the price a steal. Throughout the Himalayan ranges, guests were expected to purchase all meals in their teahouse to help offset the room prices. In some cases, rooms were free if you purchased dinner and breakfast. Sometimes, for this reason, I bought breakfast for Bishwo because I didn’t eat it. I suppose this wasn’t cool; they could really use the money in their stark conditions. 

				Because Jeevan and Bishwo had chosen Upper Pisang instread of Lower Pisang, the view from the upper elevation overlooked the entire valley containing Lower Pisang at its base. With Lower Pisang being the lower route, trekkers taking that route wouldn’t reach the height of the Ghyaru route so wouldn’t fare as well in terms of acclimatization. 

				The trail was tons of extra work, but the views (albeit behind you) were truly spectacular. We saw Annapurna II then Annapurna IV then Annapurna III. And, we walked through snow and slush much of the time interspersed with mud and hard ground. I was really worried about my footing. The trail was uphill, but eventually switched to steep climbing and climbing and, yes, climbing some more. I stripped clothes and, to take my mind off the rigor, listened to the book “The Family Upstairs.” It was much easier to think about the characters’ problems than my pain. Okay, not pain… just lots of fatigue and heavy breathing. Step, breathe, step, huff, step, rest,…

				The two miles to Upper Pisang took three hours and I climbed 1,920’. Simply brutal, but reaching the top felt like a true accomplishment. Bishwo found us a place for a snack and even asked the hostess to surprise me with hot-from-the-frying-pan Tibetan bread. I bought my first yak cheese and liked it so much that I bought a second bag. Perhaps I shouldn’t have bought two, my bill was $9, more than a night in a teahouse. While in the village, I walked around the temple while spinning prayer wheels including the biggie in the middle. The view was incredible; we could see both Annapurna II and Annapurna IV from the top. I had no 

			

		

		
			
				Room/wifi/electricity/tip: NPR750/US$5.63

				Hot chocolate X 3: NPR750/US$5.63

				Vegetable curry with rice: NPR700/US$5.25
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				Cultivating land + landslide
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				idea they were so close together (at least by Himalayan standards). I asked the stupid question: “Why aren’t they in geographically numerical order?” and received the obvious answer: “The order is based on height.” Duh!

				But… wait! There was more climbing. I’d been trying to be proactive about adjusting to altitude by drinking lots of water when it backfired on me. I ran out of water. There were plenty of streams, but we decided to continue on to the next town about half-a-mile down the path.

				About this time, Bishwo was clearly looking stressed. I had gone so slow that he was worried about the time we would arrive at our destination—Manang. I assured him I could make it and that I had no concerns about walking after sunset. He claimed he wasn’t worried; I wasn’t buying it. We did stop in the next town for water and Bishwo insisted he work on refilling my water while I hit the bathroom and drank some coffee. He just wanted us to get moving and I tried to oblige.

				Like with the Camino, many trekkers hike in stages wihin the same time frames. This meant that those on my schedule passed me a lot. They would pass me in the morning since I left earlier than everyone else; then, they would stop for morning coffee and I passed them; next, they passed me until they stopped for lunch when I would pass them again. I usually arrived about an hour after everyone else in the final town of the stage. This hopscotching meant I saw a lot of the same people many times each day. I made some good friends on the Camino and was making friends in Nepal, too. On this afternoon, a South African man who worked at Google and was taking a year off before moving to a different job took the time to walk my pace for about half-an-hour. We really enjoyed talking. I wished I could walk faster so I’d have more opportunities to talk with more people, but I enjoyed my silent time, too.

				As we approached the next town, I looked back and saw a gigantic temple. I knew I wouldn’t visit it because it would mean backtracking and… seriously? It absolutely was not going to happen. I’d make it up with extra prayer wheels. 

				As we approached our final town, I put on my headlight, something Bishwo thought was crazy since I was almost there. He still didn’t seem to believe I was as slow as I claimed to be. Just after dark, I reached a sign for the town: “Manang 5 mins.” In the dark twenty minutes later, I reached the first town building. I next passed a building with the sign “Himalayan Rescue Association of Nepal.” Manang was 
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				the last “major” town before hitting truly high altitudes so many trekkers, unfortunately, ended up in this clinic. The Association offered clinic hours daily, 24-hour emergency services, and daily afternoon altitude talks. Given my previous experience with living and hiking in 3,000+ m/10,000+ ft altitude, I didn’t feel it necessary to attend. Bishwo didn’t mention anything about it so I guessed he felt the same way about my skill. Or, perhaps he knew he’d be watching me like a mamma hawk watching her newborn; he was certainly familiar with the signs.

				We were in Manang, the apparent Sturgis of Nepal, at the right time. Jeeps and motorcycles and motorbikes had passed us all day. Upon arrival in town, there was an onslaught of light and action. During our two nights in town, there were loud parties leaving me tapping my feet to “TNT” and Ed Sheeran songs translated into Nepali. Fortunately, the party stopped before 10 PM so I was able to get my beauty sleep.

				Hotel Himalayan Singi had the warmest dining room we’d experienced so far. I was able to take off both my coats and my gloves and even stood back from the stove. Bliss! I talked with other guests including two Nepali girls who lived in Pokhara and were visiting for a few days. I headed to the room at 9 PM after procrastinating... well, blabbing, for 30 minutes. It was just too warm to want to leave. I worked on my journal in my warm sleeping bag before falling asleep around 10 PM in my 42° room.
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				Another temple

			

		

		
			
				Guides and porters tended to limit their drinks to hot water in the morning and night. I later learned that in addition to the warmth, hot water was free and they couldn’t afford much. 

			

		

		
			
				Sturgis in Manang

			

		

		
			
				Crew Post

				Whoa! The climbing was intense. We did about 1,500’ in less than 2 miles at the beginning of our 12.5 mi, 2,690’ day ascending to about 12,250’. The biggest highlight of the day was seeing Annapurna II, IV, and III (not in order because their numbers are based on height). The mountains and valleys are so grand. It’s fun to look back at the trail and see how far we’ve climbed. Shawna, remember how I couldn’t find words to describe the Grey Glacier upon ascending John Garner Pass? This is the same. We’re at the end of the road, literally; everything from here is high and everything is by foot or (God forbid) helicopter. I can’t send pictures today; wifi is lacking.
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/9/24): Stage 4

				Manang 

				The Lake that Destroyed the Valley

				Confucius Says

				“What the superior man seeks is in himself; what the small man seeks is in others.”

				Wake up temperature was a chilly 39°—INSIDE the room!

				Even though it was a very short day and our hike was just for acclimation purposes, Bishwo and I decided to leave early so we would have the rest of the day for chores. After a quick unhealthy breakfast of Tibetan bread with honey and (probably) buffalo butter, we set out. The goal was to climb high and sleep low, the rule for all climbers wishing to move closer to the sun.

				Most towns were high on bluffs because of routine and severe flooding; we’d been seeing 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 2

				Time: 4:49

				Ascent/Descent: +961’/-961’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 12,156’/11,424’/11,252’

				Teahouse: Hotel Himalayan Singi

			

		

		
			
				Apple pie, ginger lemon water, and journaling

			

		

		
			
				Practicing writing “Om” in the snow

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 56 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				evidence of this all along. So, we first walked down lots of stairs and crossed the river we’d been jig-jagging for days. Finally, we saw the culprit of the valley’s demise—Gurkha Purna. This huge lake nestled between mountains had a natural dam holding it in place. Then, that dam burst and destruction flowed miles downriver leaving gorges and detritus in its wake. I wasn’t expecting to see water in the lake as I had learned that the break had left it completely empty. But, because the lake was such a tourist attraction, locals had built a stone retention wall so it had alreadt regained what was possibly its former glory. On this day, ice floated in its wake and Bishwo refused to take a dip insisting that I go first. Not even with a dry suit!

				Besides the amazing scenery, my favorite part of the hike was the stray dog that joined us all the way to the peak. She was so sweet and I couldn’t help petting her (wearing my gloves) and giving her a few pieces of yak cheese. We were the only ones at the top of the mountain for quite awhile and then it seemed that every trekker sharing our itinerary appeared. Unfortunately, our beloved dog became scarce with the onslaught of hikers and I never saw her again (though her look-alike siblings were hanging in town when we returned Manang).

				Bishwo and I had a lot of fun at the top taking pictures. He’d lost about 11,000 pictures following a phone update a few months before including those from when his son was a baby so he was working to add to his collection. I taught him Sarah’s (crew) technique of walking away from the camera for a back shot and he loved it. Then, I taught him her jumping in the air like a cheerleader technique. We had so much fun capturing him in the air and he couldn’t wait to show me how well it came out upon our return.

				While up there, we saw lots of prayer flags, a teahouse that only serves food and is only open in the summer, and massive surrounding mountains including Tilicho on which our upcoming adventure was to take place a few days later. It was neat to look back at the town so far below us with its many buildings, large temple, and terraces for growing buckwheat, potatoes, and wheat—the only crops that grew at these altitudes. Before leaving the top, we donned microspikes. Most of the hike had been on snow and that snow was turning to ice and slush 

			

		

		
			
				Bishwo at the top

			

		

		
			
				Summer-only teahouse at the top
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				My puppy for the day
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				Me at the top
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				as the day progressed. It was such a beautiful sunny day without a cloud in the sky. I was so glad to have the microspikes; I surely would’ve fallen a lot without my poles and the spikes. The only bummer was that my stray puppy wasn’t with me.

				The night before, Darlene (Crew) asked what my pulse ox was at these elevations. I had no idea and wifi was so weak that I couldn’t even download my Garmin data. Bishwo carried a pulse oximeter and pulled it out for me to use. It showed me at 89-91% with a heart rate of about 78. He said that was good and I was dumbfounded. Apparently, at elevation, they don’t worry until pulse ox drops below 70.

				On our way back to the teahouse, we stopped to buy some shoe glue. My Solomon boots, sadly and after only 275 miles, sported a small hole. I cleaned the boots in the snow then set them in the blessed sun to dry so we could repair them later in the day. There were more chores, too. 

				First, I changed into my rain gear (there was no way I was putting my few remaining clean clothes on that disgusting body) and paraded my yellow duct suit (Shawna’s description) throughout the teahouse while dropping my dirty clothes in the kitchen for laundering. I washed my clothes myself along the Camino (with a few exceptions), but I was hoping to not do this on the Circuit at all. The idea of scrubbing them in just-above-freezing water and then putting them out to dry in sub-freezing temperatures was not only unappealing, it was ridiculous. They’d never dry. I would leave them in the capable hands of the local experts. When giving my clothes to the teahouse manager, I asked many times if they would be completely dry before bedtime because they included almost every piece of clothing I owned. They assured me they would. Good… they had a dryer. Nope… I saw my skivvies drying on a clothes line an hour later. At least the sun was shining brightly and it was a warm day by Annapurna standards (37°F). 

			

		

		
			
				Gurkha Purna

			

		

		
			
				Looking back at Manang

			

		

		
			
				Looking down on Gurkha Purna
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				The labor of removing microspikes
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				My final chore was getting a much needed shower. It’d been three days of sweating both day and night without one and only a couple changes of underwear. Bishwo translated my need to the teahouse manager who said I could take a shower in my bathroom. I wasn’t excited about this because my room was so cold (39°F when I awoke and with no direct sunlight it had barely changed by afternoon) and because the nozzle had two choices: too short or handheld. I asked if I could use the shower down the hall that had a higher nozzle that was attached to the wall, but they didn’t like the idea so I went back to my room. [Note: I was on the third floor so had to go down the stairs like the ratchety old lady I was and then up another set of stairs each time I asked a question.] I moved all my shower gear (basically soap, towel, and a razor—yes, a luxury item) into the bathroom and disrobed. My next door neighbor assured me it didn’t take long for the water to warm and it stayed warm once it started, but he emphasized that “warm” was relative. 

				I tensed and turned on the water. The hose was broken and water sprayed everywhere. I put back on my duct suit, walked down and up again, and had Bishwo tell the manager of my dilemma. They decided to send me to the shower I’d originally requested with the taller nozzle. I, again, got everything out and took off my rain gear and turned on the water. No such luck. The water wouldn’t come on. Not just no hot water; there was no water at all. None. Nada. Duct suit back on, I descended the stairs again. Fortunately, Bishwo was still there. This was too much to be a coincidence. Surely after several tries someone was pranking me or I was doing something wrong. Bishwo wanted to check it out himself. I informed him he was welcome to check them without me; those darn stairs were my nemesis. Bishwo found I was right; neither of the showers worked. He talked with our guy again. Okay… no one was in room 205 so I could take a shower there, but I only had an hour. People would be checking into the room in an hour and the hot water wouldn’t be hot after 3 PM since it was solar powered. 

				Okay… take three. Was 205 the haunted room in “The Shining”? I hoped not. Surely, three was a charm. I turned on the water and waited and waited and waited. Cold water and more cold water. Not even the warm that my floor-mate promised. Back into the rain suit and back down the stairs (at least only two floors this time). The manager came to check it out for himself this time and I heard him running the water for about four or five minutes. Eventually, he yelled out that all was okay; it was just that the hot water was on the right side not the left like (when we had the option of rare hot water) it had always been in Nepal. I suspect he didn’t know it was the wrong side either since he waited so long for it to get warm. He left, but I wasn’t disrobing until I knew it would happen. Sure enough, not warm water, but hot water flowed from the high, working, wall-mounted shower head. It was bliss. I didn’t just shower; I luxuriated in 

			

		

		
			
				Apple pie, ginger lemon water, and journaling

			

		

		
			
				My room
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				that water. Dare I say frolicked? When I returned to my room, I put on my mostly clean clothes (the outer layers couldn’t be washed because they were too thick to dry) and was fully sated.

				With my chores done, it was time to find a bakery with more reliable wifi where I could work on my journal. Bishwo gave me some recommendations and the second one was a true treasure. Avoiding afternoon caffeine so I could fall asleep and awaken early the next day, I tried my first lemon ginger hot water. It was amazing. Plus, ginger is great for altitude so an all-around perfect choice. I’d heard this place was a bakery and didn’t see any baked goods until I turned around and my eyes bulged like a cartoon character. I had no idea what to buy so asked the trekkers sitting at a nearby table. Every one of them said theirs was absolutely delicious so I went with the healthiest (ha, ha) choice: apple crisp. It was huge and scrumptious. And, I didn’t have to feel bad about the calories because I’d been literally working my butt off. I wrote in my journal until I could no longer handle the cold of the otherwise comfortably-adorned room. My socks were cold and wet because they were in wet sandals. Basically, my everything was cold.

				I returned to my teahouse hoping they’d started the fire. No, but a nice Nepali man vacated the warmest seat in the house, one in a corner flanked by two windows. I was, finally, pleasantly warm and continued work on my journal until Bishwo arrived with the map. This was worrisome. I thought for sure he was about to tell me we were not going to be able to reach Tilicho Lake nor make it over the Pass. Fortunately, that wasn’t the change. He was concerned about us making it all the way to our destination the next day so found a half-way point just in case. It was one of those things where if you didn’t make it by a certain time, you had to stop at the last village before the goal. Typical for me. We decided to leave early (not as early as I would have liked) in hopes of making it all the way.

				I returned to my room to prep for dinner. I refilled my water bladder and prepared what I could for an early morning departure. Plus, I pooped. Okay, most people don’t care, but it was the first time since starting on the trail and was quite a relief. Then, it was back to the 

			

		

		
			
				Dinner

			

		

		
			
				Bishwo takes on my boot.JPG

			

		

		
			
				Spaghetti was on the menu (sort of)
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				dining room where Bishwo fixed my ripped boot with a combination of crazy glue and duct tape. Fingers crossed.

				I ordered excellent French onion soup and lasagna with mushrooms and cheese (basically egg noddles with tomato sauce) and prayed my clothes would be dry by the time I finished. Amazingly, they were. I talked around the fire with two German girls and a woman from Malaysia about national parks and places to visit in our respective countries. I always recommended Yosemite, Yellowstone, and Washington, D.C. I loved the Grand Canyon, but it was really just a hole in the ground.

				My clothes were dry. Bedtime.

				Crew Post

				We’re spending two nights in Manang to acclimatize. This means taking a 2 mile, 960’ hike to a breathtaking overlook. We also passed the lake that destroyed much of the valley we’d been walking along for days. Its natural dam broke and the entire lake emptied at once. Locals have built a new dam because the lake is a major draw for visitors. A precious stray dog joined us on the trek. Back at the ranch, I bought glue to fix a minor hole in my boot, got a shower after a litany of mishaps, and had my clothes washed. Fingers still crossed they’ll be dry before bedtime.
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/10/24): Stage 5

				Manang to Tilicho Basecamp 

				Danger, Will Robinson!

				Guess what? It was cold in the night and morning. I got dressed as quickly as possible, now wearing three layers on the bottom with one to go (my rain pants) and five layers on the top, again with only a rain coat to go. I had three options for my hands: rabbit fur gloves, yak mittens from Kathmandu, and leather work gloves from Minnesota. I’d been trying different combinations, today was rabbit and yak until I determined Nepal and Minnesota were the way to go. As I was about to leave the heat of the dining room, I warmed my hands by the fire. Darn if it I didn’t burn my coat! It didn’t bother me at first; it seemed to just be aesthetic. Later, I learned that the fire melted all the bottom zipper teeth together. I would be using my warm coat like a pullover for the rest of the trip.

				For breakfast, I had my usual coffee with milk and watched the sunrise from the “warmer” inside. I paid my bill of $45 for two nights (including room, almost all board, and laundry) and stopped by the nearby bakery for treats so I wouldn’t need to stop for lunch. 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 8.5

				Time: 10:09

				Ascent/Descent: +3,377’/-1,218’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 13.943’/11,424’/13,488’

				Teahouse: Hotel Basecamp Inn

				Morning Temperature (in room/outside): 39°F/18°F

			

		

		
			
				Sunrise in the Himilaya
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				Unfortunately, the miscellany store was closed; I wanted to also buy hand and foot warmers for the two high points I’d encounter. It was unlikely I’d find them in stores in the next few towns. Bishwo and I were finally ready to roll.

				I jammed! I knew that if I didn’t make it to Siri Kharka by 1 PM, I wouldn’t be permitted to continue. It would put my entire itinerary off by a day. I was committed. Except for taking off layers, going to the bathroom, and 30-second rest intervals to lower my heart rate, I kicked it. This wasn’t very easy because the gorgeous sun and accompanying heat had a negative consequence. Mud was nearly everywhere we stepped with only patches of snow to enable us to grip the ground. I was carrying about an extra pound of mud on the bottom of my shoes raising me about a 1/2 inch off the ground. Another consequence was slippage—one big step forward, one small slip back. It was a real struggle so when Bishwo saw an alternative trail, we took it. Ultimately, it wasn’t much better. We had to do a lot of climbing, sometimes through what resembled bramble bushes with thorns rivaling the ones Jesus wore. We eventually decided the muddy road was superior to the brambled hill so returned to the road, slipping though mud all the way down.

				I made it to Siri Kharka by 1 PM and was ecstatic. Bishwo was also proud of me because I’d (according to him) been walking faster. My watch still told me I was doing over one-hour miles. I didn’t care, I’d made my cut-off time. I stripped more layers and we continued walking.

				We crossed several metal suspension bridges and enjoyed the views down the valley up which we’d been climbing for the last four days. Bishwo answered all my too-many questions, even when I grilled him on finances of employees in Nepal. Living in this country is so hard and almost financially impossible and yet they are such happy, kind, honest people.

				We saw few foreign trekkers on this day, replaced instead with Nepalis trekking in their own stomping grounds. It was nice seeing them enjoying the area; it’s theirs, but we are usually the only ones who are able to enjoy it.

			

		

		
			
				A suspension bridge to cross

			

		

		
			
				Looking back at Manang

			

		

		
			
				Bishwo carries all my gear

			

		

		
			
				Trying to avoid mud
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				The fun and games were over and it was time to get serious. The peaks a few miles before Tilicho Basecamp were riddled with rockslides and mudslides. Not just little ones; we’d have to traverse sections nearly the width of Lone Mountain in Las Vegas. I was taught to rush through these sections because slides could happen at any time. But, many of these sections were really long. We’d walk until we reached an outcropping and rest there before continuing. We heard an avalanche in the distance and Bishwo told me of a party of ten (including guides, porters, and guests) who all lost their lives in a slide. He also said he’d had several guests slip on the downslope edge, but none fell down. I was extremely careful and slow, always stepping directly in the line Bishwo set for me. Many trekkers were forced to walk my pace for awhile because there was no safe place for me to move aside on the trail so they could pass.

			

		

		
			
				Rock slides AND ice on the trail

			

		

		
			
				Land sliding into the river below

			

		

		
			
				About to cross the dangerous stuff

			

		

		
			
				Yes, I crossed that!

			

		

		
			
				Walking across a rock slide

			

		

		
			
				Walk quickly
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				Most of the trail was rocks and dirt or snow. Locals had cleared paths for us, but there were times that rock slides were too recent and we had to cross them at an angle. The entire time, but especially when this was the case, I pretended like I was on a snowmobile and shifted all my weight to the uphill side. I was hyper-aware of the possibility of slipping and falling down a hill to my death. I tried to walk in the snow/slush as much as possible. Postholing stunk, but when a leg was in a hole, I wasn’t falling downhill.

				We arrived just after 5 PM and I received a well-earned hug from Bishwo. He’d been really worried about my speed and believed I redeemed myself during this day’s hike. He told me I was strong and believed wholeheartedly that I could complete my entire trek. At one point, we passed several young Nepali men who were wondering if I was heading all the way to Tilicho Lake. Bishwo told them I was and that I would also be conquering ABC and EBC. They were amazed; they’d just seen me walking and knew how slow I was. They probably felt sorry for Bishwo since he never had time to rest.

				We reached Tilicho Basecamp just after 5 PM and stayed in a teahouse with a warm heater. I was afraid to get too close after the morning coat incident, but moved near enough to appreciate it nonetheless. Bishwo informed me I was to leave 

			

		

		
			
				A flood carved this valley

			

		

		
			
				Flood damage

			

		

		
			
				Entering Tilicho Basecamp

			

		

		
			
				Out getting a tan on a sunny day

			

		

		
			
				Do you need a guide?

			

		

		
			
				Along the trail
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				the fire, rush downstairs, change into warm socks and sandals, and bring my boots and socks back to the dining room so they could begin drying by the fire. Everything in my life happened slowly; the boots and socks eventually made their way to the fire. It took hours for them to dry, but they were ready before the next morning.

				The proprietor provided me with two one liter bottles of water so I could refill my water bladder through my filter. I told Bishwo I didn’t want to buy fresh water (I was cheap, yes, but I mostly hated the environmental impact of so much wasted plastic) and he assured me these bottles were repurposed with dirty water because acquiring water after 5:30 PM couldn’t happen… it was too cold so the water main was off for the night. I emptied the bottles into my gravity filter dirty bag and filtered away. Meanwhile, the cook made me delicious garlic onion soup, hot chocolate, and buckwheat bread (basically, a pancake made with buckwheat). I moved to the fire where I worked on my journal and kept an eye on my very slowly drying boots. Several Nepali men and a Japanese couple joined the circle to gab. I stayed near the fire typing until bedtime at 9 PM when I was falling asleep on my iPad.

				Crew Post

				Today was our first truly dangerous day. We traversed what was one of the most dangerous parts of the trail, spending about a mile on a trail that bisected several rock slides. There were times when there was debris from a recent slide that they hadn’t been able to clear. I pretended I was on a snowmobile, hugging the uphill because downhill was not an accept-able option. And, oh, did I mention the snow? Much of the trail was on snow. Fortunately, it wasn’t slippery, but our boots are wet and postholing was common. We made it to basecamp for Tilicho Lake and good weather should hold. Last week it did not and about seven hikers had to be evacuated by helicopter. They also evacuate after rock slides, mud slides, and ava-lanches if locals aren’t able to clear them quickly.

			

		

		
			
				Typical toilet

			

		

		
			
				A look out my door
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				I needed all the prayers I could get

			

		

		
			
				Time for some peace

			

		

		
			
				Time to worship

			

		

		
			
				A Buddhist temple

			

		

		
			
				A temple

			

		

		
			
				All of these rocks were covered in Buddhist writings
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/11/24): Stage 6

				Tilicho Basecamp via Lake Tilicho

				Tears and Success

				Knowing we were planning to spend a second night in Tilicho Basecamp, we decided a 7 AM start for the lake would be fine. That was the mistake that made the rest of the day much tougher than it could have been. We left the teahouse, walking through snow and ice, crossed a river, and started climbing. Not too soon afterward, I stripped one pair of pants and two jackets. That was the first time Bishwo helped me pull off my pants. Okay, I dropped my rain pants to my ankles and he negotiated them over my boots and microspikes. This was mainly because he’d learned that any change of clothes on my part took far too long. He also started always helping me with my microspikes. I would sit on the ground and he would install them; later, I would stand like a flamingo for him to remove them. He was far too good to me! When I made this first clothing change, I knew I was moving too slowly so downed 200 mg of caffeine from my emergency bag. Either it didn’t help, or I was worse off than I thought. 

				The day’s hike started with a tough climb over black ice, then it changed to a more gradual 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 5.3

				Time: 10:56

				Ascent/Descent: +2,807’/-2,807’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 15,138’/13,486’/13,486’

				Teahouse: Hotel Basecamp Inn

			

		

		
			
				A morning’s journey from basecamp

			

		

		
			
				Landslide sign, time to boogie
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				incline. Along the way, two ultrarunners passed us on their way BACK to basecamp. It was disheartening; I had so far to go and they were almost done for the day. 

				Three hours in and with it snowing lightly, I’d only just passed the second mile. It was time for a serious discussion. At this rate, there was no way I’d reach the lake before 3 PM. Our turnaround time was 1 PM for safety reasons. Keeping with the adage: “Summiting is optional, returning home is not,” I had some difficult decisions to make. Bishwo and I talked. He was clearly concerned and, at my current rate, concurred I wouldn’t make it. That’s when I started crying. I really wanted to do everything and see everything I could in Nepal. Tilicho Lake was one of those things everyone said not to miss and the pictures were all amazing. I understood I wouldn’t make it and was so sad I hadn’t insisted we leave earlier.

				We had three options: (1) return to basecamp and hang out for rest of the day; (2) return to basecamp, pack the extra weight we’d stored in our rooms, and head to the location where we were supposed to spend the next night; or, (3) keep going as long as we could and just turn around at 1 PM to head back to basecamp for the night. Number one just meant that I would be sad all day about not making it and feeling horrible that I hadn’t given myself time to complete the day’s task. Plus, I’d forever feel that I’d failed and my Nepal trip was incomplete. Number two wouldn’t work. We’d spent enough time on the trail already and would have to make our way back as well as cover an additional four miles littered with steep uphill climbs. I wouldn’t be able to finish that either and then we’d be stuck at night between towns without a place to stay. I wanted to do number three. Like with Ironman races I knew I couldn’t finish in time, I still wanted to go as far as I could. I didn’t want to go down without a fight and I didn’t want to regret something that I didn’t do everything in my power to accomplish. Bishwo was so saddened by my tears and insisted we go forward… up this big, nasty, dangerous hill to “that rock up there,” a milestone Bishwo set before me as an immediate goal. He didn’t give me a choice. Get moving! So, I did. 

			

		

		
			
				The trail was treacherous
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				We passed so many people on their way back to basecamp after already reaching the lake. They’d left earlier than us, but weren’t planning to return to basecamp; their destination was four miles passed it! A group we’d been walking with on-and-off for a few days—Benote, Lynn, and Dixon—stopped and encouraged me. I told them it didn’t matter because I wasn’t going to make it. I was just going to do my best. Lynn took a picture of me to show everyone back at camp. Apparently, no one believed I would even make it that far. Bishwo also talked with a group of male Nepali twenty-somethings we’d seen the day before. They were amazed I was hiking in the Himalayas at all; you know… my age and body type and all. Bishwo assured them again that I would make it over Thorong La Pass and to ABC and EBC. I’m sure they had a good laugh about that as soon as they passed us. 

				I climbed and climbed and climbed, not believing one iota that I would have a prayer of getting back down this steep hill. But, Bishwo had faith in me. It was HARD! There were times I fell uphill and times Bishwo pulled me up with my trekking pole. We would keep to our 1 PM cut-off time and he would get me back to basecamp somehow. When I reached a flatter section, I asked where the rock that I’d been shooting for was. He proudly announced that I’d passed it awhile ago and he praised me on making it so quickly to the top. He informed me we were almost to the final part of the trail. The upcoming flat section sounded really good.

				We made it to the flat part and were passed by the group of Nepali men who’d doubted my abilities just hours before. Their smiles were huge and they gave me lots of thumbs up. It started to look like there might be a possibility that I would actually make it. There was a sign that said: “Lake—35 minutes.” I had just over an hour left. I COULD do it! I walked and walked and Bishwo kept reminding me to hurry. When I wanted to take a potty stop before reaching the top, he told me to hold it. We had to see the lake NOW. 

			

		

		
			
				Home for the night

			

		

		
			
				Tilicho Lake in winter

			

		

		
			
				Looking at basecamp from above
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				The cold and wind and possibly snow were coming quickly. If we didn’t make it up to the lake and back within the hour, snow would cover the tracks of those who’d walked before us. We’d be screwed. We were the only people still up there so there was no one to help. So, I held it and climbed the final short hill. There was Tilicho Lake, the highest lake in the world at 15,138’. It was 12:45 PM! 

				The first thing I noticed was that there was no lake, just a gigantic flat circle of snow. It wouldn’t be until some time between May and September that the snow and ice would melt so trekkers could enjoy its marvelous deep blue color. That was a disappointment; my desert-dwelling brain never imagined the lake would be frozen. The second thing I noticed was that it was bitterly cold and the wind was fierce… not Patagonia-fierce, but fierce enough to drop the windchill to an all-new ridiculous low. Bishwo rushed me, knowing that the wind could cover the trail stranding us on the mountain without a visible path so we quickly snapped a few pictures. He wanted us to get down fast because more snow was on its way. So, we boogied it back to basecamp. We took a somewhat different way back following the trail instead of climbing the way we’d come up. I was happy we were taking this more level, but still obnoxiously steep, route. 

				Spikes on feet, extra layers on my body, and a bathroom stop. Now that tides had changed and I was pooping again, it had to happen on this mountain. What was I to do? I did the deed then used my poles to push it down the hill and into the snow. I figured it would freeze and never decompose, but decided it would be covered in rocks and mud after the next inevitable snowfall. I felt badly, but not badly enough that I wished I were carrying a WAG bag. As always, the toilet paper came back to the teahouse with me.

				We kept walking and I heard this noise like bleating. I kept looking uphill in the direction from which the noise was coming, but didn’t see anything. Then, it sounded like a bird. I didn’t see any birds. And, then, I noticed it was a little too rhythmic and realized I had a squeak in my boot. That had to be the noise. About this time, I looked up and saw Bishwo taking pictures. My eyes moved to the object of his interest and OMG there was a herd of native blue sheep just above us. We’d seen a herd the day before; two herds in two days—wow! They were quite far away and walking the other direction so a picture wouldn’t do them justice. I just smiled and walked on. They looked a lot like bighorn sheep without the big horns.

				We eventually made it back just before 6 PM. I changed into my night clothes, brought my boots and socks to dry by the fire, and refilled my water bladder using my filter. During the day, I ate one healthy cookie that upset my stomach (it was filled with peanuts so my body probably couldn’t process it while I was on the move) and four digestive cookies that didn’t upset my stomach. I needed to down some calories so ordered hot, delicious, honey and lemon water and vegetable fried noodles. My body didn’t want food, but I knew the carbohydrates were essential. Bishwo and I were the only guests at the teahouse for the night so it was much more comfortable and quieter than the previous night. I sat by the wood stove for over an hour typing in my journal until the stove no longer kept me as warm as my sleeping bag would. It was 9 PM and time for bed.
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				Crew Post

				Today was our first REALLY hard day (they’ve all been just plain hard). Our plan was to climb from Tilicho Basecamp to Tilicho Lake and back, about a six mile roundtrip trek. Sounds easy, but wasn’t. I hiked for 11 hours climbing 2,800’ to reach the highest lake in the world at 15,138’. It required lots of layers of clothes and putting on and taking off microspikes many, many times. We were traversing snow-covered rockslides and climbing up mountains covered in ice. It was hard and scary. I’d only covered two miles in the first three hours when Bishwo and I had a serious talk. I knew I wouldn’t make it at that speed so we had to decide if we would turn back then or just go as far as I could until our official turn-around time (1 PM). I cried, sad that I hadn’t insisted we leave two hours earlier and that I was so slow. The tears broke his heart and he told me to get my butt moving uphill. We would just crest this hill. I kicked it into gear, made it up that hill band then with his encouragement made it, amazingly, to the lake at 12:45 PM.

			

		

		
			
				Tilicho Lake
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/12/24): Stage 7

				Tilicho Basecamp to Yak Kharka

				Up, Down, Up, Down in the Snow and Mud

				Confucius Says

				“If I am walking with two other men, each of them will serve as my teacher. I will pick out the good points of the one and imitate them, and the bad points of the other and correct them in myself.”

				The all-the-time cold was getting old. My room was a miserable 41°F!

				I set my alarm for an hour-and-a-half early because it took me about thirty minutes to just get dressed. I always stored my day clothes at the bottom of my sleeping bag hoping they’d be warm in the morning. It never worked. I also always tried to get dressed inside my sleeping bag and it never worked as planned, either. There was no way to avoid being cold.

			

		

		
			
				Distance: 10 mi

				Time: 11:11

				Ascent/Descent: +2,460’/-2,644’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 13,911’/12,608’/13,332’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 41°F/26°F

				Teahouse: Hotel Gangapurna

			

		

		
			
				Typical nightly bill
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				I met Bishwo in the dining room and we were off right on time with me already in microspikes. The first half of the day was a repeat from two days prior… the truly dangerous section. We’d have to walk quickly without stopping (as much as possible) during the long sections of rockfalls and mudslides. There was usually a sign saying we were starting in a dangerous section and then a sign saying “Thank You” at the end. The slides went on-and-on. I couldn’t listen to my book because I had to watch and listen for somesuch thing sliding the entire time. At one point, Bishwo stopped in his tracks so I stopped in mine. There was a very small mud stream; we walked carefully and swiftly around it.

				Our first stop was at the small teahouse where I’d taken a picture of a Nepali man sunning (fully clothed) the night before. I’d learned to love the lemon/ginger/honey drink so ordered it, but my stomach just wasn’t cooperating. We stopped in the next town where I had juice and bought cookies and Tibetan bread, but still couldn’t eat much of it. I still hadn’t attained that hiker hunger stage.

				We had some extremely steep ups-and-downs throughout the day and they were usually accompanied by snow, ice, mud, or all three. The microspikes were on and off regularly. Sometimes I wore my Minnesota mittens, other times I wore my yak mittens, and often I layered them for extra warmth. Top and bottom layers of clothing were also regularly entering or leaving my backpack depending on the amount of climbing we were doing, the wind speed, the temperature, and whether we were exposed to sun or not. I was so slow at changing clothes, but it just had to happen.

				We saw some blue sheep again, but my big find was two birds of prey circling over us. Bishwo told me they were hawks. They looked like hawks, but were gigantic! We also saw what looked like an ancient stone town. Bishwo told me it was several hundred years old and no longer inhabited most the year. Instead, yaks spent their summers up there instead of in the town several feet below because of its cooler 

			

		

		
			
				A great place to ski?

			

		

		
			
				Slogging through snow

			

		

		
			
				The trail

			

		

		
			
				Looking back at Manang

			

		

		
			
				A Nepali girl

			

		

		
			
				Time to be vigilant!

			

		

		
			
				Yak time!
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				temperatures. Apparently, there were people from the town that spent their summers up there with the yaks to care for them. 

				I had been eager to see my first yak and Bishwo assured me we’d see plenty of them. When approaching Manang, we climbed from the altitude where cows could still survive to the altitude where yaks became the only stock animals other than goats. It was on this day that I started seeing yaks around almost every village. Many, like with some horses and cows, wore bells. I’d learned these were for animals that didn’t always stay where they were supposed to stay. These ringers were the bad boys and girls. Yaks always seemed to be under the care of an old lady, old man, or very young man urging them to their next locations.

				The views were spectacular. Even though I’d seen many of them two days prior, I couldn’t help but take more pictures of the Annapurna peaks. The mountains were so imposing with their height and snow-covered peaks. I loved thinking of Winter (my daughter) skiing down the slopes created by the avalanches that took out lines of trees. Of course, I’d scream at her if she even pretended to consider it. The valleys were so large it seemed like the world opened into them. In many places we could see towns in these valleys just above the rivers. It was fun looking back at towns like Manang and realizing how far we’d come.

				We spent the night at a nice teahouse where I ordered two of my new favorite lemon/ginger/honey drinks, some vegetable (basically potatoes) curry with rice, and apple pie. At least I could eat pretty well most nights. I spent a lot of time talking with the other guests about trails we wanted to take in the future and I invited everyone to use my water filter. They were happy to do so; none had ever used a gravity filter.

				I stayed in the dining room until late trying to finish writing about my day in my journal. During that time, I added yak dung (the fuel of choice in the Himalayas) to the fire several times to offset a spiral into hypothermia. When I couldn’t handle the cold anymore, it was time to crawl into my sleeping bag to get warm.
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				Looking down at the suspension bridge we would cross

			

		

		
			
				Yak hotel

			

		

		
			
				Our teahouse for the night

			

		

		
			
				Approaching Yak Kharka

			

		

		
			
				Almost there

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 76 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Crew Post

				We finished the Tilicho section of the hike and are now heading to the biggest challenge, Thorong La Pass. We retraced our steps along the scary sections of rock and mud slides, then went up and down and up and down through mud/snow/ice. We passed more blue sheep and I saw my first Nepali hawks. They were gigantic!

			

		

		
			
				Suspension bridge to Yak Kharka
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				Bishwo the Invincible
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/13/24): Stage 8

				Yak Kharka to High Camp 

				Hitting Altitude

				Confucius Says

				“It is easy to hate and it is difficult to love. This is how the whole scheme of things works. All good things are difficult to achieve and bad things are very easy to get.”

				I slept well, but this bathroom business in the middle of the night in freezing temperatures just plain stinks. Because there are no windows in the bathrooms, they are even colder than the rooms. Fortunately, the bathroom was clean and in my room. That would not be the case the next night when I would have to sludge through snow and slippery ice to reach an outdoor privy with a hole in the floor big enough I was worried I’d fall in, especially because the hole was surrounded by ice making it a legitimate possibility.

			

		

		
			
				Distance: 4.4 mi

				Time: 6:26

				Ascent/Descent: +2,736’/-144’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 15,695’/13,076’/16,012’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 39°F/19°F

				Teahouse: Thorong High Camp View Hotel

			

		

		
			
				Leaving town

			

		

		
			
				Cleaning the stove of yak dung
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				It was fun to look out the window in the morning and see the mountains and yaks. I always liked that yaks were so many different colors. As I was finishing getting ready and enjoying coffee with yak milk, a woman who lived there was cleaning out the fireplace (remember the dung from the night before). She graciously let me take her picture and was eager for me to show it to her. I asked if she wanted a copy and she did so I sent it to her via WhatsApp. I really don’t understand why Nepalis like seeing and receiving the pictures we take; they all have phones and could just take them themselves. 

				Once Bishwo and I began walking, I saw a gorgeous horse looking out of its short stable. I was guessing they stored grass on the roof so they could access it easier and just push it down into the stall. And, it would act as insulation. I also noticed rocks on tops of many of the houses. I presumed they were to hold the sheet metal roofs on the houses during fierce winds and Bishwo assured me that was the case. I also noticed lots of clothes out on clotheslines. It seemed ridiculous because it was below freezing outside and some of the clothes even had snow sprinkled on them. I asked Bishwo about it and he said they’d probably just forgotten to bring in the clothes the night before. I had a similar problem. I’d cleaned my pee rag and handkerchief in the morning and hung them on the front of my pack to dry. They didn’t; they froze solid. Imagine how that went when it was time to use the pee rag?!? To make up for the misery of frozen (and still stinky) “toilet paper,” the view from one my first bathroom stops was gorgeous! There were a lot more toilets on the trail at this point, probably because we were back on the main trai (as opposed to the road or new trail) and there were fewer teahouses the higher we climbed.

				Seeing an upcoming goal, usually a town where we intended to stop, was always cause for celebration. It was also fun to look back and see how far we’d come and how much we’d ascended. I was always surprised with what I had been able to accomplish. It’s true you can do anything if you set your mind to it—trust a 56-year-old, 160-pound, 5’2” woman. This woman also was riddled with a love/hate relationship when it came to walking downhill. It was usually easier than the uphills and enabled me to walk faster, but given that we were still far from Thorong La Pass, every step down meant we’d have to re-take that step up.
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				Grand scenery
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				More yaks... I LOVED these guys!
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				The caged horse
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				I was like a little kid on a road trip with my parents always asking how much further we had to go. At 1 hour and 45 minutes after 750’ of climbing, I asked what to expect on the trail ahead. Bishwo responded: “We’ll start climbing soon.” Seriously? Yes, we really started climbing then. When it comes to Nepal (or at least the Annapurna Circuit), “up” is not how Americans define “up.” Think The Wiggles of Angel’s Landing in Zion. Don’t think the snake-like switchbacks of the Bright Angel Trail in the Grand Canyon. In fact, think about The Wiggles with even fewer switchbacks.

				Along the way, I asked a man and his guide/porter if I could take their pictures and they agreed. I’d been wanting a picture of a porter because they use headbands made from polypropylene bags to help handle the weight of their packs. This moves the weight of the pack to their necks. They often don’t even buckle their packs’ waist belts. This porter was carrying a huge basket on his back and his guest was holding on to the basket. I couldn’t figure out why anyone would be purposefully making a porter’s life more difficult so I asked. I learned the two had been a porter/guest team for 18 years, hiking on at least one major trek a year. They’d become like brothers. The Indian man (not the Nepali porter) was holding on because he had asthma and a flat foot and needed the extra support. What a beautiful example of friendship.

				We walked through another dangerous rockfall/mud slide area that lasted at least a quarter of a mile. Bishwo was so good to me. He would walk quickly though the dangerous area so he could easily scan the section and be prepared to tell me to run forward or in reverse if a fall began. I listened very carefully for both his command and any falling debris. I heard rocks falling a few times, but they were minor and didn’t ever push more or bigger rocks down. Bishwo had seen rockfalls, but never had any of his guests hurt.

				I realized I had a new favorite signpost. At the beginning of each dangerous section, a sign warned trekkers to be careful. At the end, there was always a sign saying “Thanks.” 
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				Leaving town
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				Guess which one is Nepali?
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				Thanks for surviving!
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				I asked Bishwo if it meant “Thanks for staying alive—now we won’t have to recover your body.” He told me it meant “Thanks for bring careful.” I wasn’t sure I believed him. I loved that sign because it meant I didn’t have to be as vigilant, listening carefully to everything and rushing from outcropping to outcropping. I knew I was in danger the entire time, but also needed to take breaks to breath and lower my heart rate. As soon as I caught my breath, I’d rush…always knowing I had to keep a little energy in the tank for when Bishwo yelled “Run!” or “Go Back!” 

				We made it to the town where most people stop before braving the next pass, the town of Thorong Phedi. Bishwo asked if I wanted to stop and there was absolutely no way I wanted my caboose to quit moving so we soldiered on to high camp. As was always my preference, I didn’t want to stop, period—it was just too hard to get moving after a break. I preferred to walk, take a break for 30 seconds when I absolutely needed it, and then continue on. Perhaps this was why full Ironmans appealed to me so much. No stopping to bitch or lallygag.

				Most importantly, I really wanted to go higher so my hardest day would be slightly less daunting. Continuing to the higher camp would advance me about a mile and 1,000’. Thorong Phedi was the official basecamp for Thorong La (the pass we would cross the next day and the most technically difficult part of my entire trip); it was where most trekkers stopped for the night. I considered high camp the true basecamp because it was the last camp before the pass. 

				The climb from Thorong Phedi was something serious (yes, I’d said this before, but this was even more intense) and I was informed we would be climbing at a similar grade for 3.1 miles (a 5K at 16,000’) the next morning. This section was not only steep, it was at 15,000’—higher than Mount Whitney, the tallest peak in the Continental USA. To assure my success, I employed a technique I used when pushing to the caldera of Kilimanjaro. Instead of thinking about the entire challenge, I focused only on the task at hand, one exhaustingly slow step at a time. I counted each step—one, two, three, four,… always trying to get at least 40 steps and always trying to see how many I could take before I needed to stop and take a breath. It worked really well. It was like running from light pole to light pole when trying to regain my running skill after only have walked for a few months.

				 

				We made it high camp before 2:00 PM after leaving at 7:00 AM. I’d guessed we wouldn’t arrive before 3:00 PM so was relieved. I cleaned with wet wipes in my room without much gusto since motivation wains in freezing temperatures. And, I put out all my clothes for our 3:00 AM start the next morning. I didn’t want to get up any earlier than I had to so planned to sleep in my hiking clothes, only adding a few layers when my alarm went off at 2:15 AM.

				Bishwo helped me filter and refill my water bladder and had me buy two extra bottles of water just in case. He also helped me order lemon/ginger/honey hot water, pasta with tomato sauce and cheese (trying to get in even a modicum of protein), and onion garlic soup (garlic helped with altitude). I also ordered chapati with cheese that I would carry with me the next day. I still didn’t have my hiker 
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				hunger and was only eating one meal at night with a few snacks and one or two coffees with milk throughout the day. I knew when my hiker hunger hit, I’d be eating everything in front of me but at this point, food didn’t appeal to me and often bothered my stomach. I was surely eating less than 1,800 calories a day even though I was averaging an expenditure of about 4,000 daily calories. 

				Our plan was for me to carry most of my water, my food (the chapati and a roll of digestive cookies), and my emergency kit. Bishwo would carry everything else. At 37 years old, I was sure carrying gear was getting a lot more difficult for him, but he insisted. He was quite worried about me. In fact, he indicated he was more worried about the steep down on the other side of the pass given how slowly and carefully I walked.

				I sat in a window in the dining area to try to be as warm as possible, but was still freezing. This was no exaggeration; there were several frozen water bottles in the window right next to me. I was told they were sitting there trying to melt so trekkers could actually drink them. So much for that plan! They were solid. Out the window, I saw birds playing in the brutal wind and a slew of trekkers braving the elements to reach the viewpoint above. I was sure it was beautiful and hated to miss anything, but the cold and knowing the next day would require everything I had forced me to choose to remain in the less-freezing indoors. Bad news for those that braved the cold; storm clouds emerged and completely obstructed their view anyway. Unfortunately, this was an omen of what was to come. It started snowing. We’d had so many good days and I really wanted them to last through the day I’d cross the pass. All I could do was pray the snow stopped soon so we’d be able to continue up the next day.

				Bishwo came to my table to inform me the seats around the unlit fire were filling so I should probably claim one before it was too late. I was shaking in the window so moved to the room with the fireplace. I was shaking even more terribly byt the stove, and even though they said they wouldn’t start the fire for over an hour, I couldn’t take a chance of not getting a seat when they did. I moved to the circle 

			

		

		
			
				Entering high camp

			

		

		
			
				Drinking water... frozen

			

		

		
			
				Shivering around the fire
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				and joined 19 other people talking, reading, and playing games. It was a good decision because they started the fire a bit early and the crowd continued to swell. It was still cold, but my fingers stopped shaking as I tapped away at my keyboard and waited for my boots to dry.

				I didn’t make my planned 6:00 PM bedtime, but was close. Getting into that sleeping bag was always nice.

				Crew Post

				Today was a short day in distance, an intense day for climbing. Though we’d ascended more, we hadn’t done it at this altitude. I count-ed steps seeing how far I could go before needing to rest. Minimum was in the 20s; maximum was 113. At the end of the day, we were over 1,000’ above Mount Whitney. We slogged through dirt, mud, snow, and ice and saw beautiful scenery everywhere. We are now at the last teahouse before the big push. I’m scared about tomorrow’s ascent, descent, cold, wind, and altitude. What is it called when it’s more than a disastrous trifecta?

			

		

		
			
				Thank goodness for microspikes
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				World Elevations

				-1,354’: Dead Sea (Israel/Jordan, lowest land elevation on earth)

				-88’: Death Valley (California, lowest land elevation in North America)*

				0’: Sea Level*

				1,368’: My Summer Cottage (Bemidji, Minnesota)*

				2,415’: My Home (Las Vegas, Nevada)*

				9,740’: My Mountain Cabin (Brian Head, Utah)*

				14,500’: Mt. Whitney Peak (California, highest peak in the Continental USA)*

				15,778’: Mont Blanc Peak (Italy/France, second highest peak in Europe)

				16,138’: Tilicho Lake (Nepal, previously said to be the highest lake in the world)*

				17,769’: Thorong La Pass (Nepal, highest peak on Annapurna Circuit)*

				17,782’: Cho Lo Pass (Nepal, highest pass I was to traverse in Nepal)

				19,300’: Umling La Pass (India, highest pass and paved road in the world)

				19,340’: Kilimanjaro Peak (Tanzania, highest Peak in Africa)*

				20,310’: Denali Summit (Alaska, highest peak in North America)

				22,837’: Aconcagua Peak (Argentina, highest peak in South America)

				26,545’: Annapurna I Peak (Nepal, highest peak in Annapurna Himalaya)

				29,030’: Mt. Everest Peak (Nepal, highest peak in the world)

				*Places I’ve been
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				Thorong/Thorung La

				Thorong La at 17,769’ was the highest mountain pass I would traverse in Nepal. It is a recommended five-day trek from Manang to Muktinath including acclimatization days. I did it in six days, but also took the side trip Tilicho Lake in that time. I was able to do the extended route in this short period because I had been acclimatizing since Dharapani, I was on Diamox, and my body deals well with altitude perhaps because I’d spent so much time at my cabin in the Utah mountains.

				Trekkers are encouraged to approach the passage from the east because of ac-climatization, safety, and difficulty. The western slope is much steeper than the eastern slope. Thorong La High Camp on the eastern side and where I started requires climbing 1,657’ to the Pass. Mukinath to the Pass, the western route, requires an ascent of 5,499’. Pretty significant! Guides also recommended leav-ing a few hours before sunrise because high winds started shortly after sunrise contributing to higher temperatures as well as the need to hike directly into the wind requiring hiker to expend more energy.

				The western side is in the rain shadow so much drier and harbors very little vegetation. This wasn’t evident because I started in High Camp at 16,012’ and the mountain was covered in snow to that elevation on both sides. Because of this snow, March, April, October, and November are considered the best times of year to make the ascent and descent. I read: “Attempting to cross Thorong La at other times of the year is dangerous due to the increased risk of ava-lanches, frostbite, and the likelihood of a storm or a whiteout.” The Himalayan Rescue Association has posts at Thorong Phedi (periodically) and Manang (year-round); they regularly assist with basic medical issues as well as major disasters relating to altitude and weather.
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/14/24): Stage 9

				Thorong High Camp to Muktinath

				Nailed It!

				It was an early start. Our original plan was to leave at 3 AM, but Bishwo asked around and no one else was waking before 4 AM. This meant he would need to cut trail in the dark through fresh snow until everyone else arrived and passed us. So, we decided to leave at 4 AM. I was worried because it took most people 7 to 11 hours to cross the Pass; I figured it would take me about 15 to 20 hours. That wouldn’t put us in to Muktinath until very late. Bishwo assured me we’d be able to get into our hotel (not a teahouse) regardless of what time we arrived so I agreed to the later start. He met me in my room around 3:30 AM to pick up the gear he’d be carrying for me. This included everything except my food, water, and emergency gear. Poor guy was stuck with probably 20 pounds of mine. Yes, he’d been a porter, but that was decades ago so the extra weight could not have been fun. On the other hand, he was able to get plenty of rest while waiting for me throughout the day. There would be no rest for me, the energizer tortoise.

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 5.9 mi

				Time: 12:50

				Ascent/Descent: +1,658’/-5,499

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 17,529’/16,012’/12,052’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 29°F/14°F

				Hotel: Eureka Inn

			

		

		
			
				Looking back toward high camp

			

		

		
			
				Old teahouse/Emergency shelter
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				I wasn’t able to acquire the outdoor temperature, but my room was a frigid 29°F inside. And, oh, the bathroom was outside down a snowy walk with another large hole in the ground that I was sure I’d fit through if I slipped on the hole’s surrounding ice. I just might have used the snow outside my door for some of my nighttime potty breaks. Shhhh.

				We left just before 4 AM and I was wearing almost everything I owned. On my head, I had my buff covering my head, neck, and chin, my bandana covering my nose, and Dad’s coyote fur hat over all that. The headlamp was on top of the bomber coyote hat. I wore a T-shirt, Omni-heat long-sleeved shirt, Heat 32° long-sleeved shirt, fleece jacket, down jacket, and rain jacket. On my legs, I wore Omni-heat tights, my hiking pants, a pair of fleece pants, and my rain pants. On the feet were two pair of socks, my boots, snow gaiters, and microspikes. My hands sported both my yak and Minnesota gloves. Still, I was cold and regretting not having HotHands for additional warmth. I needed to start hiking to raise my body temperature.

				It was black outside except for a beautiful dark sky of stars. When my headlamp lit the snow, it sparkled like diamonds. I didn’t look at any of this; instead, I hyper-focused on the snow in front of me. There was one set of tracks, Bishwo’s, and I stepped exactly in each and every imprint. I fell a few times, but thankfully only uphill. 

				I quickly looked to my right a few times only to realize we were traversing an extremely steep, dangerous slope. Perhaps that was another reason Bishwo had me start in the dark—he wanted me oblivious to the precariousness of the situation. It looked from my headlamp like we were right on the edge of a black diamond ski slope with no bottom. I later found that, in fact, there was a bottom... a fatality-inducing bottom with no ski patrol on duty. One wrong step and I wouldn’t have been found until after sunrise, if then. I asked someone who started later than me and was assured that, yes, it was a gigantic, horror-film of a hill. We walked and walked and eventually started seeing headlamps behind us. As the sun silhouetted the surrounding mountains, we arrived at a teahouse closed until the busy season. Shortly after Bishwo and I arrived, others who had left an hour-and-a-half later than us started arriving. It had an open room so everyone could escape the freezing wind and falling snow. Most of us retreated inside while waiting for others to climb to this point. We all just hung out with no one wanting to be the first to continue the climb since that person would be breaking trail. Bishwo and I should have just started because they would all have followed, passed me quickly, and been stuck breaking trail anyway.

				Though everyone was cool about it, I was terribly anxious about holding up everyone behind me because of my speed and frequent breaks. The trail wasn’t wide enough for people to pass each other so I would either need to pull off the trail to the uphill side 
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				Old teahouse/Emergency shelter
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				and stand in deep snow or they would need to create a new trail around me. No one wanted to break trail and face the dangerous slopes so they waited patiently behind me. One time as there was a group walking right behind me, I got anxious and lost my step. Unfortunately, this time it was on the downhill side. Before I slid into oblivion (okay… that section wasn’t as deadly as the parts we’d ascended in the dark), people grabbed me. Bishwo who’d been quite a bit ahead of me, was magically standing directly above me before I even knew what happened. What an amazing guide! I still have no idea how he appeared so quickly from that distance. He told me he knew when I fell and was worried I’d passed out from altitude. Nope… just fell over from walking (guess I should get more practice with that). 

				The first thing I needed to do was catch my breath; we were well over 16,000’. Then, I needed to flip my body so I could use my hands and, next, unwrap my body from my poles because they were holding me in place. I was being pulled and encouraged and probably prayed over this entire time. I asked everyone to stop pulling and let me catch my breath, give me one of my hands so I could make the flip and move the poles, and then gas them permission to lift me back onto the trail. They complied a bit with my instructions, but (I’m sure out of fear for my life) still held on very tightly. I was up in a jiffy after that and just rested on the uphill side of the trail for awhile while they continued to the Pass.

				I believe just about everyone knew of the old lady in the obnoxious yellow rain gear by now. I think I may have even become a bit of a trail mascot by this time. Everyone was so amazed I was able to do the trek. Why, I wasn’t sure. They all said I was so strong which made no sense to me because they were completing the same trail I was, but in 2/3 of the time. They must have thought I was infirmed in some way because I was so slow. I was constantly encouraged and told to go slow and given the thumbs up. Perhaps it was because I was old enough to be a mother to most of the people on the trail, including Bishwo.

				Bishwo said my speed was improving, but I sure didn’t feel like I was getting speedy in any way. Perhaps he meant it relative to the increased altitude. About two-and-a-half hours into my hike, I asked someone when they left. They’d only been walking an hour. Jealous.
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				The trail ahead
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				2014 Disaster on Thorong La

				The most catastrophic disaster on Thorong La occurred in 2014 as a result of intense weather conditions from Cyclone Hudhud. With-in a 12-hour period, 5’11” of snow fell and wind speeds reached up to 115 mph for at least one three-minute period. Those who chose to leave Thorong La High Camp and proceed to the Pass were stuck in the snow and wind, unable to continue forward to Mukinath or return to High Camp. They were also without access to any shelter.

				At least 43 people were killed in the single October 14 storm with 21 of the deaths being trekkers. The remainder were likely Nep-alese guides and porters, many because trekkers forced their teams to proceed over the Pass despite reports indicating particularly dangerous weather conditions. In addition to those killed while attempting to go over the Pass, 124 people were killed in Nepal and India mostly from avalanches. Three hundred souls escaped death because of helicopter rescues. Of these, 175 reported injuries such as severe frostbite.

				Guides are hyper-aware of incoming weather starting days before approaching the Pass and they continue to avail themselves of all possible news until they morning they actually begin their final approach. At higher camps where electronic information (there is no cell service) may not be readily available, they communicate with each other, especially those who traversed from the opposite direc-tion so they have reports of trail conditions within the last few hours. Guides also spend their evenings together talking about their days. This includes predictions of upcoming possibilities.

				Some of the reasons the 2014 weather was so catastrophic in terms of human lives included the lack of cell service and the nonexis-tence of shelter at the highest elevations of the trail between High Camp and Mukinath. There was also pressure from clients to cross the Pass regardless of guide and porter recommendations. Internet and electricity also ceased during additional storms that ravaged throughout the Mustang Region including the lower elevation in Mukinath.

				Several changes occurred following the disaster. The Nepalese government built several large warehouse-like shelters on either side of the Pass so trekkers could retreat to these when faced with dangerous conditions. They are huge and bright blue and easy to see on a clear day. I questioned if during whiteout conditions hikers would even be able to find them. I was unable to learn if they have sirens to help attract those in need. Some of the other changes (some of which were in effect when I completed the Circuit and others that are not) included trekker registry and checkpoints, required certified Nepali mountain guides, improved weather reporting, and GPS tracking units. Guides are also provided with affidavit-like forms trekkers can sign if they choose to proceed on the trail without their guides’ permission. The forms relinquish guides from responsibility.
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				We walked by several structures. Nepal was trying to make trekkers more responsible in terms of cleanliness so placed trash receptacles on the mountain. I was so frustrated when I’d see toilet paper behind a big rock! There were also newly built structures I learned, were shelters. During the 2014 disaster on Thorong La, there were no structures in which trekkers (who should not have been there in the first place) could escape the elements. By this point in time, there were several of these small warehouse-like metal structures placed strategically for emergency purposes.

				We walked and walked and kept looking back as the sun rose over the mountains behind us. The headlamps came off and slowly layers started moving from our bodies to our packs. The weather was gorgeous. It was cold because, well, we were over 17,000’, but the sun shining made everything look and feel warmer. Eventually, we reached the Pass. It hadn’t been possible to see it before we were directly on top of it. There was a welcoming sign with tons of prayer flags. Everyone had their pictures taken, even one guy while doing a handstand. Because the weather was nice, we were able to spend some time there as opposed to our rushed peek at Tilicho Lake. We all congratulated and high-fived everyone for making it to the top.

				It was time to head down. While up is extremely challenging, down is known to be even worse because of the distance, amount of descent, conditions of the trail (ice and mud as opposed to snow on the eastern side), and steepness. We wore microspikes for about half the descent. Bishwo warned me that one area was slippery. I took my first step and fell. Then, I thought, screw it, I slid down the rest of the hill on my bottom. I would have liked to do that all the way down the hill except for two things: there was no guarantee I’d stay on the trail and I was creating a slip-and-slide for the people trying to walk down the path behind me. That wouldn’t be cool. As soon as we took the spikes off, I slipped and fell. No surprise. 

				I wasn’t feeling well as we descended. I had a typical altitude-induced headache and my stomach was still bothering me like it had all week—never hungry, just yucky. But, a new ailment reared its ugly head—exhaustion. I wanted so badly to stop at one of the blue emergency shelters for a 45 minute nap. Bishwo wasn’t giving in on that one. So, I downed another caffeine pill for energy, two Advil for the headache, and two ginger chews to help with altitude. I knew I should be improving since we were descending in altitude 

			

		

		
			
				From the top—A long way to go!

			

		

		
			
				Emergency shelters post-2014
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				so quickly, but it just wasn’t happening. I just wanted to sleep. I told Bishwo that I knew he wouldn’t want me listening to my book (“Lessons in Chemistry”), but I needed it to help me focus on something other than my physical woes. I promised him I would turn it off during dangerous trail sections and I did. Within 45 minutes, I was back to smiling and happily chugging along. Seeing a temple that would be the turning point into Muktinath was also a motivator.

				There was a Nepali woman and her friend, a guide, that had been walking near us for days. She was also slow so we often were in the rear of the daily Circuit train. She approached me as I was walking and we chatted for about an hour as we walked into Muktinath. Aaku was 23-years-old and working on her masters in finance who worked for a Nepali insurance company. She was also Hindu so told me the story of Shiva, his wife, and their son and answered the multitude of questions I asked about her faith. It was quite apropos because Muktinath is a major pilgrimage site for Hindus. They have a huge Shiva statue and two temples (though one might be Buddhist). She talked about the sacred waters in the Hindu temple that she’d experienced with a friend years ago. We finally reached the temple and I learned it sat at the top of a humongous set of stairs. There were young men carrying palanquin-like litters up-and-down the stairs often carrying old women who, it seemed, couldn’t handle the massive incline and step-ups.

				Bishwo and Aaku’s guide checked us in to the “best hotel in Muktinath.” I unpacked and took a barely warm shower before heading to the dining room for dinner. They had heaters! No, it wasn’t warm, but it was much better than having 20 people stuffed about a dung-filled stove trying to warm their hands and feet. I talked for a long time to one of the women with whom I’d shared an itinerary thus far. She was from the Netherlands and we really enjoyed each other’s company. I had vegetable noodle soup, hot chocolate, and lemon/ginger/honey hot water for dinner and worked on my journal until bedtime.

			

		

		
			
				The first village since forever

			

		

		
			
				Is that Mukinath? Not a chance!

			

		

		
			
				Muktinath Temple from above
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				Crew Post

				Today was the big day. We climbed up and over Thorong La Pass at 17,764’. Yes, it was hard; in fact, the hardest day of my whole trip. We started at 4 AM and because it snowed in the night and we were the first ones on the trail, Bishow was cutting track. Good thing it was dark because we were in some pretty scary predicaments. I stepped exactly where he stepped and it looked from my headlamp like we were right on the edge of a ski slope with no bottom. I later found out that we were on an edge and there was no ski patrol on duty. 

				I fell a lot today, but only once going downhill and there were lots of people to get me back to the trail before sliding to oblivion (okay… that section wasn’t that bad). We completed the trek in 13 hours. I was feeling yucky on our way down and wanted to take a nap, but popped a caffeine tablet instead and turned on “Lessons in Chemistry” (when we weren’t in dangerous sections).

			

		

		
			
			

		

		
			
				Dinner—veggie soup with egg

			

		

		
			
				Temple on a hill

			

		

		
			
				Horses chauffeuring to the temple

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 92 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
			

		

	
		
			
				 • 93 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				 • 93 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Annapurna Circuit (3/15/24): Stage 10

				Muktinath to Tatopani

				Hindu Ritual and Warm Weather

				Oh, what an amazing morning! My options were to sleep in for another hour or brave the cold temperatures and visit the Hindu Temple of Muktinath. Reminding myself I was in Nepal to see, do, and experience everything, I went. The Muktinath Temple is “one of the most important holy places of Vaishnavism located in Nepal.” Aaku had assured me it was a special place and told me all about it the day before. It didn’t make a lot of sense to me until after I saw it for myself.

				Reaching the temple requires walking up a huge flight of stairs. Many people chose to take horses to the top for a US$15 surcharge while others preferred to be transported via palanquin for US$90. I didn’t know these were options, but given my propensity to not spend money, I would have walked anyway. Lots of stairs later, I reached the temple with a donation box requesting US$0.75. More stairs and I was at the top. There were two pools of water and people (almost all men) would walk in, dunk in the water, walk out and move to 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 1.6 (visiting Hindu temple only)

				Time: 1:47

				Ascent/Descent: +233’/-411’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 11,974’/11,665’/4,110’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 43°F/19°F

				Teahouse: Dhaulagiri Lodge

			

		

		
			
				I’ve been blessed

			

		

		
			
				My new friends!
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				Horses to carry pilgrims to the temple

			

		

		
			
				Inner sanctum

			

		

		
			
				Worship founts

			

		

		
			
				Weaving

			

		

		
			
				Buddha’s in the house

			

		

		
			
				The inner sanctum

			

		

		
			
				Mukinath market (approach-ing temple steps)

			

		

		
			
				Horse trail to the temple

			

		

		
			
				Home for the night

			

		

		
			
				View from the temple

			

		

		
			
				Another view from the temple

			

		

		
			
				An icy bath
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				the next pool, then dunk in the second pool. Note, it was 43° in my room a few minutes before witnessing this and they were doing it outside in unheated water. I believe it was a Hindu form of baptism... or torture. They all seemed very happy after making the plunge and were often accompanied by friends who took their pictures. I figured you must really love Shiva to be baptized in that just-short-of frozen water. 

				There was a line of almost all men waiting to get into the building containing the the inner sanctum. The building sat in the middle of the temple grounds. It had a pretty pagoda structure. I figured it was important so made my way into the line. We could not wear any leather inside so everyone had removed their shoes (several were barefoot); I also removed my hat and outer gloves (thank goodness I also had my yak hair gloves). There were signs all over saying that no cameras were allowed in the sanctuary. I asked a man if I should put mine in my shoe outside the building because I didn’t see anyone else storing their phone anywhere. He told me to just keep it out of sight. I waited quite a while in line. Several people rang bells which looked fun, but I didn’t know what they symbolized and didn’t want to be sacrilegious. Winter would have rung every bell… several times each!

				About ten minutes later, whatever was happening in the inner sanctuary finished and we were permitted to approach the door where a priest sat. I kept moving to the back of the line knowing that Hindu pilgrims had much more right to be there than me. There were police guarding the area (I wasn’t sure why) and one eventually told me it was my turn. No more procrastinating. I walked up to the inner sanctum and saw a statue of Shiva (I think). The woman next to me bowed as if saying a silent prayer so I did something similar. Then, everyone moved to a second line so I followed suit. There was a man painting red dots and white lines on everyone’s foreheads. I thought it meant I was getting a blessing and later learned that was about right. All the time he was painting people’s foreheads, he was on his phone. Whaaat? I wasn’t able to bring in my phone and I wasn’t even working at my day job like he was. I saw there was a donation basket and saw someone put in some rupees. Worried my good luck blessing wouldn’t hold if I didn’t contribute, I popped in a little cash to the phone-man for his gift. 

				I thought there was something important about walking around the building three times. I mimed to the police officer asking if I should go around once or three times and he indicated three. I’m not sure if he was playing with me because it seemed I was the only one walking around the building (though others were walking around the outside of the outside of the central building complex). After my three circles, I went into another room where there were bells and a stone fireplace. People would ring the bell and then throw a sacrifice into the fire (usually coconuts they’d broken just outside the room). I rang the bell before leaving the room. 

				Surrounding the holy pagoda was a wall of founts. Worshippers would place their hand in each of the founts and splash the water on themselves. There were about forty of these water features and worshippers made sure to splash from every one. As I continued walking around the grounds, Aaku’s guide motioned to me (he surely recognized the coyote hat) and told me he’d just gone in the 
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				water. He was ecstatic! Then, he pointed to Aaku who had also dunked, but wearing all of her clothes unlike the men I’d seen wearing only their skivvies. Her hair was wet and I figured she was freezing in place as I congratulated them. I gave her the coyote hat and told her she’d need to remove it before entering the leather-free inner sanctuary and gave her the yak hair gloves, glad I had something that would give her a warm hug. I’d need them back later, but she needed them much more than me at the time.

				As I was leaving the area, there were these three darling 18-21 year-olds. They were dressed in gorgeous native garb, loving life, and taking pictures. I asked if I could take their picture together for them then if I could take a picture of them with my camera. They loved the idea and as soon as I took it, they all crowded around my little screen to see it. I’m not sure what the novelty of my phone’s picture was as opposed to the one I took on their phone, but they just giggled. Then, a turn of the tables… they wanted a selfie including me! Sure, I was the only white person around, but, again, I had no idea why I was such a treasure. We all smiled and made funny faces and left with sincere smiles in our hearts. 

				I still had some time before needing to return so decided to visit the big Shiva in the sky. He was huge and the view from his post was incredible. I took a picture of him, then realized I had no idea what was on my forehead so took a selfie with him. Good news; my blessing didn’t leave me walking around with “Kick Me!” written on my forehead all day. 

				It was time to head down the stairs and return to the hotel to pack. I finished packing, ordered an apple pancake to go, and met Bishwo who ushered me to our private jeep. There were eight of us inside including the driver and three guides. I spent a lot of time talking with two Germans about trails we wanted to hike throughout the world. We traveled 48 miles in four hours. I could ride my bike much faster than that… but not on Nepali roads. There was a reason everyone drove either a jeep or motor bike. 
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				Overlooking the town along our route

			

		

		
			
				And we were driving below rocks like this

			

		

		
			
				Traffic jam

			

		

		
			
				The road... the whole way

			

		

		
			
				Prepping the jeep
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				There was constant honking, but it wasn’t meant as a purposeful annoyance; it was simply a means of communicating “I’m passing now” or “I’m coming around this blind corner.” We never drove straight without stopping like would happen in the USA. People had to move out of the road, cows had to cross, and there were times we would have to move because a gigantic truck was coming at us on the rocky, dirt, mountain, one-lane road. All the drivers were great—thank goodness! At one point, a huge truck was trying to pull itself up a hill. Nepalis walked along behind it shoving rocks under the back wheels as it inched forward.

				The road in this section was converted directly from the Annapurna Circuit Trail. We saw a few brave trekkers walking on the road who chose not to skip the section. I wasn’t sure if they were bad-asses or stupid-asses for waking on this dusty, dangerous road. I was glad I wasn’t hiking it.

				We stopped several times. The first time was at an overlook and the next was in a little town where we all converged on a store specializing in local crops: apples and walnuts. I bought some yak cheese for a mid-morning snack and had Bishwo choose a bottle of apple brandy for us to try later in the day. He suggested getting a Paul Bunyan-sized bottle, but changed his mind when I reminded him he’d have to carry it. I shared my cheese and others shared their walnuts and apples so we could try everything. We were off again. I napped a bit, but only a bit given the road conditions. I awoke when we stopped at a beautiful waterfall for pictures. The waterfall fed into the highest gorge in the world. It dropped 22,000’—four times the depth of the Grand Canyon—because it lay between Annapurna and a 23,000’-er. Aaku and I had fun jumping around rocks along the waterfall while her guide took pictures and video. Afterward, I hit the bathroom by a roadside store. The proprietor asked for NPR5/US$0.04 in payment. I didn’t even know there was a NPR5 note. He said it was okay, but I insisted on giving him NPR100, the stop was definitely worth US$0.75 and if he was charging so little, he surely needed the money more than me.

				Bishwo checked us all into a nice teahouse where we each had a private, western toilet. My first tasks were to drop off my laundry (I’d become lazy since the Camino and sent out my clothes for cleaning when possible) and refill my water bladder. Bishwo then 
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				Was he was sober?
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				Apple brandy tasting party

			

		

		
			
				A new home for the night

			

		

		
			
				Hot springs

			

		

		
			
				Ahhhh!
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				escorted me to the hot springs for which Tatopani was known. I felt a bit like a loose lady again because my swimsuit when trekking was always my black granny panties and sports bra. Few women went into the water and those that did were often fully clothed. I soaked for about an hour before Aaku and her guide arrived. We talked a lot and took pictures together. He told me they were actually married which made perfect sense so I made sure to take some cute pictures of the couple together.

				There were faucets coming from high in the wall for showers so I pulled out my soap and had my second shower in as many days. This one was much more pleasant, but I chose to forego shaving in public in my hooker clothes. It wasn’t freezing like when I normally finished bathing in the Himilaya and wasn’t too proud to rub lotion on my flaky skin.

				All my clothes with the exception of my rain gear, down coat, the bra and underwear I wore in the hot springs, and a sundress were at the laundry. I prayed for the second time that my clothes would be dry by 6 PM as promised and prayed again when thunder turned to a downpour. It was time to move inside for “linner.” I wasn’t sure hiker hunger was upon me, but I ate French onion soup, vegetable momo, hot chocolate, and hard apple cider while I wrote in my journal. Soup and a main course… I was pigging out!

				Everyone from the jeep arrived back at the teahouse just after I finished eating. We spent lots of time listening to Bishwo’s interesting and exciting stories while tasting the apple brandy. It tasted a lot like drinking rubbing alcohol with a few drops of apple juice in it—84 proof! I added water to mine and still couldn’t finish my less-than-a shot. Bishwo and I went over the plan for the next day and it was likely I wouldn’t be able to complete the day’s itinerary as planned. The ten miles would be fine; the 5,400’ of climbing would not.

				Crew Post

				My day off was pretty incredible! I was blessed in a Hindu Temple and got paint on my forehead to prove it. We drove 50 miles taking four hours on a dirt “highway” stopping for local apples, walnuts, and yak cheese. I may have also bought apple brandy to share that night. We are spending the night in Tatopani, home to hot springs so I enjoyed a second day of being clean while my clothes were laun-dered. We are below the tree line and it was wonderfully warm all afternoon until the sky fell down in the form of raindrops.
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				The falls with Aaqu
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				Annapurna Circuit (3/16/24): Stage 11

				Tatopani to Ghorepani

				Up, Up, and Up

				Confucius Says

				“Choose a job you love, and you will never have to work 

				a day in your life.”

				We were a little slower starting—7:15 AM—but that provided needed me-time to talk with Mike, Ryan, and Winter and have Tibetan bread with butter and honey as well as milk coffee. We first walked on the road then moved to the trail. I witnessed two monkeys running into what Bishwo called the “jungle,” but I never saw any of the monkeys close-up. We crossed the deepest gorge in the world again and then the climbing began in earnest. Most of the day was spent ascending stone stairs. The trail was in excellent shape and the stones, though not placed uniformly, were easy to negotiate. I could always find stones that were short enough for me to ascend without much effort. In a very few cases, there were cement steps and those were harder to climb because they were more uniform and taller. 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 9.2

				Time: 9:14

				Ascent/Descent: +5,926’/-627’

				Highest/Lowest/Sleeping Elevations: 9,382’/4,110’/9,530’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 62°F/50°F

				Teahouse: Super View

			

		

		
			
				Hay storage

			

		

		
			
				Terracing for farming
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				The big question the previous day was whether we would hike the first half of the trail and then catch a jeep for the second part. I felt like this would be cheating even more since I’d already cut mileage from the beginning and middle of the Circuit. I hadn’t wanted to skip anything at all before I saw the roads with my own eyes. But, the just-short-of 6,000’ climb was daunting. Bishwo and I decided we would make the trip to Sikha, the halfway point, and decide then.

				After the first 500’ of stairs, we reached a small Hindu Temple. Again, Nepalis must have really loved Shiva to walk up that hill daily to worship him. The shrine was so colorful and the view spectacular. It seemed that the northern part of the Circuit was primarily Buddhist and the western and southern sides were more Hindu. Coincidentally, I’d been reading books on Buddhism when walking in the north and I’d just started reading the Hindu vedas now that I was in Hindu country. I rang the bell at the temple, walked around it, then returned to the trail.

				We oscillated between the road and trail much of the morning. The road was always easier because it rose only at low grades. But, walking along the road meant often covering my mouth, nose, and eyes because vehicles kicked-up lots of dust. We were walking with trekkers we’d been seeing for days as well as some new ones. I guessed some of these trekkers only hiked the southern part of the range. Perhaps they only wanted to do Annapurna Basecamp and the surrounding areas to avoid the tough Tilicho Lake and Thorong La Pass sections. 

				I was glad there were trekkers and guides near us because Bishwo was able to stop and talk with them while I puttered along. He only did this when he knew I would be walking in a straight line and couldn’t get lost. There were, however, lots of spur trails so he did have to stay pretty close to me much of the day.

				We reached Sikha just before noon and I was not tired at all. I definitely didn’t want to stop for the day and didn’t even want to take a break. I ordered chapati with cheese to go, but Bishwo stood his ground. He needed to eat so I had to wait a bit. I took advantage of the wifi and started going through my pictures deleting duplicates and ones I couldn’t determine why I took them in the first place. I realized that I had so many pictures of the mountains; I just couldn’t stop taking pictures of the grandeur of the Himalaya.

			

		

		
			
				Chickens and their coop

			

		

		
			
				Dinner?

			

		

		
			
				Happy goats

			

		

		
			
				Pack mules shouldering a burden
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				Chickens and their coop
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				The second part of the day was almost exclusively stone stairs and we walked through lots of small towns. It was neat seeing elementary and secondary schools and Nepalis engaged in their every day activities. I saw students returning from school with their school books and bags (no backpacks) and families working together in yards. Women were caring for young children and Bishwo even had me stop to watch an old woman making alcohol in a makeshift still. Another woman was using one of the ubiquitous crescent knives to cut bamboo and another was carrying a load of what looked like bamboo on her back. There was so much on her back that you couldn’t even tell a person was in front of it. I noticed a lot in the villages that I hadn’t paid attention to before this point. For example, many of the water spouts had fabric covering them. I asked Bishwo the purpose and he told me (obviously if I’d thought about it) that was a way to filter solids. I watched chickens clucking, roosters pecking, goats goating, horses hauling, and cows dinging loud bells. 

				I was amazed by the amount of building underway and was still surprised (though I shouldn’t have been) that they were using the same building techniques Mike and I used when building homes in Mexico. They had huge bags of cement that little old ladies would carry on their backs from one area to another. We saw women getting sand for the process and men pouring cement slabs—just like we do when the Mexican families are needing an extension to their current structure. Another form of building was trail improvement. Young men and boys carried large slabs of rock on their backs to the area where the trail needed improvement. They dropped them there and, I guessed, someone else came and placed them where they belonged.

				The trail was not dangerous so I spent most of the day listening to books. First, I finished “Lessons in Chemistry,” then I started the “Upanishads.” The latter are the vedas of the Hindu religion and they didn’t make a lot of sense to me and seemed to say everything in a circular pattern, discounting 

			

		

		
			
				The hooch counter

			

		

		
			
				Grocery store

			

		

		
			
				Women hauling

			

		

		
			
				An old woman cutting bamboo

			

		

		
			
				Stairs to eternity

			

		

		
			
				Oh. Great. More stairs

			

		

		
			
				Slabs not yet in place on the trail

			

		

		
			
				Men carrying rock slabs to build steps
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				one thing then saying how important it was. I couldn’t listen to it long (I found it boring and confusing)so switched to a new book, “The Women” by one of my new favorite authors, Kristin Hannah. It was historical fiction about nurses in the Vietnam Conflict. Basically, “M*A*S*H*.”

				We made our final way into Ghorepani and Bishwo took us to our hotel. It had an amazing view! My room overlooked absolutely unbelievable scenery from two huge windows, but it was hazy so I couldn’t see the 8000m peak guarding above the rest of the range. I’d been surprised for much of the trek because of this haziness. Yes, there were clouds, but even when the sun was out, it looked as if there was smog. I couldn’t figure out how this could be because there was seemingly no industrial pollution and there certainly were not enough cars to create smog amongst these gargantuan mountains and valleys. I decided the problem must be burning… perhaps crop land in preparation for new planting or burning trash. I was really disappointed about the lack of clarity.

				Super View was more of a hotel than a teahouse, but still didn’t have heaters in the rooms. Ughh! I showered in not-cold-but-definitely-not-warm water because Bishwo said this would be the last nice place where we’d be staying so I couldn’t count on getting 
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				a shower for the next and final six days in the Annapurna Range. I also Scrubba’d a few clothes knowing that as we ascended in altitude, it would again be too cold to dry clothes. Even though they’d been washed the day before, the weather had been so nice and the climb so significant that I was down to shorts and a T-shirt and was still sweaty.

				I met Bishwo in the dining room where I had lemon/ginger/honey hot water, garlic soup that tasted okay, and delicious vegetable tempura. I shared with Bishwo, but he didn’t eat much, probably because I wouldn’t let him smother the vegetables in the Nepali national condiment—ketchup. We reviewed our plans for the next day and checked the weather for the upcoming trek to Annapurna Basecamp. Like with Thorong La, weather could be a problem in the upcoming days. Bishwo eventually left the dining room and I spent the remainder of the evening journaling. I retreated for an early bedtime (8 PM) because the plan was to crest Poon Hill before sunrise in the morning.

				Crew Post

				I climbed the equivalent of Las Vegas to Brian Head, but in 9.2 miles. We left the warm jungle as monkeys pranced in the background and we ended back in the mountains. Our method of climbing was mostly stone stairs. We walked through lots of small villages so I was able to see Nepalis in their everyday lives—building homes using the same cement techniques we use in Mexico, making alcohol, cutting bamboo, carrying everything, washing children. Bish-wo was a bit worried about me being able to handle the climb and distance, but I’m getting so strong that it really wasn’t difficult at all, especially since we maxed out at 9,530’. My quads are getting ready for Ride the Rockies… now I need time in the saddle so the long, tough rides won’t end in saddle sores.
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				Annapurna Basecamp
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				Annapurna Basecamp (3/17/24): Stage 1

				Ghorepani to Chuile via Poon Hill

				Poon Hill and the Jungle

				Confucius Says

				“When we see men of a contrary character, we should turn inwards and examine ourselves.”

				Poon Hill

				We were up early with my alarm set for 4:20 AM and made our 5:00 AM departure time. Donning headlamps and nearly empty packs since we’d be returning to the hotel, we started climbing. I’d read conflicting reports; some said the trip to Poon Hill was comprised of 1,500 steps while others claimed 4,000. The stars were magnificent, but we were mostly in foliage so couldn’t see them often. And, given my propensity to fall up stairs, listening to a book 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 9.2

				Time: 10:54

				Ascent/Descent: +2,860’/-4,851’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 10,488’/9,530’/7,439’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 50°F/36°F

				Teahouse: Hotel Rainbow

			

		

		
			
				Poon Hill with people for devil horns

			

		

		
			
				Room with a view
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				was out of the question. That gave me plenty of time to count. Stair one, stair two, stair three, stair four,… I counted in groups of 100 and when I hit 1,600, I was worried the 4,000 was more accurate. We reached the top when I reached 2,303 steps. 

				There’d been a large contingent of Japanese people in our hotel the night before who were also climbing. I hadn’t seen many other people when we entered town, but they came out en masse at 5 AM. There were headlamps above and behind us, all of us trying to reach the top before sunrise. I was pretty stressed we wouldn’t make it, but Bishwo assured me we would. I’d learned not to question his judgement... so soldiered on.

				The top of the hill had a little coffee shack, a tower for observing sunrise from above, and several raised areas so everyone could find a good perch to witness the morning show. We arrived just after twilight, but it was still thirty minutes before sunrise. I milled around trying to find the best place to stand, but all the places were pretty good. Just before sunrise, light started shining on the tip of Dhaulagiri Mountain, just opposite where the sun would rise. I wasn’t sure if I should be watching the sun shine brighter on the mountain or where the sun would rise itself. Turns out, the answer was both. As the sun crested in the east with a sphere so bright it hurt the eyes. Watching the opposing mountain, though, was perfect. Bishwo told me that in autumn, the mountain shone with an orange glow. I sure wish I’d been able to see that. We were ab;e to see Annapurna South, Annapurna I, and Dhaulagiri Peak.
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				Early morning train to the top
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				Sunrise over the Himilaya from atop Poon Hill

			

		

		
			
				The pony doesn’t look so happy
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				After the spectacle, Bishwo and I (and later everyone else) started down the stairs. I was really worried about that part because my ankle and knees sometimes bothered me given my ancient age. Fortunately, the steps were seldom high so this wasn’t a problem. I tried to get a few time-lapsed videos of Bishwo walking down the stairs, but we needed a much longer straight section without so many people ruining my shots.

				We made our way back down the stairs and to our hotel swiftly and in good spirits. I refilled my water (the full 2.5L bladder and 0.5L bottle and packed everything in my backpack except my sleeping bag that Bishwo would carry. OMG! A morning with barely anything in my pack made me realize how heavy my gear really was! For the high altitudes and hard days, I’d been cheating and shoving more weight into the compression sack that held the sleeping bag Bishwo carried. On this day. I figured Bishwo deserved a break and since it was a fairly easy day, I’d haul my own burden. Man! I honestly considered dumping some water, but figured it was good triathlon training and Bishwo deserved a day off.

				I ate a gigantic portion of muesli for breakfast before we hit the trail for the second adventure of the day.
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				The Jungle

				After having walked down all the stairs from Poon Hill, we started climbing stairs and continued until we were at the same elevation of Poon Hill. Arghh! Then, of course, we shuffled down stairs, up stairs, down stairs, … you get the idea. The good news was that because I’d grown stronger after hiking for eleven days that it really wasn’t that tough. 

				The “jungle” (what I would probably call a low forest) was rather beautiful. We walked along a stream much of the afternoon that plunged into several small waterfalls. The water was so clear in the pools and the rocks at the bottom shone through with such clarity. The other main attraction was flowers. We passed some I’d seen the previous day that smelled really good. The rhododendrons were incredible, gorgeous both close up and in the distance. When seeing them from a distance, it made it look like it was fall with red dotting the green canopy.

			

		

		
			
				Waterfall

			

		

		
			
				More waterfalls

			

		

		
			
				Spring is in the air... at lower altitudes

			

		

		
			
				Flowering trees shelter the trail

			

		

		
			
				Flowers

			

		

		
			
				I just liked the colors... so there!
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				We actually stopped for lunch—not a quick pick-something-up, but a sit-down-and-slowly-devour kind of lunch. Between muesli, coconut cookie digestives, fried noodles, and juice, my hiker hunger seemed to have finally hit. I worked on my journal while eating in the sun. Bishwo had many friends along the path since he’d passed these towns every time he led groups; he was able to enjoy time with friends while I ate, in this case it was the proprietors.

				The trail became more of a trekker highway as we left Ghorepani. Bishwo said most of these hikers were going to Annapurna Basecamp and had started by climbing Poon Hill (tough way to start!). Our itinerary had us stopping in Tadapani, but when Bishwo called to reserve a place, he learned that the teahouses there were pretty full. He suggested we travel to the next city instead so there wouldn’t be as many people. It was only 45 extra minutes on the trail and would just make the next day easier so I was all for it.

				We continued hiking down stairs throughout the afternoon as I listened to “The Women.” I’d listened to “The Upanishads” earlier in the day, but still didn’t like the text so could only handle the vedas in short spurts. On two occasions, mules passed us hauling goods to villages scattered around the area. They were so loud with all their bells, but it was good because it gave me plenty of time to know they were coming so I could move to a safe place off the trail. In one case, a group of mules passed us and a few minutes later a straggler came along. He was clearly in great pain. It was so sad to see him carrying a load. I asked Bishwo about it and he said that because the mules work in teams that if any are left behind, the abandoned one cries and wants to come regardless of any infirmity. I asked why they were having him carry anything and Bishwo assured me they would only give the straggler a light load. 

				At another point, we heard loud noises above us on a ridge. Bishwo said they were buffalo and had me walk quickly in case they started a rockfall by getting too close to the edge. Our final fauna encounter was with monkeys. Unfortunately, I still couldn’t see them well, but they made so much noise jumping among the trees.

			

		

		
			
				Lunch and time to journal

			

		

		
			
				Mule train matches the people train

			

		

		
			
				We’re no longer on the Circuit!
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				Bishwo hadn’t stayed in the town where we’d decided to stay so chose a teahouse based on their sign alone. It read that there were attached bathrooms. Knowing it stinks (pun intended) for me to have to brave the elements in the night when needing to use the bathroom, he’d been great about accommodated me. I was assured, though, that attached bathrooms would be few and far between as we started reaching higher altitudes again. I wanted to take advantage while I still could.

				Approaching the teahouse was difficult. Many villages install cement stairs for easier access. This doesn’t work for me because the steps tended to be too tall and too uniform for me. It was really hard for me to walk down them—my aging knees revolted. Stone stairs weren’t as much of a problem because they tended to be a lot more shallow so I didn’t have to hop down with each step.

				Despite the miserable stair/old lady problem, I was glad we stopped there. The room and bathroom were clean and the food was filling. I needed a very early bedtime after the 4 AM wake-up call earlier in the day.

				Crew Post

				One of the must-do activities in the Annapurna region is to climb Poon Hill to watch sunrise. Bishwo and I started at 5 AM and arrived in plenty of time to witness it. I counted 2,303 steps. The best part was watching the sun reflecting on Dhaulagiri, the highest mountain in the range adjacent to the Annapurna range. We could also see Annapurna South and Annapurna I in the background.

				After packing, we set out for our regular daily hike. We’re off the Annapurna Circuit Trail now taking a spur trail to Annapurna Base-camp. Being lower, the flora and fauna was quite different. They call it a jungle, but it feels more like a low forest. There were small waterfalls and we spent much of the day hiking along a stream. 

				All stairs all day. The only change was whether we were climbing them up or down. Why didn’t anyone tell me the Himalayas had so many hills?
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				Ghorepani

			

		

		
			
				Drying

			

		

		
			
				The stray dogs didn’t seem so stray

			

		

		
			
				My duct suit looked like a costume?

			

		

		
			
				Child labor
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				Annapurna Basecamp (3/18/24): Stage 2

				Chuile to Sinewa 

				Villages

				Confucius Says

				“By nature, men are nearly alike; by practice, they get to be wide apart.”

				I slept, oh, I slept! Eleven blissful hours that I desperately needed. And, I was able to talk with Mike, Ryan, and Winter and I even pooped. Great coffee and a veggie omelet. What a morning! The only problem was a bit of a rash on my booty. Between the ubiquitous butt sprayer (ubiquitous only when there was running water and a western toilet so not very ubiquitous after all) and Desitin, I’d be fine.

				Surprise! It was another day of stairs. We would walk down to the river, cross a steel bridge, and then walk back to our initial elevation. Then, we’d do it again… and again. I was still doing well on the uphills and still walking absurdly slow on the downhills. When the stairs 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 6.2 mi

				Time: 8:13

				Ascent/Descent: +3,030’/-2,780’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 7,722’/7,439’/7,680’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 51°F/46°F

				Teahouse: Hilltop Lodge

			

		

		
			
				Leaving my home for the night

			

		

		
			
				Focusing on the environment
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				going down were steep, I’d have to put extra pressure on the leg hitting the ground. I tended to walk at an angle, snaking back-and-forth, saving my knees as much as possible. Going up was easy when the stones were not very tall. When they were tall, it was difficult but my quads were strong so it wasn’t a sufferfest. Also, we weren’t at altitude—there was so much more oxygen in my veins to support the climbs.

				I finally inquired of the Google why it was always hazy in the mountains. It just didn’t make sense. They burned a lot, but the population was small; it shouldn’t have made that much of a difference. I hated that all my pictures were tinged with haze when I expected the air to be crystal clear, absolutely clean. Here’s what I read: “The Himalayan mountains act as a barrier separating the clean air of the Tibetan Plateau from the polluted Indo-Gangetic plains. But, Nepal’s rivers cut through the mountains and their valleys allow smog from the plains to penetrate deep into the mountains.” That was just so sad. The mountains and valleys were grandly spectacular; I wished I could witness them in their natural state and capture them with my camera.

				We passed an elementary school in the morning with several children playing in the fenced yard. There was a donation box next to the school requesting financial help for their very needy school. I only had a NPR1000 note (US$7.50) so asked a man sitting near the school for change. He gave me one NPR500 note and five NPR100’s. By this time, the four kids from the playground had surrounded me. I gave them each NPR100/US$0.75 and they each placed theirs in the donation box. Then, I took their picture and, of course, they loved seeing themselves on my phone. It was such a small donation, but I hoped it would help in some way. I later saw other children walking toward the school. They had to traverse these hills every school day. What troopers!

				The next memorable experience was seeing a garden in front of a teahouse. I’d seen terraced crops all over the hills, some greenhouses, and many vegetable gardens in yards, but this one seemed special. Bishwo and I stopped and he quizzed me on the vegetables in the ground. I recognized lettuce, parsley, and cilantro, but was wrong about the many other plants—mint, cabbage, cauliflower, radishes. Americans like me tended to be so ignorant about the origins of foods. It was embarrassing. Also in the yard were several people. One woman was attending to sores on the feet of an older woman. It was such a tender, loving gesture. Family was important in Nepal and throughout Asia. I asked Bishwo how old he thought the woman was and he guessed about 100. I wished Americans cared for their elders the way people in Asia did.

			

		

		
			
				Home garden

			

		

		
			
				The school children

			

		

		
			
				Just the beginning of the stair climber

			

		

		
			
				Leaving my home for the night
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				There were finally people hiking slower than me, two 20-something men. One told me his companion had been sick for two days with stomach pain and vomiting. They suspected food poisoning, but I suspected food poisoning should have moved through his system in two days. They were walking to the closest town, three-to-five miles away, so he could visit the clinic. I hated seeing someone have to struggle so much just to reach medical assistance. I couldn’t imagine someone who was a lot older having to make that trek. Bishwo informed me that the government provides itinerant medical visits to mountain villages about twice a month. You had to just hope your illness corresponded with that visit.

				I also saw many other daily activities of villagers. There was a man with two buffaloes on a yoke tilling a single line in a small terraced area. Then, there was a man cutting branches to carry home so his cows could eat the leaves. A major physical geographical surprise was a huge rock slide. I’d seen many of these on the northern section of the Circuit, but very few on the south side and none big enough to completely scar the side of a mountain. Not only did it scar the mountain, it completely covered the trail. Bishwo said he used to guide trekkers through that section until about three years ago when it became completely impassable. This meant trekkers had to switch to the trail used by villagers. The benefit was that I was able to see more village life including more domesticated buffaloes grazing. We passed a few homemade fences restricting animals from crossing from one side of the trail to the other. Bishwo told me that they open gates twice a day for buffalo to go out in the morning and come home at night. The buffalo grazed in areas outside the community during the day and slept close to home. This was the same technique I witnessed days before with cows. Once when we passed a town, I noticed a woman watering the area around her home. Bishwo said this was to keep dust down throughout the day, the dust trekkers created every time we passed her home. I’d seen this in Muktinath in front of businesses and street vendors. I disliked that we (hikers) were such an impingement on their lifestyles.

				With the arrival of my hiker hunger came the need for three meals and a snack for the day. We stopped for juice and a bathroom break in one village and then for sweet and sour vegetables with rice and a second juice for lunch. I hated not being able to finish my lunch and knew I couldn’t take it with me, but was reminded that nothing in the mountains went to waste; animals would eat well on my leftovers. Afternoon cookies preceded dinner of two lemon/ginger/honey waters, vegetable noodle soup, and macaroni with tomatoes and cheese. My appetite was hitting with a vengeance.

			

		

		
			
				Greenhouses were 

				relatively common

			

		

		
			
				It’s potty time!

			

		

		
			
				Terracing galore!

			

		

		
			
				Walking through town
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				As we continued toward our day’s goal—Sinewa—we passed lots of hikers returning from Annapurna Base Camp (ABC). They looked absolutely miserable! I asked Bishwo if I’d look that bad on the return and he just smiled. I hoped I’d handle it better given I was already acclimatized and would be strong after two weeks of hiking. Most of them just hiked to basecamp, they’d not started more than a few days before.

				When we were about 1/2 mile from Sinewa, it started to rain. Finally, my umbrella was coming in handy. Since it’d been a beautiful day to this point, I was only in my short-sleeved shirt and hiking shorts. As the rainfall increased, it cooled quickly. I didn’t want to stop for my typical time-intensive clothing switch so thank goodness I was climbing so my increased body heat kept me from freezing. Just as I reached the village, the skies opened and a deluge began followed by seemingly gale-force winds. I hunkered into my bare-bones room (no attached toilets this far from civilization), unpacked, changed into my night clothes layered with my fleece top and bottoms and melted-zipper coat, and “showered” with baby wipes. It sounded like the roof was being pulled from the building and that everything was flying away. By the time I filtered my water, the fierce wind had relaxed in ferver and the gorgeous surrounding peaks came into view. We were unable to see Annapurna III and Annapurna South because of the weather, but Himchuli and Machhapuchhre stood like sentinels on the horizon. The view from the teahouse was awe-inspiring!

				Over dinner, Bishwo and I had a worrisome talk. If these conditions continued, there was a possibility it would be unsafe to continue to basecamp. This really disappointed me, but, again, it was the nature of the Himalayas. I trusted Bishwo’s advice. He would look at the sky in the morning and make a decision about whether we could continue toward basecamp or would need to turn around to head back to Pokhara. I crossed my fingers for an incredibly beautiful, calm morning.

			

		

		
			
				Dinnertime!

			

		

		
			
				Lunch and journaling
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				Crew Post

				More up and down. We hike to the top of a hill, then hike down it (usually stairs both ways), then cross a steel bridge, and then repeat. All. Day. Long. I’m actually enjoying the ascents since I’m so much stronger (even with the heavier pack since I’ve taken back most of my gear from Bishwo), but still struggle with the downhills. 

				I finally inquired of the Google why it is always so hazy in these mountains. It just didn’t make sense. They burn a lot, but the popu-lation is so small, it shouldn’t make that much of a difference. I hate that all my pictures are tinged with haze. So, here’s what I read: “The Himalayan mountains act as a barrier separating the clean air of the Tibetan Plateau from the polluted Indo-Gangetic plains. But, Nepal’s rivers cut through the mountains, and their valleys allow smog from the plains to penetrate deep into the mountains.” That’s just so sad. It’s like when those darned Canadians send all their forest fire smoke down to interrupt Minnesota summers.

				We walked through lots of small villages today so witnessed a lot of culture. I loved it! We also experienced our first storm on this side of the range. Fingers crossed the weather improves or we won’t be able to get to basecamp in two days.

			

		

		
			
				Haystack

			

		

		
			
				Helping a native woman remove corn kernels
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				Annapurna Basecamp (3/19/24): Stage 3

				Sinewa to Deurali

				Waterfalls

				Confucius Says

				“Wisdom, compassion, and courage are the three universally recognized moral qualities of men.”

				I was so worried the previous night because the weather was so bad with wind and rain. We’d devised a plan that if the poor weather held, I would not be able to ascend to ABC the day after this. It was such a relief when we awoke to a clear, beautiful, albeit cold, morning. We were able to proceed! This day was about ascending so we’d be in position to reach ABC the following day. It involved the typical up-and-down stairs, but mostly up, of course.

				We left after a breakfast of milk coffee and Tibetan fried bread with honey. Half of the bread went into my pocket for a snack along the way. I listened to several books, finishing two and frustrated because some of my library books were not fully downloading. Bishwo gave 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 8.5 mi

				Time: 8:23

				Ascent/Descent: +3,881’/-1,092’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 10,337’/7,434’/10,196’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 54°F/44°F

				Teahouse: New Panorama

			

		

		
			
				Do you know the way to San Jose... I mean ABC?

			

		

		
			
				Yes, more stairs
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				me lots of space while still keeping his eagle eye on me. He would walk a bit, stop where he could still see me, wait until he could walk farther and still see me, and he continued using this strategy all day. It made me happy when we neared towns. I would wave him ahead so he’d have time to get a drink and talk with friends before I arrived.

				The trail had become a parade of people. There were so many more people going to ABC than did the Circuit. There were a lot of us walking toward basecamp with an equal number returning from it. Those on the return looked really bad, haggard beyond belief. At one point, I watched a helicopter head up the valley and return a few minutes later. Bishwo told me that whenever I saw a helicopter it meant a rescue was in process. They rescued people with broken legs and other injuries, but most rescues were due to altitude sickness. I asked if porters ever hand-carried people down the mountain since there were so many swift, strong porters in the area, but he said they avoided it. He indicated that they might escort people down the mountain partway at times because insurance coverage wouldn’t be in effect above a certain altitude. I sure hope they do that for me if I’m above my insurance limit! During the trip, I would be above it at least twice. Bishwo also said several of his charges had to be rescued over the years… all for altitude. It made me feel better that injuries weren’t routinely happening under his care. I had really scored when Jeevan assigned Bishwo to me. He stopped at every slippery log or icy patch to ensure I was paying attention and being careful. He coached me every time I needed to rush when we were in unsafe areas.

				We’d been in the Annapurna Conservation Area ever since starting the Circuit, but were now in a sub-section of the Conservation Area called the Annapurna Sanctuary. The sanctuary was considered sacred and home to many Hindu deities. There were lots of signs reminding visitors we were in a sacred area and requesting specific behaviors. For example, only goat and sheep meats were permitted in the area (buffalo, beef, chicken, and pork were forbidden) and by entering the area, you gave permission for them to search your person for these meats. They also requested no littering and no spitting, and, I think, another sign said not to defecate (it wasn’t clear because the spelling was so off).

			

		

		
			
				Prepping the garlic

			

		

		
			
				Obstacles
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				Annapurna Conservation Area and 

				Annapurna Sanctuary

				The full Annapurna Circuit, all four Annapurna peaks, Poon Hill, and Annapurna Basecamp are enclosed in the official Annapurna Conser-vation Area. The Area ranges from 2,590’ at its lowest point to 26,545’ at the summit of Annapurna I. In the southern section of the Annapurna Conservation Area and 25 miles north of Pokhara is a region called the Annapurna Sanctuary. Its entrance is a narrow valley between Hiunchu-li and Machapuchare Peaks. There are no other known entrances. The entire Sanctuary sits above 13,000’ from which glacial runoff drains into the Modi Khola River below. 

				The cornerstone of the Sanctuary is an oval shaped plateau nestled within a halo of mountains and visible when looking down from these mountains, including looking down from Annapurna Basecamp. Be-cause the mountains tower over the oval area from all directions, it only receives seven summer sunlight hours daily. The northern section lies in the rain shadow; the southern slopes have dense tropical jungles.

				This sacred area was not penetrated by any but the Gurung people before 1956 and is still said to be home to several deities including Hindu’s Shiva, some animistic religions, and Buddhism. Before 1956, women, untouchables, eggs, and meat were forbidden though the restrictions have lifted somewhat since that time. Foreigners are still not permitted bring eggs and certain meats into the Sanctuary; additionally, collecting fire-wood and domestic animal grazing are forbidden.

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

	
		
			
				 • 122 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				We passed a lot of small waterfalls flowing into crystal clear pools during our ascent. Eventually, we reached the pièce de résistance, an area with waterfalls cascading down an entire mountain wall into a river staging small waterfalls and beautiful turquoise waters. Across the gorge from the trail was a series of Hindu temples, presumably each older than the other and each increasing in size. I walked around the newest, largest, and most colorful temple and learned I was to ring the bell before skirting the building and again when finished. Disappointingly, all three temples were filled with not-so-pretty debris. The main temple seemed mostly used for storage.

				After visiting the waterfalls and temples, we stopped for lunch in a typical mountain village consisting of nothing except teahouses (or so it seemed). There were so many trekkers sitting around both indoors and outdoors. A slight rain began so I pulled out my umbrella, but never needed it. We ate our vegetable noodle soup and tomato-cheese macaroni fairly quickly and were back on the trail within about a half-hour.

				As we continued toward our day’s destination, Deurali, the waterfalls became more and more unique and grand. We crossed bridges and rock-hopped and took lots of pictures. Eventually, we reached a snowy area just below a tall waterfall. Bishwo warned me this was one of those extremely dangerous places. A man in front of us stopped right in the middle of the field to take pictures. Bishwo and I yelled at him to move quickly, but I don’t think he understood the danger. It was only about 200m long, but nine people died in this section a few years prior. It sat at the base of a V-shape between two tall mountains. Apparently, avalanches start far behind the openings of these V-shapes and come down so fast there’s no way to know they’re coming until too late. The snow and ice were quite dirty indicating there hadn’t been a fall in quite awhile, but the warm temperatures suggested it would happen again very soon. Avalanches occur annually in that section; there are even bridges under the snow that don’t appear until fall. 

			

		

		
			
				Overburdened porter

			

		

		
			
				New Panarama Hotel to rest my 

				weary body

			

		

		
			
				Prepping garlic
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				We reached Deurali early, around 4 PM. I’d hoped to go farther, but the next town was another three hours away. For the first time, I had a roommate. I unpacked, cleansed my “areas” and was applying Desitin to those areas when my roommate walked in. Embarrassing. I blamed it on old age and the young, well-traveled, Malaysia woman was very kind. I enjoyed hearing about her experiences and she gave me advice for when I visited Chitwan and Agra.

				Bishwo and I met in the dining room to review our itinerary. I’d become really excited about visiting Chitwan and the Taj Mahal so worked with Bishwo and Jeevan to see if I could fit Chitwan into my itinerary before returning from the Annapurna Region. I already had four days to burn before returning to the States so a side trip to Agra wouldn’t be a problem. Bishwo and I were able to finagle the daily hikes to add another day before my planned return to Kathmandu. This meant I was committed to longer hiking days for the remainder of the ABC trek. It also meant I wouldn’t be spending a night at ABC. This wasn’t a problem because I knew it would be freezing up there. It was 28°F in the evening (56°F in the dining room) and we were still 3,000’ below basecamp. Plus, we’d be able to leave all our gear in Deurali so not have to haul it all the way to basecamp’s altitude and back.

				I was freezing in the dining room so ordered two ginger/lemon/honeys, garlic noodle soup, and potato soup just so I’d have something to warm my hands. I wrote in my journal, worked on planning for Agra, and went to bed early for an early morning departure.

				Crew Post

				We moved above the tree line again today in preparation for tomorrow’s attempt at ABC.We were really lucky with weather; we didn’t know if we would be able to go forward last night. Fortunately, the morning was clear.

				There are a lot more trekkers now that we’re heading to ABC as opposed to being on the Circuit. They looked so haggard when we passed them as they were returning. Bishwo assures me I won’t look like that.

				We saw lots of waterfalls today, some that were really unique. We also crossed an avalanche field that killed nine people several years ago. We had to walk super duper fast just in case it started while we were under it.

				I’m changing the itinerary a bit so I’ll have time to visit Chitwan, a world heritage site. I’m also hoping to hit the Taj Mahal on my way home.
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				Crossing an avalanche
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				Annapurna Basecamp (3/20/24): Stage 4

				Deurali via Annapurna Basecamp

				So Much Fun!

				Confucius Says

				“Fine words and an insinuating appearance are seldom 

				associated with true virtue.”

				We left a little later than I’d hoped because I was working on my Indian e-Visa and reserving an AirB&B for Agra. I drank coffee for energy and ordered chapati with cheese so I’d have food when hungry later. And, I sent an email to the Help Desk at the Las Vegas library to figure out why my darned audiobooks weren’t downloading. I needed those books for the times when I was hurting and needed to take my mind off my body. Was I procrastinating?

				A soon as we started walking, a dog joined us. The dogs didn’t seem like street dogs; rather, they seemed to be cared for by the entire community, including the hiking community. They were happy, playful, and follow trekkers for long distances. I hoped ours would stay with us until ABC, but, alas, he did not. My lack of appeasing to his palate was likely the culprit. Nonetheless, he was with us for a LONG time.

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 9 mi

				Time: 11:04

				Ascent/Descent: +3,375’/-3,395’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 13,294’/10,337’/10,337’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 39°F, 25°F

				Teahouse: New Panorama

			

		

		
			
				Porters sleeping in the dining room

			

		

		
			
				In case you weren’t sure
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				I counted eight helicopters come up the valley and thought every one meant a rescue. I knew the mountain was dangerous, but wow! I asked Bishwo about it and he said that many of the helicopters were charters. People could fly up and back for an exorbitant charge. The charge for rescues was much lower than that for non-emergency passengers. Some of these non-emergencies were for climbers and skiers carrying gear. Bishwo also said there was no way to tell the difference between charters and rescues because all the helicopters served both needs. We learned later that there had been seven skiers on the mountain that were chartering flights down that day.

				Flights only happened during morning hours because winds, fog, and other mountain-created issues made it unsafe to fly later in the day. So, when emergencies occur on the mountain, victims hope it happens in the morning. If it doesn’t, they have to wait until the next morning for extraction. Most rescues are for trekkers with pulmonary enema, not for climbers. Climbers tend to fall due to avalanches and die almost instantly.

				There were two paths to ABC: the old one and the 40-minute longer new one. The longer one required we cross a stunning river twice, a river that reminded me of the idyllic Yosemite. We did the latter because the former was known for having once killed one trekker and once killing two, both times with avalanches. When we returned from the detour, we saw two hikers coming off the ice field covering the original trail. Bishwo talked with them awhile. They were very grateful, learned the serious consequences of not having a guide, and took his card for when they return with their group of ten friends. 

				There was one avalanche field we had to cross that killed nine unsuspecting Koreans at once. There was a plaque on a rock in their memory. I’d seen these plaques previously, but didn’t 
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				Yes. This is the trail...

			

		

		
			
				The long way around (bodies up above)
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				know what they meant. Bishwo crossed the field first followed by another man; I was third. The man stopped in the middle to take a picture of the results of the force from the avalanche. Bishwo and I yelled at him to keep moving, but he took his time. I rushed through the section quickly just as Bishwo had directed me, but didn’t really understand why we had to move so quickly. I thought avalanches resulted when something broke or there was a loud boom. Something obvious started the event that led to snow rushing downhill. I thought of snow moving downhill like lava. When it was later explained to me, I learned it was much more similar to flash floods experienced in desert narrows. The break often occurs far away on a much higher mountain and gains speed, snow, and debris as it moves. It eventually comes to a V-shaped pass between two other peaks where the snow and debris pour down so quickly that it’s over before anyone even heard or knew it was coming.

				Another time, Bishwo was cutting new trail in the snow. I assumed we were on the trail; we weren’t. In later discussions with others on the mountain, we learned that an avalanche happened at 5 AM this very day, just two hours before we would have been there. The people at Machapuchare Basecamp (MBC) heard it happen. The snow/ice/debris field it created was gigantic and completely covered the trail. I’d traveled in a lot of dangerous places, usually the kinds of danger that involve breaking a bone or suffering jellyfish stings or getting Giardia, not places like the Himalayan ranges. Danger in these mountains was often met with immediate death due to uncontrollable factors.

				We took a brief bathroom break at MBC. It seemed strange to call the stop at the base of this steep, uniquely-shaped mountain a basecamp when there was no climbing permitted there. The peak looks like a fish tail so is called “Fish Tail” by many. Apparently, several people tried climbing it and none came back so Nepal no longer permitted climbers on make summit attempts. Some say those lost were because the climb was too technical; others say it was because Machapuchare is a sacred mountain where a Hindu god is meant to dwell. Regardless, it’s off-limits now.

				MBC had a rescue clinic (unstaffed at the time) and helipad. Shortly after passing this, we saw a man sitting with friends by his side. They’d walked up to ABC the day before, stayed overnight, and acute mountain sickness (AMS) symptoms started as they began their descent in the morning. He was in bad shape. Bishwo diagnosed pulmonary edema and recorded his pulse ox at 48. Bishwo told his three friends to escort him down to MBC as quickly as possible. There, they needed to check to see if the clinic doors were open and they could find an oxygen tank inside. We later learned they were not able 
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				to access a tank so they had to continue descending without any care. They ended up reaching Deurali where we were stopped for the night; it had taken us four hours in good health to walk that distance.

				Unfortunately, the views weren’t great when we reached the top; we couldn’t see any of the tallest mountains. We did, however, see ski tracks from the seven skiers we knew had chartered a helicopter. I only counted five sets of tracks in one section and figured the other two skiers were under the four avalanches to the left and right of the others’ tracks. It was afternoon and Jeevan had planned for me to stay in ABC overnight so I could see the mountains in their full glory at sunrise. I was eager to get back to civilization and the weather forecast indicated a cloudy morning sky that would continue to block the view. So, Bishwo and I decided to forego that stop and return for the night in Deurali. An added bonus was that we didn’t have to carry much gear up the 3,000’ climb. We’d seen all of the “must see” landmarks already so I was okay with reaching the sign and turning around. The only disappointment I had was that we wouldn’t be going up the final hill to reach the teahouses at the top. My main interest in continuing to the top was I wanted to see the climbers’ tents. Bishwo informed me the tents weren’t near basecamp; they were much farther around a corner because many climbers started their ascents from the other side. I wouldn’t be able to see them anyway. That sealed it; I was happy I’d decided to go straight back down. Plus, I’d be able to see the tents at Everest Basecamp.

				We took lots of pictures at the ABC sign and dogs joined us for the photo shoot enticing me to laugh gleefully. The best part was that I carried a prayer flag in memory of my good friend DJ Nunes who I thought would have loved this trip. She had unexpectedly died 

			

		

		
			
				Annapurna Basecamp/ Remembering DJ with a flag

			

		

		
			
				Looking back at Machhapuchhre Basecamp

			

		

		
			
				Where Bishwo sent the man with pulmonary edema
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				of an arterial obstruction the previous year. Bishwo helped me hang it on the sign and we had another hiker take our pictures with our hands in the shape of hearts, a sign she loved. We then found some virgin show (several trekkers write in the snow so it was hard to find a blank spot) and I drew the Om symbol I’d learned in Manang and DJ’s name. Rest in peace, my friend.

				Before leaving the top, there was one more thing I wanted to do. The Annapurna Sanctuary is called a sanctuary because many of the mountains are said to be home to Hindu gods. Between these mountains is an oval space said to be the most sacred. No other clients had ever asked Bishwo to show them this oval and he was rightfully worried. It meant approaching a ledge and ledges are likely to collapse. Fortunately, he allowed me to go. The area appeared as a green valley in satellite photos. On this day, it was covered with conical glaciers with rocks on one side. I thought they were just mounds of rocks, but Bishwo assure me that: Nope—they were small, pointy glaciers with dirty residue making them look like rocks. We looked; I took pictures; and, we turned for Deurali.

				As we walked down, we saw several people we’d met on the trail over the last few days. One man, a Nepali, had been telling me for days that we were there to encourage each other. He asked me how old I was. Lots of people asked this of me for some strange reason—perhaps I looked like a child in my yellow duct suit and definitely acted like one or maybe because I looked ancient and infirmed because of my pace and lack of fashion sense. He and his friend were 61 and 68. He told me I was beautiful (probably because I was smiling all the time) making me want to move to Nepal once more. I supposed people remembered me because 
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				of my obnoxious rain suit. Shawna named it my “duck suit” when we were in Patagonia and the name took. I decided in Annapurna to rename it “duct suit” because I’d patched its many tears with duct tape.

				When traveling up to Basecamp, I’d informed Bishwo there were several things I wanted to do near the top. I’d done the first few (i.e., taking a picture at the sign, memorializing DJ, and seeing the oval), but had two more goals to meet. We’d seen hikers sliding down the snow earlier and I DEFINITELY wanted to do that. Bishwo obliged by letting me slide three times (probably because it progressed me downhill faster), even catching my truly gracious tumble at the end on video for posterity. I also wanted to get a picture on this huge rock where everyone else posed. We had so much fun taking those pictures. I even had him take a “sexy” picture for Mike. I sent the picture to the crew later that day (after all, I was fully clothed in my duct suit). Mike improved it exponentially by transforming it into a hilarious magazine cover. I love my husband and his incredible sense of humor. By this point of our descent, I’d seen everything I’d come to see and done everything I’d wanted to do. I was satiated and full of joy from the experiences. We’d had lots of fun on this perfect day. As a special treat, Bishwo noticed two pheasants (the Nepal national bird) during the descent who were walking across snow. 

				We picked up chapati with cheese and some coconut cookies (my new favorites) in MBC and kept heading down. 

				It was late in the day, about 4 PM, and we saw several groups still ascending. They were just leaving Deurali with about a three hour walk to MBC. One included a woman who was already struggling, one guy was in shorts, none seemed to have microspikes, and all were 20-somethings. Bishwo and I expressed our concern to them. I thought they were really taking their lives in their hands and should return to Deurali for the night, but none turned around. Bishwo told me this happened all the time because people want to complete the trek in three days. They ignore the AMS warnings and are wholly unprepared and uninformed about the trek. That explained why there are so many rescues. I really felt for the girl who was struggling the most; she appeared to know something was wrong, but her friends kept urging her upward.

				We stayed in the same teahouse as the previous night and this time I didn’t have a roommate. I ate dal baht for dinner because I knew they provided seconds for free and I was hungry after only eating chapati with cheese and drinking a cup of milk coffee all day.

				Because of this grueling day, I’d earned an extra day so Jeevan could plan an excursion for me to see Chitwan National Park. If we could make it to Jhinu Dada before 6 PM the next day, I’d make it to Pokhara by nightfall and have the needed day to add the extra trip. And, despite calling it “grueling,” it really wasn’t that tough. I was perfectly acclimatized and strong after trekking the Circuit. It was SO MUCH easier than Tilicho Lake and Thorong La. 
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				Crew Post

				Today was great! We made it to Annapurna Basecamp (ABC) after witnessing eight helicopters overhead (some were charters, some were rescues), crossing by an avalanche that fell two hours before we passed it and completely devastated the area and trail, placed a prayer flag for DJ at the ABC sign and wrote the Om symbol and her name in virgin snow, saw the sacred oval between the mountains, slid down the snow on my bottom several times, took a sexy picture for Mike on a big rock, smiled nonstop, and laughed aloud. Can’t beat that!

			

		

		
			
				Deurali ahead
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				Annapurna Basecamp (3/21/24): Stage 5

				Deurali to Jhinu Dada 

				Annapurna Circuit: Check!

				Confucius Says

				“Faced with what is right, to leave it undone shows a lack of courage.”

				[I would miss talking over these daily verses with Bishwo. He seemed to enjoy them, too.]

				I was so excited to get to Jhinu Dada so I could catch a jeep to Pokhara for the night. I was tired of being cold and wanted a warm room, real bed, and hot shower. We planned to leave at 6 AM, but when I tried the dining room door, it was locked and dark inside so I had to complete my final preparations outside in the cold. I waited until Bishwo exited the dining room before I was able to enter. Everything had been closed and dark because a man was sleeping on one of the makeshift beds in the dining room. The night before, at least three men slept on those table-beds.

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 11.8 mi

				Time: 10:56

				Ascent/Descent: +2,292’/-7,097’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 10, 296’/10,296’/5,248’

				Hotel: Elegant Hotel
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				He handled the stairs better than me

			

		

		
			
				Many took pride in their animals adorning them with exquisite blankets

			

		

		
			
				In memory of Korean trail deaths

			

		

		
			
				A beautiful place to worship

			

		

		
			
				One of four longest bridges in Nepal

			

		

		
			
				Prayer flags on the trail

			

		

		
			
				“Store” along the trail

			

		

		
			
				Seriously, the Las Vegas Raid-ers in Nepal??!!

			

		

		
			
				The reward at the top of a hill

			

		

		
			
				There were random vibrant flowers

			

		

		
			
				We crossed from this village to the one on the other side

			

		

		
			
				Will the bridge hold my weight?
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				Bishwo insisted I have coffee, the right decision because I needed the pick-me-up kick in the butt to move as fast as possible in my substandard body. Because it was so early, the man who normally figured the bills was still asleep and the boy at the counter lacked the brain power to figure out how much I owed. I’d hope to pay the night before, but Nepal doesn’t work that way; they never let you pay for anything in advance. Bishwo did the basic math and we were finally able to leave… late, again. I booked it all day long, going fast on the flats and being as careful, but swift as possible on the stairs from hell!

				I heard a helicopter overhead around 7 AM and learned it was for the man Bishwo helped the day before. Bishwo also coordinatedhis rescue from Deurali. It was unbelievable his three friends were able to get him all the way to Deurali, an incredible and extremely dangerous (but necessary) feat.

				As we descended, there was another woman in trouble that we’d seen walking very slowly the day before. She was having to take a horse down. She had a terrible headache and was getting motion sickness from the horse as it traveled over the uneven ground. She was still bad after we’d walked downhill several hours, probably another 1,500’. Bishwo expressed his sorrow that so many people tried to complete the trek so quickly, not allowing themselves enough time to acclimatize… nor enjoy the journey. It seemed crazy to me because Basecamp was just over 13,000’. That height wasn’t bad for me on hikes I’d completed in the passed as long as I turned right around and returned to a lower elevation in the same day (like on Mount Whitney). I supposed many never experienced altitude and had not trained well enough. The exertion in altitude was far too much for them. 

				As we were descending, Bishwo asked me about the trip and his role in it. He was wondering, especially, what he could have done better. For the rest of the day, I kept remembering and telling him all the things he’d done that were awesome. I really struggled to think of any improvements he could have made; he was just that good.

				I finally got into my walking groove while finishing the book “The Women” (thanks to the librarian who helped me with the previously botched download) and later listened to more of “Ordeal by Hunger.” I only stopped to breath long enough to bring my heart rate down, get 
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				When fuel is expensive at 10,500’
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				pictures, change layers, and twice for the bathroom (we were still in the Annapurna Sanctuary so I was avoiding green stops). Still, I continued walking briskly while Bishwo ordered Tibetan bread with cheese (once with garlic—delicious!) for me, waited for it and paid with my money, then caught up with me to deliver my UberEats. On the second stop, I also bought a whoopee pie and chocolate-covered biscuits to share. I never stopped more than a few minutes.

				I saw lots of ordinary people doing their everyday normal chores. Building new structures fascinated me as did watching the porters. I was also intrigued by all the bamboo. I would have loved to see a wild red panda hiding amongst the stems, but was interested in other uses for the grass, too. I’d seen lots of people cutting it with small sickle-like knives. I asked about it and was informed of many, many uses and then shown more uses as the day went on. They used bamboo to build structures, both the solid poles and outer layers of the plant for sturdy structures and shavings mixed with dung for purposes like fertilizing fields. Monkeys ate the shoots and stock animals ate the leaves.

			

		

		
			
				Shaved bamboo is extremely flexible

			

		

		
			
				Questionable seating?

			

		

		
			
				Prepping bamboo for construction

			

		

		
			
				A house made completely of bamboo

			

		

		
			
				Bamboo ceiling covered with tarp

			

		

		
			
				Not all structures were wood or bamboo
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				Porters—Oxen of the Slopes

				The amount of weight men carried was ridiculous, some as much as 150 pounds. They carried their loads in baskets or backpacks and instead of using shoulder and waist belts, they used homemade grain bag straps to fit over their foreheads. This enabled them to place the weight of their load on their neck and upper back instead of lower on the spine. I worried this caused long-term back problems and Bishwo assured me it did. While there were some old men and some women, most porters were 20-something boys who would start developing physical problems in their early years. Bishwo said those boys usually ended up working in Kathmandu due of physical ailments. Porters carried everything—food, gas canisters, food oil, oil for fuel, human waste, vegetables, beds, TVs… I asked why they used humans instead of beasts of burden, and Bish-wo told me the trail was too small in the Sanctuary for people and horses or other animals to pass safely. I saw a lot of horses, but they were for carrying humans, mostly those suffering the effects of AMS. It was a long way up for those porters, especially for the guy I later saw carrying a couch to Basecamp. It was as long way down for them, too, especially if they were carrying full barrels of human waste! 

				We dropped over 7,000’, but just to be sure we didn’t have it too easy, we also rose over 2,000’. My knees and ankles did great, but I worried about a bad set of delayed onset muscle soreness (DOMS) the next day. In the past two weeks, I hadn’t experienced DOMS because we’d never stopped moving.

				Bishwo’s goal was to reach Jhinu Dada by 4 PM and mine was 6 PM, we made it there at 5 PM, a good compromise. Our final steps were over the longest steel bridge in Nepal’s Himalayas. It took about ten minutes to cross… no kidding! I learned there were three bridges that long, but the other two were both in the southern part of the country.

				We met our private jeep at 5 PM and loaded our packs into the back. No seatbelts… no surprise. Why bother because if you fall, it’s a fatally long way down anyway. Not far after starting, Bishwo spotted a musk deer, the national animal of Nepal. It watched us for a long time and we could see it perfectly until I opened my window to take a picture. That was when he bolted. The ride was so bumpy that I finally laid my head on my backpack and took a nap; naps served the double purpose of keeping me from becoming car sick. I awoke wet because of a mysterious leak somewhere in my pack.

				Pokhara is known for its beautiful lake. You can cross it with a boat for the purpose of participating in activities on the other side (e.g., paragliding, bungee jumping). Spending a day there would have been nice, but I really wanted to pet elephants in Chitwan. Pokhara was my first big city since Kathmandu and reminded me of a mix between Tijuana and Tanzania. There was lots of activity happening at 7:30 PM and, being a tourist town because of the lake, there were some fancy jewelry stores and other expensive items few Nepalis would be able to afford.
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				I was checked in to a nice hotel aptly named Elegant Hotel and had a fabulous, hot, soothing, well-needed shower. Like with many other places in Nepal, there was no shower stall inside the bathroom so water went all over. Weirdly, the entire bathroom was dry by morning. I packed for the next day’s bus ride (both what I could put under the bus and what I would need inside) and finally indulged in the PB2 peanut butter Brent (brother-in-law) recommended I bring on the trip. I’d carried it 123.9 miles so had to justify the energy expenditure. The peanut butter and a few cookies were all I had to eat for dinner. Into a warm bed and, finally, sleep.

				Crew Post

				I officially completed the Annapurna Circuit today, or as much as possible given the new roads. There were thousands of steps both up and down, but mainly down (7,097’). Much of the day was returning on the same path we took for ABC (there’s only an out-and-back path until the very end). One guy we saw yesterday ended up being evacuated by helicopter this morning and a woman had to be walked down on a horse, both because of severe altitude sickness. The man’s pulse ox was 48 when we saw him on the trail yesterday. Bishwo told the man’s friends that one person should stay awake with him all night and that if he got worse, they were to come and wake Bishwo immediately. In the town where we were spending the night, he was 3,000’ lower and his a pulse ox had risen only to the 60s. My guide helped his group with medical knowledge and provided them with advice regarding ordering a rescue helicopter. 

				We drove on a typical Nepali road (jeep required!) from our ending point, Jhinu Dada, to Pokhara. I slept part of the time because it was so bumpy that I was fighting car sickness. I’m bummed I won’t have more time in Pokhara, but I’ve decided I want to spend a few days in Chitwan before tackling Everest Basecamp (EBC.

				I’m feeling good mentally and physically albeit a bit tired. I’m looking forward to four days off from extreme hiking and am so excit-ed about seeing Chitwan. I’m expecting the DOMS to hit tomorrow since that will be the first day I won’t be working out in over two weeks.

				Today was my last day with Bishwo. I will miss him so much! 
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				Chitwan
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				Morning at lake in Pokhara
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				Chitwan (3/22/24): Day 1

				Pokhara to Chitwan

				Bus to Chitwan

				I awoke at 5:15 AM in a warm room with working water and electricity and glad I’d have time to see Lake Pokhara and not miss my bus. I had time to talk with Mike who was tinkering with his new classic car at home. I felty badly after harping on him, requesting he clean up the messes around the house before I returned home. I packed and walked to the river front and then fell into an ash pile as I was walking down some stairs. I suppose I could have expected it after hiking downhill the previous day. My ankles were pretty darned weak. And, why was there an ash pile there anyway? I sat for about twenty minutes trying to clean my pants and watching for the sunrise. It never rose from my perspective—fog and haze covered the scene.

				While walking back to the hotel, Bishwo met me and we went to a bakery. We shared my purchases, famished because I’d eaten so little and worked so hard the day before. He waited while I packed a bit more and then called a taxi to drive us to the bus stop. I tried to withdraw money from an ATM, but was told I had insufficient funds. Argh! Bishwo would have to wait for his tip.

				He situated me on the bus with minutes to spare. I would miss him SO MUCH! A hug and the bus was on it’s way to Chitwan. I finished my pastries, slept, and worked on my journal 

			

		

		
			
				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 70°F/59°F (Ahhhh!)

				Hotel: Tiger Residency Resort

			

		

		
			
				Ash ass

			

		

		
			
				Corner of downtown Pokahra
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				for the five-hour, bumpy (but not like with the jeeps) ride to Chitwan. I was so worried I’d need to go to the bathroom on the bus so hadn’t had much to drink since the night before. After two hours we stopped. I used the hole in the ground, bought some Doritos (I needed salt), and made it back onto the right bus. We stopped a second time, but I slept through it. When we stopped the third time, I was confused. Some said we were in Chitwan and stopping for lunch. Huh? I found several people including a German man who spoke English and learned that this was not our final stop. We probably just stopped for lunch because the bus company had an agreement with the establishment. That made sense—I’d been in Flexico in the past. I bought a drink that looked somewhat healthy because it had an almond on it. It claimed to have badam (whatever that was) and saffron in it. Tasting a bit like a milkshake, I bought a second only to read “processed flavored milk” on the side. Oh, well. I could afford the calories given the last two weeks. I learned later that badam was another name for almond. My uncanny powers of deduction had lead me on the correct path once again.

				The German man I spoke with, who incidentally looked exactly like Einstein, said he was meeting people from a similar hotel and also had basically no idea what he was doing. Jeevan informed me of my schedule, told me there would be someone from the hotel waiting for me at the bus stop, and that someone would take care of everything else. I’d put a lot of trust in Jeevan and he pulled through yet again. Thank you, Brent, for the reference! 

				After the 100-mile, six hour drive (no kidding—yes, that averages to 16 mph), I was greeted at the bus stop with a man with my name on a sign. I felt so important! Ganesh carried my pack and bus bag to a mini-bus and drove me to the hotel. He checked me in, brought me a welcome drink (a Coke), went over my schedule for the next few days, and showed me to my room. I quickly unpacked, after all, how much do you carry in a backpack (especially since Bishwo returned items like my sleeping bag to Kathmandu), and was down for lunch within minutes.

				They gave me thick, delicious, steaming hot vegetable soup. That was just the first course. Then came a vegetable cutlet, French fries, lots of veggies, and a banana. I could barely eat anything and felt really badly. I asked them if they would keep my lunch and just 
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				Views from the bus
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				reheat it for me for dinner; I had no idea whether they understood or not. Fortunately, they did. I know every rupee counted for them and definitely did not want to waste. In the mountains, Bishwo assured me no food went to waste. I never quite knew what that meant (I figured the animals were eating well), but I wasn’t sure of the custom in cities. 

				My first chore was money and shopping for essentials. I tried several banks with my Visa card to no avail. Arghh! The banks were closed for the weekend. I would have to just wait until I returned to Kathmandu for more cash. For my second chore, Ganesh and I struggled to communicate and he thought I just wanted to shop. He took me to a clothing store and I quickly realized I should have used the word “pharmacy.” He next ushered me to the right store where I could buy hand sanitizer. I refilled my Peak Financial Solutions bottle (the one sporting my husband’s business logo) and left the rest of the bottle for the pharmacist. I also bought baby wipes (for body washing in the wild and, well, pooping), and bug spray. Jeevan hadn’t recommended bug spray because mosquitoes didn’t live at the elevations where my trip was meant originally scheduled. Now that I was in the lowlands, they were pretty common. They offered me a bottle that said “No DEET” so I asked for some with DEET. I was informed DEET was not allowed. I wasn’t sure if this was because we were so close to the World Heritage Park or it was just a no-no in Nepal. I took what I could get—the least I needed in the Everest region was non-stop scratching.

			

		

		
			
				Chitwan National Park sign

			

		

		
			
				Quite the room!

			

		

		
			
				Lunch and leftovers for dinner

			

		

		
			
				Elephant garage

			

		

		
			
				House that elephants 

			

		

		
			
				Cleaning the area?

			

		

		
			
				Convenient Mary Jane
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				We returned to the hotel again and I met Ganesh for our first excursion. He took me on a tour of the neighborhood where I saw guys fiddling with what I thought were live wires on an electrical pole. Ganesh said they were just Internet cables. Next, he showed me a family garden and then some wild marijuana growing on the side of the street. He told me it wasn’t of good quality (I wouldn’t have know better) and said that pot is illegal and not much of a problem in the country. This was interesting because Bishwo and I had talked about alcoholism a few days before. Bishwo said there was a problem with alcoholism in the country, especially rural areas, and Nepali laws sounded very similar to those in the US. Unlike the US, though, repeat offenders routinely received harsher sentences than those I’d heard about in the States.

				I noticed there were a lot fewer “Namastes” and figured it was because (1) we were in a fairly big city and (2) the people in the mountains were either tourists or making their living from tourists. We walked by one house with an elephant in the yard. It was legal to own an elephant and the animals could be quite lucrative given the number of tourists who wished to ride them. The elephant’s barn was made of dried bamboo and the owner’s home had a roof of shoots. Ganesh explained that a few decades previously, all homes and barns were made this way. The community had to change to brick because elephants kept breaking through houses, often to steal food from inside. Elephants would also eat the barn structures if the bamboo wasn’t completely dry. The animals still wreaked havoc on the community as they routinely came down into town at night. Given they were a key tourist draw and probably essential to maintain their UNESCO status, there was no apparent desire to control their in-town behavior.

				After walking around town, we entered Chitwan National Park. We were in the government section where they housed “government” elephants. They were chained to posts, but allowed to roam freely at times. Ganesh assured me they were able to break through the chains; they were choosing to stay in captivity. A 55-year-old had a broken tusk so they didn’t think it would live long in the wild. There were also a few babies resulting from their breeding program. The babies were chained, but their moms were not so came and went to the forest daily. There were about ten elephants in this captive section. I never understood why they needed to be chained; it seemed cruel.

				We walked by the animal clinic and Ganesh pointed to a gigantic wasp nest in the rafters. The park was committed to keeping the wild wild to maintain their UNESCO status so let the sting-monsters stay. He said that in the 1980s, the US Park Service came to Nepal to help organize the system (I suppose that’s why Chitwan National Park has a commitment to wilderness like in the USA). One of the things they did was design a certification system for guides. Ganesh was one of the first certified guides and has continued to re-certify as new rules developed. 
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				Our final stop on the walk was at the river where we saw lots of crocodiles and gavial (a type of crocodile with a long, skinny snout). The sun was beautiful despite the haze so we enjoyed masala tea (him) and my first boba tea (me) as the sun descended in the horizon. It was a beautiful place to relax and spend time with friends. I wished Mike were there.

				Ganesh had to pick up a Japanese guest following his jungle tour. The man was in town for a few days and had also just finished trekking the Circuit. When the man finished his jungle tour, he took the canoe back to the city side of the river and the three of us rode in my first ever tuk-tuk back to the hotel. While waiting for the evening’s entertainment, I ate the leftovers they’d saved for me outside. My table overlooked the garden while I wrote in my journal. 

				In the evening, another guide, Tacur, picked me up and walked me to their town hall for a cultural presentation. On the way, he showed me a broken wall. Not a drunk driver as I’d suspected… a rhino just wanted to go that way and rhinos went where they wanted 
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				Sunset over the river

			

		

		
			
				Whoops... that darned rhino
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				regardless of infrastructure in their paths. I was not a fan of the cultural program. It started almost twenty minutes late and I was almost asleep already. The dances were all in a circle, usually around a center drummer. Each song went on-and-on. Had I not been so tired and actually fallen asleep several times during the show, I may have enjoyed it more. My favorite part was this guy dressed as a peacock dancing around the stage. Ganesh picked me up after the show and walked me back to the hotel. Unfortunately, we didn’t cross paths with any elephants or rhinos, but Tacur said it was not to be unexpected. I was barely conscious due to exhaustion and my feet were swollen. Nonetheless, I was thrilled to have taken this Chitwan side trip.

				Crew Post

				I traveled 100 miles by public bus for $7.50 and it took six hours. I was greeted by a hotel guide who checked me in, took me shop-ping, walked me around town, took me to Chitwan National Park (a UNESCO World Heritage Site) where I saw government ele-phants, then took me to the river marking the beginning of the park. There, we saw crocodiles and drank bubble tea during sunset. At night, I saw a cultural show (not a fan). Excited because today I get my clothes washed!
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				Chitwan (3/23/24): Day 2

				Chitwan 

				Canoe, Wild Walk with Rinaldo, and Jeep

				I awoke early and sweaty so took a shower before putting my clothes back on from the previous night because everything else was going for laundering. It was so exciting to know I’d soon have clean clothes!

				I came downstairs and, again, was given a huge (too big) breakfast: eggs, toast with butter and jam, omelet, fresh fruit, beans, and milk coffee. My lunch a few hours later was similarly too big: pasta, steamed vegetables, French fries, soup, and lassi. During breakfast, I worked on my journal and planned my India trip. It cost me $14 to cancel my Kathmandu to Delhi flight so I could spend another $150 to buy a Delhi ticket for a few days earlier. Go figure! I also worked on my reading list and hadn’t realized how much I’d read in the last few weeks. 

				I ran a bit late because I was making the travel arrangements and felt badly because this morning I joined two others for my first excursion. They were Nepali and delightful. The man had an MBA from a university in Massachusetts and she was in banking. They were Hindu so answered a lot of my questions about religion. Also, they had an arranged marriage… arranged four months before their wedding. They’d been married a year-and-a-half. We talked about the statistic that as love marriages start becoming more the norm in 
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				Nepal, divorces have also increased.

				Ganesh took us to the Bagmara part of the national park’s conservation area where we caught a canoe on the Buddirapi River. This and the Rapti River that we’d seen the night before fed into a bigger river that led to India. India was just 20-or-so miles south of Chitwan. I hadn’t realized we were so close to the border. 

				The canoe was a traditional long boat made from a hulled local tree. It sat about a dozen of us. Our captain used a big pole in the about two feet of water to propel us. I was surprised the river was so shallow; I didn’t realize, perhaps ignorantly, that crocodiles were fans of shallow water. We saw lots of crocodiles in the water and on shore. We also saw gavials and lots of birds including egrets, gorgeous kingfishers, cormorants, golden ducks, dater birds, love birds, storks, and more. 

				Following the canoe trip, we exited the boat and Ganesh led us through the forest in search of interesting stuff. We were introduced to a suicide tree or “forest killer.” The tree couldn’t get enough water to its upper trunk after growing to a certain size so its roots started growing up and around the tree. This helped with the water situation until the roots eventually strangled the tree thereby killing it. Seemed like a Darwin Award winner to me. I wasn’t sure how it passed the genetic lottery.

				We also saw termite hills. I asked why I didn’t see any termites so Ganesh walked to one, broke off a piece of the outer clay and showed all the termites inside. He said the hills make perfect snacks for sloth bears who broke off pieces and sucked out the wiggly insides.

				We kept walking seeing an interesting some-such-thing here and there until Ganesh gave us the “freeze and shut up” signal. Then, he did the back-back-back-back-faster-back signal. Of course, instead of rushing back, we were trying to figure out what was so scary. I thought for sure I was finally going to see a Bengal tiger, the big find I’d hope to see during this side trip. Nope, it was Rinaldo the wild elephant. Rinaldo’s harem and children live in the elephant breeding center so he hangs out there a lot. I was thinking: “Elephant, so what? They’re nice; I read the book.” Well, maybe that was true of some African elephants, but these Chitwan bulls left nothing in the way of their anger. 
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				As babies, Asian elephants were about 90 pounds; medium elephants were about 8,800 pounds; and, the big guys like Rinaldo were closer to 15,500 pounds. Rinaldo was a people-killer counting 13 bodies in his wake. He was between 30-and-40 years old and got his name because he kicked those that made him mad (like Rinaldo the soccer player). In one case, it was someone riding a bike along a street in town. On another occasion, there was a woman wearing a flowing dress in the elephant breeding center that he didn’t think should be flowing. There were electric wires between us and Rinaldo in the breeding center to deter him from charging, but I knew they would do nothing if he were determined. He stood sentinel over his two pregnant brides. I learned there were two other young bulls, Govinda and Mukinah, who had each killed in the range of three humans. The winner by far was the 40-to-50 year old Durba who counted as many as 25-30 human fatalities. Glad he wasn’t my neighbor! 

				In the afternoon, we crossed another river by canoe and I spent the next four hours asking questions and looking for animal treasures. Our first find was a civet. I couldn’t really see it; it looked like a black tail hanging from the middle of a branch. I eventually learned that what I thought was the tail was actually its face. We were told that this was a great find, seldom seen. Unfortunately, Bengal tigers were general elusive and they held to that pattern on this day. I also didn’t see a sloth bear. I was excited to see one because Ganesh told me about a time he encountered one when guiding tourists. The bear came after him and he had to fight back. Ganesh finally got a punch at its nose, it pooped (I guess that’s a sign of pain or fear), and ran away. What a story! If it had happened on this day, there would be video of it all over the internet! The other animal I wanted to see—from very far away—was a python. Ganesh said he’d even seen an anaconda in the forest and that it was much smaller than the pythons. That was a real surprise to me; I’d learned pythons were usually longer, but the bigger girth of anacondas made them much more threatening... especially since I thought it was an anaconda instead of a crocodile in the movie “Lake Placid” starring little old Betty White.

				In addition to the civet, I saw lots peacocks, many dancing in explosive color showing off to other males that it was their right to mate with local females. We saw lots of spotted deer and I was amazed by the size of their racks. They never shed their racks so these little (compared to deer in the USA) guys have gigantic horns that seemed half as long as they were tall. How did they not get those things stuck in the trees? Our second big find was an Asian rhino. We ended up seeing three, two from afar. I’d liked to have seen one standing still beside us, but they were either in the distance in the water, walking among high grasses and trees or racing across the road in front of us. They didn’t seem as big as the rhinos in Africa, but their skin looked equally tough… rather like an armadillo. Short of bullets, I was told it was hard to penetrate their skin and when removed and dry, the skin was said to be as strong as metal. Whether it was true or not I was unsure, but I was told their army used rhino skin instead of kevlar. We also saw black-faced monkeys, extremely colorful roosters, and birds of many types.

				Our jeep stopped awhile at a crocodile breeding farm. Because gavials were endangered, the park bred and then returned them to the wild. They had an area just for breeding pairs; the ones I saw were about 7-9 feet long. Plus, there were fenced sections for small guys 
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				who were separated by age. There were newborns, a nursery, one-and-two year olds, etc. There was plenty of room in each enclosure, but the animals were all stacked on top of each other. I tried to determine if this was a sign of affection or just a lack of appreciation for personal space. I think it was the latter.

				It started raining on our way back to the hotel. It wasn’t cold so I took off my coat and hid it as much as possible to keep it dry. Everyone else was putting their jackets on and a woman asked why I was taking mine off. I explained that I couldn’t afford to get mine wet or ruined. I had a fear it would get so wet that it wouldn’t dry, ultimately freezing stiff in the mountains. Yes, ridiculous, but after being so cold for so long, it was PTSD. I remembered washing out my pee rag at night n the Annapurna Range and finding it frozen stiff in the morning. It was okay with a pee rag, but I couldn’t imagine a frozen coat in the Everest Himalaya.

				Ganesh picked me up from the jeep excursion and we decided to walk back to the hotel from the river (less than a mile) as the rain was very light. I took a shower, had dinner, worked on booking my India flight, figured out how to get cash through Western Union, and headed to bed. Because of my mass of mosquito bites (mostly from under the table in the dining room), I took Benadryl. Whether it helped or not, I wasn’t sure, but I didn’t wake up scratching in the middle of the night. I fell asleep trying to finish my day’s journal entry.

				Crew Post

				My day in Chitwan was exactly as I supposed it would be—an opportunity to see the National/UNESCO park. In the morning, I took a canoe (traditional long boat with a dozen front-facing passengers) ride through the park’s buffer zone where we saw lots of birds, crocodiles, and some gavials on the way to the elephant breeding area. They’re trying to increase the endangered Asian elephant population there. As we were walking in the bush toward the area, our guide gave us the “STOP!” and then “BACK! BACK! BACK!” signs. There was an elephant in our midst, a people-killer. Ganesh and other guides are a lot more afraid of the elephants than any other animal. The elephants are volatile and quick to act when they’re unhappy. We waited for the elephant to move and took the long way around before we were able to see his wives, several of which were pregnant, and babies. The male was not excited about people looking on; he stood in front of his pregnant girls like a gargoyle over a cathedral.

				In the afternoon, we took a canoe across a river to another part of the park for a jeep tour. We saw little spotted deer with huge horns (half their body sizes), lots of peacocks, black-face monkeys, and rhinos. Sadly, we didn’t see a Bengal tiger, sloth bear, or python. We also stopped at the gavial breeding center. Those things don’t have any respect for personal space!
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				Kathmandu (3/24/24): Day 1

				Chitwan to Kathmandu

				Happy Holi!

				I awoke before my 5:45 AM alarm, filtered some water, packed, and had a big breakfast with butter, toast, and jam left over to take with me on the bus ride to Kathmandu. I bid farewell to my hotel hosts and Ganesh and a driver took me to meet my bus. I was sure I had a case of dengue fever because I’d acquired a crazy-sauce amount of mosquito bites in the last two days. Dengue was very common in Nepal at the time; Bishwo had even had it. I felt fine, but it seemed inevitable. Fortunately, it wasn’t.

				The German man who looked like Einstein that I’d met on the bus to Chitwan talked with my seat-mate and me for quite awhile. He’d spent lots of time in India so gave me advice on where to go on my few days in Delhi. Eventually, the man sitting in the seat behind him told him to sit down because he was annoyed by his presence. The German man responded: “Are you Italian?” The response was that he was not. The next question was “Are you French?” Again, he was not. I think he said he was Ukrainian, but the questioning certainly reflected my experiences with the French and Italians on the Camino. I guessed their reputations weren’t just American sentiments.

				I spent most of the time catching up on my journal, napping a little, and even sewing my torn boot. Bishwo’s boot surgery had kept it together through Annapurna, but I didn’t think I 
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				could trust it to survive Everest as well. I also enjoyed nice conversation with my seat-mate. She was a graduating Canadian RN working in Nepal to complete her final academic requirements. Even though colleges and universities were trying to return to foreign travel learning opportunities after COVID, she said Nepal was one of the few countries welcoming medical students.

				We stopped three times for bathroom breaks during the six hour, 100-mile drive. I broke down and bought some BBQ “Dr. Chips” (what I thought were Pringles until my second look), a sweet cheesy croissant, and two of the badam drinks. The last stop was completely unnecessary. We were just thirty minutes from Kathmandu and the driver stopped so we could have lunch. I was certain it was because his “cousin” owned the joint. We drove on until reaching Kathmandu where before others got off the bus, Jeevan came on calling to me; I didn’t even know we’d arrived. Good thing he was there! 

				Jeevan took me to the hotel to drop off my things. There was a plate of colorful powder in the lobby and one of the employees put some on my face. It was Holi and time for CELEBRATION! Jeevan drove me to one of the Dunbar Squares (one of the UNESCO Hertage Sites I hadn’t yet visited) so I could check it out and witness the Holi festival in all its Nepali glory. I could have walked to the Square in half the time it took to drive there. There were cars, motorbikes, and people everywhere. It was clearly a holiday. 

				I wasn’t able to see anything related to Dunbar Square because there were so many people out having an afternoon Holi party. Everyone was just walking around saying “Happy Holi!” and placing colored powder on each others’ faces. For some reason, lots 

			

		

		
			
				What is Holi?

				Holi is a traditional Hindu festival mark-ing the beginning of spring. It celebrates winter’s end and blossoming love while welcoming hopes of a bountiful harvest and colorful, fertile lands. And, it signifies good overcoming evil.

				The religious basis is the divine love of Krishna and Radha (Hindu deities) and the victory of Vishnu over Hiranyakashipu. Hindus and non-Hindus celebrate alike by throwing colored powder in the air and using the powder to mark others’ faces and hands. Basically, it’s a whole lot of hap-piness which is why it is also called the Festival of Colors, Love, and Spring.
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				of young men seemed to think I needed LOTS of powder and really caked it on me. I just smiled with my whole self and responded “Happy Holi!” Then, everyone would stare at me because I had so much on my face, hair, arms, dress,… They all seemed impressed with my make-up and many claimed I was “sexy.” Not sure how I earned that moniker.

				Other than seeing Dunbar Square and experiencing Holi, I had a few other chores. As I walked back to the hotel, I tried to find a Western Union because I believed I might be able to pay less to procure cash than the extraordinarily high fees I’d paid with my US Bank card. It turned out that some Western Unions only supply cash, they don’t allow people to deposit money there. This was one of that type so I had to download the app to make the exchange. Downloading was a bit of a problem because my face was so smeared with technicolor powder that my phone couldn’t read my face ID. Eventually, I took the Western Union employees up on their offer to show me to a bathroom where I could wash my face. That helped. It still took about 45 minutes, an unsuccessful call to US Bank, and lots of guessing and hoping before I was finally able to send myself money via Apple Pay. It was the middle of the night in Vegas so I wasn’t able to call Mike to get help figuring out my best option. I didn’t leave with as much cash as I wanted, but I had enough to provide Bishwo with a decent tip the next day. I still needed more cash for the Everest Basecamp (EBC) trip.

				I continued walking back to the hotel, being celebrated with more and more powder to replace what I’d cleaned during my Western Union foray. I stopped in a lot of trekking stores looking for two items: an insulator for my drinking hose since it had frozen a few times in Annapurna and a cover for the front of my boots. My boots had some serious holes and I worried about the snows of Everest leaking in and causing more damage. All the businesses sold drinking hoses and all had snow gaiters; none had what I needed.

				I finally made it back to the room and wore everything I had on into the shower. I felt badly for the cleaning staff because I was sure mine wasn’t the only shower that was purple that night. I now had another load of laundry to do before hitting the trail so went on a mission to find someone who could finish my laundry before noon the next day. When I found the right store, I also found two patches for my backpack: Annapurna Circuit and Annapurna Basecamp.

				I was so tired and needed to eat so returned to the garden eatery at the hotel, pulled out my journal, and ate butter masala chicken (mostly just bones) with garlic naan. I had two things to do the next day—get my nails done and rest. The plan was to spend the rest of the next day laying in bed watching Netflix movies. I definitely needed a day off!
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				Crew Post

				Today I took the bus from Chitwan back to Kathmandu. I was able to finish some chores (getting cash is always a headache) and, best of all, enjoy the Holi festival happening everywhere in Nepal. I’d seen people celebrating the holiday in a movie about India and al-ways thought it looked like such a fun way to celebrate, like our fireworks on the 4th of July. As I walked through the streets of Kath-mandu, people (mostly young men) came up to me, said “Happy Holi!,” and smeared colored powder on my face. So many people did this to me that I was caked with the stuff and then everyone was staring at me because I had so much. I felt like I was wearing a “Kick Me!” sign on my face and everyone was laughing at me. I didn’t quite care because I was having so much fun and smiling so big and no one kicked me. Happy Holi from Nepal, everyone!

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Time to clean up (I’m sorry, 

				housekeeper)

			

		

		
			
				I think they overdid it with me

			

		

		
			
				Dressed and rearing to go!

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 159 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				 • 159 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Kathmandu (3/25/24): Day 2

				Everest Prep

				Get over Cold

				I’d been fighting a cold so wanted to sleep as much as possible over the next 24 hours, but was up early anyway. Other than sitting in a hot spring bath, I hadn’t done anything truly relaxing in 25 days and definitely needed a break. There were a few chores for the day, not the least of which was saying goodbye to Bishwo and prepping with Ram, but laying in bed was the most essential. After a nice talk with Mike and Ryan who were enjoying being bachelors at home, I started watching a movie and was then able to nap a bit. 

				I rallied around 9 AM for breakfast, committed to ingesting vitamin C and protein to promote a swift recovery. As soon as I finished breakfast, I thought I’d run a quick errand, but Bishwo and Ram were already waiting for me in the lobby, 15 minutes early. I loved seeing Bishwo again and Ram and I went over the plan for EBC. It was quite strange having Bishwo there, so knowledgeable about my skills and the trail, yet I was communicating with Ram as if I’d never hiked in Nepal. Bishwo had told Jeevan and Ram that I walked “steady” and never took breaks, but until I showed our daily hiking times averaging just under eleven hours, it seemed they hadn’t realized what Ram was getting himself into. Bishwo had told me that Ram was an “even better guide” than him which I didn’t think was possible, and I suppose I was jaded because of the wonderful relationship I’d developed with him during 
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				the Circuit/ABC trek. Ram was very soft-spoken. I hoped I could hear him and he would be a great companion. Bishwo indicated Ram would be a little different, perhaps a bit louder, once we knew each other better. That increased volume never came to pass. Jeevan arrived a few minutes later and just reviewed the schedule; unnecessary because he’d planned it and communicated it to me so well already and Ram and I hadn’t made any changes.

				Bishwo reminded me of the items I should leave behind: Dad’s coyote hat and rabbit gloves, Brent’s recommended sleeping pad and PB2, and my umbrella. I would miss my umbrella, but with snow more likely than rain, it wasn’t really needed. I believed my pack to be water resistant and was counting on it while in the Everest Himalaya. Bishwo also reminded me to buy some glove warmers/HotHands and I was grateful for the reminder. Ram reminded me that safety was his primary goal. Fun was second, but it was a close second in my book. Ram took my sad Solomon boots to repair the holes and reinforce those sections that were about to erupt. I was worried the fix would cost me something like US$50 and knew I planned to trash them upon my return. But, better safe than sorry. 

				Time for chores. I found a nail salon with a good Google review so walked to it and learned it was in a mall—my first Nepali mall. It strangely didn’t have a lot of stores. Instead, there were people everywhere in lines because this was where they picked up visas required to enter some foreign countries. As I was leaving, an entire family celebrated as one woman walked down the stairs with her new passport. It made me wonder if they also did naturalization processes there.

				I picked up coconut bubble tea, not sure if I really liked bubble teas or not. The chocolate one I’d had in Chitwan was pretty good with little fudge balls at the bottom. This concoction had more of what I’d been expecting—gelatinous, rather flavorless tapioca balls settled at the bottom. I’d have to try bubble tea again to make my final evaluation. I took my drink to the salon where the technician did an excellent job, but it took two hours instead of the one hour it takes at home. I kept falling asleep and felt really guilty. In my defense, I was supposed to be resting all day… and, two hours. Really?!?

				From the mall, I had to visit three-or-four places to finally find a bank that could deliver my Western Union cash to me. It was quite a relief when I had it in hand. But, I’d added another pound to my waist-wallet because US$750 came to over 100 Nepali bills. Arghh! Also, I received a few little bills worth less than a nickel. Those made it into the hotel tip box pretty quickly.

				Continuing back to the hotel, I price-checked HotHands and found them for less than US$6 for the three pair I would need so left NPR1000 (US$7.50) and was happy as a clam. I always felt guilty paying so little to people who needed the money so desperately. I considered buying foot heaters like I used on Kilimanjaro, but I’d never trained with them in the crappy Solomons and worried they would just melt the snow making my feet wet AND cold instead of just cold. I also considered a body warmer like I’d used for my butt cheeks on Kili, but I usually warm enough in my core when moving that it seemed superfluous.
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				The next stop was for laundry. All went well, but I did have an apology for them. The night before when I’d delivered my items to them, I briefly put my iPad on the counter. Without knowing it, one of their magnets attached itself to my magnetic cover and it came home with me. I felt much better after the return… no more a thief.

				I dropped everything off in my room except my iPad and newly heavy money belt and went looking for “linner.” Turning off the main street so I could find the less frequented establishments, I saw a place with a table of twelve natives. I knew it was the perfect spot. It was a classic case of Connie’s (my mom’s) restaurant-choosing rules—the more cars in the parking lot, the better the food. Because Thamel (the area in which I was staying) was a tourist area, there seemed to be people in lots of establishments. I needed a local recommendation and their presence at this restaurant provided it.

				I ordered some delicious peanut dish (I think it was considered an appetizer) that was too spicy for me, but worth it anyway for the flavor and protein. I also ordered chicken korma, checking first to see if it would be all bones like dinner the night before. He assured me I could have the boneless chicken; I was happy to pay a premium given the previous night was more of a flavor of chicken than actual chicken. It came with rice and I loved it. 

				I walked back to the hotel via a bakery so I could get something sweet, perhaps a French pastry and a breakfast croissant. Well, there were bakeries that served French-looking pastries in Nepal, but I’d only found one that even began to match the quality of the French. I bought a delectable-looking chocolate Napoleon, but, … well… it did little more than satisfy a need. It was more sponge and less sponge cake. I also bought more hard candies to complement my lemon drop stash. If I didn’t like them, there were plenty of children in the Everest Himalaya that would. Sadly, there were no croissants for breakfast.

				It was perfect timing for me to arrive back at the hotel. Ram was there delivering my repaired boots to the front desk. OMG! They weren’t just glued and duct-taped like Bishwo had done on the trail. Nor were they poorly sewn like on the Chitwan bus that ended in only in knots and disappointment. These looked like brand-new boots. It looked like a master cobbler had cut perfect-sized leather patches and sewn them on with magical thread. No, really… magical. Those babies were going to stay together even if they were headed to the Everest summit. The bad news was that Ram had to wait three hours for them to be fixed. Already, he was dealing 
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				with my sloth speed—the Energizer Tortoise at full speed. But, wait! It cost NPR700 (US$5.25). Surely he was kidding. No, he was not. Later, I figured out why it may have been so cheap. The US$100 bill that was under the sole of my left shoe was no longer there. My fault for not thinking to remove it first. I’d probably lost it somewhere when drying my shoes; Nepalis just weren’t dishonest people.

				After thanking him, paying him, and promising to be on time for our 5:30 AM morning departure to the airport, I returned to my room for a last luxurious shower. Yes, on rare occasions I was able to get remotely warm water in Annapurna, but I was never able to get out of the shower into a room that was above an acceptable temperature. Showering in Kathmandu was heaven. I packed my backpack, separating my sleeping bag and a few items for Ram to carry. And, I packed a bag to leave at the hotel for my return. It was before 6 PM and finally time to do what I’d planned all day—nothing. Turn on Netflix, chill, and zone out.

				Crew Post

				I’m fighting a cold (sucks when planning to be working hard at altitude) so my primary goal was to rest. In typical fashion, it took me awhile to get into the flow of resting. Okay, almost 6 PM and I was finally down for a Netflix session. During the day, I met with Bish-wo and Jeevan and met Ram (my EBC guide) for the first time. I’m sure Ram is awesome (Bishwo says he is), but I miss Bishwo.

				I also got a manicure (I promised my manicurist I would) that took two exhaustingly long two hours, picked up some cash at a bank I’d wired to myself via Western Union (yes, it’s still around), bought HotHands because this next section will be even colder than the last, picked up laundry, and went for a late lunch. Ram spent the day (a full three hours!) having my boots repaired so he already knows what a pain in the buttocks I am. My wake-up call for the Lukla flight is 4:45 AM tomorrow.
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				Kathmandu (3/26/24): Day 3

				Leaving for Lukla

				... Let’s See Dunbar Square Instead

				Confucius Says

				“The will to win, the desire to succeed, the urge to reach your full poten-tial... these are the keys that will unlock the door to personal excellence.”

				I was up and had time for a last shower. I received a call from the lobby that Ram had arrived; it was only 5:10! I assured myself the departure time was 5:30 and finished dressing. The hotel supplied me with a to-go breakfast and stored my bag for India and we were off to the airport.

				I really struggled to keep up with Ram. I just had to keep him in my sights, but he moved so quickly. I missed Bishwo. The airport procedures were a bit of a mess; I don’t know if I could have ever managed them on my own; even finding the right ticket counter was a task requiring speaking Nepali. We went through security where there were separate lines for men and women. It made sense because they patted us down. I didn’t see a line for transgender people. 

				Incidentally, I’d asked Jeevan about the LGBTQ+ population in Nepal. I’d noticed lots of men, especially, holding hands and putting their arms around each other. I told him how 
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				pleased I was to see the acceptance. He assured me that was not the case. It’s common for men to hold hands and put their arms around each others’ shoulders, but being gay is not okay. This was interesting given that the country’s primary motto relates to equality and non-judgement.

				I had to surrender my second Swiss Army knife of the trip. Both were less than 2”, the maximum length in the USA. The first one didn’t even have a blade! The interesting case in Kathmandu is that I was able to carry my 2.5L water bladder and my trekking poles that wouldn’t go down smaller than 2.5’, but my knife wasn’t okay. How was I going to cut off my hand if it was stuck between two boulders? And, how was I to cut those bangs that had been bothering me for days? Tragedy. Honestly, I had used it quite a bit already so at least I was able to get some use out of it.

				TSA immediately knew it was a knife. Most TSAs I’d frequented ask to see the knife; this time the gentleman asked directly if it was a Swiss Army knife. I guess they must have quite a collection of these in the back. He suggested I ask my guide to put it in our checked baggage, but few trekkers, like me, had checked baggage. Our backpacks held everything. After being told my knife couldn’t go with me, the TSA agent looked away and started refocusing on his previous job. It took me a moment to locate the knife and when I did, he was completely unengaged with me. I could have just put it back in and walked away, but I wasn’t excited about Nepali jails so had to call to him several times until he finally addressed me and I could graciously relinquish my prized possession.

				We then had to go out of the TSA area back into the main, uncontrolled part of the airport to get to our plane. I wasn’t sure why anyone bothered going through TSA and then right back out to sign in and get their bags weighed. In the USA, everyone would have surpassed the line and said what a stupid, useless system it was. If I’d known better, I would have skipped TSA and kept my precious, useful knife. Later, though, I learned the problem wasn’t the system, it was change. I knew Ram had been there many times, but he thought we had to go through TSA before he learned that was untrue. Eventually, he was able to get my knife back. In the meantime, I’d lost my pee rag. Arghhh!

				Next, I had to find Ram who had flown the coop. I saw my poles in his bag so knew he was somewhere nearby. Several minutes passed before he caught my eye and had me go past the “do not enter” section to get into the Lukla check-in section. He stood in line for nearly thirty minutes and then came to talk with me. He said that there had been bad weather the previous day so the people who couldn’t get out then were scheduled for our flight. That wasn’t a big deal except that weather was bad in Lukla on this day, too, so the flight might be cancelled again. I definitely didn’t want to fly there with questionable weather, but it did mean hanging out in the airport for a very long time so we could catch a flight after all the leftover people from the previous day flew out.

				I pulled up a piece of floor, turned on a downloaded Netflix special about the earthquake in EBC, kept falling asleep, and eventually 
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				just laid down and napped. I awoke just before 9 AM and rushed to Ram thinking I was late (he’d known where I was all along). He told me I was not late; we had our tickets so could now officially go through TSA… again. Our bags were weighed (the plane can only handle thirty pounds per person if it plans to get off the ground), we left them at the counter trusting they were not going anywhere they shouldn’t, and moved to the gate. Ram and I finally had time to connect. His many unique experiences were fascinating and his knowledge of the region (like Bishwo’s) was overwhelming. He’d also done a lot of cycling so there was that, too. We drank coffee and shared potato chips while chatting. I talked with him and everyone around us and we waited… and waited. Just after 11 AM, he informed me our flight had been cancelled. The weather was fine in Lukla, but the plane had to fly through two mountain passes to get there. One was within acceptable parameters for flying; the other was not. One of the passes reported winds blowing at 11 knots; 9 was the maximum. The options were to pay US$900 for a helicopter or wait. Anyone who knows me knows that spending money and I are not friends. We were in a cab back to the hotel at noon with hopes of being on the first flight out the following day. We believed that the two groups that hadn’t been able to get out due to weather the day before were able to make the flight this morning before the weather deteriorated. That would put us first in line for the next day.

				I was trying to come up with a good name for Nepal like the name we gave Mexico when going there to construct houses: “Flexico.” I couldn’t decide if “Flepal” or “Flexepal” were better. I was sorry we weren’t on the plane, but glad no one was taking chances with our safety. My cold had improved, but another day to rest wouldn’t hurt. And, I’d have a chance to visit Durbar Square to check off another World Heritage site. We took a taxi back to the hotel, I switched out of my hiking gear and into shorts and a tank top and headed out for another day in Kathmandu.

				There were two Durbar Squares in Kathmandu Valley and both were UNESCO World Heritage sites. Each of them was a palace before the unification of Nepal in the late 1900s. One was far outside the town, but the other Dunbar Square was within walking distance... just a mile from my hotel. It was a completely different experience seeing a famous site without a guide. It was disappointing to know so little about what I was witnessing. I saw a lot of unique, pagoda-style buildings in a small, walled city. but there was no attached 
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				meaning. There were no stories to give the buildings any flourish or historical relevance. The area was extravagant with small and large temples everywhere and Hindus were lighting candles and praying before several of the statues. I took tons of pictures and tried to get some pictures of the men dressed as priests. They were hoping I would pay them for taking their pictures. That seemed like a crock to me. Were they actors or priests?

				The destruction of the palace from the 2015 earthquake was devastating. There were signs all over noting the roles of the USA and China in helping rebuild the historic wonder, but signs of the continued work were still evident in the form of bricks, dirt, wood, and scaffolding. I enjoyed seeing everything, but knew I would have learned more if I’d either had a guide or there were better placards like at the palace I’d seen before leaving for Annapurna. Don’t get me wrong—there were plenty of men who offered to be my guide, but I decided to do this one solo. I stayed for an hour or two and then started walking back to the hotel. It seemed at first like I was on the Kathmandu equivalent of Fifth Avenue. There were many jewelry stores on every block, all filled with men and women and I witnessed cash passing through hands. There were also clothing stores everywhere. I walked through that area and into what seemed a lot like the LA Clothing District. There were shops, fabric stores, and pharmacies on every block. The whole tone had changed. The roads were in disastrous shape in this section (just blocks from the last section) and the shoppers seemed more local. 

				Unfortunately, none of the said pharmacies carried gel hand sanitizer, but several stores did carry ice cream so I indulged. I also visited several western camping gear stores (e.g., North Face, Columbia, Mountain Hardware) and they all carried exactly what all the small trekking stores carried. None had an insulator for my water hose nor a replacement Kula cloth. Piss! [See what I did there?]

				About the roads, what was there to say? The drivers in Nepal were exceptionally talented. This is obviously true given the mayhem happening nonstop in the road. Everyone honked just to make you aware they were there. Most drivers stuck to their assigned side of the road (the wrong one by American terms) while motorbikes swerved everywhere. And, there were virtually no sidewalks so 
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				Ignore the scaffolding; we’re rebuilding
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				Before the cleanup (hidden behind a tarp)
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				everyone walked on the sides of the roads—scratch that—alleys. Definitely alleys, and not roads. There were also rickshaws and taxis all over stopping to heckle tourists into taking rides with them. Absolute chaos; and, yet I never saw one person hit (though someone did hit the mirror and side of Jeevan’s nice car).

				I picked up dessert for my second Netflix-in-bed night and also bought a pastry for the morning. I desperately hoped we would be on that early morning flight. I returned to the restaurant where I’d eaten the night before. They were so accommodating and the food was good. I looked forward to trying different dishes so ordered something that sounded interesting, pulled out my journal, and started typing.

				As soon as I returned to my hotel room, I took another blissful shower and ran out to buy more hand sanitizer (the liquid-y type I’d purchased in Chitwan wasn’t going to last so I needed to replace it with gel) and Crazy Glue (no, the manicurist was not up to the quality of my artisan back home and one of my fake nails was already starting to fall off—uff-da!). I rushed back to the hotel so I could learn the plight of my upcoming flight.

				Jeevan sent me an update via Facebook Messenger and asked me to call him. He explained that because of all the skipped flights due to weather out of the Kathmandu airport, they were moving all Lukla flights to Manthali; that was where all flights originated and terminated during high season. The switch was meant to happen the following week, but the government decided to move it forward a week in hopes more flights could reach Lukla. This would require a 3-4 hour drive to the alternative airport. The flight time between Kathmandu and Lukla was 30 minutes while the flight time between Manthali and Lukla would be only about 15 minutes. The benefit of the closer airport was that we would not have to fly over two high passes, only one. This provided a better chance of weather not being as much of a problem. The bad news was that because our flight was changed, Ram and I were now on a later flight, 9 AM. This meant that seven flights would have to leave the ground before we could hitch a ride on one. The odds didn’t sound good, but… Flexepal.

				With a 2:45 AM wake-up call, it was time for a brownie and Netflix.

			

		

		
			
				A cable nightmare

			

		

		
			
				Yes, just walk over that, too
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				Crew Post

				I’m not in the Everest Himalaya; I’m in Kathmandu. Our Lukla flight was delayed from 7 AM to whenever AM, then to 9 AM, then to whenever AM, and then to no AM. All due to weather. The problem wasn’t in Lukla; it was on one of the passes between Kath-mandu and Lukla. The wind speed on the pass was 11 knots and 9 is the max in which they can fly.

				I returned to the hotel, spent the day exploring Durbar Square (one of the UNESCO sites), and am now heading to bed for a 2:45 AM wake-up call. The government decided to stop all flights from Kathmandu to Lukla because there’ve been too many grounded flights recently. Normally, they move all Lukla flights to a different airport starting in April (high season), but they’re choosing to move them all to the alternative airport starting tomorrow instead. We have a 3-4 hour drive to the new airport and will hopefully have better luck getting out of there. It’s a 15 minute instead of 30 minute flight and only requires flying over one high pass instead of two. The only other way to get to Lukla is by walking 2-4 days.

				A little help, please: Is it “Flexepal” or “Flepal”?

			

		

		
			
				Walking back to the hotel
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				Manthali (3/27/24): Day 1

				Manthali

				Stuck… Day Two

				Confucius Says

				“He who will not economize will have to agonize.”

				I was up before my 2:45 AM alarm so had time to call Winter. It was always so nice to talk with everyone at home. I took my time getting ready, even getting another last-minute shower before the long haul of sweatiness and stinky clothing for a week. I was even downstairs and ready to go 25 minutes early… before Ram arrived.

				Our private driver took us the four-or-so hours to Manthali Airport on what were typical Nepali roads. Because seat belts were optional (and often nonworking) anyway, I was able to lay down in the backseat, rest my head on my clothes bag, cover myself with my sleeping bag, and get in a lot of extra winks. I awoke for the second time (there was an obligatory bathroom stop needed along the way) about 15 minutes before we arrived. It was a rough 15 minutes. Think: the Road to Hana if it were dirt and smelled a bit like burning trash. I couldn’t imagine how people with propensities toward car sickness handled that drive. Also, our poor driver only had a one-way ticket. He had to drive the 80 miles and four hours back without a fare to make it doubly-worthwhile.

			

		

		
			
				Teahouse: Sabina Bhojanalaya & Lodge

			

		

		
			
				Oh... the desperation

			

		

		
			
				Construction in Manthali, always construction
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				I bought coffee and tea for our driver, Ram, and me then the driver headed out and Ram went to check the status of our flight. We were on the eleventh plane out and three had left when we arrived around 7:30 AM. Eleven was a big number so I prayed the weather would hold. If not, we were destined to spend the night in Manthali. After giving me the heads-up, Ram told me to be seated at a table in a cafe while he went away for over an hour. The bonus was access to wifi. It worked out well because I spent the time trying to use a new mapping app, OsmAnd, called the Fam, ate my chocolate croissant from the day before, and worked on my journal. A not-bonus was watching the woman at the counter alternating between loving and beating her about five-year-old child.

				This resting thing was becoming a habit. After weeks of walking and exploring non-stop, the idea of playing Spider Solitaire seemed foreign… until I started do it. I spent lots of time reading aimlessly about the most dangerous airports in the world. Yes, Lukla won the prize. I learned that “only experienced pilots who completed at least 100 short take-off and landing (STOL) flights and completed ten flights into Lukla with a certified instructor are permitted” to fly in and out of the airport. I assured my Crew that I hadn’t fallen off the side of the mountain (maybe that one was a bit of a fib), been pushed into oblivion by an avalanche, rockslide, or mudslide, been gored by a rhino nor kicked by an elephant, lost consciousness due to hypothermia or pulmonary edema, nor lost any fingers, toes, or a nose to frostbite; therefore, I was doing really well. Everything was going easy peasy; the Lukla airport would be no match for me. I occupied my mind with everything I could think of and finally took a nap at the table. 

				1:00 PM, the witching hour for Lukla flights, came and went and we hadn’t been permitted to fly. Of the three flights that took off early in the morning, all were diverted back to Manthali where they ultimately landed. Lucky ducks! They were able to see the scenery (or at least the fog) more times than everyone else. We were on the docket for the number four flight in the morning after those three groups. Then, there was another change. Jeevan switched us to a different airline because it had more planes on the ground in Manthali. Unfortunately, this meant we had a later departure, 9 AM. That was much later than I would have liked. I wanted to be the first ones out in case only a few planes were able to fly. Also, I figured an early exit meant an earlier arrival which meant more time to hike so I could advance farther on the trail. I had two days to make up. I looked over the map and talked with Ram. We decided that since my ultimate goal was EBC, it would make sense to go counter-clockwise instead of clockwise as was the original plan. This meant that if I ran out of time, at least I would have reached EBC. We would follow the planned itinerary in reverse and I would try to jam the first few days. The change in direction also required faster acclimatization, but I hoped that wouldn’t be a problem after Annapurna and I would start Diamox as soon as I could (depending on how many pills I had remaining). Interestingly, the original plan had me climbing more at the beginning instead of taking the more gradual eastern approach. I never understood why this was the case. Perhaps it was because trekkers normally take zero days and the towns on the western route were better for this purpose. I later learned this was simply because a model plan I’d sent to Jeevan when I started discussing the possibility of working with him had the map moving clockwise. Lhasso Adventures, Jeevan’s company, usually started clients moving counter-clockwise because of the steepness of the eastern side.
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				There wasn’t much to do in Manthali. The temple was said to take several hours to reach if I wanted to walk and other than that and the river, it wasn’t a great sightseeing town. So, I just took a walk first around the community nearest the airport and then up the road to a bridge that crossed the town’s hallmark river. I took lots of pictures of people doing their everyday people things—so different from the everyday people things I’m was used to witnessing in Big Town, USA. For example, I saw women carrying dirt and dung and plowing fields. Adults always returned a smile and namaste, but the children loved saying “hello” and getting their pictures taken. I saw one group of eight-year-old boys playing marbles and a group of young teens playing something like baseball. A lot of men just stared at me or my legs. Uncovered female legs seemed pretty vacant in Nepal overall. But, I was hot and didn’t want to sweat in the hiking clothes I’d be wearing for well over a week without cleaning so ignored it and wore my sundress.

				I came back to the airport area where the teahouses were clustered and stopped to take pictures of darling baby goats. I also made sure to take pictures of the planes because I knew Mike, an airplane aficionado, would be curious.

				I scoured the neighborhood for hard apple cider (everyone carried beer and the seriously unappealing white wine I’d tried a few days before) and then had my teahouse hostess prepare veggie chow mien for my early (4 PM) dinner. While eating, helicopters continued to take off. There was no way I was shelling out US$900 to cover the added fares for Ram and me. I figured another night of Netflix wouldn’t be horrible before I kicked it into gear the next day: fingers triple crossed!

			

		

		
			
				View from the restaurant

			

		

		
			
				My room for the night

			

		

		
			
				My hostess

			

		

		
			
				Must be laundry day

			

		

		
			
				Local kids loved the way-laid trekkers

			

		

		
			
				I loved these guys!

			

		

		
			
				Crossing the bridge
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				Crew Post

				Grounded… day two. I don’t remember being grounded this long when I was a kid—Mom and Dad were saps when it came to me. I suppose that was because I always felt guiltier than any punishment was worth. We drove four hours in the wee hours of the morning to get to Manthali where the government decided that as of today all Lukla flights would originate. Arrival was at 7:30 AM. We sat and waited until just after 1 PM in case there were any last minute take-offs; ours was the next scheduled flight. There weren’t.

				This meant we were spending the rest of the day and all night in a town where the main attraction is the airport. While that might appeal to my husband, I was over it after the first five hours. I walked around town watching people as they did their everyday ac-tivities. That’s about it. Ram (my new guide) and I decided to alter the itinerary to do it counterclockwise instead of clockwise. This will guarantee (should I be so bold?) that I’ll make it to EBC. The other way takes longer and I don’t want to get stuck and never make it to my goal destination.
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				Store on the bottom, home on top, future homes above

			

		

		
			
				View from the hotel
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				Manthali (3/28/24): Day 2 

				Waiting for Lukla

				Day Three… Still in a Holding Pattern

				Confucius Says

				“If you look into your own heart and you find nothing wrong there, what is there to worry about? What is there to fear?”

				[I really didn’t understand this one. How could you ever not find some-thing wrong in your heart? And since there’s always room for improve-ment, does that mean you should always worry and fear?]

				5:30 AM: I woke to hear planes taking off—a great sign! It was terribly overcast in Manthali, but the mountain was clearly visible in Lukla via webcam.

				7:30 AM: Flights taking off while we waited at the airport for our 8 AM flight (the day before I was told we wouldn’t leave until 9 AM). Frustrated because I’d really wanted to be on the first flight of the morning.

				8:30 AM: All flights stopped due to weather/visibility. There were two planes with our carrier 

			

		

		
			
				Morning Temperature (inside): 75°F

				Hotel: Hotel Kasthamanda

			

		

		
			
				View of the Lukla runway—Looks clear!

			

		

		
			
				An expensive alternative
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				flying back-and-forth. Both the one in Manthali and the one in Lukla were grounded with one plane in each location. We were number four in line so about two hours after the airport reopened, I would have a chance of getting out. They would reassess reopening at 11:00 AM. I called everyone in the Fam, but every call was dropped. I was understandably bored so kept updating the Crew on the flight situation; I’m sure they didn’t appreciate so many dings on the Messenger app. Next, I worked on my pictures from the trip (I really wanted to send Bishwo the ones I’d taken of him) and finally broke down and played lots of Spider Solitaire.

				11 AM: Airport still closed due to weather so we were back in a wait-and-see holding pattern. All flights would cease no later than 2 PM because winds were always too strong after that time (it was 1 PM the previous day so who really knew the truth?). Several groups were choosing to take the eight hour Nepali dirt road route that ended in a two day hike into Lukla. I definitely was avoiding that given the quality of the road and likelihood I would spend much of the time carsick unless I could sleep through it. My spirits were dropping. At least I’d been able to go through all my pictures to choose which to keep and which to edit and I was able to send Bishwo the pictures and videos I’d taken of him. I really missed him. He’d always been there for me and we shared great communication.

				11:45 AM: Not happening. Ram went in search of a hotel that would be a bit more livable than the one from the previous night. A problem was that prices in Manthali were elevated because they knew trekkers and climbers were stuck in the town without options.
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				Typical hotel 

				bathroom

			

		

		
			
				My hotel room

			

		

		
			
				View of Manthali

			

		

		
			
				Leaving the airport... another delay

			

		

		
			
				Are goats affected by noise pollution?

			

		

		
			
				Bags being loaded... a good sign
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				Ram found a room in a hotel with a connected bathroom including a hot shower and wifi for US$18.75. Having been used to less than this for a teahouse as well as my meals made this price seem exorbitant. We had to take a tuk-tuk (Ram didn’t seem keen on walking the 0.5 miles with a pack) so that added to the cost. I needed to get out of these towns so I could walk and save money.

				I moved into my room and washed the clothes I’d been wearing the last three days. In Manthali’s low humidity, they would probably dry before our plane left and I’d be able to start the trek with fairly clean clothes. I met Ram on a third-floor patio overlooking the town. Manthali was so much bigger than I had imagined. People were walking, playing, working, and driving (motorbikes and tuk-tuks) all over. The hotel was by what seemed to be Main Street with lots of stores appealing to locals. In Kathmandu, most of the stores I saw were geared toward tourists—trekking paraphernalia, souvenirs, pharmacies, restaurants, bakeries, clothing stores and the occasional cloth store where they sold fabrics by the bolt and paper store where they sold large beautiful pieces of paper similar to gift wrapping paper. Here, they were repair tools, toy, and 7-11-like stores.

				I ate my linner, something that looked like dal baht because it was a plate with lots of different sample-sized dishes on it while Ram and I discussed the possibilities for the next day (though I didn’t understand much of what he said). He told me Jeevan was working on an alternative plan on his end. Jeevan had been so communicative with me, checking in by Messenger or calling via FaceBook. I knew he was working hard to ensure I had the most positive experience possible.
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				Creative plumbing

			

		

		
			
				I always tie up my goats when 

				shopping, too

			

		

		
			
				I think it was a trash can

			

		

		
			
				Street dog problem

			

		

		
			
				Street market
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				Foot Locker

			

		

		
			
				Sherwin-Williams

			

		

		
			
				Photo store

			

		

		
			
				Metalworks aisle of Home Depot

			

		

		
			
				FAO Schwartz

			

		

		
			
				Computer store

			

		

		
			
				Chair store

			

		

		
			
				Buy your chickens here!

			

		

		
			
				Bookstore and printing shop

			

		

		
			
				Barber shop

			

		

		
			
				Another electronics store

			

		

		
			
				Electronics store
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				After lunch, I took a walk about town. With cars and motorbikes rushing by, dust was omnipresent. Locals threw water on the ground in front of their storefronts to help decrease dust covering their wares, but it was mostly a losing battle. Some also walked around with a feather duster trying to keep their goods clean. I couldn’t keep clean and should have been wearing a mask to lessen my allergies. No wonder so many Nepali people are still wearing masks in a post-COVID world. 

				I wandered because all who wander are not lost. I took lots of pictures of such a different culture. There were miniature versions of Home Depot, Sherwin-Williams, Claire’s, Glamour Shots, Best Buy, Zales, and all the departments of Target—all haphazardly separated into small, independent storefront shops. I remember it being this way in London and New York, but it was so foreign to a westerner used to big box stores where everything was available in one building. There were also lines of fruit and vegetable stands on both sides of the road all offering the same options. No one ever said “namaste” or smiled at me except children who always acknowledged me followed with a coy giggle. But when I initiated the “namaste” and smiled, every person smiled back. The children adored having their pictures taken and letting me show them their faces enlarged on the small phone screen. A lot of school children asked me where I was from and how old I was. I figured these were the first questions they learned in English class.

				I tried to buy an orange, but it was NPR50 (US$0.38) and the vendor couldn’t change my smallest denomination, a 1000 Nepal rupee. I walked about two miles, sauntering slowly and letting the call of the ice cream store lead my way. I started back and was a bit lost so took another road and then another until I realized I’d already been on that road… maybe several times on that same road. Okay, some who wander are, in fact, lost. I found some police officers and asked where I might find my hotel… “Sant-something?” or maybe “Sack-something?” It started with an “S” anyway. They figured it out (there are probably less than three hotels in the entire city) and pointed me in the right direction. I walked and walked and couldn’t find it. Then, I saw a slew of schoolchildren. Lightbulb! They study English in school and I’d even seen a school that purported it was an “English School.” I approached the first group of kids, all boys, and told them of my dilemma. They behaved about like seventh grade boys in the US would, astounded that a foreigner was talking with them and egging each other on. One boy was particularly helpful so I assumed he was finagling me so I sought out a group of school girls instead (identifiable by their uniforms) who gave me the same answer. I’d walked up and down that street several times and not seen the hotel, but the police, boys, and girls insisted it was on that block. I finally found it (the entrance was in a basement so the sign was very low) and was incredibly relieved. I needed to start remembering the names of my hotels or at least taking pictures of them. I’d written the name of the hotel in my journal, but I’d left my iPad locked in the room. Useless!

				I took a quick-as-possible-because-the-water-was-warm-but-not-hot shower and hand-washed the clothes I’d been wearing on the walk. I would leave with everything clean, just as I’d started my original Everest trip. Then, there was really nothing to do. I hadn’t seen any trekkers at my hotel and couldn’t speak the language of the locals so decided to veg again and watch more Netflix. 

				Hungry and noting it was really loud outside, I moved to the lobby to order dinner—paneer curry, the delicious peanut salad I’d learned to order in Kathmandu (but not spicy!), and hard cider. I hadn’t eaten this much (lunch and dinner both on the same day) even when trekking. As I ate and worked on my journal on the third floor patio, the sun went down to the tune of children playing in the streets. It was all very Norman Rockwell-ish if Norman Rockwell had observed children playing in dirt and watched live chickens being delivered to homes for dinner. Soccer and tag were the primary games of choice under the streetlights.
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				Ram met me at my table and we eventually learned we were to be at the airport at 5 AM the next morning. Even though we were scheduled for the second set of flights, many people left in jeeps today so there might be a few open seats on the earliest, sunrise flight. We decided we would not spend another night in Manthali; if we couldn’t make it to Lukla in the morning, we would endure the jeep-from-hell alternative. All this rescheduling meant that my trek was getting shorter and shorter. I began worrying about whether there would be time for me to see any of the Everest Himalaya other than EBC. My number one goal was to see the climbers’ tents and the beginning of the Khumbu Icefall. I wasn’t sure what Ram said, but I had the impression I would be able to see the icefall from basecamp. Then, again, maybe he said we couldn’t because of our permit. I’d also become really excited about crossing Cho La Pass and reaching Gokyo Ri (the best location for viewing Everest’s summit) so really, really hoped to get out really early in the morning. It was 7:30 PM and time to pay my hotel bill (it was unlikely they’d be awake when we left). I headed to bed for another oh-too-early (but glad to be moved higher on the waiting list) wake-up call.

				Crew Post

				Take three failed so Ram and I ended up spending the day in Manthali again. I took a walk about town and it turns out that some who wander are, in fact, lost. Good thing Nepali children are learning English so I could ask for help, but their language skills tend to decrease after asking “Where are you from?,” “What is your name?,” and “How old are you?” Good thing I didn’t feel uncomfortable sharing my age.

			

		

		
			
				Me next, me next!

			

		

		
			
				Will you take our pic-ture, too?

			

		

		
			
				Take my picture, please?

			

		

		
			
				This is us...

			

		

		
			
				Heathens who only wanted candy
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				Manthali (3/29/24): Day 3

				Still Waiting for Lukla

				Take Four… NOPE!

				Confucius Says

				“In a country well governed, poverty is something to be ashamed of. In a country badly governed, wealth is something to be ashamed of.”

				I hate mosquitoes. When busy during the day, my dozens of bites don’t bother me; in the night, they’re torture. That was one reason I was awake before my 4 AM alarm. I did physical therapy on my bed (the floor was definitely questionable) and packed. I met Ram earlier than planned to give him my sleeping bag and climbed the stairs to reach the lobby. We were locked in! All I could think was: “Triangle Shirtwaist Factory”! Ram assured me someone would unlock the gate and ten minutes later (now our planned departure time), someone did. We moved to the lobby and, guess what? The front door had a huge locked metal garage-sized door, too. Thank goodness there was no fire. And, really? Was this for our safety? Other than children begging for candy and money, it sure seemed to be a safe area. Who wants my dirty clothes anyway and who needs a -10° sleeping bag in a place where it’s sundress weather in the winter?

			

		

		
			
				Morning Temperature (inside): 71°F

				Hostel: Unofficial Homestay

			

		

		
			
				Milling and praying

			

		

		
			
				Moved to the second waiting room!

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 184 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				We were finally out of Fort Knox when our tuk-tuk arrived. We had to wait… again. Five minutes later, a third passenger arrived. Note: this is a tuk-tuk. One seat in the front, two minuscule seats in the back. Ram had put his backpack in the “trunk” behind our seat and mine was on my lap. The new guy, beyond the laws of physics, stuffed his pack into the trunk and butt into the backseat and, yet another five minutes later, we were at the airport. 

				I was happy to be leaving so early; surely, we’d be the first to arrive and they’d move us to the front of the line. In fact, we’d be so early that they’d let a plane fly during twilight and we’d be the only ones on it. Not quite. On the way to the airport, we passed a group of about 15 trekkers hauling their packs in our direction. And, sure enough, upon arrival, there was a huge crowd of waiting customers. But, wait! It grew… and grew. The 60 or so people there at 5 AM became several hundred by 6:30. Ugh!

				Ram assigned me to stand in a line with my passport, ticket, and his guide license. I was first, thank goodness. Wait and wait some more. This was reminding me of growing up on an Air Force Base in the 1970s—one line after another, all requiring ridiculous amounts of wait time without cell phones to keep us busy. We might as well have been in the Soviet Union! I really started appreciating my mom for the hours she entertained me in those lines without going stir crazy. 

				One of the agents told another guy to go to another side and I was completely confused. Then, the agent started taking passports from everyone in line. This placed my passport, the first taken, at the bottom of the collection. Seriously? Not only was I parted from my passport, mine was now on the bottom of the pile. Ram was standing to the side trying unsuccessfully to communicate with the agent. I told him I needed him to stand by me. I was worried they’d tell me to do something, I wouldn’t know what they said, and they’d swish me aside to address the next potential passenger. He complied and we continued waiting.

				There was an airport employee who I believed may have been one of the higher-ups who saw us and gave us a nod. He’d seen us every day for the last three and I hoped he’d take pity on us. My passport was returned shortly after and we moved to the window two feet away for our luggage tags. We swiftly moved to relinquish our gear. And waited. Ram released me to procure desperate cups of coffee (did I really want to be awake through all this) and I pulled out my inReach knowing it was likely I’d not be able to connect with the Crew in the near future. I also had to put my battery pack and Swiss Army knife in my checked baggage. Really? On a plane with fourteen passengers all heading to Everest to hike, was this really a concern? I guess so. Perhaps it was a matter of pressurizing the plane. Yeah, right.

				I breezed through “security” except I was asked for my ticket which Ram was holding. Yes, I 
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				beeped because I was holding my phone, iPad, inReach, coffee, water bottle, and money belt and was passed through without a peep. I wasn’t sure of the purpose of the metal detector. Maybe they’d be guilty of racial profiling in Manthali? If I’d been holding a machine gun, maybe she would have had me put it down and go through the metal detector again, returning it afterward.

				Men and women went through different fabric-separated rooms so the woman who was to pat me down went to talk with someone else. In the meantime, I placed my things on the table and assumed the Vitruvian man pose. She returned and told me to go. No pat down. No nothing. Ram and I were in the gate area!

				My plane was in Lukla (where it was raining) with plans to return to Manthali. It would bring a group of passengers from Lukla to Manthali and take a plane of passengers from this holding area back to Lukla (not including us). It would pick up a second group of Lukla passengers and when it returned, it would be our turn to board. 

				The day had been rush, rush, rush then wait 20 minutes… repeat. All. Morning. Long. Finally, we were to the exciting time… sit and pray for 1.5 hours and then—all stars aligning—run to the plane. If we didn’t get out within a few hours, the plane transformed into a miserable 12-13 hour jeep ride over obnoxious terrain followed by that five hour hike to get to Lukla. Not even being prone to carsickness, I wasn’t sure it was worth it.

				Now here was an surprising insight: their system was completely disorganized and chaotic. I knew my guide had been through this process a crazy number of times, but even he was sometimes unsure of what to do and what was going on in this peanut-sized airport. Geez, there weren’t that many flights and they did this every day. How could they not have an even remotely efficient system? Oh, wait… Flexepal. It could be worse. After all, I WAS on my way to Mount Everest!

				When a group of passengers (not including Ram and me) were led from the seated waiting room to the standing waiting room, we all clapped. Someone was getting on a plane and I prayed I’d be next! I was so happy for them since I’d learned that we were going in order of whoever had waited the longest. I was also happy because each flight out meant I was one closer to the possibility to making it out by plane rather than the jeep from hell. Then, we heard and saw it. The beautiful sound of an airplane followed by fumes being released into 

			

		

		
			
				Get comfy

			

		

		
			
				Stretching while waiting

			

		

	
		
			
				the ozone layer. What a fantastic view. As it touched ground, we clapped and hooted. A second plane arrived, more clapping; a third arrived, more clapping and hooting; a fourth, much rejoicing; and, a fifth, hallelujah! Then, blessing of blessings, they all took off! We would be leaving after their (fingers crossed) 45-minute roundtrips.

				They returned thirty minutes later! Hallelujah! Why wasn’t Ram anywhere to be found? Why wasn’t he in a rush to move me to the loading area? Let’s go! Let’s go! Then, he slowly saunters from the bathroom and I rush to him. “Isn’t this us?!?” “No, those planes were diverted.” What?!??! The planes that left half-an-hour before still had the same people on them. The planes weren’t able to land in Lukla. How long had Ram known this? We would need to wait… again—the goal being for the weather to lift, these planes to leave and actually land in Lukla and come back with passengers, and the weather to hold long enough for us to get on the plane in Manthali and on the ground inLukla. Life was not looking good. I learned later that day that none of the planes that left Manthali in the morning had been able to land during the very brief clear window between the two locales.

				I was hungry around 10:30 AM so Ram found a recommendation for a place he hadn’t been. They even provided a free ride so they must have really wanted us. It wasn’t far from the airport, my biggest fear because I wanted to be ready to go. Ram assured me they would call him if things changed and we needed to rush back to the airport. The place also offered accommodations that seemed fine so I agreed to stay there for the night if we were unable to fly. Again, it was more than I wanted to spend, but there was a possibility of having a roommate to split the cost. At this rate of flight departures, I’d expect the entire town to be filled.

				I certainly didn’t relish being stuck another day in a town with absolutely nothing to do. If this were any rural town in the USA, every kid would probably be on drugs and every adult an alcoholic. I guessed since the locals were so busy trying to survive, there was no room for those frivolities.

				The lunch menu was small and decreased as I requested different options. It would be veggie chow mien again, the safest option. I also decided to live dangerously so ordered grape lassi. I wasn’t sure if water was a main ingredient so took my chances with my GI system. My view was a work site where a woman was scraping excess concrete into a bowl to remove it. We were put at a table for ten for some unbeknownst reason so five boisterous, loud men joined us and spoke on their phones by speaker when they weren’t talking loudly with each other. If we had to spend another night in Manthali, I would have to find another place for dinner—I wanted more menu options and an improved ambiance; perhaps I would return to the hotel from the previous night where the food was really good.

				I was frustrated with Ram. He seemed to always be absent, on his phone, or speaking with others in Nepali without telling me what was going on. I’m sure he was working on our arrangements, but without communicating this, I was not happy. We also had troubles communicating socially. He often didn’t understand my questions so just kept repeating what he’d already told me. And, he spoke so 

			

		

	
		
			
				softly or with a difficult-for-me-to-understand accent that I always had to ask him to repeat himself. These were problems I would have zero patience for in the States. I had been so spoiled with Bishwo. Bishwo had been so attentive and focused on ensuring I was having the best possible experiences. He always included me—listening and responding to my concerns, including me in decision-making, letting me be me, and giving in when I wanted to listen to my audiobooks while in safe terrain. Maybe it was just because Ram and I weren’t walking that it wasn’t working, but it was tough. Maybe I wouldn’t have enjoyed waiting around for four days regardless of who I was with and would have become increasingly judgmental. 

				Another concern was the number of days I had to complete the EBC trek if we were ever able to reach to the range. I’d started getting excited about Cho La Pass since Bishwo informed me it was the second hardest pass I would encounter. I was also looking forward to Gokyo Ri—said to be the best place to glimpse a view of Everest’s summit. Even if I was able to get out by plane on this day or the next, it was unlikely I’d have time to hike to more than Basecamp and straight back. Taking a jeep the next day or having to wait a sixth day for a flight wasn’t an option; I wouldn’t even be able to make it to Basecamp and back. I was told there were trekking options that didn’t include Basecamp, but I wasn’t interested. I’d come to Nepal to complete three goals: the Circuit, ABC, and EBC. I’d added Chitwan because I’d heard so many good things about it, but there weren’t many other places in Nepal outside of Kathmandu that interested me. I knew there was a good possibility I’d have to wait several days for a flight to reach Lukla because of weather, but four seemed excessive. Ram said the longest he’d ever had to wait was two days. Don’t get me wrong… I was happy to not be flying into the most dangerous airport in the world if the pilots who routinely did the route didn’t think it was safe, but it sucked anyway.

				We went back to the airport for a nap in remarkably comfortable seats. It was hot, dusty, and muggy outside when I left to buy lassi and chips and I was happy to return to the one place in town that had an air conditioner, the single airline “gate.” Now that everyone was cleared by TSA (by their standards), no one cared if we walked in and out of the gate area. Inside, outside… back-and-forth… no one cared. It was too hot to care and who would still be hanging around the airport at three in the afternoon if they intended any harm. Besides, everyone was too lethargic to do anything except sprint to an airplane if anyone hinted that a weather window opened.

				A lot more Spider Solitaire and the airport was clearing out. The jeep’ers had left and we’d heard at least ten helicopters (each with five passengers) leave the ground. We were moving closer to the front of the line with every whirlybird. I moved two sets of chairs together, put my feet up, and switched on Netflix. I didn’t have headphones, but there was no one left to disturb. I wished I could stay overnight in the airport—air conditioning, relatively clean floor, bathrooms, running water, and chairs with padding. Some teahouses only had plywood, not mattresses, on the wooden bed frames. I’d been laying down the comforters provided by the teahouses to make softer, warmer beds. Staying overnight at the airport also meant I wouldn’t have to worry about the rigmarole of checking in, putting my bag through (shall we be generous and call it) security, and myself through the all-but-burdensome TSA. And, best of all, I could sleep until whenever my plane left instead of the insane hour of 4 AM. 
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				Unfortunately, the airport deemed itself closed at 3:15 PM so I unhappily packed—dreams of making it to Lukla crushed—to leave my special place. I knew I’d return early the next morning. 

				One flight made it to Lukla on this day. My trip was already far more expensive than I’d planned so I wouldn’t consider the added expense of a helicopter, even after Shawna humorously said she’d start a GoFundMe campaign to get me there. When I told her there were other people who needed flights more than I did by citing the man I’d witnessed walking miles uphill while vomiting to reach a clinic that may or may not be staffed when he arrived, Shawna said that I was the only one that needed a helicopter to Everest. Even that was questionable so I graciously declined her offer.

				Ram suggested several places to stay the night, but I just wanted someplace close. I was used to what I learned was called shallow trench latrines and other anomalies of teahouses so my standards were very, very low by that point. He said the places near the airport were surely full, but I insisted (against his will) that we at least ask. At the first place we asked, they had rooms available. It was more of a homestay than hotel or teahouse. It ended up being on a street adjacent to the airport on which I’d walked a few days prior. I would be staying in the house of two of the girls I’d danced with in the street and given chocolate. Their families each lived in two of the rooms on the bottom floor. The room was relatively clean and nice and there was a “hot” shower downstairs (not hot enough to wash my hair on an 80°F day, but enough to clean off the sweat I’d earned after a hard day of doing nothing at the airport). There was good wifi and a connected bathroom. The only problem was OSHA issues. They were doing major construction in a bathroom between two floors so each time I walked up and down they would have to move all their tools. The (surely) asbestos in the air remained. I felt badly asking them to scooch over when I needed to pass, but it was my only option. They were using some type of power tool with a duct-taped cord and were mixing concrete right there on the steps. Everything was just so foreign to an American used to living in a safety bubble.

				The girls were delighted beyond belief. One even remembered my name! They followed me everywhere like puppy dogs, even waiting with me in line for the shower and watching as I 
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				Should we have a Disney night?

			

		

		
			
				View from my homestay
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				put my Scrubba’d clothes on the porch to dry. When I went down the street for dinner, they followed me and came to my table a few times to ask my name again and what I was doing on my iPad. I figured the easiest answer was to say I was writing a book about my trip; they were in awe. Even more children came to ask my name and watch me type.

				I ordered chow mien and went wild by adding egg then decided I needed hooch so picked up two hard ciders. I figured I’d earned it by sitting on my bottom for four days and not blowing a gasket. As I wrote my “book,” a boy came to sit with me. He talked with me a bit (“What is your name?”) then asked me for chocolate. I politely refused. Next, the girls from the homestay and their two friends arrived and asked to sit at my table. My response was: “I will be writing awhile,” and the ring leader sat down saying: “That’s okay,” She asked question after question in English with impressive language skills. First, they brought some small berries, like blackberries, and shared them with me. That was incredibly sweet. The girls learned about Mike, Ryan, Winter and their ages and jobs. The whole transgender thing didn’t translate well, but I figured that was okay. They’d already been stunned when they asked what I was drinking. They didn’t know the word “alcohol,” but were concerned when I said “beer.” One quite interesting question was “What caste are you in?” They were unsure about my answer when I said the USA doesn’t have a caste system. Later I thought that perhaps the USA does have a caste system; we call it income level. 

				Eventually, Little Miss Ring Leader informed me they would be visiting my room at 6 PM. I told her I would be resting because of an early morning departure; that wasn’t really a problem according to her. They would still be there. She did tell me my hair was beautiful so maybe I could fit in a minute to entertain my admirers. I know they would have loved to watch a Disney movie with me, but I just didn’t want to watch a Disney movie on my iPad with a bunch of girls that night so wisely didn’t voice the suggestion.

				I returned to the room for that aforementioned rest and early sleep. I arrived back closer to 7 PM than 6 PM; maybe that’s why there was no gaggle of girls at my door. I brought in my laundry and prepped everything for the morning. Some Benadryl for those darned mosquito bites (by this time covering my body), a little chocolate, and an hour of Netflix. Time for a short night’s sleep and hopeful it would be restful enough to get me most of the way to Namche Bazaar the following day.
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				Crew Post

				It didn’t happen. The airport called it a day around 3:15 and we all had to vacate the building. It was a bummer because they had comfortable seats, air conditioning, a mostly clean floor, wifi, and a close (what I learned was called) shallow trench latrine. And… it was free! You can’t beat that! I would have been ecstatic to stay there overnight. Instead, we’re each in rooms in the home of the two girls that danced with me yesterday and to whom I gave chocolate. They were delighted I was in Mathali and became the most popular girls on the block. I’ve been informed by their ring leader that there will be a gaggle of girls visiting my room at 6 PM. Oh, please, no! If I were a kind person, I’d buy some popcorn and put a Disney movie on my iPad. Four days of waiting and I’m cranky and not excited about my 4 AM wake-up call so I predict I won’t be home when they come a-knocking.

				Good news… looks like we’re scheduled to be on the first set of flights tomorrow thanks to all the practical people who chose to go by jeep-from-hell or helicopter-of-the-rich-and-famous. Jeevan informed me the weather is improving so there’s hope. I’m down to the wire so will only have time to do an out-and-back to EBC.

			

		

		
			
				Children loved hanging with me

			

		

		
			
				Sharing her berries

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 191 •

			

		

		
			
				Everest Basecamp 
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				Everest Himalaya (3/30/24): Stage 1

				Manthali to Lukla to Namche Bazaar

				Score!

				Confucius Says

				“Success depends upon previous preparation, and without such 

				preparation, there is sure to be failure.”

				[Good thing I train year-round for excitement like this!]

				Ram and I were at the airport by 5 AM and delighted to be seated in the “You’re up next!” section. Every time we moved to a new location (like from the sitting area to outside to near the runway to near the plane), I became more and more giddy. Then, we were allowed to board the plane. Ram told me to sit on the left side for the best mountain views. It was cloudy and foggy, but still exciting to see the Everest Himalaya rising like spires into the sky above the clouds. I watched out my window the entire time.

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 12.6 mi

				Time: 10:52

				Ascent/Descent: +4,195’/-2,233’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 11,172’/1,555’/11,286’

				Morning Temperature (inside): 78°F

				Teahouse: Holiday Inn Namche

			

		

		
			
				Boarding in Manthali

			

		

		
			
				The cockpit
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				Then we turned, a U-turn. The woman across from me who’d been waiting for a measly four days (not like our five) and I caught each others’ eyes with this “We’re heading back” desperately sad face. We were in the clouds so couldn’t see where we were going, but it felt like we circled a bit and then headed back. All the sudden, we flew beneath the clouds and the town didn’t look like Manthali! We were landing in Lukla. We were all so excited and clapped and cheered when we touched down. After we were off the plane, Ram told me how brave the pilot was. The two other planes that left when we did both diverted back to Manthali. I was so glad to be in Lukla, but not sure “brave” was the right word for the pilot. Had he taken a chance with our lives? Oh, so what! We were in Lukla! 

				We were off the plane really quickly and the Lukla to Manthali passengers were quickly escorted to our seats. Fortunately, they were able to get back to Manthali, too. There was no time for coffee or a rest. I’d been waiting five days to get there and was ready to hike. We telescoped our poles to the perfect lengths and hit the trail stopping only for a few pictures of the runway and at the statuary in remembrance of the accomplishments of Tenzing Norgay and Edmund Hillary.

				Ram wasn’t excited about me wanting to immediately start walking without even a quick coffee break. I encouraged him to walk ahead so he’d have time to grab a cup of coffee while waiting for me; I met him just after we exited the far end of town where trekkers paid their fees and acquired permission slips to trek the trail. There were four windows and a person at each window. Ram had to stop at each one to complete another part of the process. I just couldn’t comprehend why they needed four employees and four different windows to process the permits. Flexepal. We’d walked 0.8 miles to reach the permitting station and were ready to start the Everest portion of my journey. I plugged in my headphones and pulled up “The Upanishads” because I disliked them and wanted to get the book over with. After a lot of downhill, the book concluded and I was relieved. I switched to “Wild Swans” and later to “Half the Sky.”

			

		

		
			
				The runway (a short downhill to the dropoff)

			

		

		
			
				Lukla Airport (see the town’s angle?)
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				We walked up a valley bisected by a beautiful aqua-blue river that reminded me of those on the John Muir Trail. There were large boulders, little waterfalls, and pools of water that when combined with the forest surrounding the river made it magical. At one point, Ram informed me we were at the point where the two rivers in the area merged—one from Mount Everest and the other from Tibet. 

				The towns we passed were surprisingly large, nothing like the little villages in the Annapurna region, and they seemed reminiscent of college party towns. Each of the towns existed solely to support the trekking industry so it made sense there would be lots of bars and places to hang out.

				One thing I wasn’t thrilled about was all the pack horses and mules. Yes, I loved seeing them and cooing at them, but there were so many that I was always having to move to the side of the trail and stop. Once, a horse came too near me with his load and pushed me over. Everyone was worried, but other than a bruised arm, I was perfectly fine. Ram and another guide called down that I shouldn’t have been walking while they were passing. The people near me and I both replied that I hadn’t been. It was just one more opportunity for Christy to fall in the wild… or not so wild, I wasn’t picky about where I lost my balance. 

				Time to stop for horses gave those of us on the trail a few minutes to talk. Several had helicoptered in the day before because they were on their fourth day of waiting. Others had been on our plane. The ones who arrived the day before were heading to the same destination those of us that had just arrived were hoping to reach, Namche Bazaar. Those of us arriving on this day were especially strapped for time so would need to load on extra miles to be able to accomplish our goals… all of which included EBC. I was the only hiker who’d hoped to visit EBC as part of the circuit route. I would now only be able to fit in the out-and-back to EBC because of the 
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				lost days. I grieved the loss of being able to trek over Cho La Pass and see Gokyo Ri; however, I was so relieved to be in the area that I let my regret flow away with the river.

				Another frustration I had was Ram. I was happy he was taking time to stop in the towns to spend time with his friends, but he’d told me that if I ever wasn’t sure which way to go then I should ask someone else on the trail. This seemed okay until I found myself walking for twenty minutes or more at a time without seeing him at all. Twice, I had to ask for directions. Then, I arrived at the beginning of Sagarmatha National Park where I was greeted by two guards. They asked for my permit which Ram had said he needed to carry; I wasn’t allowed to carry it myself. When I said my guide had it, they asked where my guide was. I gave this shrug that said: “Your best guess is mine.” I’d left him about twenty minutes before sitting with friends. I had time to change all my clothes, look at and take pictures of the relief map in the “visitor center” (without having any idea where I was, but impressed with the size of Everest compared to the surrounding mountains), and for the darling little girl there to help me find the bathroom. She then asked me if I had any drone cameras. Checking for drones and permits seemed to be the primary responsibility of the station. Apparently, she was the official asker because no one else ever inquired or checked my pack as the sign said they would. She and I then had a delightful conversation. 

				I was there probably fifteen minutes before Ram arrived and then had to wait even longer for him to produce our permits. I waited and waited and then realized he’d already done it and was waiting for me. I was pretty.. well… not happy. We started walking and he continued to move far ahead talking with a friend and at times passed out of my sight. I figured stewing wouldn’t have any positive impact so decided it was time for a heart-to-heart with him. When I finally reached him, I told him I was concerned about my safety because I wasn’t always sure where to go and asked if he would 

			

		

		
			
				Entrance to Sagarmatha NP

				Welcome

				This traditional kani gate marks your entry into the beyul Khumbu—a sacred hidden val-ley of the Sherpa people.

				Khumbu is also a world re-nowned National Park and Heritage Site.

				While visiting this special area, visitors are encouraged to:

				1 Refrain from taking life

				2 Refrain from anger

				3. Refrain from jealousy

				4 Refrain from offending others

				5 Refrain from taking excessive intoxicants

				Enjoy your visit!
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				always be there when we were in an area that required special action or decisions. He agreed to do so. He also assured me that when we arrived at the more dangerous parts of the trail above Namche Bazaar that he would be more present. I was glad we’d talked and all worked much better for the rest of the day.

				The walk was fairly easy for most of the day. We did a lot of down and then a lot of up. The problem with both was that they were stone pathways. I wasn’t always able to get a flat grip on the steps so sometimes rock edges would hit the bottom of my feet. I knew this had been a major problem for me on the Camino de Santiago, a problem I didn’t want to repeat. It had caused bruising and eventual pain on the soles of my feet. I hoped we would switch to a dirt trail soon enough. Then, thoough, we’d be on snow so where my toes might fall off from frostbite. At least they wouldn’t be bruised. The last two miles were the stairs I was used to from Annapurna.

				We reached my day’s goal, Namche Bazaar, where Ram had scheduled us in a very nice place that he’d used before. He’d been leading treks through the Himalayas for 34 years at this point including the EBC trek several times every year. He knew just about everyone who lived in the mountains and knew the best places to stay. I liked our teahouse a lot because it wasn’t freezing inside. They even had a real heater in the dining room! I was starting to like this Everest business, but didn’t want to get too excited because we had a lot more altitude to climb.I figured teahouse amenities would decrease in quality the higher we ascended.

				I ordered my typical lemon/ginger/honey water and garlic soup. I wasn’t hungry. My hiker hunger had vanished with my week of rest and return to altitude. I video-chatted with Jeevan and we came up with what seemed to be a good plan for the following day. Ram concurred.
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				It was time for bed if I had any hope of getting eight hours of sleep so I headed to my room where I sent an update to the Crew via the inReach (wifi was not free in Everest region teahouses) and tried frantically to complete my day’s journal entry before falling asleep at the keyboard. Background thunder rolled as I typed and rain drummed outside.

				Crew Post

				I was tired all day because this was… what… my fifth day of waking up around 4 AM. The deep exhaustion didn’t hit until late in the day and was accompanied by headache. I knew I needed a really good sleep for the rest of the Everest hike if I was to keep strong, healthy, and sane. 

				AM inReach message: If you don’t hear from me in the next three hours, it means I’m either in pieces across the Everest Himalaya and died happy or hiking from Lukla to as far north as I can possibly trav-el. I don’t know when I’ll have Internet access again. I’ll have my inReach, but everyone in this Crew forum is not in my inReach contacts. Here I go!

				PM: I made it and was able to hike to Namche Bazaar, a long way. This section is really beautiful with a gorgeous river running down the valley through which we’re walking. There are so many more towns than in the Annapurna Himalaya and some are really big (like where I’m staying tonight).
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				Everest Himalaya (3/31/24): Stage 2

				Namche Bazaar to Pangboche 

				Everest Sighting!

				Confucius Says

				“He who learns but does not think is lost! He who thinks but does not learn is in great danger.”

				Lots of bathroom stops in the night and up early, not the original plan. I took advantage of the time to work and rework my daily hiking plan until I was pretty happy with the result. We’d see how good it really was when reality entered the picture and the days marched forward. I slowly packed and was able to poop despite few calories the previous day (woo-hoo!). I worked on my journal over milk coffee until Ram finished his breakfast and we were off for the day at 7:42 AM instead of the planned 7:30. 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 8.4 mi

				Time: 10:21

				Ascent/Descent: +3,500’/-2,339’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 12,768’/11,286’/12,768’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 48°F, Unable to assess

				Teahouse: Namaste Lodge
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				View from Namache Bazaar

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 200 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				The delayed departure was because Ram had to eat breakfast and finish getting ready. This was so unlike Bishwo who was always early and pushing me if I were about to run late. On one occasion, we’d left a few minutes late (maybe five) and he heard about it for the entire day because it was so unlike him. I really missed his language skills, personality, appreciation of my experience, and commitment to my safety. He was a true gem!

				The morning was clear as could be and the town and surrounding mountain behemoths were stunning. Then, we started climbing though that beauty. Surrounding me was a train of trekkers heading the same way. I had to focus more on one foot after the other in the challenging terrain. There were so many steps and they were NOT close together. This meant I was having to lift my whole body with every step; thank goodness for trekking poles! As always, I was slower than everyone, but they were all moving slowly, too. They would stop for a break, I would pass them at a snail’s pace, and then they would pass me again… typical and over and over. It was nice because I was able to have actual conversations with people. We’d talk about something for two minutes, they’d pass me, I’d ask a question when I passed them, and they’d respond when they passed me. It worked perfectly and I was able to learn a lot about a cyclist from Virginia who’d gravel-biked along the Eerie Canal trail. There was time for this because we were all moving so slowly. It took me two hours to cover one mile and 968’. They probably did it in an hour-and-a-half, but I passed them all again when they stopped for lunch; I never saw any of them again after that. They were taking something like twelve days to reach EBC. My plan was five if I were to complete my out-and-back and still make my flight out of Lukla.

				The reason for the obnoxious climb was that I’d told Ram I definitely wanted to see Hotel Everest View. Next to Gokyo Ri, it was said to have the best view of Everest. Because of our five day delay, we weren’t able to see the iconic view from Gokyo Ri so I wanted to at least see what I would be standing at the base of in a few days. That climb was the most brutal in the Everest region, only rivaled by our climb out of Namche Bazaar.

				I had no idea where to go once we reached the hotel and Ram told me to look out the window. As I did, I noticed an 
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				Peaks from Hotel Everest View (from https://madisonmountaineering.com/tag/hotel-everest-view/)
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				outdoor seating area crowded with trekkers enjoying an early lunch in beautiful weather adorned with an unparalleled view and azure skies. I moved from the window to the outdoor area where the site was truly spectacular. The problem was that I didn’t know which mountain was Everest. Also, there was a relief map like the one I’d seen at the Sagarmatha National Park entrance that Ram wasn’t there to explain the first time. I went looking for him and couldn’t find him anywhere until the front desk attendant told me he was outside. I requested he come in to help me and he seemed frustrated with the request. He and I shared a weird relationship; sometimes there was tension and other times it was great. He came to the outdoor viewing area and pointed out Everest, but I wasn’t sure which peak it was. Smartly, he took a picture so he could blow it up and point at it. Still, I wasn’t sure. He explained it in terms of a cloud. Nope. The communication just wasn’t there. So, he explained it again and I finally saw it. I’m sure he thought I was completely daft, but either the accent or language barrier kept getting in the way. I then showed him the relief map and he pointed out Everest, our route, the climbers’ routes, and the rivers running from the Tibetan Plateau and Everest. Both were covered in snow the farther they advanced into the mountains.

				I hit the bathroom and we were on the road again. I often congratulated hikers as they passed me going the opposite direction, knowing it was highly probable they were returning from EBC. Had they not, they may have been in a helicopter rescue so they wouldn’t be walking down. In response, many wished me luck and several said: “Have fun!” I wasn’t sure “fun” was what I was going for. Each step was a challenge; my desire was to achieve something amazing and make it back safely. I mentioned this to one man who responded that “the obstacle is the path.” I liked that a lot and it seemed very Hindu so I asked him if he was Hindu. I was right. These eastern religions sure have some good teachings. This day’s obstacle was the path toward my larger goal. Some of my daily Confucius sayings supported this, too. Keep working toward your goal and you will succeed.

				As people passed me, we would ask each other where we were coming from and heading for the day. I would respond Pangboche and they would correct me, “Tengboche.” Nope. Pangboche. So few people believed I was capable of making it the distances I did when they saw my pace; they didn’t know about my Energizer Bunny tendencies and my ability to hike nonstop for an ungodly number of hours each day. #TrailNameEnergizerTortoise_AKA_ET
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				In addition to my slow pace, I stopped often. My stops, though, were never long. Others would take five minute breaks here and there, coffee breaks, and lunch breaks and then stop in a town to hang for the afternoon and evening. Not me. My breaks were one-minute picture stops usually of the river, towns, trail, surrounding terrain, mountains, stupas, town entrances, and anything interesting like the Tengboche monastery—basically everything. That minute was always enough for me to re-slow my heart rate and be ready to hit the trail again. I stopped once for coffee, but had Ram order it before I arrived so it would be ready when I arrived. I drank it quickly before a bathroom stop. He also found a place for me to stop for what we later learned was very expensive yak cheese; I’d been craving something savory. 

				Were those steps really a foot high every time? Maybe not, but, honestly, they often were. It was like taking a step class that didn’t stop after 50 minutes. It was non-stop intensity. I focused a lot on listening to “Wild Swan” and “Great Lectures: Hinduism” to keep my mind off the enervation. My longest stops were the frequent clothing changes. On-off-on-off. Strip to nothing then add back every layer and then strip again. Oh, and the old rock-in-the-shoe annoyance. I also stopped at nearly every restaurant that included the word “bakery” in its name, hoping for bread with cheese. No luck. Carbs and protein were calling my name. My GI system wasn’t a fan of eating at this point so I liked to always having something sweet and something savory in my pocket just in case I could down a bite.

				I had several new bathroom experiences, not with western toilets or those shallow trench latrines I was getting used to, but to true family outhouses. The ground was entirely wood with a square cut into the middle and a small slit in front of the square. You just went into the square and it fell onto the leaves they’d placed below. The outhouse included a collection of leaves and other forest detritus you pushed down to cover your deed. I experienced these twice and was just glad the locals were so willing to let me use their facilities (of course, I ordered a drink or food before partaking in the opportunity). I also saw an interesting sign on a “public toilet.” There were two doors and both said “Poop/Pee” on them. I wondered if I hadn’t been using them right for the last month. What was the other option.
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				Before Namche Bazaar, mules were used for transport. Ram told me there were 1,500 that travelled the trail each day. That was certainly believable because I’d had to pull to the side for every last one of them! From Namche Bazaar north, yaks and some hybrid oxen did all the work (they did better at higher elevations as I’d learned in the Annapurna Himalaya). I saw some of these beast of burden, but the most common beast of burden was men between the ages of 15 and 60. Everything went on their backs—boxes of vegetable oil, huge slabs of plywood, gas canisters, everything! I’d even seen a young boy (perhaps eight) hauling a 30-pound load of some liquid the day before. He was understandably taking a break when we passed him. If I wanted or needed it, they would carry it uphill for me to purchase. Yes, guilt plagued me and I was especially judgmental of trekkers who were wasteful the higher we became.

				On this day we passed a boy of 15 or 16 who was about 100 pounds and carrying maybe 70 pounds on his back. He was also heading to Pangboche for the night and then would continue north for another long day following a brief rest. He was obviously in a great deal of pain in his left foot and stopped several times to baby it and rest. Eventually, Dr. Keeler (not the kind that helps people according to Mike) went to him when pulled off to a resting spot against a tree. He spoke no English, but I gave him 800 mg of Advil and told him how to use them. He kind of understood. But, when he and I were passing Ram, I asked Ram to translate for us. I looked at his foot, un-socked in a tennis shoe and with a swollen ankle. I was worried I’d see a severely infected toe and was glad it wasn’t that. I asked Ram to ask him what happened. The boy had twisted his ankle earlier in the day. It was pretty swollen and would likely have warranted an X-ray in the States. Not here. He had to deliver his goods, continuing every day until they reached their destination. I had Ram explain to the boy how to use the pills. He hadn’t yet taken the two I’d told him to take previously because he didn’t have any water. Then, I recommended the RICE method (rest—not happening; something about applying cold and warm compresses—he did have access to extremely cold water; compress—not likely unless some trekker accidentally left their ankle brace in the teahouse where he happened to stay; and, elevate—maybe he’d be able to sleep on a horizontal surface). I had Ram tell him to take the second set of two pills in the morning. I hated the idea of masking the pain instead of treating it, but I didn’t think the boy had any other options. A huge blessing was when we reached the river and crossed yet another steel bridge. On the other side, another man took all of his load except for one case and the boy was able to rush up the hill so as to reach town before dark. 

				I also saw porters going the opposite way just before dark and knew there weren’t that many towns nearby. I doubted they had headlamps and so many had terrible shoes, some even in flip-flops. It had to be so hard for them to see all these trekkers passing them 
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				with warm, quality gear, hiking boots, headlamps, and money to buy food. It was very sad. On the other hand, I was grateful they had work. I asked Ram where all the teenage girls were and he told me they were usually cooking and cleaning in teahouses.

				Ram told me in Temboche that he didn’t think I’d be able to make it to Pangboche before nightfall so we’d probably have to stop when we crossed the river. He’d expressed concern the previous day, too. This was disappointing because I was trying to make the most of my time in the Everest region. I wanted to reach Basecamp as soon as possible (taking acclimatization into account) so there’d be time on my way back down to do the activities I wasn’t able to do during the ascent. I wanted to visit the Temboche Monastery and get a blessing, see the infamous Yeti bone, visit both Sherpa museums, and participate in a morning Buddhist service. Those would all take time so I needed to be heading back from EBC within the next few days. But, it was what it was. 

				The two hour plus morning climb was catching up with me while the sun was preparing to set. We reached the river and crossed the bridge and I knew we’d be stopping soon. But, that town was so far away! I couldn’t believe we were still walking when the mountains were hiding the sun and we still hadn’t reached that town by the river. I was getting worried because Ram had told me there were only two places to stay in the town and if there was no room in the inn, we’d be walking in the dark for two more hours (or, at least that was what I thought he said). I was okay walking in the dark with my headlamp, but had read that people were not to be out walking after dark within the Park’s boundaries. I didn’t want to break the rules, but if there was no place to sleep inside, we’d just have to keep going. Ram wasn’t as understanding of my fortitude as Bishwo had been.

				It started getting cold so I did yet another clothing change, this time pulling out the big guns like the buff, down coat, and yak gloves covered with Minnesota gloves. I was good. We finally reached the town. I sure hoped there was a place for us. Then, I noticed a sign on a teahouse and another teahouse sign, both of which read “Pangboche.” What? We’d made it. I was absolutely ecstatic because I had no idea we were so close to my goal all along. My day was a great success!

				Being in Pangboche meant housing wasn’t a problem. There were lots of places and Ram and I found ourselves to be the only ones in our teahouse. It was nice because Ram was friends with the owners and we were able to sit around the fire and talk for a long time. I tried to join the conversation for awhile, but struggled with the proprietor’s accent. I was enjoying being around the fire because we were at altitude, 12,800’—it was cold. Nonetheless, I moved to a table so I could work on my journal. We were also at the elevation where electricity became scarce, Gas and solar were the only options for electricity so we were back to stove fireplaces for both heat and cooking. These were tough people!

				Ram eventually left and the woman turned on the TV. It looked like a strange version of a soap opera, but I had no idea. She also spent time on YouTube. Despite their remoteness, they were still able to connect with the outside world. I ordered lemon/ginger/honey 
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				water and they added tea. I was worried that the caffeine would keep me awake, but it didn’t—I was dead tired. I also ate garlic soup with noodles (thupka) because my GI system hadn’t improved. It all seemed okay until I awoke bloated the next morning.

				Crew Post

				I saw Everest today and climbed a lot. I’m making great progress so should have no problem reaching EBC. Unfortunately, it will just be an out-and-back.

				The porters here are incredible! All ages from very young to very old with very few women. I learned today that there was a helicopter crash at Basecamp several years ago and the chopper company needed the something (maybe the engine) carried back to Namche Ba-zaar (about 30 miles) right away. It was about 360 pounds and a single porter carried it all the way on his back. These guys are beasts!

			

		

		
			
				View from my teahouse room
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				Everest Himalaya (4/1/24): Stage 3

				Pangboche to Thukla 

				Altitude Hits

				Confucius Says

				“He who exercises government by means of his virtue may be compared to the north polar star, which keeps its place and all the stars turn to-wards it.”

				“He who speaks without modesty will find it difficult to make 

				his words good.”

				[I chose a second saying because the first didn’t seem particularly rele-vant to me. The second one was definitely relevant.] 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 6.2 mi

				Time: 8:54

				Ascent/Descent: +2,358’/-265’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 15,180’/12,768’/15,180’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 42°F, 32°F

				Teahouse: Kalapathar
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				Getting up at night to go to the bathroom always sucked, but in the temperatures I’d been experiencing in the Himalayas, it was doubly, maybe triple-y, bad. I would wait to the last minute, hope for a hot flash (none coincided with my toileting needs that night) and rush to the bathroom. By the time I’d get back into my now cooled sleeping bag, I’d be shivering uncontrollably and envelope my hands in my armpits to warm them. Another nighttime woe was the amount of time I was sleeping. I’d been sleeping well by my standards (I normally suffered from severe sleep apnea), but would always awaken about an hour early. I couldn’t afford this consistent lack of sleep. It was taking it’s toll.

				On this night, I was having trouble catching my breath, too. I knew it was because I wasn’t acclimatized, but tried to convince myself it was because I’d been shivering so much. Knowing I should probably tell Ram to keep an eye on me because I might struggle since with the almost 3,000’ rise on this day, I did and he lectured me on altitude sickness. Yes, I knew the cautions; that’s why I told him in the first place. Fortunately, I hadn’t had any other signs. To decrease the chances of increased altitude issues, I unloaded almost everything in my pack on Ram, keeping only essentials like my emergency kit, water purifier, extra layers, and 2L of water. I also carried my technologies because I couldn’t force my comfort items on him. He had to have been surprised by the amount of weight I’d added (maybe ten pounds), but he didn’t say anything. Of course, for him, ten pounds was similar to barely adding a feather.

				I was ready at our scheduled departure time, 6:30 AM, but he hadn’t had breakfast so we didn’t leave until almost 7:05 AM. I may be that person who was always late at home, but 35 minutes was excessive even for me. I knew guides didn’t like starting as early as I did (even Bishwo wasn’t keen on it), but I also was realistic about how slow I was. I needed that extra time if I were to meet my daily goals. Onve again, I wished I weren’t tied to a guide.

				GI problems plagued me throughout the morning. I’d only had lemon/ginger/honey tea for breakfast and brought chapati slathered in peanut butter along for the ride, but my stomach revolted at the first bite. We climbed 1,450’ over the first four miles to 14,000’ taking me over an hour per mile. A nice aspect of the trail was that although it was 
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				ascending, I wasn’t on those dastardly tall stairs anymore and the rocks were farther and fewer between. Having a dirt surface was definitely better than what I’d been experiencing thus far in the Everest Himalayas. I dry heaved a few times and knew, undoubtedly, it was the beginnings of AMS. 

				When we reached Periche, the town where Jeevan had suggested I stop, I needed a break. This in and of itself was an issue; I never took breaks. My body was struggling. I knew I was hungry, but couldn’t seem to eat anything solid so ordered clear garlic soup (anything heavier wouldn’t work) and lemon/ginger/honey tea again hoping the caffeine would rally me. I knew better than to continue when the signs emerged so decided to just hang in the nice, relatively warm Edelweiss Teahouse. A nap sounded delightful, but I didn’t think it would be appropriate so pulled out my iPad to journal. Okay, maybe I closed my eyes a few times. I ended up spending over an hour there. That was one of the first breaks and definitely the longest I’d taken while trekking since I arrived in Nepal.

				We started walking again. This time, I was going slower than a snail’s pace. Yes, that’s possible. We passed lots of yaks and porters carrying loads. And, we passed lots horses carrying people downhill (trekkers who presumably needed to “Descend! Descend! Descend!”). My GI tract finally emptied in a field where yaks feast and, yes, I felt guilty about it. But, it wouldn’t wait and there was no way to dig a hole in the dry, hard dirt. I’m sorry, Nepal.

				Ram had to be bored beyond belief. I’d take three steps, rest, take three steps, rest, repeat ad nauseam. Altitude…ugh… There was nowhere on this section of the trek to hike high and sleep low unless I wanted to backtrack so I just committed to progressing slowly and steadily and taking lots and lots of breaks. That was the plan; that was what ascending at high altitude demanded. I’d started taking Diamox two days prior and this morning was the first time I ever had a reaction—a tingling in my left hand that was unexpectedly bizarre rather than a nuisance. It was no surprise I was struggling. I’d gone from the lower elevations of the Annapurna Range to Chitwan to Kathmandu to Manthali over about ten days with zero exercise. The plan was to only have a few days break between the Annapurna and Everest treks so I would still be acclimatized. So much for well laid plans.
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				I saw exactly where not to walk
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				I wasn’t able to make it to my planned destination, Lobuche, for two reasons. First, there wasn’t time given my one-and-a-half hour rest break and well over one hour pace per mile. Second, and more important, I needed to sleep as low as possible in hopes of gaining some more acclimatization before continuing up the next day. Reaching Thukla in three days was quite uncommon. It looked like my planned four day journey to EBC was going to be five. I couldn’t take more than five days or else I wouldn’t make it back to Lukla in time to catch my flight. I’d have to quick it into gear the next day for sure.

				As we approached Thukla, Ram stopped to tell me that the rocky area of the river we were crossing was the result of the Khumbu Glacier. His ecological knowledge of the area—flora, fauna, and geology—was incredible. He told me no one had ever died there despite what was clearly an area affected by routine volatile flooding. I asked if I should have hurried when walking by rock slide residue on the sides of the town’s adjacent river. He answered “no” because every time there is about to be a rockfall, a crow will sit on the top of the hill before it happens. Definitely an old-wives tale, but he said it happens every time. Who was I to question my guide?

				My room was at most a balmy 53°F when I arrived, but I could see my breath so suspected my Garmin was just trying to make me feel better. I cleaned with frigid wet wipes and put on several layers including my buff, down jacket, and yak gloves to go to the dining room where I immediately ordered tomato egg soup to warm my hands. Ram asked the proprietors to light the fire in the middle of the room and we all rushed to warm our bodies beside it. It had been 50° before the fire. Within minutes of moving close to the fire, I started stripping. I became so warm that I moved two seats down. Immediately, I was freezing again. I missed climate-controlled air conditioning and heating. I was so spoiled at home!

			

		

		
			
				Only if there are crows on the other side??!?!

			

		

		
			
				Should we be crossing this?

			

		

		
			
				Landslides and floods don’t just carry little rocks

			

		

		
			
				Flood that didn’t miss Thukla
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				Ram and two other guides were sitting around the fire as well as an Indian couple that used to live in Ohio. We had a fascinating discussion about Hinduism. I told them I’d been reading “Great Religions: Hinduism” and I was glad to learn that what I was reading was somewhat similar to how Indians described Hinduism. Basically, Hinduism (according to the book as well as this man) was not a religion; it was a philosophy, culture, history. 

				Because we’d stopped early to give me time to acclimatize, I was done with dinner and ready for bed before 7 PM. I figured I deserved to watch a downloaded Netflix movie while posting an inReach message to the Crew. Everything was so much more expensive in the Everest than Annapurna Himilaya including wifi (if available) and power for recharging tech devices so I relied on my inReach instead of posting daily updates via Facebook Messenger.

				Crew Post

				We’ve covered in three days what most people cover in 6-7. Having been out of altitude for nearly ten days between descending from ABC, visiting Chitwan, and then sitting around in Manthali doing nothing for four days, I lost all of my acclimatization. I know those of you who’ve hiked with me won’t believe this, but I moved even slower than my normal snail’s pace. I also took a 1-1/2 hour break, unheard of when I’m hiking. We were unable to reach my goal destination, but I made the right decision stopping in Thukla at 15,180’ so I could work on acclimatizing through the night. I’m so cold and desperately miss our Nest air conditioner and heater at home.
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				Everest Himalaya (4/2/24): Stage 4

				Thukla to Ghorakshep

				Thukla Memorial to Everest Climbers

				Confucius Says

				“When it is obvious that the goals cannot be reached, don’t adjust the goals; adjust the action steps.”

				My poor teahouse mates—I spent much of the night blowing my nose and found out in the morning much of it was blood. Yep, altitude. Stopping was the right choice. Also, after the previous night’s discussion when pulse ox came up, I decided to wear my watch through the night. I’d checked it while around the fire with everyone. It was 81%. I certainly wasn’t happy with that number, but guides didn’t worry until it plummeted below 70%. My normal resting heart rate was below 60 bpm and around the fire that night it was 66 bpm, not bad.

				We were off at 7:10 AM, the responsibility of both of us. Honestly, though, I figured we’d arrive fairly early after an exceptionally difficult day anyway. Both ultimately proved true. Between the altitude and climbing, I was again ridiculously slow. I asked Ram if he’d ever 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 4.7 mi

				Time: 7:23

				Ascent/Descent: +2,075’/-242’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 16,960’/15,180’/16,960’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 44°F, unknown

				Teahouse: Buddha

			

		

		
			
				View from my room in Thukla

			

		

		
			
				Water for flushing the toilet
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				had a client slower than me and he said that he had. I didn’t believe him until he told me she was an 85-year-old Brit and she only covered a quarter of the distance I traveled each day. He said most people take nine-to-eleven days to reach EBC with some taking twelve. None of his clients had ever done less than five days—the time it would take me to reach Basecamp—and few had even accomplished that. I was pretty proud since he’d been guiding EBC treks for decades.

				The day was pretty interesting after the first miserable hill. At the top was Thukla Memorial, a natural outdoor memorial to all people who died climbing Mt. Everest. I asked how many had died in the process, “Thousands?” His response: “More.” I wondered if this were true because the number of summit permits were limited so not many could even attempt the peak; perhaps his number included people like me just pushing to reach EBC. I later learned the number of deaths for the summit attempt was closer to 340. I also learned that of the about 30,000-40,000 (up to 500 per day) people that attempt EBC each year, about 70% make it to Basecamp and 3-5 die in the attempt. However, only about 50% make it back to Lukla on their on accord. The deaths are almost exclusively due to AMS or conditions exacerbated by AMS.

			

		

		
			
				The trail ahead

			

		

		
			
				Ram waiting for me

			

		

		
			
				This IS the trail

			

		

		
			
				A stunning landscape along the trail!

			

		

		
			
				Kala Patthar Basecamp ahead

			

		

		
			
				Another rock slide to cross

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 215 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				The memorial began with an entryway built of stone decorated with loads of prayer flags. Upon passing the entrance, visitors saw three things: stone memorials, more prayer flags, and tons of rock cairns. The stone memorials were usually boulders with metal memorial plaques on them. They told who they were memorializing and often had quotes. Some that resonated with me were: 

				—“If your goals don’t scare you, set bigger goals.” 

				—“Better one day as a tiger than 1,000 as a sheep.” 

				Many of the plaques stated a summited date, followed by the date they died on their way down. I was curious what the percentage of deaths was for those on their way to the summit versus those on their way down. The answer was 5%. I’d always appreciated the sign at the Grand Canyon reading: “Down is optional; up is mandatory.” I’d also read several books in which alpinists live by the rule: “Summiting is optional; returning home is not.” I was conflicted in my feelings at the memorial—so proud of people for making the attempt, heart broken for those who hadn’t succeeded.

				The trail didn’t include stairs like those I’d suffered through earlier in the EBC trek and definitely not what I’d experienced in the Annapurna Region. Instead, there were rocks, lots of rocks both really big and not that small. 

			

		

		
			
				Delivering Goods

				Porters are paid based on several factors including weight by the kilo, distance traveled, amount of ascent (in meters), and starting and ending altitudes. 

				Regulations state porters should not carry more than 25 kg/55 lbs, but many ignore this so they can make more money. Two porters passed us during the day and Ram remarked they were carrying about 80 kg/175 lbs each. Wow! 

				Above EBC, porters were permitted to carry up to 15 kg/33 lbs until they reach Camp 1.

				From Camp 1 to Camp 2, they could carry 10 kg/22 lbs.

				From Camp 2 to Camp 3, the number decreased to 7 kg/15 lbs.

				Above Camp 3, porters were permitted to carry no more than 5 kg/11 lbs, just under the weight of a sin-gle oxygen cylinder.

				Horses must be able to carry people so are allowed to haul 100 kg/220 lbs (amount dependent on the season because fat mass varies so much throughout the year). Local horses were much bigger and stronger than those that had been imported. 

				Mules from India weren’t permitted to haul above 3,000 m/10,000’ unless they were born at altitude. Native mules were able to carry around 60 kg/130 lbs above that height. Yaks carried far less weight, around 35 kg/75 lbs, if they were from the lowlands, too.

			

		

		
			
				Watering the yaks

			

		

		
			
				When Paris Hilton cvisits EBC
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				The memorial
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				I asked Ram how all the rocks got there since many were on the tops of hills, not the bottom of a mountain where gravity would have sent them tumbling. He explained this was due to uplifting of the earth from tectonic movement. As the earth lifts, rocks below are pushed up. These rocks are embedded in glacial ice so are not that far from the surface. The information from those geography classes I used to teach was proving useful.

				For the first time in the Everest Region, Ram told me to walk quickly in an area because rockfalls could occur at any time. I did my best, but was not quick by any measure. Five steps, breathe, eight steps, breathe, two steps, breathe.

				Unlike stairs that tended to be flat and evenly spaced, trekkers in this area had to walk on uneven surfaces easy for breaking ankles. The terrain required stepping up various heights meaning lots of lifting the whole body followed by lowering it again before stepping on the next rock. With my lack of agility, this meant paying a lot of attention and using my poles with intense diligence. I asked Ram if any of his clients had ever broken an ankle and he said he had one person break their back after slipping on ice. Because they were in an area where there was no helicopter pad, Ram had to call in reinforcements to carry him to the closest town with a helipad. 

				We moved up and down hills that I learned were simply dirt and rocks on top of glaciers. At the top of one hill, I saw the most amazing sight. Ram explained that the Khumbu Ice Fall continued well above EBC. An ice fall, by definition, was where there was solid ice and crampons were necessary. Below the Khumbu Ice Fall was the Khumbu Glacier, the section on which climbers began their ascent to the summit and where ladders were needed to cross crevasses. That’s where it was possible to break through the ice into huge holes. There was water under glaciers at elevations lower than 5,000 m/16,400’ and this water was the source for the Dudhkoshi River. We were able see the glacial river about 300 m/1,000’ below EBC and it was fascinating. Unlike the crevasses I’d seen in every documentary showing climbers walking across the Khumbu Glacier on their way to Everest’s summit, these were gigantic holes in the ice and you could see the water below. What made it especially cool was that on the top you could see dirt like we were walking on at the time, then many feet of white vertical glacial ice, and then the clear blue water below. It was an amazing sight and something I’d never seen before, even in books and videos. Ram told me he’d had a geography professor on one of his trips that broke into tears when he saw these crevasses. He’d read about them and seen pictures, but this was real life. He took lots of pictures to share with his students back home.

				In Namche Bazaar, the Dudhkoshi River met with the river that had its source in the Tibetan Plateau, the Bhotkoshi River. Those two rivers became tributaries of the Everest river. These three combined rivers were what we’d walked along several days prior. The Dudhkoshi was also a tributary of the river I’d walked across in Manthali.

				Shortly after seeing the unique crevasses, Ram pointed out Basecamp. We could see all the tents. I was ecstatic. My goals were to see the tents and the part of the Khumbu Glacier where the climbers begin. Despite facing altitude issues, EBC was within my reach. 
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				Then we turned a final corner and saw Ghorakshep. I was so happy to be at the last village before my final stop. Ram and I rolled into town and he checked me in to the Buddha Hotel. My plan was to wash underwear (I only had two clean pair remaining), but there was no running water. We could request water in the restaurant and there was plenty of water in the barrel by the toilet, but I did NOT want to use that water to clean my underwear. It would have to be one of those inside-out days. I asked why they didn’t have running water since the river was right there and was told that they couldn’t pipe it from the river because the pipes always froze. Made sense. Young men had to carry all the water needed in the teahouses by hand.

				The dining room was the warmest I’d experienced anywhere in the Himalayas; I sat two feet from their marvelous gas heater. I’d felt so badly for the porters, mules, and yaks carrying the gas canisters, but, oh, it sure was nice. I sure wished I had one of these heaters in my room upstairs. 

				I drank hot lemon/ginger/honey water and slurped garlic noodle soup. Except for a quarter-glass of breakfast tea, a lemon drop, and a small chocolate the size of the lemon drop, this was all I’d eaten all day. I was hungry and everything sounded good (especially French fries and apple pie), but my stomach just couldn’t handle it. I was glad to be losing weight, but not this way.

				Ram helped a lot with my journal during dinner because I needed reminders of all the many facts and place names he’d told me about as we’d walked. While we were talking, a woman from North Carolina came over to listen, saying our conversation sounded interesting. She and I talked much of the night after Ram and I finished with my geography lesson. She was a distance runner who was experiencing severe altitude sickness with a pulse ox as low as 53. Nonetheless, she’d been so eager to reach EBC, she rented a horse to take her there and bring her back. Her pulse ox improved back in Ghorakshep, but not by much. She struggled to breathe whenever she stood and couldn’t eat, relying on clear liquids just as I had. During our time together, her pulse ox improved (perhaps it was my soothing demeanor though that was highly unlikely given my personality), but it was still dangerously low so she was scheduled to take a helicopter out in the morning. Interestingly, her helicopter would pick her up in Ghorakshep, fly to Pheriche to refuel, fly to Lukla to refuel, then fly to Kathmandu and take her to the hospital where she would hopefully get a clean bill of health. That was a lot of refueling! 

			

		

		
			
				A glacier covering the river

			

		

		
			
				Fascinating glacial features

			

		

		
			
				Glossary

				Trekker: A person hiking below 6,000 m/19,700’

				Trekker Peak Climber: A person climbing above 6,000 m/19,700’

				Expedition Climber: A person climbing above 7,000 m/23,000’

				Alpinist: Anyone who climbs on ice and snow
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				Helicopter rescues were pretty routine at this last stop before Basecamp. Ghorakshep had been host to five helicopter rescues the previous day due to edemas.

				Despite arriving early in the day, I’d stayed awake until 8 PM. I’d completed everything I planned to do for the night so finally climbed the stairs to my freezing room to snuggle in my warm sleeping bag. I invited my new friend to stay in my room because I had two extra beds. She was staying with a male friend who had, unbeknownst to her, been looking forward to a sordid affair and was trying to claim her as her own. It was to the point of scary harrassment. I was glad she took me up on my offer to stay in my room and glad she would be flying away from him in the morning. 

				Crew Post

				It was a long, hard day, but I made it to the last village before EBC and will hike there in the morning. I learned about and saw some pretty incredible glacial features and there was a really neat memorial to those who’ve died summiting Everest (often on their way back from the summit) with plaques and quotes.

			

		

		
			
				Ghorakshep
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				Everest Himalaya (4/3/24): Stage 5

				Everest Basecamp

				I Broke My Guide then Made it to EBC

				Confucius Says

				“Forget injuries, never forget kindnesses.”

				[I figured my new friend from North Carolina could use a good quote so let her ran-domly choose one from my remaining pile. When she read the paper, she cried. From our time together I knew there was so much for her in this saying. 

				She said she would never forget my kindness. Ahhh.]

				I was finally able to ingest something other than clear liquids so went all out with milk coffee. I sat with my new friend from North Carolina as I waited for Ram and she waited for her evacuation flight. She gave me one of the small strings of prayer flags to put on my backpack because she, her guide, and her freaky friend were leaving (yes, unfortuantely, all together). Her flight left at 7 AM, my go-time. 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 4.7 mi

				Time: 8:16

				Ascent/Descent: +780’/-780’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 17,598’/16,960’/16,960’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 39°F, 16°F

				Teahouse: Buddha

			

		

		
			
				Walking among giants

			

		

		
			
				Watching Ram’s evacutaion
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				Ram was nowhere to be found. I asked the people at the front desk if they knew where he was and they didn’t. They went to check the two rooms where I thought he might be, but he wasn’t there. I knew he wouldn’t just leave without me so was perplexed. Then, they checked some more and told me he was very sick and that I should come. I met him in his room where he looked terrible and his face was covered with a large mask connected to an oxygen tank. It was bad, really dangerously bad. His pulse ox was 49 and he couldn’t move. This was a 55-year-old man who’d been portering and then guiding for 34 years. He’d never had altitude sickness in all his years in these mountains. I was well aware that AMS could hit anyone at any time; this was one of those rare random cases. I learned later that his roommate heard him breathing problematically starting at 3:30 AM. I’m not sure what transpired between that time and when the staff called me to him at 7:30 AM. I guessed they didn’t know he and I were together. I also learned a doctor had seen Ram in the morning (perhaps he was still there when I was there) and said Ram needed to be evacuated within the hour or face truly grim prospects. 

				The Nepali men dressed him and we all worked together to contact Jeevan. Ram was unable to even put in his phone’s passcode so we could find Jeevan’s number. Finally, I realized I had Jeevan’s number, but no Internet so they tried the number I gave them. There were too many numbers in the string I gave them! Then, I realized Jeevan and I had been communicating via WhatsApp and it probably listed his cell number. It did! They called Jeevan from one of their phones and explained the situation. Jeevan coordinated with them for the evac helicopter. He then talked with me and told me to take my permits from Ram. In his dire condition, Ram also made sure to give me his maps. The men helping in the room asked me to pack Ram’s backpack. I was so happy to be able to do something, then said a prayer for Ram and got out of their way. 

				Somehow, the men were able to transport him to the heliport. That had to be quite a task since Ram was completely unable to assist and needed constant connection to the oxygen tank. They surely had litters for just this purpose and lots of experience using them. 

				I stayed and watched as two helicopters came and went and was told he wasn’t on either of them. Go! Get him in the air! Now! Go! Now! I was frantic with worry and so upset with every helicopter that left the ground without him. Relief overcame me when the Nepali man next to me assured me Ram was loaded onto the third flight. That’s when my tears came. I returned to his room to make sure I hadn’t missed any of his belongings. He’d been propped on a mass of pillows and blankets to keep him in an upright position so I moved them all and found we’d missed what I thought was his sleeping bag and a coin. I didn’t even know Nepal had coins. I took the items with me. He’d been carrying my four pound sleeping bag for four days. The very least I could so was carry his surely less than one pound stuff sack downhill for three days.

			

		

		
			
				To receive a permit to summit Mt. Everest, climbers must prove they’ve climbed a Nep-alese mountain with a height of at least 21,325 ft (6,500 m).
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				I returned to the dining room with waterworks flowing on my face. The man at the main desk called Jeevan on his phone again and handed it to me. Jeevan assured me he had everything under control on his end and that Ram would be taken directly to the hospital in Kathmandu. He told me that if I felt comfortable going solo, I was fine to follow my own itinerary as long as I communicated with him every night to let him know where I was and my plans for the following day. I was so sad, but relieved I’d be able to continue to EBC and finish my planned trek. Other trekkers in the dining room were clearly concerned and several gave me much needed hugs. I knew what I had to do with that prayer flag and left for EBC at 8:30 AM.

				I spent much of the morning praying, crying, and focusing on my Confucius saying. Ram was such a kind-hearted man and I wanted to remember that. I ended up in my own head all day, not listening to one sentence from an audiobook.

				I’d been told by several people including Ram that the trail above Ghorakshep was bad, but I found it fairly flat with only gradual inclines, nothing like the previous day’s forced march. Others had told me it was rocky, but, again, nothing like the day before.

				Again, I was stunned by what I saw porters carrying. Some were carrying barrels of human waste out of Basecamp in an effort to create a cleaner environment. They were carrying beds uphill and one was even carrying a couch! Not a little loveseat. A whole couch!

				As I walked, I took lots of pictures following Sarah’s (Crew) lead. It was a beautiful day and I didn’t want to miss a thing. I wanted to experience everything. There were so many people, horses, and yaks on the trail and there were so many unique glacial features. Some glaciers stood straight up then curved like waves at the top, some looked like pointy hoodoos, and some had rocks balancing on their top. The outer portions of the ice formations with rocks on top had melted away so they looked like 
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				fairytale mushrooms. The glaciers reminded me of Utah with its many unique water- and windswept rock formations. Upon approaching Basecamp, there was one of the large hole-in-the-ground crevasses surrounding a pool of water. Being that close to this glacial feature was absolutely mesmerizing! 

				I made it to EBC and had people take pictures of me, but I wasn’t done. My goals included seeing the tents (which were clearly visible from the sign and from a mile away for that matter) and seeing where the climbers started. I was so surprised when I noticed that I was one of the only trekkers walking in camp; everyone else took a picture at the sign and then turned back to Ghorakshep. Of course, I had done the same at ABC, missing the entire Basecamp experience there. What a shame! 

				I heard later that trekkers weren’t terribly welcome past the sign and months later learned there was another sign that said trekkers were not to enter Basecamp. Whoops! I was glad I hadn’t seen it. Fortuntely, all the climbers had started their ascents from EBC so weren’t in camp. The only remaining people were Nepali camp crews. Had the climbers not all left before I arrived, I probably would not have had the opportunity to mill around their camps. I was extremely fortunate.

				I suppose the lack of trekkers was what contributed to the lack of a decent trail in camp. I walked along the glacier/river and was regularly lost, relying on camp employees to direct my way. Many were confused by my presence. I just couldn’t understand why more trekkers didn’t take advantage of this opportunity to see a real mountaineer’s basecamp. 

				This part of the trek was no small feat. I walked about 3/4 of a mile to reach the second-most expedition compound from the end. There, I spoke with two Nepali men working there. They didn’t speak much English, but the expedition’s camp leader, hidden within the tent behind them, translated. I was looking for a trail with a sign that said: “Start your climb to the top of the world here!” with a big, flashing neon arrow. They pointed instead to the other side of the river. I suppose that when you’re climbing Everest, you don’t really “need roads where we’re going.” I thanked them with my few remaining lemon drops from home.

			

		

		
			
				I made it to Everest Basecamp!
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				Permits

				A damning National Geographic photo in 2019 showed dozens of climbers waiting in line in the death zone to reach the summit, three climbers dying during the wait. To address the traffic jam, Nepal committed to new policies including adding more climbing lines to speed the process during the final summit push. 

				The main problem is that the climbing window is very short—only a few days each year—and the summit window is even shorter—only about five-to-six hours. This means that everyone in the world who wishes to climb Mt. Everest must be on the mountain and ready to ascend during a very brief timeframe. How many people can be allowed to attempt this amazing feat so there is the maximum number of opportunities for success and the minimum number of fatalities? It sounds like one of those unsolvable eighth grade math problems, but is even more complicated than one might expect. The photo taken by Nirmal Purja illuminated the problem.

				Nepal faced an increasing number of requests for permits so continued increasing the number of available permits annually (see graphic). In 2019, Nepal issued 381 permits; 2020 saw zero due to COVID; and, by 2024 when they started re-issuing permits in significant numbers following the pandemic the country issued a record 454 permits. Even with these seemingly large numbers, far more people wanted permits than were available.

				Note that the permit figure for each climber does not include his or her Sherpa so 454 climbers means 908 souls in the death zone in 2024. Less than one thousand a year sounded like a lot, but it still surprised me as I’d assumed there were many more who’d attempted the peak. I’d read so many books, seen so many documentaries, and heard so many speakers tell of their Everest conquests that I’d begun to think submitting was a rather common occurrence. After learning of the numbers, I supposed that everyone who made it to the summit had a story to tell and all those stories were what I was reading. If I made it to the summit of Everest and back, I’d probably write a book, too.

			

		

		
			
				Everest gridlock

				(Photo: Nirmal Purja)

			

		

		
			
				Issued peak permits by year

				Source: Unknown

			

		

		
			
				Everest Human Traffic 

				(Source The Himilayan Database)
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				There was an area free of snow except ice hoodoos where the men had pointed. It seemed as good of a place as any to start hiking the tallest mountain on Earth. I later learned that this was, in fact, where the climbers started and I could have walked back farther than I did. Trekker permits did not allow us to walk on the snow and ice back there, but I could have walked to the non-snow-covered base of the glacial section that I’d seen so often in Everest documentaries. Unfortunately, I didn’t know this until after I’d started my return and didn’t have time to go back. I was really sorry I missed trekking along that first climbing section. Trekkers who told me about it said how fascinating it was. Such a shame that so many trekkers missed this entire experience!

				Walking through camp taught me a lot about basecamps, but I was disappointed I didn’t have a guide to explain to me what I was seeing. First, I noticed there were no mountain climbers. I may have seen a few guys that looked the part, but in a city of tents, where were all the people? I guessed they were out for an acclimatization hike and moving gear to Camp 1. I later learned they all had moved to the higher camps—Camp 1, Camp 2, and Camp 3 because we were within the window where they might get a chance to summit. This in-and-of itself was interesting to me. I knew there was a small window when climbers could attempt the top, but I never thought about the fact this meant that they all arrived in and left from EBC at the same time. Nepalis were left to manage the camp so they’d be there if needed and upon return.

				The basecamp crew was kept busy in the absence of climbers. I watched as they erected new dining tents, huge domes made with metal poles and covered with white plastic fabric (think: Tyvek-meets-tent fabric). These structures often had huge clear plastic windows with spectacular views. People would pay good money to have breakfast in those tents… well, they do. 

				Each expedition/group had its own compound. These consisted of a group of tents set in a rectangular fashion with all doors facing inward. The tents did not have a bottom so large, terribly uncomfortable rocks littered their floors. It was explained to me (in Nepali so who knows the truth) that they bring in lots to cover the ground when the climbers are in camp. In one of the managers’ tents, there was even astroturf on the ground and he had a tent erected inside the bigger tent. Each climber (from what I understood) had their own tent.

				I witnessed basecamp workers building new platforms for tents and other structures. They would use pickaxes and sledgehammers to cut though ice. The result would be a rectangular base with a vertical ice wall on one side. There were no other options for a flat base. A tent would fit into the cut area and rocks would be piled aound the uncut sides to stabilize the base and hopefully keep the tent from flying away. It was back-breaking work; nonetheless, Nepalis never complained (at least to foreigners) and were always gracious. On two occasions while at EBC, I saw men who’d assisted Ram through the morning illness and evacuation. First, I saw one of the men leading yaks up the hill as he passed me. Later in the day, I saw him building one of these bases. He and his buddies congratulated and gave a thumbs-up to me for making it to and beyond the basecamp sign. Everyone seemed to think I didn’t have a chance in hell to accomplish anything I planned and were so surprised and happy when I did meet those goals.
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				Human Waste

				Human waste proved to be a problem for a very long time in the area to the point that the mountain had earned a reputation of being an “open toilet” or “fecal time bomb” and smelling as such. Nepal chose to deal with this problem in Basecamp by providing the equivalent of private pit toilets, small tents built over stacked rocks. A single blue waste barrel over which climbers used the toilet was placed on the side of a hill. The hill was then built up around the barrel so the area would be sturdy with elevated rocks. The tent sat on a platform above the barrel with a “seating area” for doing business. Hard to explain; easy to understand when seen. 

				I witnessed a lot of these blue barrels being carried up and down the mountain on the backs of porters. As I understood it, the full barrels switched to the backs of yaks as soon as they reached an altitude where possible. The amount of human waste was about 26,000 pounds a year, about the weight of two elephants. There was an attempt to design a biogas solution with the waste creating energy for the village of Ghorakshep. It sounded like a terrific idea with lots of complications to overcome: how to deal with frozen biomass, use of only human waste as biomass, etc. 

				In addition to dealing with human waste in basecamp, Nepal instituted a WAG Bag requirement in 2024. WAG Bags consist of a silver outer bag holding a bit of toilet paper and hand sanitizer and an inner bag holding the gel. The gel, called “waste alleviating gel” (hence, “WAG”), is in dry form and is much like kitty litter. You are usually permitted to pee anywhere, but must use the bag for all solid waste. To use it, you open the inner bag and lay it in such a way you will hopefully hit it with what drops from behind. The bags are quite large so this usually isn’t a problem. You wipe, throw the toilet paper into the bag, then close the inner bag and outer bag. The bag is designed to be used sev-eral times (maybe three?) so hikers need to carry only one bag. The gel absorbs much of the smell, but I assure you the bags do not mask all the smell, especially after using them more than once and carrying them several days in hot temperatures (I knew this from experience). The smell may not be a problem for expeditionary climbers in sub-zero temperatures; their poo is probably frozen solid helping to alleviate residual smell. Besides, they’re wearing facemasks much of the time so can’t smell anything anyway. Lucky ducks! 

				I’d used WAG Bags on many former hiking trips because they were required on Mount Whitney, in the Zion Narrows, and through Buck-skin Gulch in the USA. When hikers stay overnight in fragile ecosystems, protecting agencies establish environmental zones where hikers must carry WAG Bags for waste disposal. The Zion Narrows is a perfect example of when these bags prove helpful. First, human waste in the river is obviously a problem for those downstream; second, the surrounding desert ecosystem makes it too difficult to bury waste deep enough for it to decompose naturally. Poo in desert regions does not break-down quickly so can be swept into waterways or blown into the air. Neither are beneficial (to say the least). On Everest, poo freezes and, like bodies that litter the landscape, becomes a permanent feature. I was told each Everest climber was issued two WAG Bags and required to have them checked upon returning to basecamp to ensure they were used and no waste remained on the mountain.
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				As I was returning from the mountaineer’s camp to the welcome sign, I saw two young men, one of whom was extremely ill with what was obviously AMS. They were continuing to walk forward and I was flabbergasted. Ram hadn’t been able to move so I knew the guy wasn’t yet to that level of disability, but why would they keep walking up in altitude when there was little more to see? I told him they should descend and asked his pulse ox. His friend didn’t even know what I was talking about. This was not a good sign. I hoped they would get help and wondered if there was a helipad at the end of basecamp where I’d just left. Maybe his friend was just trying to get him there for an evacuation. I heard a helicopter a few minutes later so hoped that had been why his friend had been pushing so hard to ascend—that was where there helipad was.

				I reached the welcome sign again and asked someone to take pictures of me while I placed Ram’s prayer flag on the post. I hoped he would be pleased when he received the picture. It was well after noon and there were still tons of people up there. People walking solo, people in twos, people in large groups. I supposed they had done what I’d originally wanted to do—they’d reached Lobuche the night before, left Lochuche early in the morning, passed through Ghorakshep while dropping gear, and continued to Basecamp for an afternoon arrival. They would then return to Ghorakshep for the night, trek to Kala Patthar early the next morning for a sunrise view of Everest, then start back to Lukla or maybe continue the loop I’d so longed to hike. I didn’t have time to add Kala Patthar, especially given my hiking pace. I wasn’t sad; I actually saw EBC while they just saw the sign. Also, I’d had a great view of the peak from Everest View Hotel. I was more saddened that I wouldn’t be able to go over Cho La Pass.

				What was very strange was how many people passed me on their way up while I was on my way down. I’d left EBC after 2 PM; that was really late to still be ascending. And, it started to snow. While a little snow doesn’t bother me when hiking (it sure beats rain!), at altitude that snow could quickly turn into a white out prohibiting us from finding our way. A snowstorm had deeply covered the trail once when I was on the John Muir Trail and resulted in one of the scariest days of my life. It would definitely not have been safe for me to be spending time up at EBC, especially solo. The snowfall was just light enough to allow me to easily follow the footprints of others. As soon as powder covered one set of footprints, another group of trekkers passed me and I had a new set of prints for a guide. 

			

		

		
			
				Poor guy

			

		

		
			
				Waiting for a passenger

			

		

		
			
				For those who can’t make it down on their own

			

		

		
			
				Cold weather gear
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				It was getting really cold as the snowfall increased so I re-dressed in all my layers—buff for neck and head, bandana for nose, sunglasses for forehead and as an eye guard. The sunglasses fogged because of all the other layers so I adjusted them above my eyes rather like a visor. It helped with warmth and kept the snow from my eyes. With all these clothes and three hats (fleece, coat, raincoat) my vision was impaired. But, what could I have seen anyway. Footprints were all that mattered. Together, my ensemble was quite a sight and people remarked on it. At least two people commented on my duct suit. I figured they were either jealous or glad they had a focal point in front of them so they could find the trail. There was no doubt my duct suit was highly visible. My old adage: “Find me if there’s an emergency because the helicopter will see me first” was proving true. I let them know it was a fashion statement and everyone was starting to wear them.

				It was astonishing to see people continuing to ascend late in the day and in these conditions. There were even horses ascending with passengers; I couldn’t believe their handlers were allowing it to happen. The horses had a half-inch of snow on their backs already. I saw one man on a horse who was only wearing hiking pants for a bottom layer and they were soaked through on the quadriceps. I knew this would freeze. Really… continuing up? It wasn’t likely he’d get frostbite on his quadriceps, but he had to be miserable for the rest of the day. Responsible hikers beware: “Up is optional; down is not.” Fortunately, I had HotHands in each double set of gloves, a wonderful gift to myself. What I didn’t have was that hose insulator for my water bladder I’d tried to buy on Annapurna and in Kathmandu. Before I thought to blow air into the hose so it would remain empty, it had frozen. Arghh! It was going to be a dehydrated walk down because I wasn’t taking off my pack to reach my water bottle.

				I eventually reached Ghorakshep and then had to find my teahouse. Ghorakshep is not a big town, but I hadn’t paid attention when we arrived because Ram was leading and I was too distraught when leaving in the morning to think I might need to find it again. And, I couldn’t stay anywhere else because I’d left my excess gear there. I found the teahouse by looking for the helipad and figuring out where I’d been standing in relationship to it when Ram was evacuated. Ram had told me it took most people two-and-a-half hours to make the trek to the sign and another two to return. He suspected it would take me six-to-seven hours. It took me eight hours and fifteen minutes and was well worth every minute.

				I entered the outer room of the teahouse, took off my pack and outer layers and shook each outside sprinkling an inch of snow on the front porch. My rain pants were storing scores of snow, slush, and ice in their folds. The outer pack was a bit wet, but the beauty of it being that cold is that almost everything stayed dry because it was too cold for the snow on my gear to melt. 

				As soon as I arrived and without my asking, the man at the front desk called Jeevan and handed me the phone. Jeevan started asking about my day, but all I wanted was to hear Ram’s pulse ox. It had risen to the mid-70s and I was so relieved. Ram would stay at least one night in the hospital until he stabilized. Ultimately, Ram spent three nights in the hospital.
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				Jeevan and I also talked about my plans. He didn’t seem to have any concerns about me reaching Lukla in two days. I did. I was particularly concerned because without Ram carrying my sleeping bag, I would be even slower. I knew the next day’s trail was miserably rocky with lots of ascents. I may have been heading down, but in the Himalayas, it’s always two steps down, one step up. The saving grace was that I would be able to leave whenever I was ready in the morning.

				For dinner, I had juice and Sherpa stew (veggies, potatoes, rice, flour, macaroni). As I ate and typed in my journal. A woman from South Korea who’d lived in Mexico City said I looked “sad.” I told her what had transpired that morning and she, like everyone else, was very empathetic. Taking my mind of Ram, we talked quite awhile and she gave me suggestions for my India visit.

				Crew Post

				Today was quite a day. It started terribly. My guide who had never had altitude sickness in his 34 years of guiding was severely ill. With a pulse ox of 49, they helicoptered him out. A doctor in our current town said he had to leave within the hour. He looked terrible (truly within death’s grasp) and I worried about him all day… alternating between tears and prayers.

				Now for the better part of the day. I made it to EBC and walked all the way to the area where climbers start on the Khumbu Glacier. It was exhilarating.
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				A prayer flag for Ram
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				Everest Himalaya (4/4/24): Stage 6

				Ghorakshep to Pangboche

				A New “Guide”

				Confucius Says

				“When anger rises, think of the consequences.”

				My biggest concern was fitting everything into my backpack. I just couldn’t bring myself to test if it would all fit the night before. I really didn’t have a choice so I would somehow, come hell or high water, have to make it work. This was the first time I would be carrying all of my own gear including that pretty darn big sleeping bag; -10° takes a lot of space even when compressed and costs me four pounds on my back. I’d seen Bishow and Ram squish it down to the size of a basketball so knew it was possible. And, surprise, I gained inhuman strength out of complete necessity (like a mother lifting a car off her trapped child) and did it—quite the accomplishment. I also had to fit Ram’s stuff sack into my pack, but it was 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 11.4 mi

				Time: 10:24

				Ascent/Descent: +419’/-4,327’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 16,960’/16,960’/12,768’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 31°F, 17°F

				Teahouse: Om Kailash Lodge

			

		

		
			
				Downhill! Yes!

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 234 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				smaller then a breadbox and probably only one pound. I later learned it only stored his coat, not his entire sleeping bag. Everything fit, but I was wearing lots of extra layers given the morning temperature and had no idea where they would go when I started disrobing. It was unbelievable, but as I stripped, every item found a place in that pack, just like the pockets of Hagrid’s moleskin overcoat. The pack was huge and looked like I was backpacking ten days solo in the wild, but it was probably just under 30 pounds. It was a birthday miracle (though my birthday was still several days away).

				I had hoped to be out the door super early, but leaving was daunting; it was 17°F outside. I finally accepted reality and knew the consequences—remaining in 17°F weather. Besides, if I were moving, my body would warm. I knew the first part of the trail would be a bear, lots of up-and-down on big rocks so figured I should just suck it up and get through the hard part. Because the EBC trek was an out-and-back, I also knew the second half of the day’s trek would have me enjoying only a gradual decrease. I could do this.

				To avoid thinking about the difficulty of the trail and extra weight in the pack, I turned on a book and finished the “Great Lectures” book about Hinduism. My new Korean friend told me how culturally fascinating Hinduism was and how it was displayed in all its colorful glory in Varanasi. When I heard the professor mention Varanasi in my morning audiobook lecture, I was hooked. It was fate had to go.

				Then, something I considered really strange happened. This 20-year-old Nepali man came and asked about my guide. I told him Ram’s story and he decided he would be my guide… ensuring the safety of this old, frail lady for the day. I didn’t want a guide, but figured he would eventually get tired of me and my pace and just go away. I also wondered about his ulterior motives. He had to be fishing for cash.

				He told me he would be spending two months as the manager of EBC, a role he’d played the previous year. He was practicing English so he could apply for a bachelor’s program in a country where they offered degrees he believed were of higher quality than those in Nepal. I figured I could do him the favor of helping him practice so he’d pass his TOEFL, and why not be entertained for awhile. He also told me he was from Southwestern Nepal, the lowlands, and had been in the Everest Himalaya for two weeks acclimatizing so he could start full-time work at Basecamp. Given his young age, it all sounded fishy. Nonetheless, I was enjoying the conversation and it was nice to have such a seemingly kind person escort me on the right path. 

				He seemed to be well-known and liked by other Nepalis on the trail; that certainly spoke to his character. Plus, Jeevan had told me to accept help from Nepalis, they are 

			

		

		
			
				Suraj, my guide for the day
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				just those types of people. As an American, that didn’t come easy. Throughout the day (about eight times), he asked if he could take my backpack and my answer was always “no.” I think one of the Nepali men we passed asked him why he wasn’t carrying my pack and I had the impression he was being judged for making his charge suffer. I’m sure he explained the situation and all was well. I really didn’t like letting others carry any of my weight. I felt it was my burden to carry and it certainly was great strength training for triathlon. Honestly, the weight wasn’t that much of a burden because the climbing was quite minimal for the day. I would have a lot more climbing the following day, but I’d also be at a much lower elevation.

				My new “guide,” Suraj, was so good to me. Every time I slipped, he was sincerely concerned. He walked just a few feet behind me all day and regularly put out his hand when I looked wobbly. When I fell, he was so concerned and, of course, reminded me that he really wanted to carry my pack. Wasn’t happening. I finally accepted him as my somewhat guide and asked him which trail to take a few times… still questioning his ulterior motives.

				I stopped to go to the bathroom and filter some water. I hadn’t wanted to fill the bladder too much in the morning because I worried it would explode when adding all the miscellany to my pack. And, of course, the added weight was a factor. When I stopped, he stopped. I offered to buy him lunch and coffee, but he would only accept coffee. He asked me to tell the staff he was my guide; I told him he should just order for me and he could say whatever he wanted. I wasn’t sure how all this worked; perhaps Nepals weren’t allowed in teahouses without guests? I also ordered apple pie—I needed the fruit for energy, right? I only ate half of it and he was so reticent to eat the other half until I assured him I was leaving it behind. The price was exceptionally high; in fact, my coffee was about the price of Starbucks around the corner from my home in Vegas. I wondered if he was in on it, but later learned he was not. He was just such a kind and respectful young man; where are these kids in the USA? Maybe those in the USA are just afraid that the people they help will wonder about their ulterior motives all day.

			

		

		
			
				Tending to the flock

			

		

		
			
				Pack animals showing their strength

			

		

		
			
				The memorial and avalanches
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				At one point during the walk, I stopped for a cheese croissant. He pulled out his guide card so I would know he was on the up-and-up. He was just so young! He told me he’d completed his guide course a few months prior and was working as an assistant guide when possible. Between his English and focus on his clients and their safety, this guy was definitely ready to be a lead guide. Ram had a lot of ecological and geographical knowledge that Suraj lacked, but I really enjoyed his temperament and good humor like I’d enjoyed that of Bishwo.

				I enjoyed the scenery and especially appreciated walking through the memorial a second time, but took few pictures because I’d taken so many on the “out” of the out-and-back. He pointed out some features to me as we walked. Eventually, I needed to take my mind off the day’s physical challenges so put on and finished a second book, “Ordeal by Hunger” about the Donner Party. He just stayed behind me, watching my every step and wanting to carry my pack. 

				When we arrived in my goal town (woo-hoo, I made my goal), Pangboche, I’d forgotten which teahouse I’d stayed in on my visit the few days prior so asked him to choose one, but not one that had Starbucks-cost coffee. He did and it was quite nice. Also, he treated me like a princess—acquiring my room, checking on me, and offering to help ring out my laundry because squeezing out all the water is always difficult given my lack of hand strength. Like with the pack, though, I was committed to my own responsibilities. I refused his help and wrung out my now gloriously clean underwear all by myself.

				As soon as I walked in the dining room after my chores, he brought me the menu and ordered for me. Then, he sat around the fire while I journaled at one of the tables regularly looking at me and smiling, checking if I needed anything. Whenever I stood up, he came over to see what I needed. I drank my lemon/ginger/honey water and ate my garlic soup with noodles and as soon as I needed more water, he was right on it. Fantastic! I’d told him I’d pay for his dinner and he told me later that he did not want me to do that. I simply said: “Okay” in case he was a charlatan, but knew I’d be leaving him a tip to cover his room and meals and a little extra. How could I not?
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				Crew Post

				I had a much heavier pack, but spent much of the day going downhill and handled it like a big girl. I finished two books, one on Hin-duism and I still have no idea what Hinduism is, and one on the Donner Party. 

				A strange thing happened. A 20-year-old guide who is acclimatizing so he can start his two-month job managing EBC ended up walk-ing with me all day and treating me as if he was my guide. He was amazing!

			

		

		
			
				Pangboche, almost there

			

		

		
			
				Attempting to get warm in Pangboche
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				Everest Himalaya (4/5/24): Stage 7

				Pangboche to Namche Bazaar

				Heading toward Home 

				Confucius Says

				“Our greatest glory is not in never falling, 

				but in rising every time we fall.”

				I was finishing prepping to leave when there was a knock on my door just after 6 AM. It was Suraj there to help me in every possible way. This guy was amazing (if not relentless)! He helped me re-stuff the mass of detritus into my pack, then helped as I struggled to fill my water bladder—a chore because the pack had already surpassed its limit. He’d already checked to make sure I’d picked up my power pack from the dining room and was happy to order whatever I wanted to eat. It was like having mini-Bishwo in my room. As a porter/guide/manager, I knew he’d probably be good at determining weights of objects so I asked him how much he though my pack weighed. His answer was 13-14 kg (30-33 pounds). Gosh, 

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 9.9 mi

				Time: 10:25

				Ascent/Descent: +1,912’/-3,664’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 12,937’/12,768’/11,286’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): Unknown

				Teahouse: Holiday Inn Namche

			

		

		
			
				The river
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				I was impressed with myself! He eventually saw me off with lots of waves and smiles. His grandmother was 57 and I was turning 56 in a few days. I think he was giving to his grandmother by caring for me. What a sweetie! I wish he and my daughter could meet! I was sad to say goodbye.

				The scenery was, as before, beautiful. Seeing the massifs with the sun rising behind them was glorious and seeing them on the southbound route was as incredible as on the northbound route. The number of pictures I took evidenced my awe. Every time I looked down at the river, I had to take another picture. I never wanted to forget that incredible view. One of my lucky finds was seeing a mom and baby musk deer. Bishwo had told me how lucky we’d been to see some in the Annapurna Himalaya. This was one of those times a professional photographer would have been great to pull out of my pack. Mom was gorgeous snacking as the sun rose behind her.

			

		

		
			
				Evidence of Buddhism was everywhere in the forms of stupas, “Om Mani Padme Hum” painted on and chiseled into rock, prayer wheels, prayer flags, and ornamented entry gates. Nowhere was it more prevalent than in Tengboche where there was a famous Buddhist monastery. I paid my NPR300 (US$2.26) entrance fee for the monastery and walked immediately to the main area. My plan had been to get a blessing and I was on a mission. There was a monk in the sacred room and no one was communicating with him. I asked for a blessing (a prayer for my marriage) and he gave me one along with adorning me with a necklace of red thread. I left a donation and as soon as I turned around, everyone else was requesting a blessing. I’d started something! They all left as quickly as they’d come and the monk was just standing around so I asked him to teach me to pray (I’d forgotten some of the motions and the proper order). He was tickled and guided me through the process for the requisite three times. 

			

		

		
			
				The goat mom (baby behind)

			

		

		
			
				Snacktime

			

		

		
			
				The baby
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				I left the main area then heard a guide telling his clients about the monastery. Of course, I tagged along (hiding just around each corner) and saw much more than I would have otherwise. I was glad to learn I could take pictures outside the most sacred area and was able to get a picture of “the famous llama’s footsteps.” I wished Ram were there because I knew these footprints (preserved in clay) were special, but I really didn’t know why. I needed a cultural interpreter. 

				One of the people I saw at the monastery was the 12-year-old boy I’d met and talked with a few days earlier. Unfortunately, he was unable to continue to EBC because of a low pulse ox. Fortunately, he and his dad had a great guide so the boy was able to stay with the guide while Dad finished the climb. I was sad for him, but so glad he’d had the opportunity to make it this far and felt confident he would be back in these mountains as a mountin climber in years to come.

				While at the monastery, I learned the famous Yeti bone was not there as I’d thought it would be. It was a village back and I’d missed it. 

			

		

		
			
				Llama footprint

			

		

		
			
				Yes, it’s a monk with an umbrella hat
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				Darn 49 pulse ox, Ram! Then, I learned there was a Yeti skull farther ahead on the trail so planned to check that one out. A yeti skull—who wouldn’t want to see that?!? Unfortunately, I learned my second option was out of the way and carrying that pack up a whole bunch of steps and additional distance seemed way too much for the day.

				Instead, I picked up some Tibetan bread for first breakfast on the trail, put my head down while listening to audiobooks, and ascended, ascended, ascended. For being on my way down to Lukla, an almost 2,000’ climb seemed unfair. The good news was with my re-acclimatized body and strength from a month of trekking, it was surprisingly easy… with one exception. That darn pack was bothering me. I could handle it, but I definitely felt the weight and needed to take a lot more breaks. I seldom take off my pack, but on this day it was a regular occurrence. My back hurt the night before and would be a bother again on this night. I stopped for chapati with cheese partly because I wanted food, but mostly because I needed to use the bathroom and wanted to justify taking the pack off again.

				I had two other goals for the day. I wanted to meet the man who had the FKT (fastest known time) for climbing all 14 peaks in the world above 8,000m (26,000’). There is a movie shown somewhere in Namche Bazaar at 3 PM each day and viewers can meet him then. I figured it was a pipe dream to think I’d arrive by 3 PM and it was. The second thing I wanted to do was see the two Sherpa museums. I wasn’t sure where they were, figured they were closed by the time I made it to town, and couldn’t fathom lugging that pack any farther than needed to for the day. I later learned the museums were on a hill that would have been a chore under any circumstance... much less after a tough day with a heavier pack. I would have to be content with my one success: a blessing over my marriage—a pretty awesome thing by itself.

				I rolled into Namche Bazaar and wasn’t sure which way to go so wandered aimlessly for a bit. Eventually, I found the stairs from hell that I remembered from a few days prior and just started descending. I wasn’t sure where I was, but knew I’d ascended these stairs so was in the right place. I wanted to stay in the same teahouse where I’d stayed when in Namche Bazaar on the trek up because another goal was to attend the morning Buddhist prayer service I didn’t know existed the first time I was there. To find it, I eventually dug through my pack, pulled out my technology bag, fiddled through my journal entries to find the last date I was in Namche, and found the teahouse 
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				name. Only then could the ultimately successful search begin in earnest.

				I checked in without a hitch, took a “bath” with baby wipes in my room (oh, I so looked forward to a warm shower!), and came down to the dining room for dinner. Noodles with marinara sauce and cheese had sounded so good for days and with my hiker hunger finally kicking in, I was all over that mass of spaghetti while journaling and organizing Indian hotels for the next part of my trip.

			

		

		
			
				Crew Post

				I made it to my goal destination, Namche Bazaar, which puts me in a good position to reach Lukla tomorrow so I can make my flight back to Kathmandu the following day. 

				I had several goals for the day, but only one came to fruition. I visited a Bud-dhist monastery and received a blessing. Yes, they do give those to anyone! The thread bracelet I’d received during my blessing in Kathmandu coinciden-tally fell off last night. Today’s blessing came with a thread necklace. I just hope my blessing doesn’t strangle me! 

				I didn’t get to see the yeti bone or skull, visit the two Sherpa museums in Namche, or meet the man who starred in the Netflix show “14 Peaks.” He is Nepali and holds the speed record for climbing all fourteen 8,000 m (26,000’) peaks. It was still a wonderful day filled with amazing views.

			

		

		
			
				First look at Namche Bazaar for the day
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				Another day in the neighborhood
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				Everest Himalaya (4/6/24): Stage 8

				Namche Bazaar to Lukla

				Success!

				Confucius Says

				“Men’s natures are alike, it is their habits that carry them far apart.”

				I rushed to get ready because I wanted to attend the morning prayer session. I was a bit scared because I had never attended one and was unsure about how welcome I’d be. It ends up that unbeknownst to me I was too late to arrive before all the monks left; therefore, making it much more comfortable. There was only one man there and he was chanting. He asked if I was there for meditation and I said I was, just guessing at what I was supposed to say. He directed me to take off my boots (I should have thought of that before) and sit down. I did so and he made this hand gesture I didn’t understand. It took awhile, but I eventually realized he was telling me I was facing the wrong direction. I wasn’t to face the person chanting, I was to face the altar on the other side of the room. I hadn’t even realized it was there.

			

		

		
			
				Miles: 13.1 mi

				Time: 11:38

				Ascent/Descent: +2,244’/-4,183’

				Highest/Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 11,340’/11,340’/9.170’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 56°F, 41°F

				Teahouse: Numbur Hotel

			

		

		
			
				Entry to morning worship

			

		

		
			
				Can’t contain the joy
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				He chanted non-stop for the about ten minutes. I wasn’t sure how he had enough breath; he spoke so quickly and never stopped. If he didn’t make it as a Buddhist monk, he would have a great career opportunity as an auctioneer. It was a nice way to meditate. I’d never had that experience before and found it calming. 

				When I felt it was time to get on the trail, I stood up and almost knocked over his reading table. He was very understanding of my clumsy action, surely wondering how I’d made it from Lukla to Namche Bazaar without falling off the side of a mountain. I then tried to do the prayer ritual I’d been practicing for the last month. I moved my hands from my forehead to my mouth and then my heart, knelt to the floor, and pressed my forehead to the ground. This part of the ritual always went well. The problem was getting back up. The monk the day before had giggled with me about my instability upon rising and it was no better on this day.

			

		

		
			
				Scenes of Namche Bazaar
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				I returned to my room hoping my water bladder would be full. I’d started the gravity filter when I left so it could trickle in my absence. Upon returning, there was the same amount of water in the dirty water bladder as there had been when I left. This meant I had to take some items out so I could filter the water into the bladder while the pack was less compacted. The filter wasn’t able to get enough water into the bladder even with the partially-emptied, stiff, still compacted, heavy pack. Oh, well. I’d stick with 1L in the bladder and supplement with my water bottle if necessary. By the end of this half marathon day, I’d sucked the bladder dry and even finished all of my water bottle. When I asked Ram that night about the weight of my pack, he said 13-14 kilograms (29-31 pounds), but this was after all my water was gone. I decided to place the weight of my backpack at about 14 kg/31 pounds. Arghh! This was nothing compared to the 42 pounds I carried up Mt. Whitney on the John Muir Trail, but I was almost a decade younger then.

			

		

		
			
				About Music

				Porters often listened to music through earphones while walking, but sometimes listened using speak-ers. I heard some Western pop, but usually heard either Nepali pop or Buddhist chants (like “Om mani padme hum.”). Then there were those young guys listening to Amer-ican rap. I hope they had no idea what the words meant.
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				I had a super weird sensation during the day. As I was walking, I felt like I was moving up-and-down. No one was panicking and saying there was an earthquake so I figured it was something wrong with me. Worried I’d fall, I chose to sit down. Perhaps it was the weight of the pack. When I resumed walking, I was fine, but it did happen again later in the day. I walked through it the second time and was none the worse. Ram later told me it might have been a sign of exhaustion, but I really didn’t feel like I overdid it any more on this day than I had on any other. Strange.

				I stopped at the bakery where Ram and I had stopped on our way up. The cheese bread was equally good, but I could only eat half of it so gave the remainder to a porter. I also picked up some yak cheese for a much cheaper price tag than I had the few days prior. The cheese was exactly what I needed in terms of protein and satiated my need for something savory instead of sweet. Shawna (Crew) had asked how yak cheese tasted; I responded that it tasted like sharp white cheddar. The bread and cheese, a chocolate croissant, a tangerine, and some juice comprised my daily calorie intake before downing a few veggie spring rolls for dinner. I was starting to get hungry just as I was leaving the trail.

				I really enjoyed watching kids as they played each day. I saw a set of two girls both dressed in blue-and-white-striped shirts who were watching a music video and practicing the moves they saw in the video. Another girl played with a hacky sack and several boys kicked a ball around. Another 

			

		

		
			
				Taking out the trash

				We were all encouraged to carry trash back to Lukla. I chose not to do it because of my elevated pack weight. Here are the Korean woman and her porter with their orange trash bags.

			

		

		
			
				TP anyone... Bueller?... anyone

			

		

		
			
				Make way for the ones working REALLY hard

			

		

		
			
				It was a good time for that porter to pray

			

		

		
			
				Farming fresh veggies

			

		

		
			
				More child labor

			

		

		
			
				Harvesting (notice the bald spots)

			

		

		
			
				Greenhouses were fairly common at this elevation
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				group of boys played baseball—one boy would pitch and the other would try to hit the ball with an empty plastic Coke bottle. A final group I saw included something like a one-sided teeter-totter. Two children bounced up-and-down on a log elevated on one side while a third girl tried to walk on it without falling. I thought they were quite clever, but Mom came and chased them away. These were all universal examples of children’s play. 

				Then, I saw an about 13-year-old girl carrying three cases of water uphill in a crate… not so universal. Many children were working. One young boy was taking armfuls of crops his mother collected and moving them into a basket. Another boy, not much older than a toddler, brought his mom a rusty cleaver. To do this, he had to climb down a rocky wall while holding the cleaver. I supposed you did what you had to do when living in rural conditions and you learned at a very young what was meant by hard work.

				I arrived late into Lukla because I’d taken the time in the morning for meditation. I didn’t regret it. Ram was waiting for me at the start of the trail and hugged me many times, apologizing profusely. I wasn’t sure what he felt sorry about, the body does what it does, so just let him hug me. We walked another 30 minutes through Lukla all the way to the airport where our hotel was situated. I was relieved we were right next to the airport.

				Ram checked me in, gave me time to get ready for dinner, ordered for me, and sat with me. It was very sweet. I felt that given his recovery, I should’ve been waiting on him—not the other way around. He sat with me for most of my dinner working on his phone while I wrote in my journal. He took a brief break from me to eat dal baht with the other Nepalis and then was right back at my side in case I indicated I wanted anything.

				He eventually left and I continued journaling until I could no longer keep my eyes open. I retired to my room for my last (hopefully) night’s sleep in the Everest Himalaya. The tea shop’s doors were locked, Triangle Sweatshirt style, so I had to get help to get to my room.

				My Nepal trek was over. Twenty-four days in the Annapurna and Everest Himalayas were done. I’d met three of my 2024 goals (the two basecamps and the Circuit), but more importantly, I’d had experiences that would last a lifetime.

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

	
		
			
				 • 250 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Crew Post

				It was a beautiful day and I made it back to Lukla. My Nepal trek is complete.

			

		

		
			
				Made it!
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				Kathmandu
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				Kathmandu (4/7/24): Day 1

				Lukla to Kathmandu

				Made It “Home”

				Confucius Says

				“Without feelings of respect, 

				what is there to distinguish men from beasts?”

				I’d packed a bit the night before (basically putting everything into the “Filthy” side of my clothes bag) so it didn’t take long for me to get out of the room after the 4:30 AM wake-up call. I had to filter water and go to the bathroom. And, go to the bathroom I did. Diarrhea. That was okay; it was good timing since it happened back in civilization instead of out on the trail. Maybe not. I went to wash my bottom with the bidet and there was no water. No problem. I could handle it with toilet paper. Next, flushing. Oh. This was a problem. I went to wash my hands. No water, but I had hand sanitizer. I would make due. Who it would be a real problem for was the poor person who had to clean and aerate the room. If you’re reading this, I’m sorry.

			

		

		
			
				Starting/Sleeping Elevations: 9,383’/4.600’

				Morning Temperature (inside/outside): 60°F, 34°F

				Hotel: Apsara Boutique Hotel

			

		

		
			
				Leaving Lukla

			

		

		
			
				Farewell to the Everest Himalaya
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				I’d put some water in my “Dirty” water bladder the night before so having the tap off was not a concern for drinking water. I filtered enough for my bottle for the trip glad that I didn’t need to fill the bladder in my pack. The bladder would need to be empty for the international flight the next day anyway (assuming Nepal-India TSA was better than what I’d experienced in Nepal).

				I couldn’t find Ram at our assigned 5:30 AM departure time and, of course, the door to his section of the hotel was locked. I spent the time quietly, petting dogs because I was wearing gloves that would surely be washed before I ever wore them again. The proprietors finally unlocked and opened the doors and I went looking for him while he snuck out a different door so beat me to our rallying point.

				There were several others at our hotel who finished the EBC trek with me the day before and were (hopefully) catching the morning flight to Manthali. They all seemed to remember me—perhaps because of my pace or duct suit. Unfortunately, I didn’t remember many of them… dementia or too many TBIs… who knew (see what I did there?). They all seemed so impressed with me and some German girls even wanted to take a picture with me. I still could’t figure out why everyone was so impressed; they’d just completed the same course I had. Nonetheless, I gladly accepted the praise. 

				We all moved to the airport where the procedures were not much different than when we left Manthali—chaos—but not quite as confusing as when we left Ramechhap Airport. TSA (an acronym used “tongue in cheek” in this instance) barely glanced at my checked baggage which was a good thing. If they’d had me remove anything from my pack, I wasn’t confident I could get everything back in. Ram and I took our only picture together (I was disappointed we hadn’t taken more together) then moved to security. Again, a cursory glimpse of my handheld baggage, ignoring of my fanny pack, and beeping as I went through the metal detector. I was good to go.

				Seeing the plane arrive, getting on it, and eventually getting off the ground toward Manthali was glorious! I was so happy to be on my way back to Kathmandu, India, and home. I looked so forward to a shower and clean clothes. Consistent electricity, wifi, water, and heat/cooling were blessings I’d dreamt of for many, many days.

				I took video of our takeoff for Mike. I’d known the runway was really short, but hadn’t known how steep it was. Good thing I knew nothing about flying; more knowledge would have definitely incited more fear. Ram directed me to sit on the right side of the plane so I could see the mountains, but the only seat remaining was in the back row with the flight attendant and 

			

		

		
			
				Lukla Airport with Ram

			

		

		
			
				Footroom on the plane
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				three suitcases at my feet (not mine). So much for “Your bags must fit under the seat in front of you.” I supposed it didn’t matter much; if we were going down, there’d be little left to worry about anyway. 

				It was sad the sky wasn’t clear for pictures, but it was what it was and still gave me my last opportunity to see the massifs. I also saw trees, small villages, and lots of crop terraces. Several of us clapped when we landed in Manthali knowing how lucky we were to have departed from Lukla and landed in Manthali in one attempt. I did not want to sit in Lukla for another five days of bad weather while missing the India portion of my trip.

				Manthali still smelled of burning trash and we sat in the same coffee shop we’d endured for hours before leaving for Lukla. The woman at the counter (the one who alternately beat and praised her kid) was so happy to see me and kept smiling and waving. I guessed it was because I tipped with every order. I’m surprised more trekkers didn’t do this.

				We waited about half-an-hour for our van while I wrote in my journal and kept nodding off. When it arrived, I immediately lay down in a row of seats and proceeded to sleep for several hours only awakened when it was obvious we were having car trouble. Our driver had taken a shortcut while I was sleeping and he was now trying unsuccessfully to get back on the original road. The van just kept spinning its tires on dirt and rocks. In addition to the sliding, there was a big lip at the top of the hill we were trying to climb so he would need speed. We finally had our chance until a bus pulled up at the same time we did, just missing a collision. I’d put on my seatbelt by this time. About ten Nepali men and a traffic cop surrounded our van helping the driver with the situation and after about five minutes, we and the bus were on our way again. Just another day on the roads of Nepal.

				We arrived in Kathmandu before 2 PM and I went into chore frenzy mode. I dropped off my clothes to be washed and bought a cheap dress to wear that evening since everything I owned was with the cleaner. Next was a shower from heaven. I luxuriated for about ten minutes under the warm water, soaping everything several times to ensure I hadn’t missed any spots. Hot water felt like a miracle and knowing my hair would dry before bedtime was a definite benefit.

				After showering, I put on my new dress. It didn’t fit! I had to walk back to the store where, fortunately, the owner let me exchange it. The new dress was still uncomfortable, but I couldn’t very well go back for a third. I covered it with the prayer sash Jeevan gave me when I arrived in Nepal and called it good.

			

		

		
			
				The road ahead

			

		

		
			
				Welcome back to Kathmandu
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				Jeevan met Ram and me at the hotel and we all walked to a nice place for dinner. I ordered bruschetta to share and steak with fries and vegetables for myself. I also ordered hard apple apple cider and later lemonade with mint leaves after seeing Jeevan’s drink. Yum! We talked over dinner and I gave Ram my trekking poles, boots, and a hand warmer. I also gave Jeevan the sunglasses I’d promised Bishwo.

				Over dinner, Jeevan told me his fascinating story about being a religious artist, then becoming a trek organizer. He seemed to really enjoy his new career and I was glad he had found his place, was successful, and was helping others through his charitable work. He also told me about the 2015 earthquake. All but one house in his village was destroyed, but only one person died. That it happened at noon instead of midnight was what saved them. 

				We enjoyed the food and conversation before they walked me back to the hotel. Before Jeevan left, he told me that when he’d asked to talk with Ram on the morning of his AMS flight, he was told: “No, you can’t talk with him; he’s finished!” It was a very stressful morning for him, too. I learned that I was the only of his clients who had ever reached Everest Basecamp in five days and my quick ascent (despite being so slow while walking) was probably what made him sick. He was unable to acclimatize in time because he hadn’t been out in the mountains for months. I thought I’d lost my acclimatization from Annapurna, but was wrong. So, it was me—I broke my guide.

				I went out one last time to pick up my clean laundry and buy an EBC patch and some chocolate. I spent the rest of my night in my room journaling and communicating with my contacts in India (e.g., AirB&B) before realizing I’d made a mistake—I had another day to spend in Kathmandu. 

				I was falling asleep as I wrote (despite my long nap in the jeep) so eventually turned out the lights… no need for an alarm!

				Crew Post

				The Lukla flight actually arrived in Lukla and landed in Manthali. I was so happy! We then took a five-hour van ride to Kathmandu… not without excitement due to Nepali road work.

				I luxuriated in the shower for 20-30 blissful minutes, cleaning and re-cleaning every nook and cranny. I had my clothes washed and took Jeevan and Ram out for dinner (Bishwo was on a trek with another client). I’m absolutely exhausted, but have a full day to recov-er before heading to India.
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				Kathmandu (4/8/24): Day 2

				Back in Kathmandu

				Journaling in the Garden of Dreams

				Confucius Says

				“Do not impose on others what you yourself do not desire.”

				It’s not everyday that you have a gross story from the middle of the night. (Well, maybe it is for me given the situation in Lukla a few days prior.) I was up for my obligatory at-least-once-a-night pee and did so, seemingly, in the dark without incident. Then, just before flushing the toilet (this one actually flushed!), I noticed there was a white lump in the toilet. That was enough to pique my interest so I turned on the light. Man! My orange toiletries bag had fallen in the toilet and I’d just peed on it! Arghhh! Thank goodness for running water so I could rinse everything several times and thank goodness for the dry bag being waterproof and thank goodness for actual towels so I could lay everything out to dry. So much for having access to real bathroom facilities!

				When I couldn’t sleep, I called the Fam to catch up. Things hadn’t changed much, but it saddened me a bit knowing the world at home could function without me. I eventually fell back asleep and stayed that way until 9 AM, ready for another shower (I just couldn’t get enough) and brunch. I was down to my last NPR1500 (US$10) so had to eat heartily of 

			

		

		
			
				Hotel: Apsara Boutique Hotel

			

		

		
			
				Street scene in Kathmandu

			

		

		
			
				Dinner with Ram and Jeevan
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				the included breakfast. And, that I did. My hunger had arrived with a vengeance just as I was no longer working out. I indulged in everything—chicken links, yogurt, fruit muesli, eggs, juice, milk coffee, some Nepali bread and lentil dipping stuff, grilled vegetables, and potatoes. Perhaps this list is missing four or five items… I ate those, too. I knew I would be eating very little for the rest of the day unless I could find a place that took a credit card. I caught up on logging my activities on TrainingPeaks and Garmin Connect until each day of the journey had a descriptive name.

				A goal for the day was a manicure so I returned to the mall where I received the last one even though I wasn’t pleased with the skill of the technician nor the time it took. It didn’t matter; their acrylic manicurist was not working on this day. Then, I visited two other salons that didn’t even offer acrylic. I knew this would be an issue when my manicurist at home said: “Just go and ask them for a fill and gel.” Yeah, right. I guess Vietnam (the original home of my regular manicurist) has as lot more specialty nail care than Nepal. In the third salon, a woman from New York who was waiting at the counter for her friend said she might know of an option. She and her Alabama friend were in Nepal doing public health work as part of their medical school coursework. I was so glad to see Nepal taking advantage of this resource and that Americans were receiving opportunities to see ailments uncommon at home. The southerner walked me to a fourth salon and we chatted all the way (Southern hospitality, you know). Again, no luck. My nails would need to wait for India.

				With no other plans for the day, I decided to go to the Garden of Dreams. Jeevan recommended it when I first arrived in Kathmandu and I hadn’t yet had time to visit it. (Okay, I’d decided it was too expensive (NPR400/US$3) when I first arrived in the city. Now, I decided to splurge and eat less for dinner.) It was a perfect way to while away a few hours journaling and watching as families had their portraits taken, children played, women walked together looking at the flowers, lovers chatted on benches, and tourists sipped coffee on a veranda. It was the Nepali equivalent of the Huntington Library (one acre instead of 100 and all the buildings were closed except the restaurant). I stayed four hours before returning to the hotel.

				Still full from the gargantuan breakfast, I skipped dinner and worked on my journal, continued planning my India trip, posted on FaceBook about the completion of three of my 2024 goals, and watched Netflix in my hotel room. I was ready for the next adventure.
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				Crew Post

				After constant movement, it was strange to have a down day. I slept in, had a gigantic brunch, tried unsuccessfully to find a place for a manicure, and spent four hours in the Garden of Dreams enjoying the landscaping and writing in my journal. I didn’t even go to dinner because I was still full from the morning’s smorgasbord. 

				The rushing and excitement begins again tomorrow as I head to India.

			

		

		
			
				Garden of Dreams

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 260 • 

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
			

		

	
		
			
				 • 261 •

			

		

		
			
				India 
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				India (4/9/24): Day 1

				Kathmandu to Agra via Delhi

				A Day of Travel

				Confucius Says

				“Better a diamond with a flaw than a pebble without.”

				“Ignorance is the night of the mind, but a night without moon and star.”

				[I added a second verse because I’d lost the first one temporarily.]

				Another warm shower… I just couldn’t get enough and was probably still clearing my orifices of dust from the trail and Kathmandu. Hikers cast dust in the air, but mules, horses, and yaks were the true culprits. Then, there was the wind. C’est la vie.

				There wasn’t much to pack. Everything would be either going with me or staying in a duffle bag at the Delhi airport. Fortunately, I’d found a place that would let me store my trekking items including my sleeping bag, sleeping pad, and coyote hat so I wouldn’t have to carry the weight and bulk nor take a chance of it being stolen while in India. The items going with me were very few—clothes, emergency bag, toiletries, technology, water bottle, and water filter. Real beds with sheets would be heaven!
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				Tuk-tuks

			

		

		
			
				AirB&B: Khasmahal Homestay Room (Aiyush and Puja)
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				I took a long time for breakfast, again eating as much as I could in hopes I could save money by not wanting or needing to eat later in the day. Jeevan arrived very early and I told him I wanted to donate US$100 to the charitable part of his organization. This meant trying the ATM again; again with no success until after a call to Mike who reminded me which card and account to use. So complicated to get cash! But, I was glad I figured it out before hitting Indian soil where I would have no cash without that knowledge.

				Jeevan drove me to the airport and showed me which line in which I should stand. You have to stand in line to get to where the ticket agents work. Then, you have to stand in line for a ticket agent. Then, you have to stand in line to go through TSA. TSA gave me a pat-down, then I needed to get two stamps on my ticket and show these to yet another man, and then, when it was time to get on the plane, your carry-on luggage is visually inspected. All this gives the illusion of safety, but it’s completed with such nonchalance that it is far from secure.

				I spent about an hour in a new Priority lounge hosts were recruiting people to use. The service and food were great. Who knew a priority lounge could have a dessert bar rivaling one on the Las Vegas Strip! The ambiance was pleasant and it was quiet.

				My flight was scheduled to leave at 11:30 AM, but the departures board kept listing it as 10:40 AM. I began to get nervous so headed toward the gate. It was a good thing because I was ushered to a bus that waited a long time to take us to the plane. By the time we were all situated, it was go-time with few extra minutes to spare.

				I didn’t realize I was booked for priority economy class and was pleasantly surprised. For a flight that was only an hour and twenty minutes, we were given bottles of water in our seats and fresh, cool, wet, scented towels for washing. Next, the flight attendant brought us menus for a three course meal and gave us each a bottle of masala lemon water. I had to try it and it tasted exactly like it sounded, but with added sugar. Not something you’d ever find in the States. Time for my third meal of the day and it wasn’t even noon. Maybe I would’ve eaten like this on the trail if the food had been free… doubtful.

				I was a bit worried about arriving in Delhi. I would need to procure cash, acquire my checked duffle bag, and find a place to leave my duffle bag for the week. Then, I had to find the driver I’d been promised would be waiting for me with a sign at exit gate 5. Who knew what I would do if any part of this plan failed. I was pretty sure I could procure Indian rupees since I’d been able to get Nepali rupees a few hours before. Another worry was about my departure from Delhi. It would happen at 4:30 AM five days later. This wouldn’t have been an issue had I stuck with my original itinerary because I’d be behind security almost the entire time. By splitting my flights to add the five-day layover, I didn’t know how I could get into the secured part of the airport that late at night. Normally, passengers can’t enter gate areas until three hours before their flights. Would I need to hang at the airport until 1:30 AM, go through Indian TSA, and then be permitted into the 

			

		

		
			
				Meeting Hari at the airport
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				inner Priority Club? I saw there was a Priority Club on the land side of the airport, but didn’t know how that worked either. It sounded like a big mess of first-world problems.

				While my problems weren’t solved for my DEL-LAS flights, everything else went without a hitch. I met my driver easily and he helped me check my extra bag into the secure cloakroom. And, best of all, it was light enough to qualify for the cheapest price. What more could I ask for? He then drove me four hours to the home of my AirB&B hosts in Agra. I slept almost the entire way, but he stopped for a meal so I sat in an air conditioned room while he ate. That’s when I first noticed everyone looking at me. I later learned that this is an uncommon season for tourists to visit because it’s so hot and some Indians in this area seldom, if ever, saw white people. I just smiled and braced for the onslaught of people who would want to take pictures of the white girl at the Taj Mahal the next day. 

				My driver, whose name was either Hari or Rekind (sounds like “Be Kind, Rewind”) was very nice and eager to ensure I had a positive experience. He spent lots of time on his phone and even took selfie videos of us car dancing and posted them as we went. The highway was in excellent condition and he drove about 50 mph the entire time. Sure beat the 12 mph Nepal pace. Along the road, I saw many sights I wouldn’t see in the USA. For example, an entire family rode on a motorcycle with son in the front, dad driving, and mom sitting on the back holding a toddler. None wore helmets. There were so many people stopped on the side of the road for no apparent reason. It seemed they just stopped for a snack on the side of the freeway. Some people drove the opposite direction of traffic including a boy on his bike. Just plain curious actions.

				I was delivered to the front door of my AirB&B and greeted warmly by my hosts Aiyush and Puja. Within the first hour, he’d helped me cancel my Varanasi AirB&B because it would be too far for me to travel there and back to Delhi in time to reach my international flight. He also reorganized my trip around Jaipur and scheduled transport and tour guides for everything between this evening and my return to 
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				Delhi. I was able to pay him directly for everything and not have to worry about a thing. Because he had such great AirB&B reviews and because of the service I’d already witnessed, I felt confident I could trust him. Retrospectively, I found this trust was founded. Every detail Aiyush organized went of without a single hitch and he even communicated with me throughout the remainder of my trip to ensure all was progressing smoothly. He was my personal travel agent!

				Aiyush ordered a tuk-tuk driver for me to show me the town at night. The driver, Vicky (sounds like Mickey from the song… or the mouse), was a self-proclaimed comedian who was fun. But, with the noise of the Indian streets, I only heard half of what he said. He told me Indian drivers needed three things: a good horn, good brakes, and good luck. I believed it. Indian drivers were phenomenal! How there were not constant pile-ups was beyond my understanding.

				He first took me to an ATM so I’d have some cash. I couldn’t get my card to work, again. Ugh! But, I wasn’t sure if my card wouldn’t work or the machine wasn’t working. Vicky informed me that at any time most of the ATMs in town were not working properly. A good thing, though, was that “banks” were open until 8 PM. Perhaps he meant exchange kiosks? We found one that charged a 7.5% exchange rate fee, but I really didn’t have a choice. I took the cash and was just glad to have money at all.

				Our third stop was at a Hindu temple. Before entering, he took time to cover his head with a turban and we both removed our shoes. He said he visits temples twice a day and temples throughout Agra are focused on different gods. We approached the altar with reverence and first had our heads covered with an upside down bowl. He had a dot painted on his forehead; I didn’t because I wasn’t sure what was going on and accidentally skipped that section. Next, we walked around the building and then were given a small amount of yummy rice mix placed on cut pieces of newspaper. We each ate ours and he threw our used newspaper squares on the ground. He informed me that lorries would come through in the morning to clean trash from the streets. Still... he was a litterbug.

				Vicky deposited me to my AirB&B where I gave Aiyush a huge chunk of cash so it would no longer be on my person. I washed my filthy feet in the sink (remember the barefooted temple visit?) and wrote in my journal until it was time to fall asleep.

				 

				Crew Post

				I flew from Kathmandu to Delhi and took a four hour ride in a private car to Agra where I met my wonderful AirB&B hosts. Aiyush helped me organize the rest of my trip including scheduling all the guides and transportation. Now, I only need focus on enjoying the rest of the trip. 

				I went out at night in a tuk-tuk to see the town at night and visit a Hindu temple. Exhausted!
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				India (4/10/24): Day 2

				Agra

				The Taj Mahal, Fortress, Baby Taj, and Cooking Class

				Confucius Says

				“The more man meditates upon good thoughts, 

				the better will be his world and the world at large.”

				My wake-up call was 5 AM for my first tour—the Taj Mahal at 5:45 AM. It was built in the 17th century and would be the fourth UNESCO Heritage Site I’d visited during my trip. My driver from the previous night, the comedian Vicky who orchestrated his own song for Obama, drove me in his tuk-tuk to pick up my guide, Ahmed, for my first tour of the day. The trip to the Taj Mahal, the “most beautiful building in the world,” took only about ten minutes. 

				We walked down a path with lounging dogs and monkeys everywhere including the surrounding pylons and trees. I was warned many times not to get too close or make eye contact with the monkeys or they might jump at me. I worried they’d steal my fanny pack with my passport and (now) small amount of cash so kept my distance. The ticket for entry was INR1300/US$15 and it was worth every penny. Ahmed was seemingly extremely knowledgable, but it sounded like he’d given the same speech many times before. He often didn’t understand my questions and sometimes made up answers. He was also very eager to take lots of pictures of me with my camera. Seeing as I knew what I looked like, I was more interested in pictures of the place. One fun picture, though, was what he called the Diana pose, the pose Princess Diana did when in the same location.

			

		

		
			
				AirB&B: Khasmahal Homestay Room (Aiyush and Puja)

			

		

		
			
				Street scenes
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				The buildings, particularly the mausoleum, were exquisitely crafted and breathtakingly beautiful. I learned that 20,000 “well-paid” craftsmen created it from the design of two Muslim priests. The queen for whom it was made, Mumtaz Mahal, was the love wife of the Mughal emperor Shah Jahan. They’d married young, ages 19 and 20, but she was his second wife because court astrologers told them they should wait for the right time, five years after they were betrothed. His other two marriages were politically motivated so the Shah only had children with her. She bore 14 children, only 7 of whom lived to adulthood and she died three days after birthing her last child, a daughter. Mumtaz asked three things of her husband—do not marry again, take care of the children, and do something to perpetuate her memory. The construction of the Taj Mahal was that something. It was certainly something!

				The compound was constructed in the middle of a jungle just outside Agra known for being popular hunting grounds. Artisans must have faced lots of dangers given the presence of wild animals. Its location was 2 km/1.2 mi from Shah Jahan’s (the husband’s) family palace and viewable from his bedroom. Additionally, he could take an underground tunnel from the palace directly to the mausoleum. After his favorite wife died, he “became crazy” and would go to the mausoleum every morning for prayers and then stay near his wife’s tomb talking to her. He stayed with her in the tomb each day until after final prayers when he would return to the palace. Mumtaz Mahal was buried under the first floor and, later, a fake identical tomb was constructed above on the first floor for visitors to see.

				In addition to the famously picturesque Taj Mahal, there were outside buildings where artisans lived while the structure was under construction and continued to live afterward to maintain its grandeur. There was also an inner courtyard where Muslim priests lived and practiced. The Shah paid for all these employees with money he provided in care of his older daughter. Since he was crazy and all, she managed the kingdom as a gift to her father and tribute to her mother. 

				There were sixteen gardens between the entryway and mausoleum and, according to my guide, two identical mosques on either side of the center building. Only one of these mosques was ever used because it was on the eastern side, the direction of Mecca. Who 

			

		

		
			
				Diana Pose
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				would want to use a beautiful religious building on the west anyway? According to him, that building wasn’t used for anything except artistic symmetry, a mainstay of Muslim symbolism. According to the Internet, though, it was actually an assembly hall. Yes, my tour was littered with half-fictions.

				Our next stop was a humongous fort. It was never clear who the inhabitants were guarding against, but it certainly served as a formidable fortress. The outer section had two security sections. Invaders scaling the outer wall would first encounter a jungle filled with predators including tigers and panthers and just plain destructive non-predators that weren’t carnivorous, but still scary like elephants. If you survived that Indiana Jones effort, you were greeted by a moat filled with more scary-teeth in forms like crocodiles. And while you tried to pass through those two hardships to reach the inner wall, burka’d women and eunuchs would patrol from the top of the fortress with weapons intended to kill. The families of these women and eunuchs lived in the surrounding cities; yet, thousands of women and eunuchs lived within the fort’s walls.

				If you chose the easy route to the fort and just stormed the single front door, a battering ram probably wouldn’t do the trick. There were seven doors to contend with. Guards above the third or so door were always prepared with hot oil to pour down on you. Starting to sound a lot like the giant rolling ball Indiana escaped, eh? On this day, 80% of the fort was unavailable for public viewing; the remainder was still in use by the military. 

				Inside the fort were nine palaces, the main being for Akbari Mahal, Jahan’s dad. The palaces did not have furniture because everyone sat on ornate rugs on the ground. The rooms, like with the Taj Mahal, were adorned with precious and semi-precious stones, and again, the bastard British removed them, desecrating the grandeur of the fort in its heyday. There were also ornate paintings in the Chinese style. The British didn’t care about those, instead focusing on the easy loot—the good rocks and gold from the upper reaches.

			

		

		
			
				Interesting Side Info 

				Note: This information is questionable given my guide’s tendencies...

				The Taj Mahal is absolutely breathtaking. It took 20,000 artisans 22 years to build. Many of the fine arts practiced then were still practiced in this age through family apprenticeships. The same materials and techniques for making marble inlays and tapestries were still in use so repairs to the historic structures remained authentic. 

				Unfortunately, the British (those bastards!) looted all the gold from the cupolas and spires and precious gems that ornamented both inner and outer walls. The only remaining stones were semi-precious. It’s unimaginable the beauty the buildings would have demanded with light gleaming through precious stones and twinkling from the reflecting pool adorn-ing the front walkway that straddles the gar-dens.

				Through the entryway, family members and guests would enter to instrumental music played on either side. Flower petals would litter the floor and drop from above as the pro-cession progressed forward. 
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				Inside the fortress was where government and community business occurred. Citizens could go there for market day where vendors hawked their wares and ladies danced. Or, they could go there for judgement by one of the royal family members. If you lost, two regular options presented themselves: (1) they might just push you over the wall. Hopefully, you’d die on impact without having to face the crocs. The other option was an encounter with Jahan’s elephant known for smashing skulls with one of his feet.

				Muslim religion was central to the court. All the men were Muslim and would marry Hindu wives to maintain political relationships. There was a gigantic mosque visitors were unable to visit. The mosque was where both royalty and peasants met on equal terms (according to my guide). Each of the inner palaces also had a Hindu temple where wives could retreat for their worship. They were permitted to practice their native Hinduism, but all resulting children were deemed Muslim.

				A bonus of the seeing the fort was visiting the most expensive bedroom in the world (though Google disagrees and claims the honor for the Empathy Suite at the Palms in my own hometown of Vegas). Shah Jahan’s palace bedroom at least earns points on the list because there are still some precious gems remaining on the walls. And the view ain’t bad either… he could see his wife’s burial plot from his windows. 

				So, you may ask, how’d those pesky Brits do it? An oldie, but goodie—a simple bait and switch. They befriended those in the royal family so received invitations to enter the fortress. The attack happened from within it’s walls leaving it with fewer defense options.

				Ahmed, Vicky, and I left the fortress with plans to see the tools used by the descendent artisans of the Taj Mahal craftsmen. Yes, I was quite gullible. I was thinking museum: “Woo-hoo; I could ask lots of questions and maybe get some truth from another source.” But, alas, no. Yes, I did learn about the techniques, but the cost was a long sales session. First, we went to see how they made tapestries for the fortress and Taj Mahal. It was a master undertaking requiring several people (often two) working all day everyday for several months to more than a year on a single textile. The tapestries were usually made by family groups who used the same designs for their entire careers. It became a cottage industry with products almost exclusively made by women. 

				Making the rugs is a bit like the latch hook technique we all experimented with in the 1970s. Artisans tie knots on two strings, tighten them, cut them off, and continue across until they finish a row. They do this using a grid like those used for cross-stitch, but some families used the same design for so long that they no longer needed the template. 

				Upon row completion, they use fork-like tools to compress the knots, weave a string through the upper strings, and then tighten it again. Watching them work was mesmerizing… and then we moved to the backside of the fabric which I learned was the actual front—what eventual owners would display in their homes. They were wildly detailed and absolutely magnificent. I was seeing a design with well over 100 knots per square inch; some rugs had over 500 knots per square inch. 
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				I was taken downstairs to see the finishing process. They cut off the excess fabric (the part that stays visible on a latch hook rug) and then do something like shaving it. After that, they fiddle with each little section because they want the fabric to separate resulting in more vibrant colors (or so I understood). Another part of the process involved searing the back with flame to create a heartier, non-slip surface for the bottom of the rug. I sure wouldn’t want to be the person resonsible for that step—whoops; I caught the tapestry on fire! Once done, they rolled the final product and waited for the next unsuspecting customer like me to enjoy a showcase. The products were truly exquisite, but there was no way I was spending well over US$1000 for a carpet in my house. 

				I hadn’t learned my lesson so gladly accepted the next offer to learn about marble inlays. The process was equally delicate, intricate, and time consuming. Like with tapestry artists, those demonstrating the practice were said to be descendants of those who ornamented the Taj Mahal and other palaces. In addition to using the techniques of yore, they still used the same materials. At least at this location, they did not work with precious stones sticking to only semi-precious stones for the inlays. First, they procured a slab of marble and cut it to their specifications. Then, they smeared henna (yes, like the tattoos) on top so they could draw the design directly on the stone. They cut recesses into the marble where the henna was and those recesses were where the colored stones would go. All stones were then prepared before any gluing began.

				I was told the glue recipe was the same as that used nearly four centuries before and the ingredients of the glue continued to be as secret as the recipe for Coke. Blending the glue involved well over 100 ingredients and was only viable for a few days. For this reason, they often made big batches. Artisans would come together like with a quilting bee brouhaha and glue away. I never learned how long it took to harden the glue on the marble inlays, but did learn the batches of unused glue hardened to rock within three days. Following the gluing process, they used sandstone to flatten the surfaces, pushing the stones down so they were even with the marble. When done, they refined the surface using sandpaper. The work was incredible and I was amazed that my AirB&B hosts had at least two of these pieces in their home, a small side table and a full-sized, eight-person dining table. 

			

		

		
			
				Finishing 

			

		

		
			
				Designing the rug

			

		

		
			
				Actual weaving

			

		

		
			
				Weaving fabric
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				After demonstrating and explaining the process, I was ushered into the sales room with truly spectacular works of art. Knowing I would buy none, I listened patiently (not a strong suit for me) and enjoyed the show. When lit from within, many of them shone with vibrant color. There was also a really cool wooden lazy Susan they used to display some of the artwork. I needed Mike to make one of those lazy Susans! After the sales pitch, they let me walk around the room (no pictures, of course!). When it was clear I wasn’t going to buy anything there, I was ushered into a second room with smaller items. Again as the no’s persisted, they took me downstairs to look at the even cheaper works. Beautiful, but just “NO!” So, we left. I figured guides and drivers received commissions if their charges made purchases because Vicky and Ahmed sat there patiently during both presentations.

				I was deposited back at my “hotel” (the name used by the guide and drivers) where I was ready for the next event of my day and I loved it! Puja taught me to cook Indian food and we made my dinner together. Like with a cooking class I took in South Africa, Puja had this gift for spices. She’d toss in a few, then a little more, than some others, and maybe just a tad of that one again and a bit of some from the cupboard. She said she’d send me the recipes and I hoped they had actual spice measurements because using her method, mine would either taste like salt or an Indian food explosion. 

			

		

		
			
				Using traditional inlay methods

			

		

		
			
				The spice rack

			

		

		
			
				Puja in her kitchen

			

		

		
			
				Dinner after cooking class
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				We made two vegetables—first, the sauce for butter chicken that we would be using with paneer instead of chicken. It was basically lots of spices simmered with onions and tomatoes for lots of time, more added spices, blending in a blender, straining the chunkies, and then reheating while adding cream, butter, and paneer. Following this, we sliced okra and onions and let them caramelize in vegetable oil. Simple. Then, added spices. Not simple. Our third dish was potatoes and cauliflower with more spices. I was amazed at how simple the two vegetable entrees were if you knew when and how much of each spice to add. Our final chore was making bread to dip into the butter chicken. Puja had already made the dough and left it in the fridge. I just had to roll it out, add some butter and salt (no garlic unfortunately), and cook it over the stove. 

				I was beginning to get hungry so she dished me a plate. Everything was delicious! Damn, I “made that really well” (I said knowing I could never make anything like it on my own). The rest became leftovers for later in the evening.

				Vicky arrived for my evening trip to the Baby Taj. A cyclone had appeared from nowhere so I put on my terrorist-looking bandana and braved the back seat of a ride through an Indian city. Every time we went over a bump or hole in the ground, either Vicky or I would simply say: “India.” Vicky told me there were no taxes in Agra. I responded: “They don’t need them, the roads are fine.” He told me he’d only been in one small accident, sadly it was with a dog. He loves dogs as much as I do so it had to be heart-wrenching.

				Along the way, I saw very few people including children wearing helmets on their motorbikes, but did see one boy wearing a strapped hardhat. I wasn’t sure if he was on his way to work at a construction site or this was just a better option than no skullcap. Vicky also pointed to a woman sitting sidesaddle behind her man. She was wearing a sari like so many other women I’d seen doing the same thing. He told me saris were often caught in the wheels with the result being death to the woman. Is that why superheroes who ride motorcycles shouldn’t wear capes? While driving. I also saw some carnival-like structure being rolled along the main road. Vicky informed me the carnival would be part of the entertainment for a wedding. It reminded me of a pumpkin patch carnival every year in October.

			

		

		
			
				Some Perceptions

				Trash: On the sides of some roads, there were piles of dirt mixed with trash the first day I was there. That night, those piles were on fire “to keep the mosqui-toes down.” I was told they’d be re-moved by a lorry the next day, but they were still there when we drove by the following. My tuk-tuk driver regularly threw trash directly on the street and didn’t seem to give it a thought. I doubt-ed this was everyone’s practice, but I’d never seen anyone litter in this way with such obvious nonchalance.

				Dust: Every orifice was dusty and when I coughed productive mucus, it was discolored from the dust and polluted air. Every time I washed my hands, dirt in the sink was proof they were covered in yuck.

				Mosquitoes: The mosquitoes of Agra were bad. I wore the non-DEET spray I’d purchased in Chitwan and still received bites. Mosquitoes swarmed in areas around doors, bathrooms, and trash heaps. Each morning and evening, the government drove through town emitting a fog-like mist to help alleviate the mos-quito problem. I was told to wait several minutes inside after the emission because of the smell (not because of the poison it surely contained).
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				Our final cultural stop for the day was Baby Taj. The squall died down a bit and the thunder, lighting, and rain took its place. As I’d been in snow and microspikes a few days prior, a little rain didn’t affect me and Vicky was safely seated in his covered tuk-tuk. There was never a deluge, but I doubt I would have cared if there had been.

				I loved the Baby Taj. It was smaller and less famous than the Taj Mahal with significantly fewer visitors. This was likely due to the fact it didn’t site the UNESCO letters behind its name or maybe because it was late in the afternoon and raining. The filigree work was comparable to the Taj Mahal, but this “baby” was much smaller. I found it exceptionally impressive and was so glad I’d had the opportunity to see it.

				I should have thought about it, but… no. Vicky asked if I wanted to see the Star of India. This sounded familiar, but I couldn’t quite place it. As we walked into a jewelry store, it came back to me. Remember when you used to collect 50 proof-of-purchase labels and send them in for a special gift [think: Ovaltine in “A Christmas Story”]? Once, I earned myself a Star of India rock. I remembered it clearly because I was not happy with my hard work being rewarded with a cheap black rock. On this day, though, I was able to see how the Star of India received its name; you really can see a star when it’s held to the light. The man tried to sell me on several pieces of jewelry, semi-precious stones, and other random items he had in his shop like a decorative sink made from what he claimed was petrified wood. It did look cool, but NO ALREADY! Vicky was right there waiting for me. By this time, I knew he’d be getting a cut.

				We returned home and Vicky was not terribly happy with the INR500 (US$6) I gave him for being my driver even though that was what Aiyush recommended. He said that he’d had to pay for parking. I thought I’d remembered this. While I was at Baby Taj, he walked across the street to get a drink (I believe it was whiskey). While doing so, he had a boy hang out in the back of his tuk-tuk to warn him when I came out. Upon returning, he gave them each a drink he’d purchased in tiny Dixie cups and some minimal cash. I figured that between the payment he was receiving from Aiyush which I knew was a fair wage, me not requiring much of him, me putting up with the ludicrous sales pitches, and a tip, he had no right to complain. I just thanked him and went inside.

				I simply didn’t have that much cash remaining of any currency type, especially given the loss of my US$100 bill from the sole of my boot in Kathmandu. I was pulling from the cash stash in my emergency kit, the stuff I’m never supposed to touch. I asked Aiyush if he’d exchange some for me. He pulled out his trusty calculator and a bunch on Indian rupees. That was easy! I should have done that the night before and saved lots of money in fees. This family was just unreal! They were so committed to ensuring I had a wonderful experience and they orchestrated everything perfectly. Could I give more than five stars on AirB&B?
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				Cyclone in a tuk-tuk
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				I spent the rest of the evening typing in my journal (a lot had happened during the day) and Puja fed me from our “jointly”-made dinner. There was SO MUCH food! She’d said it made enough for two. I’d eaten it for a late lunch and again for dinner and only half was gone. I kept typing as Aiyush silently prayed his Hindu prayers at their home worship area. What a beautiful way to worship daily.

				Crew Post

				I hit the big three in Agra today—Taj Mahal, Agra Fortress, and Baby Taj. Plus, I was roped in to three (count them… three) sales pitches. The good news is that through the process I learned a lot about marble inlays, Per-sian carpet making, and semi-precious gemstones.

				In addition to seeing some of the most spectacular architecture in the world, I had the opportunity to cook authentic Indian dishes with my AirB&B hostess. What a perfect way to spend a day in Agra.

			

		

		
			
				Ahmed took this photo with my iPhone

			

		

	
		
			
				 • 277 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				 • 277 •

			

		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			[image: ]
		

		
			
				Jaipur (4/11/24): Day 1

				 

				Agra to Jaipur

				Reaching the Pink City via Fathepur Siri

				Confucius Says

				“Wheresoever you go, go with all your heart.”

				[This made me think of DJ.]

				I was up early to a beautiful morning with time to pack, contact the family, and do some computer work before breakfast. There were several dogs and puppies living outside Puja’s and Aiyush’s door and I watched as Aiyush placed a bowl of food outside in the morning. Five minutes later, I heard as one of the dogs was chased away, crying. Indians do an excellent job taking care of street dogs. While some are obviously injured, few are dying of starvation as I witnessed in Mexico.

				Puja made me an amazing breakfast again and I ate heartily not knowing when I would eat again and how much it would cost me. Even with Aiyush exchanging some of my dollars for rupees, I still needed to be very cautious because I had a lot of tips I would need to dole out over the next few days. Again, Puja went overboard with the food—watermelon (seemingly the entire watermelon!), cooked tomato slices (something I never would have considered, but delicious with her cooking talents), toast with jam and buffalo butter, milk coffee, and 

			

		

		
			
				AirB&B: Explore Local Culture with Deepti and Nitin 

			

		

		
			
				Puja’s breakfast

			

		

		
			
				Holy cow! Just sit anywhere why don’t you.
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				chickpea cutlets (delicious!). She also gave me coffee with milk and told me they received their buffalo milk daily fresh from the dairy. One of my lifetime goals was to taste cows milk fresh from a cow so I figured this might be my closest opportunity. [I thought it was illegal in the United States to sell raw milk and later learned this was true until 2024. After that time, it was still illegal to sell raw milk in some states. Fortunately, a kind farmer in California let me try some several months later after I watched her milk the cow right in front of me. The buffalo milk was richer, but it was a small cow (*wink*). In California in 2024, I was able to buy fresh, raw milk if I signed a paper saying it was only for use by our dogs. Of course, Mike and I may have misunderstood what we were signing. The dogs didn’t have a chance at getting even one drop.] My thinking when drinking the milk in India was: “Of course there’s a reason why it’s illegal in the USA; it’s not safe because of impurities.” I figured I’d live dangerously and give it a try. Not healthy in the USA; surely much healthier in India, right? I tried it and it tasted just like whole milk from Target. Puja told me later that her buffalo milk was safe because she’d already boiled it and skimmed the cream from the top. Guess God was looking out for me. She boiled milk daily upon receipt from the dairy. No wonder so many women in India didn’t work outside the home; even a cup of milk required lots of work.

				My driver, Barat (yes, like in the movies, but it also means “India”), arrived and Puja told me to take my time and finish breakfast. I felt semi-badly, but she and I were having such a nice chat that I didn’t want it to end. Ultimately, the time came and I had to say farewell with a hugs all around.

				As soon as we left, Barat pulled over and asked my plans. I told him my address in Jaipur and that a tuk-tuk driver would be showing me the sights tonight and tomorrow after which I had a car scheduled to drive me to Delhi. He returned to the road and said I should have Aiyush cancel the tuk-tuk and car drivers and ask him to be my driver. He even let me use his personal hotspot to communicate with Aiyush. It seemed a bit fishy so I texted this to Aiyush and he suggested I stay with the original plan. Shortly after this, he asked if I was married and how old I was. He told me he had a girlfriend from the UK and showed me her picture. Then, he showed me a picture of him with the woman who was his fare the previous day. He told me he was 45 and that I looked very young. A little… something weird. Then, he said he’d be happy to stop for me to get a beer. I told him I wasn’t interested and did not want HIM stopping for a beer, either. Him being on his phone a lot was okay with me; doing so while drunk was not. I was concerned, but he had these two books in his car in which former clients wrote about how wonderful he was. This along with Aiyush’s assurance that I was perfectly safe made me feel a bit better, but I would still be on my guard. 

				Things didn’t change when he showed me a TicTock video of him next to a Rolls Royce. He told me he’d bought the car for US$3 million and gave it to his brothers’ kids because they liked it. I didn’t tell him he was ripped off. He said he’d saved his money from being a driver for others for years; that was how he’d acquired the cash. The kids liked it so much that he just gave it to them. Wasn’t that nice! In another case, I was napping and woke up with a single gasp like I do because of sleep apnea. He massaged my head to 
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				“help.” I informed him my husband (now making references to Mike all the time) probably wouldn’t like that. I told him that was enough and he told me he’d be happy to keep going if I wanted because he “liked it.” Just, NO. More conversation about my husband. The stopping to spit chew (it made me dry heave every time I witnessed it) was another issue as was the yelling into the phone at people and calling other drivers very bad names. Yes, they deserved it, but this was India… what did he expect would happen on the road? And, then there was the trash thrown from the window. I think I saw an Indian crying on the side of the road as he watched my driver littering (or that may have been a flashback to the 1970s commercial… a different type of Indian).

				We stopped for lunch. Guests and Indians, it seemed, never ate in the same parts of restaurants. I figured this was partially due to price differences as I knew it had been in some parts of Nepal. It was a good idea to offer discounts to guides and drivers so they’d bring their guests there. The payoff for the driver was a cheap meal; the payoff for the restaurateur was unsuspecting rich tourists. I could get behind that—capitalism. First was a bathroom stop in an exceptionally clean bathroom with the exception of the typical pee all over the seat. When done, the bathroom cleaner offered me a hand towel with a “time for a tip” look. I only had INR1000 (US$12.00) and was really worried about having enough cash to get through my final three days. I showed her I only had a INR100 note and she assured me she could make change. She pulled a handful of bills from her bra (I liked this lady!) and I told her I wanted to pay INR10 which, I’d learned, was a more than generous tip. Aiyush had told me I shouldn’t even give tips for this type of service. She gave me a INR50 back. I smirked and she gave me a INR10 back. I smirked again and told her she could give me my INR100 back and she gave me another INR20. I was sick of this and knew US$0.12 was nothing to me so let it ride. It was just the whole expectation and underhandedness. They never seemed to give exact change and always said they had no change until you told them that was all you had. I missed Nepal and the incredibly honest, kind, friendly, and Namaste-saying people Except for Aiyush and Puja, India wasn’t for me.

				I was hungry, but was now 20 Indian rupees poorer so just had a single chapati and Diet Coke (my first in over a month). INR200 including a tip and I was ready to go.

				Things were better when we stopped to visit Fathepur Siri. Like with the Agra fortress, it was a political center, palace, and mosque all rolled into one. Agra, the king, built it for himself and his three wives. Each of the wives had her own palace on the grounds. Guess they wen’t much into the whole sister-wife concept. One had only a small single room. I was told this was because she was a covered Muslim woman who preferred to not be around other people; surely, there was more to the story than that. Another was a Portuguese wife who had pretty decent digs. But, the preferred wife, the only one who had a child and was even lucky enough to bear the king a boy, had a palace even bigger than her husband. She sounded like a super impressive woman overall, but I suspect some of the size of her palace may have been because she was given to the king as his wife along with 100 concubines who also had to live under her roof. Agra had 500 additional concubines in the fortress in case those 100 just didn’t do the job. He also had “the biggest bed in the world” so he could be adequately satisfied.
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				A neat aspect of the complex was a center feature that looked like a step-well. I was told it was not, but it sure looked like one to me. Questionable. The feature sat just outside the king’s bedroom and veranda and assuredly helped him practice his playboy tendencies. In the middle of the (not) step-well there was a center stage on which a musician/entertainer was to spend his time at the king’s pleasure. 

				From the government center and four palaces, we moved to the mosque area. Being as Ramadan was just ending, festivals were beginning. There were families sitting on blankets having picnics in alcoves of the sanctum, bouncy houses for kids, and vendors galore. Lemonade stands were prominently placed as were other food vendors and knickknack sellers. Several Indians approached me every time I left a room reminding me they had beautiful necklaces to sell.

				I was told I could go in to see the most high priest to request a wish (later I was told I’d receive three wishes), but I couldn’t tell anyone I did it. King Agra had done this very thing which is how his wife eventually conceived and delivered their son. The only males allowed to work in the complex during Agra’s time were eunuchs so I figured the priest also granted him another wish to avoid infidelty because there were no tempations within the palace. 

				I was taken to an area where there were lots of graves. Men were all buried outdoors and women and girls in this alcove. Behind this, I was clandestinely told to sit on a carpet while a man explained how a visit to the high priest was to work. He worked for the religious leader so it was all on the up-and-up he said, unlike the vendors who were independent and just there for the festival. I was strongly encouraged to purchase a fabric drape to put over the inner altar and to tie a string on one of the walls near where the priest sat. These pieces of fabric were then provided to women of a local cottage industry who prayed over them while making dresses to sell. It was a “reasonable” INR21,000 (US$250), but there were cheaper options if my wish would only be for myself (as opposed to making a wish for other people). I explained that I had no money so he offered to take a credit card. I was polite and didn’t tell him where he should shove his blessings and desecration of a religious practice. Of course, there was one more option. For just INR5000 (US$60), I could get a bag with a small fabric and string for tying. I left. India! My guide took me into the temple area, but I (a heathen without an offering) was not permitted to go inside. 

				There was no time left to continue and I wouldn’t be able to see the famous Agra Gate because there were “too many people there,” but there was time for us to visit his brother’s shop. Of course there was. I had to sit through a presentation about the craftsmanship of stone carving and see the elephant carving that had three elephants carved within it that their “grandfather” had made. Everything was very cheap they told me and there were also some marble inlay pieces because his grandfather was also an expert in that art form. Just shoot me now! Let’s GO!
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				Back in the car. The air conditioning was a godsend. It was nearly as hot as a Las Vegas summer and I was feeling sad for all those on motorcycles, in tuk-tuks, and other forms of what were homemade transportation without A/C. The trucks with 15 men hanging from them had to be absolutely miserable.

				More than seven hours after our departure, I was told we were nearing Jaipur. It was all promising until the Indian started asking the American to give him directions. He was a professional taxi driver who spoke Hindi and had cell service. The end result was almost a full hour on a freeway that had no off-ramps for about ten miles. Yes, I am being serious. Why would a major city build a highway without any off-ramps? I was ready to be out of the car with this creepy guy, but it went on-and on. The traffic was so bad that we were often at a standstill and I offered several times to get out, jump the highway barrier, and walk. I would soon be under the care of my AirB&B hosts who hopefully had five-star reviews for a reason. I was so glad I’d chosen AirB&B because the hosts had been vetted by previous Western travelers. I couldn’t image how my trip would have been if I’d not had at least some people I could trust in India. I was especially worried about my day in Delhi. I missed Nepal.

				Before reaching the AirB&B, we met my tuk-tuk driver (Roshan) who’d moved to the closest on-ramp so he could drive me directly to the place instead of us getting lost again. I jumped out the the car, gave Barat a INR500 note, said “Thank you so much,” and about jumped into my new driver’s arms, Roshan. Anyone would be safer! Roshan drove me the one mile to my room for the night and we were warmly greeted by the owners’ daughter, Laddu, and son, Toy. They were so welcoming! Laddu suggested I spend two nights in Jaipur and when I thought about it, it made a lot of sense. There was no need for me to arrive a day early in Delhi when my flight didn’t leave until oh-dark-thirty the next morning. I was scared about traveling alone in Delhi given the negative sentiments I’d received during my trip thusfar nd this would solve the problem. When I say scared, this means a lot. Remember, I’d just scaled mountains in microspikes and missed being buried by an avalanche by just hours. Delhi did not have a good reputation. I decided to keep my Delhi AirB&B reservation just in case (the price was crazy low anyhoo) and also reserve a second night at the place I was staying on this night. I called Aiyush to ask his opinion and he warned me that the owners may be encouraging me to stay another night because they wanted more money. I assured him this wasn’t the case. After all, they ran an NGO that supported kids and women living in slums. Plus, I told him how worried I was about Delhi. He agreed that it might be best to stay another night in Jaipur so I could see more and be safe. I felt so fortunate to have someone watching my back in this place that was so foreign to me.
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				Cotton candy anyone?
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				I asked Laddu (the daughter in my AirB&B) where I should take Roshan for dinner and she suggested her father’s (my host’s) rooftop restaurant. First, I told Roshan I wanted to tour the town a bit, but shortly after starting his tour, I changed my mind. I wanted food… desperately wanted food. He graciously refrained from saying “What? You just made me drive all the way here and now you want me to turn around!” and instead drove to the restaurant. I’d planned to have a nice meal with just him, getting to know him better and working on plans for the next day. That was not what happened.

				The restauranteur/AirB&B host (Nitin) came over and sat with us. He helped me order and we all chatted. Then, his wife (Deepti) arrived, but she was on the other side of the table so I couldn’t connect with her. Next, three Brits arrived, all of whom were either on a long-term stay at the AirB&B or were previous guests. We had a delightful time talking. They told of ridiculously wealthy people they knew and Nitin said money didn’t matter (though this seemed strange coming form a man who spent his days working with women and children from the slums). I loved the conversation and the food was fabulous. Of the Brits who joined us, one was a son who taught English in Saudi Arabia and another was (presumably) his father. All three were AirB&B guests at some point and now were spending months in Jaipur. It was a great evening. 

				Roshan drove me back to the house and before bidding me farewell for the night told me he was a bit concerned. He questioned if this was a scam, saying that people who run NGOs seldom say they run them. He implored me to not give any rupees to them and to be very cognizant of any red flags. Between this and what Aiyush had said, I figured this was wise advice and took it to heart. This family did seem to be rather financially loaded for India. If it was a scam, the whole team was doing a great job.

				I returned to the house, procured the wifi passwords for my devices, gave myself a sponge bath from a bucket because water was precious in these here parts, asked for a second sheet (what is it with Nepalis, Mexicans, and Indians not supplying top sheets?), and journaled before bed. 

				Crew Post

				This was a travel day. My driver (a creepy guy) drove me from Agra to Jaipur (the Pink City) via Fathepur Siri, a palace and mosque. Rama-dan just finished and a nine-day Hindu festival just started so there is much merriment in the mosques and streets. 

				The differences were clear as I moved from a Buddhist area in Nepal to a Hindu area in Agra to a Muslim area in Jaipur. I started seeing ful-ly covered women (seldom in burkas, but with their heads covered) and the overall tone changed. Strangely, though, Jaipur is the first town where I’ve seen a bathroom usable by both genders and I saw two while in the city, both at restaurants catering to western tourists.

				I learned that on the train, women have their own cars and women are permitted to ride busses for free in Delhi.
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				Jaipur (4/11/24): Day 2

				 

				All Day in Jaipur

				Not Missing a Thing in the Pink City

				I took my time leaving my room in the morning and sat on the restful balcony swing while talking with Deepti. She told me a bit about their NGO work and then I watched as she made breakfast for me in her kitchen. She had leftover “gravy” (the same butter chicken without the chicken I’d made with Puja) and some okra in a spicier sauce. I watched as she skillfully made bread from scratch and coffee on the stove. She served the coffee with a buf-falo or cow milk delivered to their home just hours prior. Deepti had a wonderful smile and contagious laugh. It was nice to not have sweets (except for sugar in my coffee) in my daily breakfast menu. Little chocolate doughnuts ARE the breakfast o’ champions for Americans; this was a nice change. Nitin joined me for breakfast and we had a great chat before Roshan arrived to take me away for the day.

				Roshan planned and then executed an amazing day. We did everything recommended in my imaginary “must-do in Jaipur” catalog starting with seeing the Gate to the Pink City. Now that had an interesting story. Queen Victoria’s son, Prince of Wales Albert Edward (later King Edward VII), was planning a visit Maharaja Ram Singh in Jaipur in 1876. Singh was a big fan of Albert because they both played polo so he had the entire city painted pink, the color of hospitality, in his honor. Albert Hall was also built in his honor. The gate was 
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				more orange than pink, I assumed this was degradation over time due to the elements. Roshan claimed this discoloration was because the original architects didn’t pass the recipe for the original pink down through the generations so modern re-painting was done with a weak substitute. I didn’t understand why they didn’t just go down to Home Depot for a color match.

				Our second stop, on the recommendation of the Brits the previous night, was the observatory. The size of the instruments used for measuring Earth and the skies was daunting and I wasn’t quite sure why so many were necessary since many measured the same things. My assumption may be explained by the fact that each structure’s plaque told its purpose and I understood very little. I would’ve needed to go with an astronomy professor to figure it all out. Despite my ignorance, I loved the outdoor park and was fascinated by what I saw.

				Starting in 1773, the Royal Gaitor became the location of kings’ cremations and places where their bodies were interred. Basically, it was a gorgeous cemetery with incredible architecture. I spent about an hour walking around and taking loads of pictures, I just couldn’t get enough of the buildings. The place was huge and I kept finding more to see. It was also nice to watch locals working. A man who seemed to be in charge of cleaning the monuments did so with a traditional broom. I’d noticed use of this broom throughout Nepal and India. The other man was trimming bushes with hedgers by hand. It was neat seeing this level of commitment to the well-being of the monuments. I just wished it extended to cleaning the massive amounts of trash that littered everywhere else in India.
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				Our next stop was for a quick photo at the water palace. It was a summer palace built directly in the middle of the water. It had a beautiful effect with the structure coming straight out of the water. The palace had the benefit that the water cooled it during hot Indian summers. There were also several smaller outer structures like a gazebo nearer the shore. Some structures were lost over the years. On this day, no one was able to visit the palace because it was under reconstruction. I was glad to hear this because I’m sure it was amazing inside and it would be wonderful to see in its former glory. I was curious if the British had looted it, too, given the more difficult access, but was sure some drunk bastards would have no problem finding a dingy to make it to the booty. I was becoming more and more angry with the British for infiltrating the Indian people with kindness and then raping them of all their culture offered. But, I was also frustrated with the Indians. This amazing work of architecture was marred 
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				by massive amounts of trash on the shoreline and floating in the water. It was so sad to see a national treasure treated with carelessness and disrespect.

				Along the street in front of the palace was yet another line of street vendors selling food, the most common being lemonade. I watched transfixed at the process. There were these homemade tractor-like vehicles with a device like a wood chipper (kind of like in “Fargo,” but smaller). Along the side of the vehicle was a large horizontal area for storing sugarcane. The worker would take a few stalks of sugarcane and push it through the wood chipper to release its liquid. The liquid would then leak down into a bowl covered with a strainer. Basically, it was a big juicer. The worker (sometimes men, sometimes women) would repeat this process over and over, eventually having to fold the sugarcane over on itself to squeeze out the final amounts of juice. In the bowl, he’d already added lemon juice and ice. Once done with the juicing, he lifted out the strainer and started pouring lemonade for his patrons. I would have loved to try some, but with the ice and, well, the whole exposed process, I wouldn’t take a chance with my stomach. Indians loved their lemonade!

				Another staple of the market was mounds of colorful beans. I didn’t learn until later in the day what they were. There were many varieties of beans in various colors that vendors would display like volcanoes. They didn’t look pre-cooked, but after seeing people eating them, they must have been. Around the mound was a moat of onions, tomatoes, chili, and other fresh vegetables. When I wasn’t looking, the vendor would whip up some salsa from the outer circle to place on the side of the beans. Patrons would pay their fee and the owner would take a small piece of newspaper, dump in some salsa, add differing types of beans per the patron’s request, roll it into a cone, and double the paper with a second cone. It was Indian nachos. Brilliant! I really wanted to try it, but… Giardia or something similar. I’d learned not to eat any vegetables in third world countries that didn’t have a skin I would peel myself (e.g., oranges, bananas, watermelon). And, I was intimately familiar with Giardia after drinking the “safe” water in Patagonia and surely didn’t want to repeat that experience.
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				Roshan drove me to our next great spot—the Amber Fort, another UNESCO Heritage Site. He cautioned me that this was the busiest landmark in the city and I needed to be very cautious with my fanny pack, not hire any guides outside of the fort (the ones inside were vetted), and not buy any trinkets inside the fort because their prices would be extortion. Seeing as I had no money for a guide and no desire for trinkets, I clutched my passport-filled fanny pack and walked up the huge hill to the fort. Jeeps were available to drive guests to the top, but I was a big-time mountain climber and this little hill wasn’t even a warm-up for me.

				As I panted up the hill, I saw there was a large park on my left—carpeted in grass with trees for shade. Families picnicked and partied. It was a scene from a Seurat masterpiece without the pointillism. Given it was two holidays, there were many families celebrating together. I kept walking until I saw a placard on my left. I hadn’t even realized there was a fort in the lake below with another palatial structure harboring verdant gardens. How beautiful! Unfortunately, its beauty was off-set by the surrounding bustle of the city and brown of the dirt on the roads and adjacent hills. What a national treasure… again like a pig with a golden earring.

				More hill. Good thing I’d trained in the Himalayas. More panting. I came to a courtyard with lots of vendors and people sitting under a huge tarp like a makeshift tent for cooling patrons as they ate foods purchased from vendors or brought for picnics. Roshan had told me I would purchase my tickets at the top and this seemed like the top. I saw a window that looked like a ticket booth with Disney entry ropes to guide the masses. A man came after me calling: “Ma’am, ma’am.” At this point I was ready to go into full “Airplane” (the movie) mode on him—remember the Hare Krishna nuts trying to convert Robert Stack with flowers? I was so tired of people interrupting my experience by asking me to buy something. I guess this guy was legit even though he wasn’t wearing a uniform. He kindly informed me the ticket booth downstairs was closed and that I was to head upstairs for my ticket. I was sure the: “I’m a guide and would you like me to show you around the fort, cheap” was coming, but it never did. Well, that was a nice relief. I thanked him and continued up the stairs. That’s when chaos abounded.
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				There were probably 150 people in this very small corridor all who wanted tickets to enter the fort. Everyone was crowded together and more joined the fray as time continued. Sweating began, and then hit in earnest. We were all holding our money in the air hoping the ticket taker would grant us the next ticket, but to no avail. I finally asked someone why they were waiting to take our money and, opportune that he spoke English, I was told the computer was down. After about ten minutes of feeling like I was on the Tokyo Metro, the computer was up again and they started shelling out tickets. Foreigners paid INR502 and all I had were INR500 and INR100 notes so I prayed he’d just take the INR500. There was no way I was waiting for change; yet, I desperately needed that INR98. Fortunately and similar to the observatory (also with a strange fee—INR203), the ticket taker was happy to take the basic amount and ignore the missing INR2/US$0.02. I received my ticket and forced my way back out through the crowd. I felt like I was entering a Manchester-Liverpool soccer stadium just after the game ended. 

				I had my ticket stamped at the entry and could finally breathe. There were a lot of people, but we were no longer human sardines. Some sat to watch the crowd while others lounged as family units. Children ran around playing, requiring other guests to dodge their mischief. I moseyed around taking pictures and finally had the brilliant idea to go inside the building. It was night and day. I went from chaos in the ticket line to over-stimulus in the entry courtyard to the cool shade and silence of inner corridors. The fort went on and on with empty rooms and stairs leading up, down, and around. At least once, I ended up in the same place I started. This would be a perfect place to play capture the flag. If they opened it at night, they’d make a killing selling tickets to play laser tag.

				The views were incredible from the fort with several other forts visible from windows and other platforms. I’d hoped to reach the top of the fort so I could see a 360° view, but alas, it did not happen. Instead, I fell into a Möbius strip of doom. It was not all lost because I found a drinking fountain. It was hot so I drenched my bandana to cool me for the next hour. Without a guide and knowing only that I was walking through lots of random rooms, I eventually decided it was time to leave. As Roshan warned, there were stores at the exit. Fortunately, you had to walk inside the stores to be mauled and I was able to skip them and ignore the hawkers along the hallways around the stores (except for the old guy selling something that I think may have been a zither). Somehow, I ended up at the wrong exit and had to dodge jeeps and motorcycles to find my way back to the walking path. Being back in the safety of Roshan’s protection was relief.

				I was so thirsty, but couldn’t afford even INR50/US$0.60 for a bottle of water. Fortunately, we only had one short stop remaining before I would be where I could use a credit card. Roshan drove us to Panna Mina Coond Step Well, an ornately decorated step well in the middle of a part of the town flanked by old, beautifully adorned architecture. This was only the second time I’d seen a step well (other than the now obvious one in Fathepur Siri my guide said 
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				wasn’t a step well). I’d never heard of them before Herb (Crew) mentioned one in the Crew thread a week earlier. Panna Mina Coond Step Well was like an Escher paining with stairs leading every which way. If you squinted your eyes and moved your head, you could see Hogwarts’ magic moving stairs. Despite the beauty of the structure, it was marred by pure green algae-ridden water at the bottom. I imagined how stunning it would be when full of cool, clear water during the monsoon season. I pictured myself swimming in it every day even though the well was a holding tank for drinking water serving the entire town.

				I could finally get a drink (no, not from the green well)! It was almost 5 PM and we’d been touring in the heat since just before 10 AM. And, my bandana was dry so evaporative cooling from my skin could no longer keep up. The Brit from my AirB&B said that seeing the Palace of the Wind from The Tattoo Cafe was a must. Roshan agreed because, he assured me, there was nothing to see inside the palace. In fact, as gorgeous as it was from the outside, it looked like it was simply a Hollywood façade. To get into the cafe, I had to pay a INR250/US$3 cover charge. It took my last 250 rupees leaving me with only enough for Roshan’s tip and the tip for the driver taking me to Delhi the next day. But, I’d invited Roshan to join me for linner needed to pay for him, too. After confusion, I paid INR250 on my credit card and they finally let him in. It felt like I was paying off a bouncer at a Las Vegas club. What was most crazy was that the cover charge was taken off my bill so why they couldn’t just wait until I paid at the end was beyond me. Maybe they were worried I wouldn’t buy anything even though I’d been trying to order for awhile.

				Roshan eventually joined me and refused to order anything except a drink, but he did share my garlic naan and salad. I figured he hadn’t eaten all day either, though he could have eaten while l was touring the monuments. We had a nice talk and watched the sun descend behind the Palace of the Wind. I was glad I’d taken pictures before the sun started setting because I was unable to get decent pictures with the sun directly behind it. Sunrise must’ve be spectacular! [Note: Mike was able to see my expenditure at The Tattoo Cafe and asked in The Fam thread: “I’m curious to see what kind of tattoo Mom got in India for $5.93.” I told them they’d have to wait to see.]

				After paying my bill, we had a bit of time before full sunset so Roshan asked me if I wanted to see the parade celebrating Gaungaur. Of course I did! Gaungaur was a goddess for women. She taught women to pray for their husbands and children. Perhaps they could pray a little for themselves, but mostly to help them serve in their roles as wives and mothers. Along the way, I was in my first Indian 
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				accident. A motorcyclist sideswiped us. It sounded like pieces fell off his bike, but I was too afraid to look and Roshan said the bike wasn’t hurt. Because of the right-handed steering wheel and lack of rules on the road, I had no idea who was at fault. After a few loud, but not hateful, words between the two drivers, both drove off. We passed a police officer a moment later who seemed to indicate Roshan was not at fault.

				Roshan found a perfect place for us where we could see the start and end of the parade. I spent about twenty minutes walking around the groups prepping at the start time. There was an elephant I’d seen walking on the road as we drove from the Wind Palace. He’d just walked down the street with cars and motorcycles whipping around him. After what I learned about elephants in Chitwan, I wasn’t excited about being close to any elephants. And, my newly gained knowledge about their skill of crushing human skulls by stepping on them… stand back. Also walking down the road on our way were camels. Those beasts were huge! I hadn’t realized how tall they were. Healthy, white horses also stood waiting as did bulls prepped to pull a carriage. It wasn’t enough just for the livestock to be there; they were also dressed to the nines wearing ornately decorated saddles or back coverings and the elephant was even wearing make-up in the form of paint all over his face. The horses had their toenails painted a hot pink color in preparation. 

				There were also dancing girls in traditional garb, drum corps, and an adult marching band dressed in full marching band regalia. It was almost all percussion and brass instruments except for some clarinets. I found it strange seeing a marching band playing music so different than what I knew. All the songs seemed to be in minor keys, not C-major. I should have expected it. The main attractions were at the very end—a statue of Gaungaur was carried on a palanquin by men in traditional clothing and followed by lines of women with hats resembling baskets of fresh fruits on their heads. Military (or police) personnel protected this entourage by holding a rope around the prized group. I wondered if anyone ever tried to approach the statue. Why were the guards needed? Was it just a sign of respect? 

				The event was a celebration and did bring out the worst in at least a few people. One white man went up to another white man yelling at first and then putting up his fists. Everyone was trying to pull the instigator back while the other who was carrying an expensive camera seemed unsure what was going on. Others ushered both parties to a side street and I had no idea what happened after that. There were also two boys fighting. Roshan stepped in and broke them apart. It seemed this community parenting was accepted and I figured Roshan must be a great dad to intervene when tempers elevated. 

				I saw very few disgruntled people in Nepal and India. Given the wealth in the USA and our lack of need for anything, I perceived Americans as often angry and sad. Five seconds like what existed on any street in India and road rage would occur with reckless abandon in the States. The horns, the lack of straight lines, the weaving, the differences in speed, the questionable roads. It would be like a gun range on the freeway. And, then, there were the special horns of the trucks and busses. Not a simple “beep,” but a little ditty 
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				not all that different from that in “The Dukes of Hazzard.” Oh, gosh! The constant noise. I knew drivers were honking to inform others of their whereabouts so they didn’t hit anyone, but come on! Really? If you’re in a traffic jam, does it really help the situation? Okay, there might be a little road rage in this American’s heart after all. Anyway, India’s drivers make it happen. How anyone could drive relatively safely in India was beyond my comprehension. And, to be driving motorcycles with a husband, wife, child, toddler, and infant all on the same bike and all without helmets (or without unbuckled helmets) was unreal. Then, there were the bicyclists on the roads. No, none on road or triathlon bikes, gravel tires were necessary in this country. Bicyclists hauled huge loads of wares to sell. In some cases, I witnessed motorcyclists riding behind bicyclists. The motorcycle drivers would stick out a foot to help give an extra push to the cyclists. Good karma! 

				It was time for the monkey temple, an ideal location for watching sunset. There wasn’t much at the monkey temple except lots of monkeys. While walking to the first section, I looked behind me and had the incredible view of the sun shining through the town gate. Wow! Roshan was right about it being a perfect place to watch the sun go down. I was invited to pay a man to be my guide because he was a monkey expert, but I figured that since I’d read the rules about monkeys on the sign, I was well enough prepared. Turns out, I was. Don’t look them in the eye; don’t wave your shiny camera in their eyes; don’t eat an ice cream cone without taking a defensive stance (I was safe because I couldn’t afford ice cream); and, don’t get too close to the babies or any other monkeys for that matter. The babies were super cute and I couldn’t help taking pictures, but held my phone camera tight and was ready to whoop-some-monkey-booty if they tried to take it away. I also kept my third eye on Mom without looking her directly in the eye.

				The sun was was just about to set right as I reached the top. With the haze of the city, it lacked the splendor it could have had, but through the clouds the pictures were remarkable. I sat and watched as twilight made its way into the sky, taking pictures nonstop. I noticed I could also see a slum from my perch. There were rectangular cement apartment buildings reminding me of Soviet-style buildings, but these were neither tall nor uniform. And, none of them had glass in the windows. I asked Roshan about this later and he said that because of the heat, windows weren’t really needed. I didn’t follow-up with: “But what 
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				about mosquitoes?” Outside the buildings children played—older boys kicking a ball around and younger ones playing in a sparsely equipped playground. They were laughing and enjoying life, just like children playing anywhere in the world.

				I walked down from the temple and noticed the monkeys were laying down for their night’s rest. Some simian children disobeyed their parents and kept playing, but it was definitely time to settle down. It was also time for me to call it a day so I had Roshan drive me home. Upon arriving back at the AirB&B, I gave him a huge hug, INR1,000/US$12, and bid him farewell, assuring him I would recommend him to others. [Heed this readers: Hire Mr. Roshan to be your tuk-tuk driver when in Jaipur!] When I came into the apartment, it sounded like a fire alarm was ringing, but no one seemed concerned. It took awhile to realize Laddu was worshipping at their home altar and ringing bells was part of the process. I returned to my now-silent room and journaled until my eyes could no longer function. It was a full day and I had a wonderfully restful sleep.

				Crew Post

				It was a full day of sightseeing in the Pink City. My tuk-tuk driver was fantastic and we were able to see every major landmark that I wanted to see including another UNESCO Heritage Site—the Amber Fort. And, because it’s a nine-day Hindu holiday to celebrate Gaungaur, a goddess for women that teaches them to pray for their husbands and children (and maybe a little for themselves, but most-ly as they serve in those roles), there was a parade replete with a band, dancing ladies, lots of decorated animals including horses with pink toenails, bulls pulling carriages, elephants with painted faces, and a statue of Gaungaur (that my Muslim tuk-tuk driver referred to as a “doll”) carried on a palanquin.
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				Jaipur (4/13/24): Day 3

				Jaipur to Delhi

				My Jaipur Family—Worshipping and the NGO

				Confucius Says

				“Study the past if you would define the future.”

				“I hear and I forget. I see and I remember. I do and I understand.”

				[I forgot to meditate on a verse the day before so chose two for this day. The first was especially apropos for Laddu who had a heart to change our world for the better.]

				Like with Aiyush and Puja, I fell in love with my Jaipur family. Nitin was so knowledgeable and dedicated to his gods and family; Deepti was intelligent, talented, and compassionate; Laddu had a brilliant and beautiful mind committed to improving not only her world, but the lives of everyone in the world; and, Toy was just plain fun. When they wrote in their AirB&B profile that when in their home guests are like family, they weren’t exaggerating. The idea of this family being scam artists was laughable.

				I spent about an hour writing in my journal in the morning; there was so much to remember from the fully loaded previous day. When I emerged from my room, Nitin greeted me with poha for breakfast. I never understood what it was, but found it delicious. I liked staying with professional cooks! 

			

		

		
			
				Hotel: None/Airport

			

		

		
			
				Chef-prepared breakfast by Nitin
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				I’d packed so I would ready to go when my Delhi driver arrived in the afternoon and had pulled out some items I thought might be helpful for the NGO families. First, the dress I’d purchased in Kathmandu for my dinner with Jeevan and Ram didn’t fit me and I didn’t need it at home so I gave it to Deepti. She asked if she could take it apart and use it as a pattern for dresses her seamstresses could make. Sure! I just didn’t want it to go in the trash if there were a possible use for it. I assured her it needed laundering before anyone got within a few feet of it. Another stinky article of give-away clothing was the tank top I’d been wearing for sleep for the last few nights. When I asked Laddu if the ladies in the project could use it, she shyly asked if she could have it for herself. I was more than happy to oblige, but had another idea. It was a simple black knit and would probably be a great surface for practicing using the new embroidery machine at the project. She liked the idea and even had plans for what she would have embroidered on it.

				I left with Mom, Dad, and Toy for morning worship. They’d all worshipped at home at the home altar, but also worshipped at the temple every day. Toy was my very apt guide. He explained what was going on as we went through the rituals and answered my many questions. We first stopped at a small temple to the monkey god where Toy gave some chickpeas to the god and the family bowed down to the god. Toy received orange paint and placed some on my forehead. I believed this was a blessing for good luck and reminder that I’d prayed for the day. Deepti received a handful of raw coconut pieces and encouraged me to have one. I did. Then, she gave the remainder to a woman begging for food who was holding a baby. It was so hard for me to ignore these people in need, but I’d been told by everyone I respected in India that I must not give them anything. I was glad Deepti had blessed this woman with some food for herself and baby. 

				Our next stop was a much bigger temple and it was unlike any I’d seen before. We started by washing our hands and then taking off our shoes. But, I had to touch my shoes to take them off so had to go back a second time to wash hands… hands weren’t clean after they’d touched shoes. The family was so patient with me and appreciated this was a learning experience for me. There was no judgement; just joy for sharing their faith.
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				Unfortunately, the outer structure of the temple was being cleaned and so wrapped in tarps. It surely was beautiful, but I couldn’t enjoy its splendor in its current state. Toy took me to a tree where I was to splash a small amount of water while making a wish. Then, we went inside. The experience reminded me of a prayer walk. There were small activities to do as you approached each station. Often, the action was to bow in prayer for a moment. We passed a section with a gigantic painted bull and I was informed it was Lord Shiva’s vehicle. I thought of my son’s mounts in World of Warcraft. Shiva had his own mount!

				The main part of the temple was covered with ceiling paintings. The one in the center was the same symbol I’d seen throughout my time in Asia, basically a penis coming out of a vagina. Nitin had me walk around it and see that the line in the center follows you as you move (like Mona Lisa’s eyes). As I looked at it, symbolism revealed itself. Also within this covered area, there were several people, mainly women, reading prayer books/scripture. The books were provided and after reading the prayers, they were returned for reuse. The façade also included statues of various Hindu gods. 

				Deepti walked me to a section on the side of what may be considered the inner sanctum. She helped me fill a shiny provided teapot with water from spigots. I took my pot inside this inner sanctum and followed Nitin’s lead as he poured his on the statue in the middle. I later saw white liquid and asked if someone was washing the statue with soap. He said I was seeing milk; some people chose to pour different liquids on the structure depending on their needs—milk, water, sugarcane—all had different purposes. The liquids drained into a central basin that Nitin told me recycled the water for future use.

				Toy took me to a corner room and had me look through the glass where I saw several objects including shoes. He explained that these items belonged to the priest who started this temple. We were paying homage to him with our heads bowed. We then moved to the entryway where there were alcoves to sit and pray for wishes. I did pray… lots of wishes wanted from this gal and not the least of which included having God support my wonderful host family. Last, we visited one other section for prayers before putting our shoes on to leave. I’d learned why so many Hindus wore flip flops; taking them on-and-off was much easier, especially if you weren’t allowed to touch them with your ritually-cleansed hands. As we drove from the temple to the NGO project, Toy and Nitin explained more to me about Hinduism. Nitin recommended I read the Bhagavad Gita. I’d read it as a religion major in college, but he said I needed to read it three times. The first time it was a story. By the third time, it would reveal its teachings.

				Nitin and Deepti dropped me off at the project with Toy who welcomed me into the building and introduced me to the children in the pre-K class. They were learning reading, math, and social studies basics and seemed to love what they were 
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				doing. They also loved having their pictures taken. The teacher ended class shortly after we arrived and the children rushed out of the building. Next, this gorgeous woman right out of a James Bond or Lawrence of Arabia movie came driving up on something like a moped. Off jumped Laddu; I hadn’t even recognized Deepti. Stunning. She lowered her scarf (used to lessen dust while driving) and, sure enough, it was her. She also popped off the bike and entered the school to show me around.

				After the basic building tour, she showed me more of the project at work. There were about five ladies ready to start learning for the day. They were on various types of sewing machines depending on skill level. New ladies started on antique manual machines. As they became comfortable stitching with these, they moved to electric machines. They had a sewing teacher and the NGO provided fabric, thread, and all other needed materials (including electricity) for them to learn and perfect their skill. Deepti had them practice with patterns popular with clients. She sold the garments when she could and with each sale, the women would receive commission. Deepti was also fortunate enough to have had one of her AirB&B clients contract with the NGO to provide a line of dungarees. Many of her clients were originally AirB&B guests.

				Deepti also showed me their newest addition—an embroidery machine. They were not yet trained to use it so had a lot of work ahead of them, but were confident the skills the women learned would increase the ladies’ earning potentials. Deepti told me all the women in her program were married with the exception of two who were very young. I asked about how their husbands reacted to their wives’ participation in the program. She responded that it was really tough in the beginning to have men buy into the program, but once their wives started bringing in money and adding skills to their family repertoire, the men become very supportive. She explained that in addition to learning sewing skills, they were learning basic academic skills that they then used to help their husbands. Learning 
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				to write their names, read and write a bit, and do simple math helped the ladies to help their husbands with accounting for family vending businesses. Men began to see their wives as capable and helpful. The NGO was committed to empowering women and by demonstrating how helpful women could be in business matters made a difference both for the women and their husbands. Deepti said they’d trained about 200 women over the years, about a decade of social work. What an uplifting story of using ones’ gifts to assist and empower others.

				Next, I visited the teens in the computer room. This was not a computer day. When it was, there were donated texts students could follow (both in Hindi and English) to learn to use basic computer applications. At their government (in the USA what would be called public) schools, there were about ten children per computer. Here, they could have a one-on-one experience with the machines so learned much more quickly. This day, though, was special. Laddu was there teaching a math lesson—order of operations. Two girls in the class had been introduced to the topic in school; none of boys had learned the concept. The students were rapt with attention and engagement. It was a beautiful sight. When the teens left for a break, I asked if Laddu could sneak out (with her Mom’s permission) to go to lunch with me before I had to leave. Mom agreed, but only after pictures with the children and women.

				Laddu walked me to a coffee bar where they accepted credit cards (my only requirement) and we enjoyed talking over lunch. I asked her about her goals and she had two. First, she wanted to work for the Indian Administrative Department. I wasn’t completely sure what this meant, but I thought it meant she would be part of leading government agencies such as the Bureau of Land Management, Internal Revenue Service, or Central Intelligent Agency. To be accepted as one of these administrators required passing what she said was the most difficult test in the country. Her goal was to study hard enough to be able to pass the test and build a resumé that would then get her to the interview portion of the process. I had no doubt she would succeed in that effort. Her second goal was to meet a woman whose name I didn’t know, a woman who was changing the world in honorable ways.

				Laddu already had her own motivational video for improving our world. She seemed to support every globally-responsible cause and lived everything she believed. She also wholeheartedly advocated for voicing awareness as a key to change. What a joy to see such motivation in the next generation. Nitin and I had talked about a major problem in India—talented Indians were oten educated abroad, hired abroad for much higher paying salaries, and never returned. This left a deficit in the intellectual potential of the country. Seeing Laddu eager to support her own country was refreshing.

				It was time to go, time for my trip to come to its ultimate conclusion. Laddu walked me back to her home where I grabbed my pack and she refilled my water bottle with more filtered water. I hugged her and Grandma and asked her to give a final goodbye to her parents and brother. Then, I got in the car with my new driver, Sonu. We had a long way to go, a 5-6 hour roadtrip. I started typing in an attempt to catch up with my journal while Sonu rocked out to Indian tunes. There were lots of “Indian roads,” but that was 
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				part of the experience. Fortunately, we only had one stop in a coffee shop. They had lots of merchandise and I was the only person in the store (Sonu was drinking coffee elsewhere) so I had that followed feeling the entire time. I could tell someone was telepathically begging me to buy, buy, buy. Sorry, guy. 

				Sonu delivered me to the airport at 8:15 PM, six hours after the start of my four-to-five hour drive. The Delhi airport was exactly as expected. It took just under three hours to reach my post-TSA destination—the Encalm Lounge. I was almost back in the lap of luxury. All I needed was a shower and fresh clothes, easy to manage given I was wearing everything on my back or carrying it in my probably too big carry on. But, alas, there were no showers in my current club. Arghhh! I felt so sorry for the person who would be sitting next to me on the plane.

				It was time to relax, breathe, celebrate my 56th birthday with copious amounts of alcohol, and take advantage of my last opportunity to indulge in real Indian food and desserts as I celebrated another year on this planet.

			

		

		
			
				Sonu and our trusty steed
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				Crew Post

				My last day in India was great. I spent the entire morning with my AirB&B host family. First, the restauranteur in the family made me a traditional Indian breakfast. Then, he, his wife, and son took me for Hindu worship. We started with a quick stop to praise the mon-key god, then went to the big temple for the full shabang. This was my first full Hindu worship experience and I was so fortunate to experience it before I left.

				From there, they took me to their NGO where I watched preschoolers learning the basics, teenagers with access to computers learning about order of operations, and moms learning to sew, read, write, do math, and empower themselves. This all happened in the slums and everyone was smiling and enjoying being there. I took the 15-year-old daughter for lunch after her math lesson and we chatted about her lifetime goals. Leaving their warm family embrace came too soon, but the driver was waiting.

				It took six hours to cover the 135 miles to Delhi from Jaipur and check-in at the Delhi Airport was as expected. Now, I wait in sweaty clothes until my 3 AM flight.
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				Afterward
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				Afterward (4/14/24)

				Delhi to Las Vegas

				Happy 56th Birthday!

				I made it onto the flight despite the constant worries of my family (yes, I’m always slow and always late) and promptly fell asleep on the plane awaking only when offered food. After about twelve hours of mostly sleep, I was up with a broken in-flight entertainment system and five hours to entertain myself. Another nap. The 15-and-a-half hour flight went really quickly as a result.

				The plane arrived early in San Francisco. I had to leave the international terminal to procure my domestic ticket, but weaseled my way back into the international terminal so I could hit the Virgin Atlantic Clubhouse. It was the only guaranteed shower and I was definitely down for that. Shampoo, conditioner, body soap, lotion, even towels were provided! Don’t get me started on the freely available toilet paper! I was definitely back in the lap of luxury. 

				There were several Confucius sayings I’d not spent time pondering because some days I simply forgot and because there were 46 sayings for 45 days. I left a bag of the few remaining sayings for Laddu to share with her family. It always surprised me how so many of these sayings were completely foreign to Nepalis and Indians and yet so well known to Americans. I supposed we just ate lots of fortune cookies. I decided, though, that I needed one more saying to end the trip and found one I’d not yet pondered. It was perfect.

				Confucius Says

				“Everything has beauty, but not everyone sees it.”
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				Why I’d been so fortunate to experience the beauty of the Annapurna and Everest Himalayas was beyond me. I knew I was blessed far more than I deserved, but there was one additional thing that made it possible for me to have experiences like these that other people don’t. I say “yes.” I gave up on fear and started saying “yes” to possibilities. Many people say they don’t have time to immerse themselves in wilderness. It comes down to choice. 

				I know women who make time for themselves to take local hikes so they can free their minds in the wild. I know women who insist on weekends away while their husbands care for the children so they can be refreshed with other women while experiencing God’s omnipresence. I know women who save money to travel and watch aggressively for low price travel deals so they can do what they’ve always wanted to do. And, there are women like me who waited until they were older to realize the possibilities. Retirement and an empty nest go a long way toward improving opportunities for travel, as do financial resources. Yes, this trip was very expensive, but most of my trips are not. Most of my trips required me to simply open my front door, strap on a backpack of gear (sometimes used or borrowed), drive a few hours, and settle into a temporary, idyllic home alone or with family or friends. To what will you say “yes” in the upcoming year?
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				Afterward

				Summation

				Would I Do It Again?

				Yes and no. 

				I am so grateful to have had this experience and found it so rewarding. My favorite part was definitely the trekking; sightseeing was simply a bonus. I preferred the Annapurna Circuit over all else and loved my daily strolls through nature while experiencing natural elements as they unfolded themselves in real time. I knew I was always at their mercy. 

				Seeing Earth’s splendor in action as she shook loose her tension and I fell at her feet was a sight to behold. The challenge of scaling her hills was in equal parts difficult and rewarding physically and spiritually. I was exhilarated by the constant vigilance required to experience all nature had to offer me. Earth displayed herself in her full glory. 

				The grandeur of the Himalayan rangea are beyond human comprehension. Their size and exquisite beauty interspersed with small communities living by traditional means provides a glimpse into the world as it should be, simple. Learning about Eastern religions and seeing them earnestly practiced daily was a true blessing. People like Jeevan and my homestay families were so welcoming and committed to my positive experience. And, oh Bishwo, I was so fortunate to have him in my life for a time.

				But, would I do it again? No, once was enough. As I always answer when asked: “Will you be back?” the answer is almost always no. I feel I’ve seen what I came to see in the Himalayas, Nepal, and Northern India. It is time for me to move forward to the next adventure—to experience the next great thing, meet future amazing people, and witness Planet Earth on full display. It’s time to explore where I’ve never explored and see what still needs to be seen. It’s time to celebrate my past by moving forward to an unknown and exciting future. I can’t wait to see what the world has to reveal next.
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				Appendix I

				Maps and Elevation Charts

				Annapurna Circuit
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				Source: https://www.nepaltrekkinginhimalaya.com/pages/annapur-na-round-trekking-map
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				Source: https://www.himalayastrek.com/annapurna-circuit-trek
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				Annapurna Basecamp 
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				Source: 

				https://northnepaltrek.com/annapurna-base-camp-trek
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				Everest Basecamp
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				Source:

				https://www.marveladventure.com/blog/everest-base-camp-trek-map
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				Source: 

				https://www.citydoc.org.uk/news/travel/altitude-sickness/
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				Appendix II 

				Reviews and Contacts

				Google Review: Lhasso Adventures

				I learned of Lhasso Adventures from a friend who’d trekked with Jeevan, the owner, several years before my trip. I’d not planned on using a guide, but learned just three weeks before departure that a new Nepali law required guides. I contacted Jeevan two-and-a-half weeks before leaving and within a few days he’d designed an itinerary for me and booked all necessary transportation including my Lukla flights. I am so glad I hired Lhasso Adventures.

				From greeting me at the airport with a prayer shawl to dropping me at the airport over a month later, Jeevan orchestrated everything perfectly. Transportation, tours, guides, permits, fees,… everything. Additionally, he kept in contact with me (daily when needed) the entire time I was in country. His first concern was always my safety and his second was that I was having the experience of a lifetime. He even planned a last-minute trip for me to Chitwan including transportation, hotel, a guide, some meals, tours, and more. He had two days to do it and it was perfect.

				The majority of my time, though, was not with Jeevan. I spent almost twenty days in the Annapurna Region with a phenomenal guide, Bishwo. I could not have asked for better. Bishwo has an incredible knowledge of the Himalayas and knew the mountains we traversed as if they were his backyard. My trip was his eighteenth on the Annapurna Circuit and who-knew-how-many to Annapurna Basecamp. He knew when to tell me to walk fast to cross rockslides and mudslides; he knew where I could rest, find a bathroom, and which were the best teahouses and eating establishments; he knew the alternate trails when morning avalanches barred our way. Like Jeevan, his primary concern was always my safety and he took it extremely seriously. That said, Bishwo’s greatest gift was his personality. He is humble beyond words and has a great sense of humor. We had such fun with the challenges I experienced and I cried when our time together ended.

				On my Everest Basecamp trek, I had a different guide, Ram Rai. Ram had been guiding treks over thirty years throughout Nepal and 
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				was incredibly knowledgeable about the flora and fauna of the region. He knew every step of the trail and most of the locals along the way. Despite my quick ascent (five days to EBC from Lukla), he supported and encouraged me and had faith that I could fulfill my planned itinerary. 

				When there was an emergency in our party, Jeevan negotiated a helicopter evacuation of the patient within minutes. He worked closely with Ram and me to ensure we were safe and healthy through the entire process and worked to modify my schedule to ensure I was still able to meet my goals.

				I cannot recommend Lhasso Adventures enough. Everything was organized flawlessly and changes were promptly handled with expert skill and finesse. If that is not enough to convince you to employ Lhasso Adventures for your next Nepal adventure, know that Lhasso Adventures also has a philanthropic arm. They organize service treks and support needy Nepali communities with monies and resources they receive.

				Google Review: Happy Homes Teahouse

				Shyrap Bista was wonderful in every way. He was so welcoming upon our arrival and even invited me to join him as he took his cows to their nighttime home. All the while, he introduced me to their organic family farm. They are extremely committed to offering fresh, organic food to their guests and even work with the community supplying homemade potato chips to nearby towns.

				There is so much to see on the property—livestock, fruit, vegetable, and root gardens, and, not the least of which, a Buddhist temple. Shyrap so graciously invited me to their family’s temple and taught me to pray the Buddhist way. Then, he cooked for my guide, his aunt, and me. Wow! The freshness of the garden combined with his culinary skill made it intensely delicious. And, did I mention the brandy? I tried their wheat brandy, but soon they will have apple brandy as well.

				Oh, and the room? The single room with one queen bed and one twin bed was perfect. It even had it’s own bathroom! The room had electric lights, a charging station, and internet access.

				Between the room, food, and experiences offered at Happy Homes Teahouse, you will find nothing other than a wonderful experience.
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				AirB&B Review: Aiyush and Puja in Agra

				What a gift to stay in the home of Aiyush and Puja in Agra. Without knowing anything other than they were highly-rated superhosts, I chose them randomly. My driver from Delhi (arranged by Aiyush) was professional, on time, and tremendously helpful. I was greeted warmly at the AirB&B and given everything I needed for an amazing experience in Agra. In fact, Aiyush organized my entire five-day trip in India and it went off flawlessly despite my frequent schedule changes.

				Puja was a true gem. She loves what she does and loves seeing people enjoying life and her great city. Seeing people enjoying her delicious meals fills her with pride. In addition to the little time we spent chatting, I had the chance to take one of her cooking classes. She is a great cook and teacher, but her real gift lies in her compassion for others.

				The trip Aiyush helped organize was wonderful. From Agra, I went to Jaipur and loved it. I especially loved Roshan, my tuk-tuk driver for two days. Do not be afraid to have Aiyush be your travel agent; he will definitely ensure you have a positive experience and will remain in contact as you move throughout India.

				Don’t miss an opportunity to stay in this incredible AirB&B.

				AirB&B Review (Jaipur)

				This AirB&B family truly demonstrated the love they wish to see in the world. The description of their space invited guests to be like family in their home and after just two nights, I felt I was a part of the family. What beautiful, sincere, compassionate people.

				I had an opportunity to eat in Nitin’s restaurant the first night and, just, WOW! I also had the privilege of both Deepti and Nitin making breakfast for me. There’s nothing like breakfast made by professional cooks! From before I arrived, they invited me to participate in their lives, welcoming me to see the real India and Jaipur. Laddu (daughter) and Toy (son) were incredibly polite and attentive to my needs. I always had fresh, filtered water when I entered the home and conversation came freely. 

				Two very special opportunities they provided for me were first to worship with them in their Hindu temple. As a non-Hindu, they were so gracious about accepting my blunders and teaching me the meaning of the rituals behind their actions. They lived the love they professed. Also an example of their compassion was their gift of sharing their NGO. If you have the blessing of staying with this family, please take the opportunity to visit the project. Watching young children learning basic academic skills with smiling faces, 
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				teens spending their Saturday learning about order of operations, and moms perfecting new sewing skills while gaining confidence and being empowered through education is truly rewarding. 

				Even had I not had the privilege of seeing the amazing heritage of Jaipur, my trip would have been perfect just for having spent time with them.

				Contacts/Reviews

				Lhasso Adventures: https://lhassoadventure.com/

				Jeevan (Team Lead): +977 985-1067620 

				Bishwo (Annapurna Guide): +977-98499456153 

				Ram Rai (Everest Guide) +977-9841422525

				Aaku: https://www.facebook.com/

				profile.php?id=100013844617984

				Aiyush and Puja (AirB&B, Agra): 

				https://www.airbnb.com/rooms/18184464

				Nitin, Deepti, Laddu, and Toy (AirB&B, Jaipur):

				https://www.airbnb.com/rooms/9485304
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				Appendix III

				Expenses
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				Appendix IV

				Books from the Trail

				“Tao de Ching” by Lao Tzu (Translation by Stephen Mitchell)

				✰✰✰✰✰

				What an intense book for only 5000 words.I knew it would take many times to understand even a fraction of what Lao Tzu taught, but accidentally returned the book to the library. If we could all live the way he suggests, we would be a much better world community.

				“Family Upstairs” by Lisa Jewell

				✰✰✰✰✰

				Engaged the entire time! It was fun to follow the story, always wondering what Jewell would reveal next. Brilliantly creative!

				“Siddhartha” by Herman Hesse

				✰✰✰✰

				I remembered loving this book in college, but I didn’t love it as much this time. While reading it, I thought it was supposed to be the story of the Fifth Buddha until Siddhartha started living a life in the city with a woman. Had I know it was not meant to be biographical, but a fictional alternative way to the life of the Buddha, I may have appreciated it more.

				“The Women” by Kristin Hannah

				✰✰✰✰✰

				I’m always so impressed with Hannah’s books. Her knowledge of the historical topics surrounding her works is astonishing and details (such as the music and related world topics of the era) are always perfectly aligned with the story.
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				I am so glad she told this story of the women vets in Vietnam. I cannot imagine coming home from nursing in a war zone to be unappreciated by your countrymen and, especially, told by other vets that you were not there or didn’t see “real combat” because you weren’t on the front line. I thank producers of M*A*S*H for including women in their series and Hannah for highlighting them even more.

				Thank you, Hannah, for telling a collective story of female patriots of past foreign wars.

				“Lessons in Chemistry” by Bonnie Garmus

				✰✰✰✰✰

				I don’t often give five stars to fiction, but “Lessons in Chemistry” earned this honor. Merging history, science, culture, and women in this intricate tale was masterfully accomplished. The protagonist as well as other characters are so vibrant and easily lovable despite their quirks. I hope women and men of all ages will read this story to better understand what it meant to be an American woman in the past and the progress we’ve made since then (and continue to make).

				“Run Like a Pro (Even If You’re Slow)” by Matt Fitzgerald

				✰✰✰✰

				The book chapters say it all. For a beginner, this book is probably too much; for the elite athlete, it doesn’t have much to offer. But, for the developing athlete, the concepts are timeless and critical to learn.When and how to eat, how to engage in periodization and tapering, managing the mental aspects of sport—these are all critical topics in the book. 

				I’ve read and always liked Fitzgerald’s books, a nice connection between research- and evidence-based results combined with the practical. I also appreciate that this text really does consider the unique similarities and difference between training as a fast elite or slow recreational or age-group athlete. The principles are universal even if it means planning training runs by time for fast runners or distance for slow runners. This really resonated with me. Many training plans rely solely on time to prepare for races. Fitzgerald recognizes that as a slow runner, I’ll never make it to the finish line if I don’t train with three and four hour runs because I simply can’t cover the distance if i don’t train up to a basic mileage. I applaud him for this.

				Note: This is a book for runners, but the principles also apply to triathletes. The training plans, however, are not useful for triathletes because all workouts are runs, void of swimming, biking, and strength training.
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				“Maybe You Should Talk to Someone” by Lori Gottlieb

				✰✰✰✰

				It took me a long time to read this book because I listened to it while engaged in other activities like cooking and hiking, but it was easy to return to my place because the “story” is funny and engaging. I appreciated how this memoir juxtaposes a counselor’s work and her personal experiences as a counseling patient. I learned a great deal about the field as she both worked with her patients and was worked on herself. The narrative describes the academy behind counseling. It’s not just talking and listening to clients; it’s a scientific process of diagnosis and prescription using theoretical and practical methodologies to “cure” an ailment. Gottlieb introduces readers to a wide variety of diagnosis and treatment types while engaging us in the lives of herself and her patients.

				“Great World Religions: Buddhism” by Malcolm David Eckel

				✰✰✰

				I enjoyed learning about Buddhism, but felt the series covered too much material. I would have preferred more time on the beginning lectures and those discussing the spiritual aspects of the tradition instead of such a broad overview including contemporary impacts in various parts of the world. That could have been an entirely different lecture series. 

				“The Upanishads” by Thomas Egenes and Vernon Katz

				✰✰

				I did not understand one bit of this text and it seemed to repeat itself in circles, often negating what it had just said. It spoke in circular pattern saying one thing and then the exact opposite. I was very confused and couldn’t wait to finish the book.

				“Ordeal by Hunger” by George Stewart

				✰✰✰✰

				I read this book over twenty years ago and really liked it. I still do. It is truly a treatise on the epic story of the plight of the Donner Party. Stewart writes truth as an adventure story making it easy to follow the path of the Party’s progress and downfall over the months of their journey.

				“Half the Sky” by Nicholas Kristof and Sheryl WuDunn

				✰✰✰✰✰

				Just, WOW! What a well-researched and organized book about oppressive issues women face on a global scale. Combined with “The Moment of Lift” by Gates, I cannot imagine anyone not feeling empathetic about and committed to changing the world after reading these texts. The authors combine facts and figures with anecdotal stories to bring the severity of the 
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				issues to light. I was particularly pleased with the end of the book when they focused on methods readers could use to start to make a difference for oppressed women in the world.

				“Great World Religions: Hinduism” by Mark Muesse

				✰✰✰

				I. Am. Totally. Confused! In his defense, the author warned his listeners at the very start that we would probably end the series more confused than when we started. I’d be tempted to say my confusion was the result of his poor teaching, but that is the complete opposite. He illustrated quite clearly the complexities of Hinduism: the faith, the culture, the practices. I leave the series thinking of Hinduism not as a religion, but as a complex and totally foreign way of thinking. I think that was his end goal, anyway, and in that, he succeeded.

				“The Snow Leopard” by Peter Matthiessen

				✰✰✰✰✰

				I read this book on the recommendation of a Nepali guide and enjoyed reading about the geography of the Annapurna Himalayas and hardships faced by those who covered this region before roads provided a nearly closed circuit around the Range. Having just trekked the Annapurna Circuit, it was reminiscent of my time in the mountains, but so different without the structure of a trail to follow and small villages to visit along the way. I struggled to imagine how much more difficult this trek would be without modern conveniences like teahouses and accessible food and fresh liquid water.

				Matthiessen tells of his experiences with Nepali porters and I don’t doubt it was as he explained, but my experience was extremely different. The Nepali people are kind and hard working. They do not quit when the going gets hard and they are loyal to all in need. I question if Matthiessen’s experience was due more to his team’s negative and belittling approach to the local people than their character at the time. 

				“Wild Swans: Three Daughters of China” by Jung Chang

				I didn’t finish this book. It was sooo long; I was just tired of it. I’ll finish it some day.
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				Town Entry Pictures
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				Sunset over the Himalaya
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